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Welcome to our Annual Report 2015

We are an integrated producer broadcaster,
creating, owning and distributing high-quality
content on multiple platformes.

maximising

We invest over £1 bilion annually in our programming,
significantly more than our commercial competitors,
and have an unnvalled ability to deliver mass audiences
across all demographics for our advertisers

@ See page 18 for more

growing

As an integrated producer broadcaster we create
value from world-class content that we develop,
own and distribute around the world

(@ See page 22 for more

building

As we grow our investment in content, we are
creating more windows to extend the reach of that
content and monetise it across more markets and
platforms, both free and pay.

(®) See page 26 for more

Front Cover

Clockwnse from the top Poldark (ITV Studios UK
for the B8C), 2015 Rugby World Cup winners New
» Zealand, Rovers Return from Coranation Street,
ImACelebnty GetMe Qut Of Here! Family Guy
launched in February 2016 on ITV2, The Voice
(Talpa Media for the BBC)

Emmerdate had an
average share of
viewing of 32%n 2015
and reached 62% of the
UK population, which

15 mare than 35 million
viewers Emmerdale
has beensold to

139 countries

P R e 3

The Chase has now
been producedin

nine countnes and sold
ta over 130 countries

Thunderbirds Are Gol
has now been sold to
90 countnes, ncluding
afour-senes deal with
Amazen to debut on
Prime Video inthe US
We are also starting
to dnve value from
merchandising as we
extend the franchuse
beyond the television set
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We maintain a corporate website at
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The Strategic Report explains in detall how we have performed this year and sets out a far review of

the business, abalanced and comprehensive analysss of our performance the use of key performance
Indicators to explam the progress we have made a descnption of the principal risks and uncertanties
faang the Company and anmdication of potential future developments The Strategi Reportis
prepared m Line with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and the Campany has had
regard to the guidance issued by the Financial Reporting Councll itisintended to provide shareholders
with a better understanding of the Company of its pasition in the markets withuin which it operates and
aof Its prospects. In setting out the Company s mam risks and uncertainties, an indication of potential
future developmenits, and inother content, this repori and accounts contaims statements that are based
on knowledge and information avadable at the date of preparation of the Strategic Report and what are
bel:ieved to be reasonable judgements and therefore cannot be considered as indications of Lkelhood
or certainty Awide range of factors may cause the actual outcomes and resulis to differ matenally from
those contaned within or implied by these vanous forward-looking statements None of these
statements should be construed as a profit forecast.
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Strategic Report b Overview

2015 Highlights

ITV delivered another strong performance in 2015
as we continued to strengthen, rebalance and grow

the business.

Group EBITA margin of

29%

up from 28%
N 2014

Proposed an increase of

28% i ne

ordinary

dividend and a 1 Op
special dividend

Online, Pay
& Interactive

revenue UPp 23%

1 MNon-Net Advertising Revenue (Non-NAR) includes all ITV revenue, bothinternal and external except Net Advertising Revenue (NAR)
2 EBITA before exceptional items has been adjusted to reflect the inclusion of production tax credits (adjusted EBITA)

3 Profit before tax 15 £641 millign (2014 £605 mulbon)
4 Reported EPS1512 4p (2014 M Ep)

2 TV ple Annual Report and Accounts 2015




P 2015 Highlights

Pictured left to nght Good Morning
Bntain 1s broadcast on ITV five

. mornings a week, Unforgottenwasa

cntically acclasmed drama produced
by Mamstreet Pictures, which was
acquired by ITV Studios UK in 2015

6% growth
in NAR

Agamn outperforming
our estimate of the
total television
advertising market

In 2015 we grew our share
of broadcast to

461%

ITV 15 the biggest marketing
platform in the UK, reaching

around

80%

of the television owning
population every week

33% growth
intotal ITV
Studios revenue

With over half its revenue
generated outside the UK

Poldark has now been sold to
107 countries It has been
recommissioned for a
second series

Coronation Street was the most
watched soap of 2015 with an
average of eight million viewers
over the year It has been sold

to 132 countrnies

Non-NAR revenues
account for

49% of total

revenues
in 2015

Britain's Got Talent was the
most watched entertainment
programme of 2015 with an
average of over 10 S millson
viewers across the series

The England vs Wales Rugby
World Cup match was watched
by 9.7 mullion viewers and was
the most watched sporting
event of 2015

ITV plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015




Strategic Report p Overview

Investor
Proposition

ITV continues to make
significant progress

in growing and
strengthening the
business creatively,
commercially

and financially.

A strong track
record for delivery

------------------------------------------------------------

Over the last six years we have delivered strong
revenue growth and double-digit profit growth
In our key profit measures every year

We have made significant progress rebalancing
the business, reducing our dependence on UK
advertising and driving new revenue streams
to build a more global organisation

4 ITV ple Annual Report and Accounts 2015

! Pictured top to bottorr ITV

{ on-screenident, Multiscreening
i for the Rugby World Cup

+800%

increase in adjusted EPS
since 2009

49%

of total revenue 1s from
sources other than spot
advertising

 Pictured top to bottom:

+ Broadchurch returned for a second

* seriesin January 2015, X Factor
returned for a 12th seres with

' twonew judges




P Investar proposition

Strong market position

----- RPN NI PRSP NN PR U PRI P AN APPSR RN TSRO RRRRRAIRRROIRES

The Broadcast business delivers unrivalted
audience reach for advertisers in the UK and
we will benefit from our continued creative
Investment as we exploit our content across
multiple platforms, both free and pay

Online, Pay & Interactive 15 a material, fast-
growing and profitable part of the business with
continued strong growth expected as we build

a global pay and distribution business

Our international content business is now a global
player of scale, creating and owning rights and

we will continue to grow both organically and
through acquisitions in key creative markets

98%

of ali commercial audiences over
five mitlion are on ITV

+50%

of total Studios revenues 1s from
outside the UK

Pictured The England football
* teamwillbe part of the 2016

: UEFA European Championships
whichwillbe broadcaston TV

Highly cash generatlve

AEPRPEERP R ORI PE ARG EA RPN NIRAS AL IR SR FNSANBRPBIBREES sassnanesy

We are a highly cash generative busaness and

our disciplined approach to cash, costs and capital
has strengthened our balance sheet and allowed
us to invest mn the business organically and
through acquisitions

Investment
opportunities to grow

BB IPIASIN NSNS UNIENIENTOES SUSSNNIRNTLENRENTRRIINONSRS

As we continue to deliver our strategy we see
good investment opportunities to grow the
business and enhance shareholder value whilst
maintaining capital discipline

Compelling
shareholder returns

I Y T T R T R Y P T R T Y Y Y Y Y T Y] Sssssssssssmsnes *

We are committed to growing shareholder
returns and have targeted to deliver 20% ordinary
dividend growth to 2016 to achieve a dividend
cover of between 2 0 to 2 5x adjusted EPS

£1.1bn

returned to shareholders since 2011

ITV ple Annual Report and Accounts 2015 5




Strategic Report b Overview

ITV at a Glance

ITV, as an integrated producer broadcaster, creates,
owns and distributes high-quality content on
multiple platforms.

Broadcast
& Online

46.1%

largest share of
the UK TV ad market

21.2%

share of viewing
for the ITV Family
in 2015

27

platforms that
carry our content

We operate the largest commeraal family of channels in the UK
and deliver our content through traditional television broadcasting
as well as on demand via the ITV Hub

ITV broadcasts a wide variety of content onits family of free-to-air channels We invest
over £1billion annuatly i programming for our channels which s primarily funded by
television advertising revenue ITV has the largest share of the UK television advertising
market, and we estimate this share to be 461% m 2015 (2014 45 9%)

The family of channels attracted a total share of viewing (SOV) of 21 2% 1n 2015
(2014 22 0%), the largest audience of any UK commercial broadcaster

Gur main channel 1s the largest commeraal channel in the UK, delivering 98% of all
commerciat audiences over five million

Our free-to-air digital channels provide more targeted demographics for agvertisers
such as 16-34's, ABCY Men and Housewives with Children, and consist of ITV2 and
ITV3, the two targest digital channels in the UK, and ITV4, CITV and ITVBe

We also have high definition versions of our digital channels available on pay
platforms along with ITV Encore, our pay only channel available exclusively on Sky

In addition to linear broadcast, ITV detivers its content across multiple platfarms

This is either through the newly launched ITV Hub, now available an over 27 platforms
including ITV's website (itv com) and pay prowiders such as Virgin and Sky, or through
direct content deals with services such as Amazon, Apple 1ITunes and Netflix

6 IV ple Annual Report and Accounts 2015




P ITV ataGlance

Pictured left to nght. Bntan s Got

. Talentreturned for a ninth senesn

« 2075 with a 43% share of viewing
(2014 43%), Loose Women has

. beenbroadcast as part of the ITV

+ dayvime schedule for 16 years and

continues to drive good audiences

ITV adjusted EBITA
O Broadcast & Online £659m
OITV Studios £206m

ITV total revenue
O Broadcast & Online £2,746m
QITV Studios £1,237m

ITV Studios

7,000+

hours of original
content produced
and delivered in 2015

58

labels

- 10

different countries
supplying over

90

channels

We have built sigrificant scale in key creative markets around the
world, creating and producing programmes and formats that return
and travel, namely drama, entertainment and factual entertainment

ITV Studios creates and produces content in the UK and internationally, while
our distribution business, Global Entertainrnent, sells firished programmes
and formats worldwide

ITV Studios UK

ITV Studios UK 1s the largest commercial producer in the UK We produce
programiming across a diverse range of genres such as drama, entertainment and
factual for ITV's own channels, as well as for other UK broadcasters such as the BBC,
Channel 4, Channel 5 and Sky

ITV America

ITV America 1s the largest unscripted ndependent producer of content in the US

We have acquired a number of unscripted and reality producers and have grown

our presence in scripted cantent, using our strong cash flows to produce high profile
dramas with the potentral to travel and build international appeal.

ITV Studios Rest of World

ITV Studios also operates in the Netherlands, Germany, France, Australia and the
Nordics, producing content for local broadcasters in these regions This content

15 either created tocally or are formats that have been created elsewhere by ITV,
primarily the UK

Global Entertainment

Global Entertamment, ITV's distnibution business, owns the rights of ITV programmes
and formats and acquires third-party content and distributes this to other
broadcasters and platforms internationally Within this business we also finance
productions both on and off-ITV to acquire global distnbution rights

ITV plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 7




Strategic Report p Overview

Market Review

The market environment in which we operate
is dynamic and constantly changing.

Consolidation of media and telecoms companies and the increasing influence of technolegy brings both
chatlenges and opportunities that we believe we are able to respond to with pace and confidence

Key market trends

Global Content

Broadcast & Online

Global demand for content continues to
grow, with more channels, more platforms
and new entrants increasing spend on
high-quality programming We estimate
that the global content market 15 growing
at around 5% per annum, with some genres
such as drama growing faster than others

This growth can be attnbuted to a number
of factors, ncluding a larger international
pay television market, corwergence in the
telewision market, where telecom and
new media companies are increasingly
competing with traditional media
companies for content and viewers, online
players such as Netflix and Amazon have
continued to nvest heawily In archive and
new content, and online advertising dnven
platforms like YouTube and Facebook are
creating a new market for short form and
digital content

The US s by far the largest content market
n the world, dominating the global
production sector, with the UK the second
largest market This represents a significant
opportunity for ITV Studios, which has a
strong presence in bothregions

Demand for drama, particularty US drama,
has increased significantly in the last few
years Onginal scripted content becomes
brand defirung for broadcasters and OTT
players in anincreasingly competitive
glabal environmient US studios continue
to dominate the market for draman

the US and internationally, however the
emergence of Netflix and Amazon in
creating high-guality original scripted
content has increased competition in the
market [TV Amenca has developed a
number of scripted programmes including

-

Aquarius, The Good Witch and Texas Rising
Leveraging our network relationships and
international distribution network, we

are looking to expand our globat scripted
business and develop a strong portfolio

of nternational and returming drama

In the UK, there s stronger demand and
higher viewing figures for UK content over
imported series We are a major producer
of scnpted content and have further
reinforced this positron through acquinng
Mammoth Screen and Twofour Group
Our 2015 scnipted delivertes included
Poldark, Unforgotten and Home Fires

While not growing as quickly as scripted
content, demand for non-scripted content
remains strong as networks continue to
require lower cost, high volume popular
series The UK remains the dominant
producer of unique non-scripted forrmats,
producing almost twice as many as the US
ITV has significantly strengthened its
capability in this area with the acquisition
of Talpa Media Along with the established
entertainment and factual entertainment
genres, scripted reality programming,

where we have focused our US acquisitions,

has grown quickly with formats such
as Pawn Stars, Real Housewives and
Duck Dynasty

ITV 15 now a genuine global player in
non-scripted content, beng the largest
unscripted independent producer in the
S, as well as the largest commercial
production company in the UK The large
independent production companies, such
as Endernol Shine Group and Fremantle
Media, continue to be ITV Studios' man
competitors in non-scripted content

Overrecent years the number of ways to
watch TV has greatly increased with viewers
able to choose a varety of platforms,
both free and pay Linear viewing remains
dominant although viewing habits vary
by demographic with younger viewers
watching more non-linear content than
older demographics Non-linear viewing,
while currently only a small proportion

of total viewing, 1s growing fast and we
continue to invest InITV's online offering,
for example the ITV Hub, to compete
successfully in this market

Television viewing

ITV competes for viewers with the BBC
and commercial broadcasters including
Channet 4,Sky and Channel 5 Since the
digital switchover, the number of avallable
channels has grown which has irnpacted
the SOV of the traditional broadcasters
However, despite an increase in the number
of channels, ITV and BBC1 continue to be
the only channels consistently able to
deliver mass audiences as well as targeted
demographics, and in 2015 TV delivered
98% of all commercial audiences over five
million viewers In 2015 the ITV family of
channels delivered a 21 2% SOV, second
only to the BBC's family of channels

8 ITV plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015




P Market Review

1 Pictured teft to nght. Home Fires was a new

+ drama for ITV averaging & 2 million viewers

{ across sixepisodes It has been commissioned
i for asecond senes, Joanna Lurnley presented
i two documentanies for ITV, Elvis and Me and

! Joanna Lumley's Trans-Sibenian Adventure

Although broadcast tetewiston has seen
significant change over the last few years
overall television viewing levels around the
world have remained hugh

Average television viewing in the UK in 2015
was down 2% compared to 2014 However,
over a longer-term basis viewing has been
resilient despite year-on-year fluctuations
and remans the most popular form of media
entertainment UK average telewision viewing
N 2015 was 216 minutes per day which s a
similar tevel to ten years ago (source BARB)

Pay television

Free-to-arr television 1s delivered through
the services Freeview, YouView and Freesat,
while pay telewision is delwered through the
satellite operator Sky and cable operators
Virginand BT Pay television revenue
continues to grow in aggregate but the
market dynamics are changing rapidly as
established pay telewision providers such

as Sky and Virgin come under pressure from
relatively new entrants to the market such
as BT, Netflix and Amazon

Increasingly homes are supplementing

therr free tetevision with other forms of paid
content inctuding subscnptron VOD such as
Netflix, or by purchasing additional channels
from providers such as BT or Now TV

1TV participates in the pay television market,
earning revenue from vanous third parties,
inctuding Sky and Virgin, through the icensing
of channels and content. ITV also has its pay
only television channel, [TV Encore, on the

Sky platform along with our other pay
channels, ITV2 HD, ITV3 HD and ITV4 HD

Non-linear viewing

Non-linear viewing of long-form content 1s
mastly recorded, or tmeshifted viewing and
catch-up of live telewision {Linear television} It
alsc encompasses VOD or Over The Top (OTT)
delivery of other long-form content such as
box sets and movies

While non-linear viewing has grown fast it
stitt accounts for a small proportion of total
viewing time In the UK we estimate 81% of
all viewing of legal long-form content s ive
(includmg simulcast), with a further 12%
timeshifted via a Personal Video Recorder
(PVR) and watched within 28 days of the
onginal broadcast date Of the estimated 7%
of content viewed on demand, 3% is catch-up
viewing of broadcaster content via the
television set or to other devices such as
tablets and mobiles The remamning 4% of
contentis other VOD viewing, where viewing
of box sets via services such as Netftis
replacing viewing of DVDs Thisis growing
quickly driven by increased availability of
devices such as smartphones, tablets and
connected televisions

Advertising revenue

TV generates revenues fromadvertising
through traditiona! broadcast and

online, and competes with commercial
broadcasters and other advertising media,
for 1ts advertising revenues Inthe UK,
television has broadly held its share of the
overall advertising market over the last five
years, with a share of 275% in 2015 (2010
29 2%) Internet advertising has grownits
share from 29 3% 1n 2010 to 471% in 2015,
making the UK one of the most developed
markets for cnline advertising This growth
15 at the expense of print advertising, which
declined to 15 2% in 2015, down from 30 8%
n 2010

The UK television advertising market is
getting increasingly hard to measure as all
broadcasters have different defimtions, but
we estimate ITV's share of broadcast was
461% 0 2015, up from 44 7% m 2009 This
15 because of ITV's unique abibity to deliver
mass audiences across key demographics

within online advertising, display accounts
for 16 9% of the total onbine advertising
spend, with the remaining 30 2% spent on
search and classified ITV competes withen
the display section of this market, providing
an advertising platform around our online
video content

ITV pic Annual Report and Accounts 2015 9




Strategic Report p Strategy and Operations

Our Strategy and Business Model

We remain focused on our original vision for ITV
as an owner, producer and broadcaster of content.

We are confident that our strategy to maxirnise our value as an integrated producer broadcaster, creating,
owning and distributing content around the world, 1s the night long-term path for ITV

Our strategy

Our strategy 1s focused
on three key priorities

maximising

maximise audience

and revenue share from
free-to-air broadcast
and VOD business

Q) see page 18 for more

growing
grow mternational
content business

Q see page 22 for more

building
build a gltobat pay
and distribution business

) see page 26 for mare

Our sources of competitive advantage

The UK'’s biggest marketing ptatform delivering unrivalled

commercial audiences

The scale of our channels and the significant iInvestment we make in quality
content gives ITV unigue scale and reach on our man channel and more targeted
audiences on our family of channets and the ITV Hub

80%

Our channels reach around 80% of the TV-owning population each week

World-class content

At the core of ITV 15 our focus on creativity and content, whether selling unigue
content around the world or investing in third-party content to broadcast across
multiple platforms Internationally we have built production and distnbution scale
in key global creative markets through organic growth and selective acquisitions

£1bn

We invest over £1bn annually in content for our family of channels

Global distribution

ITV has built relationships globally, with major networks and local broadcasters,
and owns the rights to a diverse portfolio of shows, particutarly drama and
entertanment, for iInternational distnbution

40,000+

Hours of television and film content /\

- T

"

Our strategic assets

Our strategic assets underpin ITV's competitive advantage

Creating and Qur strong brand Our talented,
owning the nghts creative people
to quality content

10 ITV plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015




P Our Strategy and Business Model

Pictured left to nght The Sound of Music
Live was the first bve adaptationof a
musical to be broadcast on TV in the

UK, behind the scenes for Text Santa,
ITV's annual chanty appeal

@ See page 46 for information on our principal nsks

Our diversified revenue streams Creating value

By developing and retaining the nghts to content, ITVis able to For advertisers

maximise the value of its programme brands across a range of Through delivering unique

revenues streams, making ITV a more balanced business and scale and breadth of

enabling it to drive value from different revenue models demographics and new

innovative ways of engaging

Advertising QOur family of channels and the ITV Hub drive with consumers around

significant advertising revenues from the mass quality programme brands

audiences and more targeted demographics
it delivers, which funds our investment in the

programme budget For audiences
Through a vared, high-quality
Commercial We work with advertisers and advertising programming schedule
partnerships agencies to provide unique commercial
partnerships and sponsarship opporturities
that extend beyond pure spot advertising For broadcasters and
platform owners
Pay & We earn pay revenues primarily from ticensing Through delivering quality
interactive our HD channels, our pay channel iTV Encore \ programming which they can
) and our online video on demand (VOD) services > then monetise through ther

~

We also monetise our consumer interaction own business models

with our biggest shows through competitions

and voting
For shareholders
Original We produce original content commissions Through a track record of
production for broadcasters internationally from our creating shareholder value
production bases in the UK, the US, the and delwering significant
Nethertands, Germany, France, Australia shareholder returns
and the Nordics
Distribution We own the rights to a significant catalogue For our people
revenues of programmes and formats which we sell Investing n and developing our
and license to broadcasters internationally creative, on screen, commercial
The strong global demand for content and operationat talent

provides a significant opportun:ty for us

49%

of our total revenue 1s from sources other than traditional
spot TV advertising

ITV ple Annual Report and Accounts 2015 1




Strategic Report » Strategy and Operations

Chairman’s Statement

The last year has seen another period of strong
progress at ITV with record financial performance
and further evolution in the shape of the business.

O

ITV is a remarkable
place to work and
employs remarkable
people. Itis thanks to
their hard work that
we have produced
these results.”

This represents the sixth successive
year of growth and the tumaround
days of 2010 are now long behind us
As a result ITV 1s a very different
business today, from that which this
team inhented.

The success of ITV depends on driving
ahead creatively, commercially and
financially, while at the same time
combining these strands successfully in
the context of very strong management
leadership Creative potential sits at
the core of our business, and measured
in terms of talented people and new
programme generatian, ITV is stronger
than 1t has ever been Commercially
the year has seen further progress

in rebalancing the business towards
content and multi-platform
broadcasting Financially we have a
business generating strong cash flows
and high return on capital

When we started on the onginal
transformation programme it was
commonplace to hear telewision referred
to as a no-growth business Infact,

many saw our model as indecline
instead we have grown strongly every
year and emphatically believe our
combimation of multi-platform
broadcasting and content provides

a platform for continued growth

12 ITV ple Annual Report and Accounts 2015

That i1s not to say that the changing
broadcast landscape i1s entirely berugn
We can all see that changing viewing
habits, especially amongst young people
will affect conventional binear tetevision
The arrival of new global videc an
demand broadcasters is affecting
viewing habits and provides new
competition for top-end drama

And new online advertising models
provide our commercial customers
with different routes to market

These challenges are also opportunities
for ITV Great content 1s in demand
globally As new viewing opportunities
ernerge so the thirst for really good
programmees increases Under Its
international umbrella ITV has an
extraordinarily diverse but ligh talent
set of content businesses In the UK our
integrated producer broadcaster model
is stronger than ever with increasing
in-house output

Our audience strengthin the UK and
close working relationships with
advertisers provides a uniquely powerful
marketing platform Far from replacing
television, the online advertising market
has reinforced our urique ability to
provide advertisers with rapid access

to very large audiences with persuasive
and emotional branding messages The
strength of ITV's offering has enabled

it to grow its share of broadcast
advertising revenues over the last

five years




P Chairmans Statement

Puctured left to nght. The Good Witch was aired In
the US on the Hallmark channel in February 2015
behind the scenes on The Frankensten Chronicles,
aniTV Encore commussion

- E e

Dividend

Ordinary di\;i.den.;i

6.0p

Speaial dividend

10.0p

One of the hallmarks of our approach
has been disciplined control of costs and
spending As a result, over 0% of our
operating profit 1s converted into cash
and we have been able to both invest
In acquisitions and grow progressivety
our dividend Our approach is to invest
carefully in selected new growth
opportunities white at the same

time making returns to shareholders
Within this context we continue to
look at potential acquisitions that could
further enhance our ability to execute
our strategy

Against this context we maintain a
conservative balance sheet That 1s
not just a consequence of strong
performance but a Board policy - to
maintatn low financial nsk and to take
where appropniate bold creative and
operating decisions

Our Board structure and workings
reflect our commitment to a creative,
commerdcial and financial management
philosophy The ‘team sheet’ includes
strands of expenence and knowledge
inall three areas We have arelatively
small Board, closely engaged with the
business, supporting but also challenging
the executive We believe that the
strength of a Board comes fromits
understanding of what really goes onn
the business and a spirit of openness and
transparency around the Board table

We are very selective about Board
appointments Each additton needs to
add to our skill base and diversity, but
alsorelate to the business Agamnst this
context | am delighted to welcome
Anna Manz to our Board She wilt bring
rnew nsight from the consumer world
andvaluable expertence

| believe that the well spring of our
success 1s our people and the culture
that binds them together ITV 1sa
remarkable place to work and employs
remarkable people It s thanks to therr
hard work that we have produced
these results

Lastly, after the AGM | pass the baton
on to a talented and accomplished new
Charrman After nearly six and a half
years in what has been a carefully
planned succession | want to thank

all our shareholders and colleagues

for therr commitment

Beng part of ITV during this exciting

period has been a great privilege

Archie Norman
Chairman

ITV plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 13




Strategic Report » Strategy and Operations

Chief Executive’s Review

In 2015 ITV delivered another
strong performance as we continue
to strengthen and grow the business.

We achieved good revenue growth
across all parts of the business, with
external revenue up 15%, and for the
sixth consecutive year we delivered
double-digit growth in our key
profit measures.

[TV’s performance in 2015 builds

on our consistent record of strang
results since we launched our strategy
sixX years ago Since 2009 we have
increased Group external revenues by
58%, adjusted EBITA by 328%, adjusted
earnings per share (EPS) by over BO0%
and basic EPS by over 400% We have
improved our cash position by turning
this profit into cash, which has allowed
us to significantly invest in the business
white at the same time returning over
£11 billton to shareholders to date,
with more proposed for 2016 We will
also maintain financial flexitility to
continue to nvest in the business

ITV today is a demonstrably better
business creatwvely, commercally and
financially We've made significant
progress inreducing our dependence

14

on UK spot advertising and i growing
new revenue streams In 2015, 49% of
ITV's total revenues came from sources
other than traditional spot advertising

Our global production business, ITV
Studios, continues to grow in the UK
and internationally, both organically
and through acquisitions in key creative
markets, and & now a global player

of scale with over half of its revenues
coming from outside the UK Our
Broadcast business is robust and
growmg as we cantinue to deliver
unrivalled audience reach for advertisers,
and further strong growth in Online,
Pay & Interactive, which 1s a matenal
and profitable part of the business

We are committed to our arigmal vision
of [TV as an owner and producer of
world-class content We are confident
that our strategy to maximise our value
as an integrated producer broadcaster,
making our content famous on multiple
platforms before distnbuting it around
the world, I1s the nght long-term path
forITv

We will continue to strengthen the
business and grow new revenue
streams both organically and through
acquisitions, as we see investment
opportunities across the business
There will be an increasing emphasis

on building a global pay and distribution
business as we seek to deliver and
monetise our content on multipte
platforms, free and pay
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We remain focused on delivering
against our three strategic priorities
irt the areas where we can achieve
most growth

maximising

maximise audience and
revenue share from
free-to-air broadcast
and VOD business

@ See page 18 for more

growing
grow aninternational
content business

@) see page 22 for more

building
build a global pay and
distribution business

@ See page 26 for more

ITV delivers another strong
performance

in 2015 we grew external revenue by 15%
to £2,972 milion (2014 £2,590 mullion),
reflecting 6% growthin NAR to

£1,719 million (2014 £1,629 millon) and
over £300 million growth in non-NAR to
£1,664 miluon (2014 £1,327 million), up
25% Together with our continued focus
on cash and costs we delivered another
year of double-digit profit growth

with total adjusted EBITA up 18%

to £865 rmillion (2014 £730 million),
corresponding to animproved adjusted
EBITA margin of 29% (2014 28%)
Adjusted EPS in the year increased 20%
to 16 5p (2014 13 8p) and statutory EPS
increased 7% to 12 4p (2014 1M 6p)
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' Pictured left tonght Assault course

. game show, Ninga Warmor UK was

* broadcast onITV inSpring 2015,
produced by ITV Studios UK, Safe

. Housewas ITV's second most watched

* new dramam 2015 Asecond senes
has been comimussioned

The business remains highly cash
generative and profit ta cash conversion
was 91%, even after ncreased
investrnent in our scripted business

We ended the year with net debt of
£319 mullion (2014 net cash £41 milliony)
after acquisitions of £406 million (net

of cash acquired), dvidend payments

of £459 million and pension deficit
centributions of £90 million

With a strong balance sheet we are
able to continue to tnvest in the assets
underpining our strategy, developing
our content, our people and our brand
As a people and talent busmess we

also continue to drive high employee
engagement and attract a diverse
workforce to support the success of ITV
Reflecting ITV's strong performance in
2015 and in line with 1ts policy, the Board
has proposed a final dwvidend of 41p
This equates to a full year dividend of

6 0p, up 28%, which 1s well ahead of
earnings growth and is a significant step
forward in taking ITV's dividend cover
closer to its policy range

The Board is also proposing a

£400 million (100p per share) special
dividend, which comes after a year

of significant investment at ITV and
reflects ITV's strong cash generation and
the Board's canfidence in the business
Following this distribution ITV's leverage
remans well below the 15x net debt

to EBITDA celling and gives ITV the
flexibility to continue to invest across
the business for further growth

Maximise audience and revenue

share from free-to-air broadcast

and VOD business

Against the backdrop of a rapidly changing
media environment, our Broadcast
busmess has performed consistently well
over the last few years and has generated
significant profit and cash, supported by
our strong programme schedule, tight
cost control and a sustaned recovery

in the UK advertising market

In 2015 Broadcast & Online revenues
were up 6% to £2,146 milbon (2014
£2,023 million), with adjusted EBITA up
16% to £659 million (2014 £568 million),
whuch reflects 6% growth i highly geared
NAR and 23% growthin high margin
Onling, Pay & Interactive revenue

Continued strong advertising growth

In 2015 ITV again cutperformed its
estimate of the television advertising
market ITV invests over £1billion annually
in programming and has unique scale
and reach which 1s much indemand from
advertisers, delivering mass audiences
on the ITVY main channel as well as more
targeted demographics on the family of
channels and on the ITV Hub Thus scale
and strength of our brand underpins

the success of our free-to-air and on
demand platforms

ITV 15 also driving more value fromits
brands and for advertisers through
partnerships and sponsorship deals,
increased consumer interactivity, and
by developing new and more targeted
advertising imitiatives to extend
advertising campaigns beyond the
telewision spot, such as Adsync+ and
ITV AdVentures

Focus on strengthening viewing

performance

in 2015 1TV Family Share of Viewing (S0V)
declined by 3% While there were many !
successful programmes in the first half, |
our viewing performance was impacted

by the taunch of a number of new

free-to-air digital channels, some of

our shows, particularly in the factual

genre, not performing as well as we

had expected and relatvely strong

competition from B8C ITV Family !
Share of Commercial Inmpacts (SOCI)

was down 4%

We have new creative teadership in place
and we remam focused on strengthening
our viewing performance to ensure we
continue to deliver standout content
that drives mass audiences for our
advertisers We believe that around
£1bdlion 1s the nght level of nvestment
for our programme budget and we have a
strong slate of programmes for 2016 with
many new and returning programmes
across all key genres

Responsive to a dynamic environment
The market environment in which we
operate 1s constantly changing which
provides both opporturities and
challenges Viewers, and particularty the
younger generation, are changing the
way they consume content and the digital
revolution has dramatically increased

the number of devices and platforms on
which content s viewed As a result anline
Is one of the fastest growing businesses
within ITV and we will continue to invest
In the quality and accessibiity of the

TV Hub, the new digital home for all our
channels and services, as well as seeking
new ways to monetise and distribute

our content

However, while online viewing 1s growing
rapidly in the UK, it remains a small
proportion of total viewing at 7%, with
the majority of telewision watched live

Broadcast markets differ internatronally
and therefore there cannot necessanly
be adirect read across However, what

15 common to all markets is that at the
heart of a successful Broadcast business
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Chief Executive’s Review continued

15 owning and exploiting the nights to
high-quality, ‘must have’ content That
15 why growing an international content
business remains central to our strateqgy
as an integrated producer broadcaster

Grow international content business
in 2015, reflecting the strength of cur
global production labels, ITV Studios
delivered good revenue growth beth
organically and fraom our acquisitions,
with growth across the business Totat
revenue was up 33% to £1,237 mitlion
(2014 £933 million), of which organic
revenue was up 8%, while adjusted
EBITA increased 27% to £206 millkion
(2014 £162 milhion)

Our wision 1s to be a scaled international
business, owning and exploiting nghts
in key genres that travel i line with
this, we cantinue to strengthen our
posttion as the UK's largest commercial
praduction company, as well as creating
an increasingly international business
with production bases in America,

the Netherlands, France, Germany, the
Nordics and Australia Over half of ITV
Studios total revenue 1s generated
outside the UK and we have become

a top independent producer across
Europe and the US

Itis clear that there remains strong
global demand for high-quality content
from both broadcasters and platform
owners We estimate that the global
content market 1s growing at about 5%
per annum Capitalising on this demand,
ITV’s strategy continues to be to
develop, own and manage content

with international appeal in the key
creative markets

Over the last few years we have built
scate in production markets with sobid
creative track recerds both organically
and through acquisitions This year we
have strengthened our business, with
the acquisitions of Talpa Media in the
Netherlands and Twofour Group and
Mammoth Screen in the UK

We continue to build scate internationally
and develop alarger portfolio of

successful series and formats across
genres and across their content Ufecycte
We will focus on programmes that
return and travel internationally, namely
drama, entertainrment and factual
entertainment We have a good slate

of new and returning programmes

with 166 new commissions and 176
recommissions detivered in 2015 and
many more in the creative pipeline for
2016 and beyond

Building a global pay

and distribution business

As we grow our investment in content
and own more hit shows that canbe
exported around the world, we are
creating new windows to extend the
reach of that content and monetise it
across more platforms and markets

Capitalising on growing demand

for video on demand

Growth in Online, Pay & Interactive
remains strong with revenue up 23%
to £188 million (2015 £153 miltion) as
viewers are changing the way they
consume content We continue to
see good growth in long-form video
requests, up 14% while total video
consumption, which is the measure of
how long viewers are spending online,
was up 42%

In Autumn 2015 we successfully
launched our new online service the [TV
Hub, through which audiences can access
ITV broadcast content both live and on
demand This s a major step forward in
the quality, nnovation and ease of use of
our online service Live content s central
to the Hub and live simulcast viewing

is becoming increasingly pepular
particularly around sporting events and
large entertainment shows, as viewers
are using connected devices as a
television set The new service has been
very well received with consumption
growing strongly since launch To
continue to drive growth in our ontine
audiences and advertising revenues, we
will continuously invest m improving the
user experience, technology and the
reach of the TV Hub, which is now
available on 27 platforms
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Frankenstein Chronicles
Frankenstem Chronicles was the first
ongmnal commussion for TV Encore

Further developing pay opportunities
We have built a fast-growing and
profitable pay busmess in the UK from
ltcensing our channets, ncluding our

pay channel ITV Encore, and content to
platforms such as Sky and Virgin Outside
the UK we have established a number of
smaller pay propositions including Cirkus
and ITV Choice

Going forward we are looking to explore
new maodels for content creatton and
distribution, through a mix of pay
channels and online We have mvested
in a number of digital media companies
and will continue to develop a greater
expertise and scale mn monetising our
content through a mixed economy

of organic growth, partnerships

and acquisitions

Expanding our global distnbution
network

Global Entertainment’s revenues grew
8% 1n 2015 to £157 million (2014 £144
million} as we have driven value from the
Investments we have made In creating
and owning content with international
appeal In 2015 we invested £163 million
in scripted content, up £60 million and
we continue to strengthen our portfolio
including acquinng third-party content

As ITV grows in scale, we will further
enhance our distribution network,
benefiting from our increased rights
ownership and from the stronger
network relationships we build
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Pictured teft to nght ITV producton
gallery working on the broadcast

of an England team football

match, 24 Hours In ARE 15 a medical
docurmentary produced by ITV Studios
UK for C4 and 1s In1ts seventh senes

adm e b ek

Our acquisitions have also strengthened
Global Entertainment’s position as a
leading international distnbutor of
content and our focus I1s now on
leveraging our creative talent and
distribution network to build on these
successes and develop new ways

to package and sell our content
internationally

Confident of delivering further
good growth in 2016 and beyond
We expect to deliver another good
performance in 2016 with continued
revenue growth across both businesses

Over the full year we expect to
outperform our estimate of the
television advertising market but

the phasing of NAR over the year 1s
expected to be different in 2016, driven
by the timing of major sporting events
We expect ITVNAR tobe flatin Q1,
marginally behind the market, against
12% growth in Q1 last year Q2, which
will benefit from the Euros, should

be positive

We remain focused on strengthening
our viewing performance and we have
started 2016 well, with ITV SOV up 5%
and [TV Family SOV up 2% Online, Pay
& Interactive will deliver doubte digit
revenue growth, driven particularty by
Online and Pay as we continue to mvest
in the ITV Hub and further develop our
international pay model. ITV Studiwos 1s
on track to report double-digit revenue
and profit growth, pnmanly driven by our
recent acquisitions

Overall, we see clear opportunities for
investment 1n all parts of the business
And because of our strong financial
position and cash conversion, we are
confident in delivering both continued
growth and shareholder returns ITV
remains well positioned to drive value
from its talented and creative people,
our commercial scale, and our glabal
network in the creation and distribution
of content

e

Our people and our responsibility
Building a responsible business that benefits all stakeholders

The success of our strategy depends
not Just on our operational efficiency,
but also on the way we interact with our
stakeholders, the wider community and
the environment ITV's social purpose 1s
to use the power of the nation's most
loved and most watched programmes
to create change for good Our
responsibility strategy Is at the heart

of everything we do with the aim of
building a responstble and sustainable
business As well as complying with our
legislative and reguiatory requirements
we recagnise that our actions can have
animpact and our reach can positively
influence socety We therefore work to
identify issues that are material to 1TV
and matter to our stakeholders, helping
us to manage reputational risk as well
as leverage our audience reach to
benefit our communities

Our responsibility priorities

Our responsibility strategy 1s focused
around three prionities people, planet
and partnerships

People

To continue our success as an integrated
producer broadcaster, we want to
attract the largest possible audiences
to our channels and content and attract
the best people to work for us Todo
this we need to portray the diverse
makeup of modern society on-screen
and ensure our workplace 15 inclusive

E;‘;'lder split
Board of Directors

7 {? 1
%.875%. .. 5%
Senior managers’

18 Q 5
v 783%, 7% ...
Allemployees?

3,061 3177

4971% 503%

1 All of the five female semor managers were
directors of consolidated Group comparnes
2 Employee gender split based on total

headcount at 31 December 2015

We recognise that diversity and
inclusion goes beyond gender and

we are committed to moritoring and
reporting progress on other protected
characteristics

Our programmes and services also
need to be accessible to all and we
exceed the Ofcom targets for subtithing,
audio description and signing

Planet

We rely on energy and often depend
on the resources of local communities
to help in the production and
broadcast of programmes In 2015,
we used 100% renewable energy in all
the buildings we own and Coronation
Street leads the industry in producing
a television drama of the highest
quality with the lowest possible
environmental mpact See page 88
for our greenhouse gas disclosures

Partnerships

We strive to tackle social topics inan
authentic way and leverage our reach
to mass audiences to raise awareness
and money for chanty tn 2015, over
30 hours of artime were dedicated
to social action ITV contributed more
than £24 rmilbon in cash and in-kind
to support chantable causes, which
equates to 2 8% of adjusted profit
before tax More localty, our people
volunteered over 1,000 hours of thetr
time for a cause they care about

Further information

We aim for continuous improvement
in our responsibility strategy, actions
and performance More information
on our responsibility instiatives can be
found online

(®) rtvresponsibility com
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Strategic
Priority 1:
Maximise audience

and revenue share from

free-to-air broadcast
and VOD business

Pictured I m A Celebnty . Get Me Qut Of Herel returned
for a15th senes and launched with 11 3 million viewers
It averaged 99 million viewers across the seres and
was upin the 16-34 demographic.
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While the media environment in which we operate

is constantly changing our Broadcast business
remains robust and adaptable. ITV is the biggest
marketing platform in the UK and because of the
scale of our commercial channels, we reach around
80% of the television owning population every week.
We invest over £1 billion in our programme budget,
significantly more than our commercial competitors,
and have an unrivalled ability to deliver mass
audiences across all demographics.

(®) See page 30 for more

As aresult, there contmues to be a strong demand for advertising on I
our family of channels, which generates significant profit and cash to
reinvest across ITV Additionally, as anintegrated producer broadcaster,
our broadcast channels also provide animportant platform to
showcase ITV Studios content and give 1t a proven track record,

before exploiting it Internationally

Continued strong advertising growth driven by our

unique offering

Since 2009 1TV has maintained its leading position as the only
commercial broadcaster consistently able to deliver mass audiences
to our advertisers In 2015 ITV delivered 98% of all audiences over
five million and 93% of all audiences over three millicn

% of commerctal audiences over three and five miltion

{TV's unigue ability to deliver these mass audiences, as well as more
targeted demographics across the famity of channels and the iTV Hub,
has enabled us to once again grow ITY Family NAR ahead of our
estimate of the television advertising market, even though our SOV
declined in the year SOV prawvides an overall measure of viewing
performance, however because advertisers are buying scale and
breadth of audience, SOV i1s not necessarily a direct indicator of
advertising performance
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Strategic Priority 1 continued

©

Television remains the
most efficient and
effective advertising
medium for advertisers
to achieve mass
simultaneous reach.”

Television remains the most efficient
and effective advertising medium

for advertisers to achieve mass
simultaneous reach Although television
has seen some price inflation over the
last few years, the cost of advertising 1s
similar to 2004 levels and compared to
many other advertising media it rematns
good value, especially given the reach
and scale that it delivers As the viewing
and advertising landscape continues to
fragment, the scale of audience that
television, and particularly ITV delvers,
becomes ncreasingly valuable

20

Maximising the value of our airtime
ITV s also focused on maximising the
value of 1ts airtime and driving new
revenue streams through sponsorship,
interactivity and branded content

ITV can utilise its core assets of its
strong brand and reputation, unique
commercial relationships and quality
production capability to deliver a wide
variety of marketing solutions To date
we have implemented many innovative
sponsorship deals including Aunt Bessie's
for Pm A Celebnity  Get Me Out Of Here!
and Land Rover and SSE for the Rugby
World Cup We have also produced a
number of branded content solutions
with our new service ITV AdVentures
for Suzuki and National Lottery and we
have launched AdSync+, a partnership
with RadiwmOne 1o amplify the reach
of our television advertising In 2016

we wilt also be introducing more
targeted advertising

Ongoing focus on strengthening
viewing performance

Although we had many on-screen
successes in 2015, ITV Family's SOV
declined by 3% with [TV main channel
SOV down 4% and the digrtal channels
SOV down 3% This performance was a
result of the launch of some new free
digital channels, a number of our shows
not performing as well as we had
expected, particularly in the factual
genre, and relatively strong competition
from the BBC

However, we enjoyed many real
successes in the year — we broadcast the
most watched entertainment show in
Britain's Got Talent, the rmost watched
spap in Coronation Street, the most
watched drama in Downton Abbey and
the most watched sporting event with
England vs Wales during the Rugby
World Cup Our daytime schedule
impraved, ncluding Good Morning
Britam, and we also taunched a number
of new entertanment shows including
Mission Survive, Ninja Warrnior UK and
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Yau're Back in the Room, as well as
driving significant audiences with our
returning brands, 'm A Cetebnty Get
Me Out Gf Heretl, Britain's Got Talent
and The X Factor Our drama schedule,
which included Code of a Killer, Safe
House, Downton Abbey, Home Fires,
Unfargotten and the second series

of Broadchurch, continued to deliver
large-scale audiences

To drive viewing and engagement in
our content, we are further developing
programme apps which continue

to grow in populanty Our digital
engagement has grown sigmificantly

in the year, delivering 100 miflion votes
across our big entertainment shows
and 40 million paid competition entries

Locking ahead we have new creative
leadership in place and we rematn very
focused on strengthening our viewing
performance n 2016 We believe that
around £1billion 1s the appropnate
prograrmme budget for ITV's farmuly

of channels to ensure we continue

to deliver standout content that drives
the scale and breadth of audiences that
advertisers demand We have a strong
slate of new and returning programmes
across the key genres We have 50 hours
more drama, major football and rugby
tournaments and will continue to invest
i daytime and soaps Our 2016 schedute
includes new programmes such as
Victona, Cold Feet, The Durrells, Maigret,
Brief Encounters, Family Guy, American
Dad, Drive, Euro 2016 and the Rugby Six
Nations and returring programmes Vera,
Endeavour, Britamn’s Got Talent, X-Factor,
I'm A Celebrity Get Me Qut Of Herel,
Love Island, Ntnja Warrior UK, Long Lost
Family, The Chase and the Tour de France
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Pictured left to nght This Marming s one of
the longest runruing daytime programmes in
the UK and has been broadcast on ITV since
1989, Black Work was ITV's most watched
new drama in 2015 with an average of 76m

. viewers across the three-part senes.

Remaining responsive to a changing
media environment

The market in which we operate s
constantly changing but tradittonal
tinear television viewing remains

resiient despite significant changes n
the availabitity and delivery of content
Broadcaster and other VOD 15 growing
rapidly, but it 1s a gradual process and still
only accounts for 7% of total viewing

On average viewers watch 276 minutes
of television a day, whuch s a similar tevel
to 2004 of 222 minutes The majonty of
television viewing s live, which we
estimate to be 81%, as television
continues to have the power to bring
audiences together Live event television
in particular has demonstrated resiience
and a growing relevance as viewers
increastngly connect through social
media and they continue to deliver very
significant audiences Therefore large
sporting events, which also deliver
valuable demographics, continue to be
an important part of our schedule and as
well as the Rugby Six Nations we have
also recently secured British horseracing
from 2017

Many consumers, particularly younger
viewers, are engaging In an increasing
amount of content and entertainment
via other platforms such as socal media
and video games, but television viewing
continues to dominate the way people
like to be entertamned

Broadcast markets differ internationalty
The key European markets are
structurally different to the US, driven
by the strength of free-to-air telewision,
the level of pay penetration and the cost
of pay Therefore while lessons can be
learnt from other countres, there can
be no dwect read-across

Three attributes Lie at the heart of ITV's
successful Broadcast proposition 1t's
first-class distribution and reach across
all ptatforms, owning the nghts to
high-quality, must have content, for all
key audiences, and providing advertisers
with creative access to the biggest and
most effective marketing platformin
the UK

2016 and beyond

On 29th February 2016 ITV completed
its acquisition of 100% of UTV Ltd,

the television assets of UTV plc This
further strengthens ITV's free-to-ar
business and enables it to run a more
efficient network

As we continue ta invest in our
integrated producer broadcast model,
our prianty 1s to strengthen our
on-screen performance and we have
started 2016 well, with ITV SOV up

5% and ITV Famity SOV up 2% We are
also focused on maintaining the scale
of our audiences because as the viewing
and advertising landscape continues
to fragment, this becomes increasingly
valuable to advertisers

O,

The market in whichwe
operate is constantly
changing but traditional
linear television viewing
remains resilient despite
significant changes in
the availability and
delivery of content.”

Over the full year we again expect

to outperform cur estimate of the
television advertising market, although
the phasing of NAR 1s expected to be
different in 2016, driven by the timing
of major sporting events We expect
ITV NAR to be flat in Q1, margmnally
behind the market, agamnst 12% growth
in Q1last year Q2, which will benefit
fram the Euros, should be positive

Family Guy

Launching on ITV2 and the ITV Hub in March 2016
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Strategic
Priority 2:

Grow international
content business

Pictured Poldark was an eight-part senes
produced for the BBC by Mammoth Screen,
which ITV Studios UK acquired in 2015 it received
cntical acclaim and has been recommssioned
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Growing a scaled international content business is central to our
strategy as an integrated producer broadcaster. As ITV creates and
owns more content, our channels provide a platform to showcase
our programmes before distributing them across multiple platforms

in the UK and internationally.

@ See page 30 for more
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Growing global demand for content

The strong glebal demand for content from
broadcasters and platform owners prowvides
asignificant opporturity for [TV Studios

We estimate that the global content market
1s growing at about 5% per annum, with some
genres such as drama growing more quickty
than others To capitalise on this, our strategy
remains to develop, own and manage content
rights In genres that return and travel
internattonally, namely drama, entertainment
and factual entertainment

In 2015 we agatn delivered strong growth
with revenues up 33% to £1,237 million
(2014 £933 million) and EBITA up 27% ta
£206m (2014 £162 milion) This buillds on
the significant growth we have achieved
over the last few years, more than doubling
revenues from £600m in 2009 to over

£12 bilbion in 2015 This grawth has been
actveved arganically as well as through a mix
of acquisitions, partnerships, nvestments
and talent deals

Building scale in creative markets

ITV Studios has three production divistons ~ ITV Studios UK, ITV Amenca and ITV Studios
Rest of World The US and UK are the dommant creative markets, with the US the largest
exporter of scripted content and the UK the world leader for exported formats

Over the last few years we have built scale in these key markets, developing a portfolio

of successful senies and formats We have made 16 acquisitions since 2012 marmly in the
UK and US and also more recently Talpa Mediain the Netherlands Our original business
(excluding all acquisitions we have made) continues to perform well, delivering a 5%
compound annual growth rate since 2009, although production businesses do not deliver

straight-line revenue growth
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Strategic Priority 2 continued

O,

We have cemented
our position as

the number one
commercial producer
in the UK and a leading
indie producer in
Europe and the US.”

ITV Studios UK performed strongly in
20175 with overall revenues up 19%, with
good growth in sales to ITV and to other
UK broadcasters With the acquisition of
Mammoth Screen and Twofour Group
we have strengthened our production
capability across the genres of drama,
entertanment, factual entertainment
and comedy, as well as helping to

drne further growth in our of f-ITV
commissions We have delivered series
such as The Graham Norton Show
(BBCT), 24 Hours in A&E (Channet 4),
10,000 BC {Channel 5), and following
these recent acquisitions our portfolio
includes Poldark (BBC), The Voice (BB(Q),
Educating Cardiff (Channel 4) and Posh
Pawn (Channel 4)

ITV Studios UK 1s also focused an
growing its share of angmal content
commissioned on the ITV main channel.
In 2015 ITV Studios delivered 60% of the
total spend cn original commussions on
the ITV main channel, This 1s a similar
proportion to 2014 but in terms of
revenue, total sales to Broadcast
increased by 12% New commissions
delivered to ITV include Thunderbirds
Are Gol, Ninja Warrior UK, Home Fires,
Unforgotten and Jekyll & Hyde

ITV America also had a strong year with
revenues up 36% as it benefited from
the delivery of major new dramas and

a high volume of programmes from

our stable portfolio of unscripted series,
including Duck Dynasty, Pawn Stars

and two series of Hell's Kitchen USA

We saw good growth across (TV Studios
Rest of Worltd (RoW) with revenues

up 124%, where our production bases

In Australia, Germany, France, the
Nethertands and the Nordics produce
original content as well as local versions
of ITV Studios formats This division
benefited from the sigrificant
acquisition of Talpa Media in the year
and also delivered a number of new
and returning commissions including
I'm ACelebnty Get Me Out Of Here!
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Hell’s Kitchen USA

Broadcast on the Fox Network
and returned for a 14th sernies in
the US in 2015 It has been sold
to 196 countries

in Denmark and Australia, The Chase In
Norway, Come Dine With Me in Sweden,
The Chase, Quizduell and I'm A Celebrity
Get Me Qut Of Here! in Germany and

A Mother's Sonin France

In total in 2015 we produced over

7,000 hours of content by our 58 labels,
supplying over 90 channels We have
delivered good revenue growth acrass
our three production dvisions and

we have cemented our position as the
number one commercial producer

in the UK and have become a leading
independent producer in Eurcpe and the
US Over half of our revenues now come
from outside the UK as we are becoming
an mcreasingly international business

Investing in content with
international appeal

To become increasingly international we
must continue to expand our portfolio
of successful senes and formats that
return and that can be distnibuted
globally We have a strongmix of
programmes across genres and also
across thewr content bife cycle which
balances our risk and financial exposure
We continue to invest in our pipeline of
ideas to ensure that we are adding to our
catalogue of programmes every year
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Pictured left to ight, The Real Housewives

. of New Jersey 15 an Amencan reality series

. produced by Sirens (3 Leftfield cornpany) in the
US, Jericho 1s an eight-part UK penod drama

* onITv and has been sold to 85 countnes

Demand for drama is growing strongly
as standout, onginal content becomes
brand defining for both broadcasters
and OTT players in an increasingly
competitive globat environment We
are looking to leverage our network
relattonships and international
distribution network, to expand our
global scnpted business and develop

a strong portfolio of international and
returrung drarma

Reflecting the Group’s strong financiai
position and cash generation, we are
now able to finance larger-scale scripted
projects through working caprtal

The production cost is partly funded

by the imitial sale of the series to the
broadcaster, while the deficit 1s recovered
through distribution revenue from
selling the finished product globally to
other broadcasters and platforms We
balance our financial exposure through
our portfolio approach, with successful
international dramas of fsetting the risk
that we will not recover the full deficit
on every show

During 2015 we have delivered three
major drama series in the US, The Good
Witch, Aquarius and Texas Rising, of
which The Good Witch and Aquarius
have been recommussioned In the

UK we have also delivered or have in
production Mr Selfridge s4, Endeavour
53, Poldark 52 and Vera s6 which all
have international appeal

O,

Demand for drama
is growingly strongly
as standout, original
content becomes
brand defining for
both broadcasters
and OTT players.”

Shetland

Scotush crime drama produced by
ITV Studios UK for the BBC Currently
inits third sertes in the UK and has
beensold to 120 countries

We continue to perform well
internationally in the entertainment
and factual entertainment genres

In response to continued demand
from networks, we have grown a solid
portfolio of high volume, high margin
formats inctuding Duck Dynasty,
Pawn Stars, Come Dine with Me,

I'm A Celebrity Get Me Qut Of Herel,
Hell's Kitchen USA and The Chase

Qver the last few years we have
strengthened our exposure to this genre
with a number of partnerships, including
In 2015, Possessed Television and Cats
on the Roof and most significantly Talpa
Media, which we acquired in April 2015
which s focused on developing new
entertainment formats that attract
large audiences and have significant
commercial potential. Benefiting from
the creative input of John De Mol and his
management team, who will continue
to work with TV, Talpa has created

75 shows and has ared programmes in
more than 180 countries over the last six
years, including The Voice, The Voice Kids,
I Love My Country, Dating in the Dark and
Dance Dance Dance
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2016 and beyond

We have a very strong internationat
pipeline of programmes and brands
across genres and across therr content
Uife cycle New programmes include
Victona, Cold Feet, Tutankhamun,
Houdtni & Doyle, Marned by Mom and
Dad and Killing Fields and returning
programmes which include Aguarius,
Thunderbirds Are Go!, Home Fires,
The Good Witch, Potdark, Endeavour,
Vera, Coronation Street, Emmerdale,
The Voice, The Voice Kids, Pawn Stars,
Come Dine With Me, The Chase,

I'm A Celebnty Get Me Out Of Here!
and Countdown

TV Studios 1s now a global business and
gomng forward we aim to utilise our scale
to grow our market share and expand
the number of networks and OTT
players we work with, particularly i the
US with a strong portfolio of new and
returning programmes we will build
further scate internationally, both
arganically and through partnerships
and acquisitions, as we continue to
reduce our reliance on the UK market
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Strategic
Priority 3:

Build a global pay and
distribution business

Pictured The Voice 1s produced by
Netherlands based 2015 acquisition Talpa
Media It has been sold to 180 countries
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As digital media and consumer behaviour continue to evolve,
our ability to create and distribute high-value content in
new and efficient ways is of increasing significance. ITV is
continually exploring and experimenting with new ways to
distribute our content to broadcasters and platform owners, \
both free and pay, while also seeking new opportunities to

extend the reach of our content for the consumer.

(® See page 30 for more

Capitalising on growing demand for VOD through the ITV Hub

Changes in technolagy and the growing base of connected devices are driving
rapid growthin audiences’ appetite for VOD and in turn fuelling demand from
advertisers for VOD inventory ITV as a creator and owner of content, particularly
sought after drama and entertainment content, is well placed to exptoit this
growing customer base

Our Online business has grown rapidly over the last few years and s contnbuting
meaningful revenue to the Group InNovember we successfully Launched the

ITV Hub to replace ITV Player and ITV com across mobile, PC and connected TV,
through which audiences can access ITV content on different devices, live

or ondemand This 1s a major step forward in the quality, nnovation and ease

of use of ITV's online services The biggest change is that bive content 15 now
central to the ITV Hub and iive ssmulcast viewing 1s becoming increasingly popular
particularly around sporting events and large entertainment shows, as viewers
are using their connected devices as a television set Stmulcast viewing now
represents about 30% of viewing on the platforms on which it is available

To dnive growth in our online audiences and online advertising revenues we

have also beenworking to increase the distribution of the [TV Hub which 1s now
available on 27 platforms, most recently launching on Amazon Fire, YouView Sony
and Freeview Play Long-form video requests continue to grow strongly up 14%

in 2015, driven by mobile and connected televistons Online consumption, whichis
the measure of how long viewers are spending online, has also increased by 42%
reflecting the quality of ITV's content and the improved viewing expenence of the
TV Hub

To date there have been 21 million downloads of our app and to further increase
usage we will continually extend and enhance the ITV Hub with improvements in
technology and new content, such as premieres, box sets and shart-form content

Overalt the new service has been very well recewved by both audiences and
advertisers, with consumption growing strongly since launch, particularly for live
viewing where our audiences enjoy the new ‘live swipe' feature on smartphones
and tablets and the ITV Hub's improved streaming quality

Additionally, we are working to
maximise the value of our digital
data We have introduced new
digital advertising features ke
AdSync+ as well as dynamically-
served advertising on ITV's tive
simulcast channels on PC and
Apple platforms With 13 million
registered users of the ITV Hub, we
are not only able to understand and
engage with our audiences better
but we are also developing more
targeted advertising online In 2016
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Strategic Priority 3 continued

®

Our Online, Pay &
Interactive business
is rapidly growing
and profitable.”

Further developing our pay offering
in the UK and intermnationally

TV earns revenue from pay television
through licensing our channels and
content 2075 pay revenue grew by
38% as we continued to develop our
services across multipte platforms

Our pay business in the UK includes deals
with Sky and Virgin for our HD channels
and catch-up VOD, an advertising free
subscription version of the ITV Hub on
10S and a deal with Sky to make ITV's
content available through its connected
platforms including Sky Go and Now TV
In 2014 we launched our first pay
channel, ITV Encore, which we are
strengthening with more exclusive
content ncluding original commissions
such as The Frankenstein Chronicles and
Houdint & Doyle and critically acclaimed
acquired series such as The Americans
and Jordskott

Qutside the UK we have established
anumber of smaller pay propositions
including Cirkus, a subscription VOD
service that offers the ‘Best of British'
content to International pay platforms
which s available in the Nordics and
more recently in lceland We also
distribute ITV Essentials, an online
service for expats, and ITV Choice, a
general entertainment channel for
emerging markets which was recently
launched in South Africa

As we look to Increase ITV brand loyalty,
we have already increased our exposure
to new types of content including
short-form and younger focused
tong-form programming and new types
of distnbution We are widening our
cigital reach by expanding our presence
on YouTube to bring new audiences to
our programmes in 2015 we launched
22 new ITV branded channels across a
range of our biggest programme brands
Woe saw usage increase aver 400%
across the year on the ITV branded
channels to deliver over 160million
views, the equivalent of over 8 million
hours of viewing

Talpa has a very strong digital presence
internationally across its range of
formats Since 2014 1t has devetoped

10 successful connected live formats
including The Voice, The Voice Kids and
Dance Dance Dance, in 40 countries, with
S0 apps/sites and 100 YouTube channels,
in total deliverng over 12 bitlion views

We have made investments in the
digital arena as we look to develop our
expertise Inmonetising online audiences
These include Believe Entertainment
Group, a producer of digital-branded
short-form entertainment, Zealot, a
digital content multi-platform network,
Indigenous Media, a producer of scripted
digital content, and Channel Mum,

the first ever online video network
dedicated to young mothers

Looking ahead we will further develop
our pay offering both in the UK and
internationally exploring opportunities
for both pay and online as we seek to
monetise our content further We will
look to do this through a mixed economy
of organic growth, partnerships and
acquisitions We will also increasingly
lock for opportunities to ‘window’ our
content across our free channels, pay
channels and the ITV Hub to derive
maximum value for audiences,
platforms and advertisers
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Expanding our global

distribution network

In 2015 Global Entertainment, the
distnbution arm of ITV Studios, delivered
revenue growth of 9% to £157 million
(2014 £144 million) as we have continued
to drive value from the investment

we have made in creating and owning
the nghts to quality content with
international appeal

Our distnbution business has a
substantial archive of over 40,000 hours
of television and film content that we
distribute to broadcasters and platform
owners around the world In 2015

we have continued to enhance our
distribution network, benefiting from
our increased rights ownership and
strong network relationships as 1TV
Studios has grown in scale

We have a strong and balanced
portfolio of scripted and unscripted
programmes and faormats, both

new and returning We continucusly
strengthen this using ITV's strong cash
flow to create and fund new content
and acquire third-party nghts 1TV
Studios creates new programmes In

the key genres of drama, entertainment
and factual entertainment
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5 Pictured left tonght Vera s 3 British based

:+ detective drama ints sixth series on (TV It has
. had huge international success and has been

¢ sold to 177 countres, Thundertirds Are Go?

+ 15 produced by iTV Studios and broadcast on

* TV [t has been sold to 90 countnes to date

Reality dating show Love Island
generated significant actvity on

the ITV Hub with 11 mullion requests
on ad-funded platforms across the
series [t was the first ITV programme
to generate two million views In
aweek

Qur scripted content has sold well
internationally with programmes

such as Poldark, Aquarius, Texas Rising,
Endeavour, Jekyll & Hyde and Mr Selfndge
all selling to over 100 countrtes Our
entertainment and factual entertainment
content also continues to sell wellwith
programmes such as Come Dine With
Me, The Voice, The Voice Kids, | Love My
Country, The Chase, 'm A Celebnty Get
Me Out Of Here! and the Price of Beauty

During the year we have also signed a
number of new mult-year and mults-
terntory deals including a seven year
deat for Coronation Street with CBCin
Canada Inearly 2016 we agreed amulti
senes and terntory deal for Thunderbirds
Are Go!'with Amazon covering the

Us and Inaia for first run and UK and
Germany for second run We are now
starting to benefit from merchandising
around Thunderbirds Are Got as we look
to extend the franchise beyond the
television set

Globat Entertainment also invests in
the funding of scripted content with
international appeal TV has invested
around £160 million in the year, up
£60 millton, in scripted programmes
such as Texas Rising, Aquanus and The
Good Witch, two of which have been
recommissioned and they are selling
well internationally

In addition to distributing ITV's own
content, we have also acquired the
third-party distrnbutionrights to a
number of nternational shows including
Schitt's Creek from Canada and Nordic
thriller Jordskott.

2016 and beyond

Looking ahead we expect to deliver
double-digit growth in our Online, Pay
& Interactive revenues as we further
develop our ability to distnbute and sell
our content We will continue to invest
to enhance the ITV Hub and through
amixed economy of organic growth,
partnerships and acquisitions, we will
develop our pay and online services
and channels and explore new ways
to package and sell our content to
take advantage of demand for quabty
content in the UK and internationally
from consumers, broadcasters and
platform owners

Lastty, we are also continumng to drive
the debate around the implementation
of retransrmission fees in the UK to
ensure that we are farly compensated
far our iInvestment in content for the
ITV main channel when it 1s carried on
pay TV platforms

O,

Qur scripted

content has sold well
internationally with
programmes such

as Poldark, Aquarius,
Texas Rising, Endeavour
and Mr Selfridge

all selling to over

100 countries.”

Talpa Connect
Since 2014

10

successful connected
live formats

n
40 countries

with

90 apps/sites

and
1 00 YouTube channels

with over

1 2 billion views
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Performance Dashboard

Demonstrating continued progress against
our strategic priorities.

Strategic priority

2015 performance

1

Maximise audience
and revenue share
from free-to-air
broadcast and
VOD business

« ITV NAR growth of 6%, ahead of our estimate of the TV advertising market
Share of broadcast up to 461% 1n 2015 (2014 459%)

- ITV Family SOV down 3%

ITV detivered 98% of commercial audiences over five million and 93%

of audiences over three million

Delivered most watched entertainment drama, scap and sporting event
ITV2 and ITV3 largest digital channels in the UK

Innovative sponsarship and brand extension partrerships with advertisers
Launched AdSync+, a partnership with RadiumOne to amplify the reach of
our TV advertising

Dynamic advertising now served to ITV simulcast content on PC and 105
Significant digital engagement with 100 million votes across our big
entertainment shows and 40 million pard competition entries

2

Grow international
content business

Good growth across ITV Studios with 8% organic and 33% including
the acquisitions

ITV Studios’ share of ITV main channel output at 60%

46% growth in Off-ITV production revenue in the UK

Contmued Investment in creative pipeline with over 7,000 hours
of ariginal content produced and delivered

Completed three acquisitions including Talpa Medsa, our biggest
acquisition to date

53% of ITV Studios revenue generated outside the UK

- Top indie producer across Europe and the US

- Delivered three US scripted series in the year, two of which have
been recommussioned

3

Build a global pay
and distribution
business

-

» Successful taunch of the ITV Hub

Long-form video requests up 14%, consumption up 42%

21 milion downloads of app and 13 millon registered users

» Launched new original programrming on TV Encore

New pay deal with Virgin and others including Amazon TVOD and TalkTalk
« Cirkus and ITV Choice now launched in four countnes

Launched many YouTube channels across our programme brands focusing
on short-form content, which has driven very significant views

A leading European distributor of content, with Aquarius, Mr Selfridge,
Poldark and Hell's Kitchen USA all sold to over 100 countries

Six formats sold to three or more countnies
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Pictured left to nght The Tour de France
has been broadcast on ITV4 for eight

years, Trevor McDonald presented two
documentanes during 2015 with The Mafia
broadcast in March being the most watched
documentary in Q1on any channel

Key Performance Our Key Performance Indicators (KPis) align our performance » Adjusted EBITA
indicators across and accountability to our strategy of continuing to develop + Adjusted EPS
all three priorities a creative, commercal and global organisation Five KPIs » Profit to cash conversion
measure the Group’s operational and financial performance » Non-NAR revenue
across all three priorities + Employee engagement
Focus for 2016 Key Performance Indicators

- Strengthen on-screen viewing in key demographics

Further invest in our content, channels and brand to maintan
our unique scale

Grow our share of total telewision and VOD advertising

Continue to maximise the value of our programme brands
through sponsorship, iInteractivity and brand extensions
Developing new and more targeted advertising opportunities
Developing branded content solutions through our new content
creation service ITV AdVentures

Integration of UTV

.

« ITV Family SOV

= ITV family SOCI

« [TV Family share of broadcast
Percentage of commercial audiences
over three milion and over five million

@See page 18 for more on
Strategic Pnority 1

Buid further scale internationally

Continue to develop IP inkey creative markets to exploit growing
worldwide demand

Build a pipeline of programmes across genres and content bfe cycle
Cevelop more 16 to 24 focused content

Attract and retain key creative talent

Continue to look at acquisitions, investments and talent deals

« Number of new commussions for ITV Studios
« Percentage of ITV output from ITV Studios

@ See page 22 for more on
Strategic Prionty 2

Further mvest in the quality and distribution of the ITV Hub

Build a network of pay channels and OTT services

Consider wider partnerships with OTT/VOD players

Continue to tnal direct to consumer pay opportunities

Develop innovative new content windowing strategy

» Further grow our international distnbution network with high-
quality content

- Maximise the use of our strong cash flows to finance the production
of tugh-profile dramas that return and travel internationally

- invest in developing third-party distribution deals

« Secure retransmussion fees in the medium term

.

» Total long-form video requests
» Number of new commussions for ITV Studios

@ See page 26 for more on
Strategic Prionity 3
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Key Performance Indicators

We have defined our KPIs to align our performance
and accountability to our strateqy.

These KPIs are the key measures of
success and cover all three strategic
priorities Our KPIs have not changed
over the year.

Our strategic priorities
Maximise audience and
revenue share from free-to-ar

broadcast and VOD business

Grow International
content business

Build a globat pay and
distribution business

Financial

Adjusted EBITA Adjusted EPS
Definition Definition

This 15 the key profitabibity measure
used across the whole business
Earnings before interest, tax and
amortisation (EBITA) s before
exceptional items and has been
adjusted to include the benefit of
production tax credits it reflects our
performance in a consistent manner
and in line with how the business

1s managed and measuredon a
day-to-day basis

Performance

In 2015 adjusted EBITA increased by
£135 million or 18% This increase was
aresult of the 15% increase in Group
external revenue which was driven
by a 6% increase in Net Advertising
Revenue, a 23% increase in Online,
Pay & Interactive revenue and a 124%
increase in ITV Studios Rest of World
revenue driven by the acquisition

of Talpa

Group EBITA margin once again
increased, up to 29% from 28%
n2014

Adjusted EPS represents the adjusted
profit for the year attributable to
equity shareholders Adjusted profit
1s defined as profit for the year
attributable to equity shareholders
before exceptional items, mpairment
of intangible assets, amortisation

of intangible assets acquired

through business combinations, net
finanaing cost adjustments and tax
adjustments relating to these items

it reflects the business performance
of the Group in a consistent manner
and mn line with how the business

1s managed and measured ona
day-to-day basis

Performance

Adjusted EPS increased by 20% or
138p to 16 5p Thisreflects the
Iincrease in adjusted EBITA of 18%
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Non-financial
Profit to cash Non-NAR revenue Employee
conversion engagement
Definition Definition Definition

Profit to cash conversionrepresents
the proportion of adjusted EBITA
converted into a measure of
adjusted cash flow {defined as cash
generated from operations before
exceptional terns less cash related
to the acquisitton of operating
property, plant and equipment

and intangible assets)

Thus prnimarily reflects our working
capttal management and capitat
expenditure control Our aim s to
keep profit to cash conversion as
tugh as possible

Performance

Profit to cash has been mamtamed at
a strong level in excess of 90% Thisis
despite our continued investment in
scnpted content and demonstrates
our continued focus on working
capital management

Growing non-NAR is key to the
strategy as we aim to rebalance

the business away from our reliance
on television advertising revenue
Non-NAR includes all ITV revenue,
both internat and external, except
NAR (spot advertising revenues)

Key drivers of non-NAR are the
growth in Online, Pay & Interactive
and TV Studios, particularly
international.

Performance

Non-NAR revenue increased by 25%
in 2015 as we continue to rebalance
the business away from a reliance
onNAR Growth was drivenby [TV
Studios revenues which saw both
organic and acquisition revenues
increase, and from Online and Pay
revenue Non-NAR revenues were
£49% of total revenues which has
increased significantly since 2009
when it was 40%

L —

Continuing to develop a creative,
commercial and gtobal orgarisation
requires high-quality employees who
are engaged in the work that they do,
and are commuitted to the strategy

Employee engagement measures
pnde in the work we do, pride in
working for ITV and also what we say
about our programmes and services

Performance

Employee engagement was once
agan high at 89% which 1s above
the benchmark rate of 83% The
participation rate was 74%
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Key Performance Indicators continued

Strategic Priority 1aims to maximise
audience share from our existing
free-to-air Broadcast busmess,

and ITV Farmily SOV 1s the clearest
indicator of this ITV Family SOV

15 ITV's share of the total viewing
audience over the year achieved

by ITV's famuly of channels as a
proportion of total television viewing,
including the BBC Family ITV aims at
least to mamtain the ITV Farmily SOV

Performance

TV Family SOV declined by 3% 1n 2015
to 21 2% Within this, the ITV main
channel saw a decline of 4% impacted
by the launch of new free digital
channets, some of our shows not
perfarming as well as we had
expected, particularly in the first

half of the year and by the relatively
strong perfarmance of the BBC

The digital channels were down 3%

ITV Family SOV improved in the
second half of 2015 with strong
performances in Daytime, the Soaps,
Sport and Entertainment

J

Strategic Priority 1 aims to maximise
audience share from our existing
free-to-air Broadcast business, and
TV Famity SOCl s another indicator
of this SOCIis the trading currency

in the television advertising market,
and since 1t only covers commercral
television it does not nclude the BBC
This 15 the share of total UK television
commercial mpacts whichis
delvered by TV's family of channels
Anmpact 1s one viewer watching
one 30 second commercial We aim
to maximise our SOCI

SOC! provides an overall measure

of viewing performance, however
because advertisers are buying scale
and breadth of audience, SOCI 15

not necessarnly a direct indicator

of advertising performance

Performance

ITV Farmily SOCI declined by 4%, with
the mam channel down 4% The
digital channels 50CI was down 3%

\

Strategic

ITV Family SOV ITV Family SOCI ITV Family share
of broadcast

Definition Definition Definition

ITV's share of UK television spot
advertising revenue I1s Known as 1ts
share of broadcast To maximise
revenue from our free-to-air business,
which 1s a key component of Strateqic
Priority 1, we aim to continue to
maxamise our share of broadcast

and to outperform the UK telewision
advertising market

It 1s increasingly difficult to measure
the total television advertising
market as all broadcasters have
different definttions and include
other sources of revenue, such

as sponsorship and VOD in therr
estimates of television advertising
Our share of broadcast is based on
our estimate of the pure spot
advertising market

Performance

In 2015 we gained market share again,
increasing our share of broadcast to
461% Thisis as a result of our urigue
ability to deliver mass audiences
across the key demographics to

our advertisers
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* Our strategic priorities

Maximising
Growing

Building

TJotal long-form
video requests

Definition

A key part of our strategy Is to
maximise audience share from
our free-to-air broadcast and
VOD business

Long-form video requestsis a
measure of the total number of our
videos viewed across all ptatforms
onwhich the ITV Hub 1s available and
therefore provides a key measure

of how much of our content s being
viewed ontine A long-formvideo 1s a
programme that has been broadcast
on television and is available to watch
online and on demand inits entirety

Performance

Long-form videa requests were up
14% 1In 2015 to 828 million views

To support growth in our online
audiences we launched the ITV Hub

in November 2015 and have improved
our mobile apps and simulcast
offering Online consumption, which
Is the measure of how long viewers
are spending onling, 1s becarming
increasingly important as an indicator
of online perfaormance and this has
increased by over 40% n 2015

Number of new

Percentage of

commissions for ITV* output from
ITV Studios ITV Studios
Definition Definition

A key indicator of the creative
renewal pipeline I1s the number of new
commussions won This figure ncludes
programmes shownboth on TV and
on other broadcasters, and bothin
the UK and internationally

Performance

There was strong growth in the
number of new commussions for

ITV Studios In 2015, up 11% to 166
Fifty-eight of these new commissions
have come from the UK business,
with the remaining 108 coming

from our international businesses

We continue to invest in our
creative pipeline both organically
and through acquisitions

This represents the proportion of the
total spend on onginal commissions
on [TV transmitted in the year,
delivered by ITV Studios A key part
of bullding a strong international
content business is to increase ITV
Studies’ supply of programmes to 1TV,
where we aim to make them famous
and then sell them around the world,
benefiting from our integrated
producer broadcaster status

Performance

The percentage of [TV output from
ITV Studios has remained flat in 2015,
although the value has increased

as ITV's total oniginal commissions
has increased Several ITV Studios
programmes created in 2015 have
now been distributed around the
world including Thunderbirds Are Gol,
Mr Selfridge, The Chase and I'm A
Celebnty GetMe Qut Of Here!

* ITV Main Channel only
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Financial and Performance Review

ITV delivered another strong performance in 2015
with growth across the business.

@ Reflecting our continued investment in quality content, we
grew revenue across all parts of the business and reported
H - our sixth consecutive year of double-digit growth in our
We remain h'ghl‘/ CaSh key profit measures, while further improving our adjusted
generative which together EBITA margin. We remain highly cash generative which,

. . ’ together with our continued focus on costs, placesusina
with our continued focus strong position to mvest for further growth and enhance
On COStS pla Ces US in a shareholder value into 2016 and bevond.

H
strong position to invest o 2w G Cange
Twetve months to 31December £m Em £m %
for further growth and NAR 78 1629 90 6
Total non-NAR 1,664 1,327 337 25
_enhance SharEhOlder va l'ue Total revenue 3,383 2956 427 14
into 2016 and beyond.” Internal supply @ (366) 45 1
Group external revenue 2,972 2,590 382 15
Adjusted EBITA 865 730 135 18

Group adjusted EBITA margin 29% 28%

Adjusted EPS 165p 138p 27p 20
Adjusted diluted EPS 163p 137 26p 19
Dividend per share 60p 470p 13p 28
Special dividend 100p 625p - -
Net (debt)icash as

at 31 December {319) 41 (360} -

The unadjusted profit before tax and EPS from the
Consolidated Income Statement are as follows

2015 20 Change  Change
Twelve months to 310ecember £m £m £im %
Profit before tax 641 605 36 B
EPS 124p TMTep 08p 7
Diluted EPS 123p MNM5p 08p 7

Total ITV revenue increased 14% to £3,383 million (2014
£2,956 million), with external revenue up 15% at £2,972 million
(2014 £2,580 million) This reflects 6% growthin NAR to
£1,719 mulbion (2014 £1,629 million), and 25% growth in
non-NAR revenue to £1,664 million 2014 £1,327 million)
Non-NAR now accounts for 49% (2014 45%) of total revenue
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Growth in NAR and high margin Online, Pay & Interactive
revenue combined with the growthm ITV Studios and our
continued focus on costs, delivered an 18% increase in adjusted
EBITA to £865 million (2014 £730 million), resulting in a 1%
improvement in the adjusted EBITA margin to 29% Adjusted
EPS grew 20% to 16 5p (2014 13 8p) while reported EPS grew
7% 1012 4p (2014 1 6p) Reported EPS grew at a slower rate
than adjusted EPS primarily because of the treatment of
employment linked consideration for our acquisitions which
15 included within reported earmings This 1s explained over
the following pages

We remain focused on balance sheet efficiency and working
capital management Despite increased investment in scripted
content, our profit to cash ratio remamed strong at 91% After
acquisitions of £406 million (net of cash acquired), dvidend
payments of £459 million and our deficit pension contributions
of £90 mitlion, we ended 2015 with net debt of £312 million

(31 December 2014 net cash of £41million) This gives us the
financial flexibility to continue to Invest in the business

The Financil and Performance Review focuses on the adjusted
results, which, in management's view, reflect the underlying
performance of the business, providing a more meaningful
companson of how the business 1s managed and measured

on a day-to-day basts

The key adjustments are toreflect production tax credits in
EBITA before exceptional items ('adjusted EBITA) and remove
the effect of certan items from adjusted profit before tax
andEPS These include all operating and non-operating
exceptional items primarily acquisition-related costs such as
employment inked consideration and professional fees for
due diligence, mpairment of ntangible assets, amortisation
of ntangible assets acquired through business combinations
including formats and customer contracts, net financing cost
adjustments, and tax adjustments relating to these items

A full reconciliation between our adjusted and statutory
results 1s provided on page 43

.

Broadcast & Online

2018 2014 Change Change
Twelve months to 31December Em £m £m %
NAR 1,719 1,629 90 6
Onling, Pay & interactive
revenue 188 153 35 23
SDN external revenue 64 71 {7) (10)
Other commergial ncome 175 170 5 3
Broadcast & Online
non-NAR revenue 427 394 33 8
Totat Broadcast & Online
revenue 246 2023 123 6
Total schedule costs (1,045) (1,018) {27) (3)
Other costs (442) (437) {5) {1)
Total Broadcast & Online
adjusted EBITA 659 568 91 16
Adjusted EBITA margin 31% 28%

Broadcast & Online delivered another strong performance,
with total revenue up 6% to £2,146 rmillion (2014 £2,023 milliony)
driven by 6% growth In NAR and 23% growth in Ontine,

Pay & Interactive

The television advertising market again showed strong
growth with NAR up 6% to £1719 mithon (2014 1,629 million)
and continued good growth across all the major advertising
categories The Finance advertising category was driven by
traditional banking brands and the Retail and Food sectors
remained strong with supermarkets and furniture stores
increasing spend We saw strong growth from technology
cornpanies such as Google and Facebook as well as new digital
brands, such as Just Eat and Purple Bricks, all using TV to build
brand awareness Entertainment & Leisure did see a decline
whuch was as a result of significant spend by bookmakers in
2014 around the Football World Cup

ITV plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 37




Strategic Report » Performance and Financials

Financial and Performance Review continued

As expected, the phasing of NAR was different in 2015
reflecting the timing of major sporting events The first
quarter saw strong growth of 12% benefiting from an earlier
Easter, while the second quarter was flat against a strong Q2
2014 which benefited from the Football World Cup The
third quarter was up 8% with increased spend around the
Rugby World Cup with the fourth quarter up 4% Overall
ITV's underlymng advertising performance was consistently
strong in both the first and second halves of the year

Over the full year we increased our estimated share

of broadcast to 461% (2014 45 9%) as we once again
outperformed our estimate of the UK telewision advertising
market It s becoming increasingly difficult to measure the
pure spot advertismg market as all broadcasters use
different definitions, which may include additional sources
of revenue such as sponsorship and VOD in their estimates
of television advertising

ITV Famity SOV declined 3% in 2015 This reflects a 4% decline
in the ITV main channel SOV which was impacted by more
competition from the launch of new digital channels in the
year including Spike and Your TV, some of our shows not
performing as well as we had expected and the relatively
strong performance of the BBC ITV2 also contributed to the
decline, partly as a result of our repositioning of the channel
to provide more targeted audiences for our advertisers We
remain focused on strengthening our viewing performance
and continuing ta deliver mass audiences

Online, Pay & Interactive revenue continued to show strong
growth, up 23% to £188 million (2014 €153 million) reflecting
further growth in both our online advertising and pay
businesses In November we successfully launched the ITV Hub,
the new digital home for our online services, which has had a
very encouraging start Audience demand for VOD continues
to grow strongly which helped drive a 14% ncrease in long-
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formwvideo requests and 42% \ncrease In consumption There
remains strong demand for online advertising which helped
drive significant growth i online revenue We continue to
develop our pay services with Pay revenue benefiting from

a full twelve months of revenue from ITV Encore and strong
demand for ITV videc on demand services Interactive revenue
was up In the year with daytime competitions performing well
Voting on our programme apps increased exponentially as we
introduced a free voting strategy X Factor delivered 24 million
votes andI'm A Celebnty Get Me Out Of Here! delivered total
votes of over 56 million

SDN external revenue, which 1s generated from licence sales
for DTT Multiplex A, decreased 10% to £64 mullion (2014
£71millicn) This was as a result of lower renewal fees for
existing long-term contracts which expired during the year

Other commercial ncome was up 3% to £175 million (2014
£171 million), reflecting growth in sponsorship for the Rugby
World Cup and brand extensions through a number of
innovative solutions including Land Rover and SSE for the
Rugby World Cup and Aunt Bessie's for 'm A Celebrity Get Me
Out Of Here! Other commercial incorme also includes revenue
from media sales, which relates to commission earned by ITV
on sales of artme for the non-consolidated licensees, as well
as minority revenue from these licensees for ITV content

As expected, performance across both revenue streams

was largely unchanged

Schedute costs were up 3% to £1,045 million (2014 £1,018
million) predomunantly due to the full year costs of ITVBe
andiTV Encore Sports rights savings on the FA Cup and
Champions League were partly offset by the costs of the
Rugby World Cup Gaing forward we believe that this is around
the nght level of programme spend although the genre rmix
will change each year

Other Broadcast costs increased marginally, up 1% to

442 mitbion (2014 £437 million} We maintain a tight control
on costs and will continue to deliver savings to mitigate
inflationary pressure

Overall Broadcast & Online adjusted EBITA was up 16% to
£659 rmitlion (2014 £568 million) The continued growth in
our highly geared advertising revenue, together with high
margin revenue growth in Online, Pay & Interactive, resulted in
the adjusted EBITA marginincreasing 3% to 31% (2014 28%)

On 29th February 2016, ITV completed its acquisition of 100%
of UTV Ltd, which owns the televistons assets of UTV Ple, for
£100 million This will further strengthen ITV's free-to-air
business and enable it to run a more efficient network As part
of the transaction ITV has taken on responsibility for the UTV
defined benefit pension scheme
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ITV Studios

2015 0% Change Change
Twelve months to 31 December £m £m £m %
Studios UK 547 459 88 19
Studios US 320 235 85 36
Studios RoW 213 95 118 124
Global Entertainment 187 144 13 9
Total Studios revenue 1,237 933 304 33
Total Studios costs {1,031) (771  (260) {34)
Total Studios adjusted
EBITA* 206 162 44 27
Studios adjusted EBITA margmn 17% 17%
* Includes the benefit of production tax credits

2013 2074 Change Change
Twelve months to 31 December £m £m £m %
Sales from ITV Studios to
Broadcast & Online 41 366 45 12
External revenue 826 567 259 46
Total Studios revenue 1,237 933 304 33

ITV Studhos total revenue grew strongly, exceeding £1 billion
for the first time as we contmue to build scale in creative
content markets and strengthen our international portfolio

of programmes that return and travel. ITV Studios 15 becoming
increasingty international, and reflecting our growth and
increasing scale in key production markets in Europe and the
US, 53% of ITV Studios total revenue in the year was generated
outside the UK (2014 47%)

Total organic revenue, which excludes our current and prior
year acquisitions as well as foreign exchange movements,
was up 8% There was growth across the business, with a
particularly strong performance from ITV America and Global
Entertainment Cur acquisitions continue to come through,
with twelve months of Leftfield Entertainment as welt as
Talpa Media from 30 April 2015 and our UK acquisitions
including Twofour Group from 24 June 2015 The foreign
exchange impact was immaterial as the stronger US dollar was
offset by our greater exposure to a weakening Euro following
the Talpa acquisition

Studios UK revenue was up 19% to £547 million (2014

£459 million) reflecting 13% growth ininternal revenue and
39% growth inexternal revenue Organic revenue was up 5%
There were Increased programming sates to Broadcast
across both drama and entertainment, with new deliveries
including The Traals of Immy Rose, Unforgotten, Home Fires,
Thunderbirds Are Gal and Ninja Warrior UK Successful
recommissions On-TV included Saturday Night Takeaway,
The Chase and Judge Rinder OFff-ITV revenue grew strongly
with successful deliveries including Poldark and The Graham
Norton Show for the BBC and Come Dine With Me and 24
Hours in A&E for Channel 4

ITV America grew strongly in 2015, with revenue up 36% to
£320 million (2074 £235 million) as we benefited from good
organic growth, up 15% driven by the delivery of our three
US dramas, Best Time Ever, a US remake of Saturday Night
Takeaway, and two senes of Hells Kitchen ITV America also
benefited from the first full year of Leftfield Entertainment,
acquired in May 2014 Following this acquisition, we became
the largest unscripted independent producer in the US and we
now have a strong portfolio of returning senes and formats
including Hell's Kitchen, Pawn Stars, Duck Dynasty, Marriage
Bootcamp, The Real Housewves of New Jersey and The Rich
Kids Of Beverly Hills

Studios RoW also showed strong growth, up 124% to

£213 million (2014 £95 mullion), with organic revenue up 4%
We have benefited from Talpa Media which we acquired on
30 April 2015, significantly strengthening our position as a
leading international producer We also saw good growth in
Australia and Denmark from exporting UK formats 2015
delwveries included I'm A Celebnty Get Me Out Of Herelin
Australia and Denmark, The Chase in Germany and Norway;,
and Hell's Kitchen tn France

Global Entertainment revenue increased 9% in the year

to £157 million (2014 £144 million) Revenue growth was
supported by our strong programme slate including new titles
Poldark and Schitt's Creek, as well as US drama Aquarius and
the launch of Thunderbirds Are Go!, which has now been sold
to 90 countries with key terntonies such as the US and France
launching N 2016 We expect to benefit from merchandising
around the series as we continue to extend the franchise
beyond the television set

Reflecting the strong revenue growth across ITV Studias,
adjusted EBITA ncreased 27% to £206 million (2014

£162 millon) The adjusted EBITA margin remamns unchanged
at 17% even after significant investment in scripted content

In 2015 we Invested £163 million in scripted content, up

£60 million We are financing our larger-scale scripted projects
through our strong underlying cashflows The production cost
1s partly funded by the tnitial sale of the series to a broadcaster,
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while the deficit is recovered through distribution revenue
from selling the firished product globally to other
broadcasters and platforms We balance our financial
exposure through our portfolio approach, with successful
international dramas offsetting the risk that we will not
recover the full deficit on every show

Overall, we debivered many creative successes in the year,
including two of our US dramas - Aquarius and The Good Witch
being recommissioned Given the nature of our business not

all our programmes will return for another series in 2016,

for example tekytl & Hyde and Best Time Ever, but we have

a strong portfolio of programmes and formats and we will
continue to invest In our creative pipeline te build upon this

We are on track to deliver good revenue and profit growth

in 2016, primarily driven by our acquisitions

Acquisitions

We have built scale in our international content business,
focusing our growth in key creative markets that have a track
record for creating and owning intellectual property Since
2012 we have acquired a number of content businesses i
the UK, US and creative locations across Europe, developing a
strong portfolio of programmes that return and travel. As we
have grown in size and expanded our network relationships
and distribution capability, this has helped to strengthen our
creative talent pool and build our reputation as a leading
European producer and the largest unscripted independent
production company in the Us

We have strict critena for evaluating potential acquisitions
Financially, we assess ownership of intellectual property,
earnings growth and valuation based on return on capital
emptoyed and discounted cash flow Strategically, we ensure
an acquisition target has a strong creative track record and
ptpeline in content genres that return and travel, namely
drama, entertainment and factual entertainment, as well

as succession planning for key individuals in the business

We generatly structure our deals with earnouts or with put and
call options in place for the remainder of the equity, capping
the maximum constderation payable By basing a significant
part of the consideration on future performance in this

way, not only can we lock in creative talent and ensure our
ncentives are aligned, but we also reduce our nisk by only
paying for the actual, not expected, performance delivered
over time The majority of earnouts or put and call options are
dependent on the seller rematning within the business Where
consideration paid or contingent consideration payable inthe
future 1s employment linked, it I1s treated as an expense in our
statutory results rather than as capital All consideration of this
type s excluded from adjusted profit after tax and adjusted
EPS as, In our view, these items are part of capital consideration
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In April 2015 we completed the acquisition of 100% of

Talpa Media in the Netherlands, the creator of worldwide
entertainment formats, ncluding The Voice, The Vaice Kids,

I Love My Country, Dating In The Dark and Dance Dance Dance
We paid animitial cash consideration of €500 million

(£362 mullion) for 100% of Talpa’s fully diluted share capital
with further payments dependent on Talpa's future
performance The total maximum consideration, including
the imitial payment, 15 up to €11 billon which 1s contingent on
Talpa continuing to deliver significant profit growth to 2022 as
well as John de Mol's continued commitment to the business
during this tme Under the deal structure, because all future
payments and €150 mitlion of the initial consideration are
directly related to John de Mol remaining with the business,
these payments are treated as employment costs and
therefore on a statutory basis are part of our reported

results However, we exclude them from adjusted profits as
an exceptional item, which is consistent with our treatment
of all costs of this type

We also acquired a minority stake in Monumental Telewision in
April, the UK scripted independent producer founded by Oscar
normunated film producers Alison Owen and DebraHayward As
part of the agreement, Global Entertanment acquired exclusive
distnbution rights to all of its future television productions

In May we acquired the remaining 75% of Mammoth Screen,
one of the UK's leading scripted production companies,
having held a 25% investment in the producer since 2007

Its successful slate of high-end drama includes Poldark,
Endeavour and the forthcoming Victona

In June we completed the acquisition of Boom Supervisory
timited, the holding company of UK based Twofour Group
which produces factual entertainment and drama
programmes We paid an imtial cash consideration of

£55 mithion for 75% of the Group There1s a put and call option
for the remaiing 25% that can be exercised at the end of 2017
and between the end of 2019 and 2021 Additionally, Twofour
has a put and call optton to acquire the remaining 49% of its
subsidiary Mainstreet Pictures that can be exercised between
2018 and 2023 The total maximum consideration for 100%
of the business 1s £280 million with contingent payments
dependent on delivering exceptional profit growth to

£60 millon in aggregate over the final two-year payment
period and key individuals remaining with the Group

Also in June we acquired a new label, Cats on the Roof Media
which owns a number of creative labels focused on developing
entertainment and scripted comedy programmes
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Acquisitions - 2012 to 2015 (undiscounted)

Initlal Expected future  Totalexpected Expected Total maximum
consideration payments consideration’ payment consideration
Company Geography  Genre (Erm) {EM) (Em) penad {Em}
2015
Talpa Media Netherlands Entertainment 362 186 548  2015-2019 796
Twofour Group UK FactEnt&Drama 55 10 65 2016-2021 280
Other UK  Varwpus 15 28 43 2015-2020 81
Total for 2015 432 224 656 1157
Total for 2012-2014 328 792 407  2016-2021 588
Total 760 303 1,063 1,745
1 Including the initial cash consideration and excluding working capital adjustments All future payments are performance related
2 Theamounts have been updated toreflect the accelerated buyout of the remaining 20% of Leftfield
In December Brent Montgomery, the CEQ of Leftfield, became  Net financing costs
CEOQ of ITV Amenica In order to facilitate the integration of 2015 0%
Leftfield within the US business, we acquired the outstanding ~ Twelvemanths to 31December £m £m
20% of Leftfield which we did not own The original terms Financing costs directly attributable to loans
under which ITV acquired its imitial 80% interest included andhbonds (10) (8)
potential future payments linked to Leftfield's profit growth Eash"'e'fted d"fe_t financing (costs)/income g) é
and put and call options under which [TV would acquire the ash-re’ated financing costs 3) ©)
Amortisation of bonds - M
remaining 20% n consideration for the acquisition of the
tstanding 20%, th ngements have been cancelled Adjusted financing costs (13) )
ou 4TV ha 9 <L%, dese arra ng ents a‘;g € hﬁa celie Mark-to-market on swaps and foreign exchange (4) 9)
an s assumed certamn obligations of Brent Montgomery imputed pension interest 10) a7)
in relation to Leftfield, most notably settlernent of the Losses on buybacks — (30)
earnouts for its subsidianes There was no cash consideration Other net financial (loss)/income (@) 3
payable at the tme by ITV The maximum consideration Net financing costs (37 [0

payable by ITV for the remaining obligations under the
Leftfield acquisition is $100m and 1s dependent on future
performance and is linked to ongoing employment

The 2015 acquisitions we have made have resultedina
£297 miltion increase N intangible assets, mainly relating
to Talpa formats and £102 million of goodwill

The table above sets out the mitial consideration payable
on our acquisitions, our expected future payments based

on our current view of performance and the total maximum
consideration payable which 1s only payable if exceptional
compound earnings growth s delivered

We closely monitor the forecast performance of each
acquisition and where there has been a change in expectations,
we adjust our view of potential future commitments through
the income statement

Total expected consideration for all acquisitions since 2012 has
increased by £656 million since 2014 This relates to the total
expected amount payable for our 2015 acquisitions This s
made up of the initial consideration of £432 million (€406
million plus the cash acquired) and expected future payments
whuch are only payable if significant compound earnings
growth s delivered

Adjusted financing costs increased to £13 million (2014

£7 million), due to increased borrowmng for the acquisition

of Tatpa and costs associated with raising the funding which
included the initial €500 million acquisition bridge loan that
was repaid in September following the issue of the seven year
€600 mitlion Eurcbond

Net financing costs are adjusted to reflect the underlying
funding costs of the business providing a mare meaningful
companson of how the business 15 managed and funded on

a day-to-day basis These adjustments include mark-to-market
on swaps and foreign exchange, mputed pension interest,
losses on debt buybacks and other financiat loss/income

Net financing costs were £20 million lower in 2015 at
£31million (2014 £51 milion), as the prior year included losses
incurred on the repurchase of the remamning £62 million 2019
bilateral loan This was partially offset by the reductton in
other net finanoial income, which in 2014 related to a reduction
in expected future payments for acquisitions as a result of

ITV's assessment of thewr future performance The imputed
pension charge also decreased as a result of the reduction in
pension babilities
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Profit before tax

Adjusted profit before tax, after financing costs, was up

18% at £843 million (2014 £712 million) Profit before tax is
adjusted to reftect the impact of production tax credits, net
exceptional items, amortisation and impairment of intangible
assets and the adjustments to net financing casts, to reflect
the underlying performance of the business Statutory profit
before tax increased by 6%, whichis less than the increase in
adjusted profit before tax, as a result of the exceptional items
described below

Profit before tax (PBT)

2015 200
Twelve months to 31 December £m £m
Profit befare tax 641 605
Production tax credits 23 -
Exceptional items (net) 103 7
Amgrtisation and impairment
of intangible assets* 58 56
Adjustments to net financing costs 18 44
Adjusted profit before tax 843 712

* Inrespect of intangible assets arising from business combinations

Production tax credits are recogrised in adjusted PBT asin

our view they relate directly to the production of programmes
and reflect the way the business 1s managed and measured

on a day-to-day basis The ability to access these tax credits

1s fundamental when assessing the viability of Investment
decisions in high-end drama ITV considers these to be part of
the overall cost of production rather than a corporate tax item
In 2015 sigruficant tax credits were available to us because of
our investment in high-end drama in the UK

Exceptional items are set out in the table below Operating
exceptional items largely relate to acquisition related expenses
which are predominantly performance based employment
unked consideration, in particular regarding Talpa as discussed
earlier Other operating exceptional items relate to
restructuring costs in particular in relation to the US business
Non-operating income relates to the gain on the sate of the
freehold property in Manchester

Exceptional items

1015 2014
Twelve manths to 31 December £m £m

Operating exceptional items

Acquisition related expenses (88) ),
Reorganisation and restructuring ¢osts {13) {6)
Other, including one-off legal costs (8) -
{109) (12)
Non-operating exceptional items 6 5
Total exceptional items (net) (103) (7)
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Amorusation and imparment of intangible assets acquired
through business combinations s not ncluded within adjusted
eamings However, amortisation of software licences and
development 1s Included as management considers these
assets to be core to supporting the operations of the business

Tax

The total adjusted tax charge for 2015 was £177 million
(2014 £151million), corresponding to an effective tax rate on
adjusted PBT of 21% (2014 21%) which1s broadly inline with
the standard UK corporation tax rate of 20 25% (2014 21 5%}
The adjustments made to reconcile the tax charge with the
adjusted tax charge are the tax effects of the adjustments
made above to reconcile PBT and adjusted PBT

05 204
Twelve months to 31 December £Em £m
Tax charge (139) (132)
Production tax credits (23) -
Charge for exceptional items (8) (2)
Charge in respect of amortisation of
intangible assets* (4) {12)
Charge in respect of adjustments to net
financing costs (3) (10)
Other tax adjustments - 5
Adjusted tax charge (177} (151)
Effective tax rate on adjusted profits 21% 21%

* Inrespect of ntangible assets ansing from business combinations Also
reflects the cash tax benefit of tax deductions for US goodwill In 2014,
thus was included in other tax adustments

Cash tax paid in the year was £117 million (2074 £85 million),
the majonty of which is paid in the UK The 2015 cash figure 1
net of production tax credits received in the year The cash tax
paid s lower than the total tax charge for 2015 largely due to
the tax treatment of atlowable pension contnibutions

ITV 1s aresponsible business, and we take a responsible
attitude to tax, recognising that it affects all of our
stakeholders We seek at all times to comply with the law in
each of the jurisdictions in which we cperate, and to build cpen
and transparent relationships with those junisdictions’ tax
authorities Our tax strategy is in line with that of the business
and its commercial activities, and within our averall governance
structure, the governance of tax and tax risk 1s gwen a high
prionty by the Board and Audit Commuttee, including through
the operation of the Tax & Treasury Committee

EPS

Qverall, adjusted profit after tax was up 19% at £666 million
(2014 £561 mullon) After non-controlling interests of €7 million
(2014 £7 mitlion), adjusted basic earnings per share was 16 5p
(2014 13 8p),up 20% The weighted average number of shares
was broadly in Line at 4,006 mitlion (2014 4,002 mitlion)
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Diluted adjusted EPS in 2015 was 16 3p (2014 13 7p) reflecting
a weighted average diluted number of shares of 4,035 million
(2014 4,040 million)

The table below reconciles basic to adjusted EPS and the
adjustments are explained n the previous sections

Reported Adustments Adsted
Twelve months to 310ecember 2015 £m £m Em
EBITA* 842 23 865
Exceptional items (operating) (109) 109 -
Amortisation ang impairment
of intangible assets (67) 58 )]
Operating profit 666 180 856
Net financing costs (31 18 (13)
Gan on sale of non-current assets
and subsidiaries {(non-operating
exceptional items) 6 (6) -
Profit before tax 641 202 843
Tax (139) {38) (177)
Profit after tax 502 164 666
Non-controlling interests {7} - (7)
Earnings 495 164 659
Shares (million), weighted average 4,006 4,006
EPS (p) 124 165

* E23 million adjustment relates to production tax credits

Dividend per share

The Board has committed to growing the full year ordinary
dividend by at least 20% per annum for three years to 2016,
by which time we witl achieve a dvidend cover of between
20 and 2 5x adjusted earnings per share ReflectingITV's
strong performance in 2015 and in line with its palicy, the
Board has proposed a final dvidend of 4 1p This equates to
a full year dmvidend of 6 Op, up 28%, whichis well ahead of
earnings growth and 1s a significant step forward in taking
ITV's dividend cover closer to its policy range

The Board is also proposing a 10 Op special dividend, worth
Just over £400 milion, which comes after a year of significant
investment at [TV and reflects (TV's strong cash generation
and the Board's confidence in the business Adjusted for this

special distribution ITV's pro forma leverage would be 0 8x
reported net debt to adjusted EBITDA, which provides flexibility
to continue to invest in the business for further growth

Cash generation
Profit to cash canversion

2015 0%
Twelve months to 31December £€m £m
Adjusted EBITA 865 730
Decreasef(increase) in prograrmme rights and
other inventory distributton rights 4 (39)
(Increase)/decrease in recewables (21) 18
Production tax credits (3) -
Decrease in payables (42) {48)
Warking capital movemnent (72} (69)
Depreciation 27 27
Share-based compensation and pension service
costs 17 14
Cash flow generated from operations before
exceptional items 837 702
Acguisition of property, plant and equipment and
ntangble assets (49) {37)
Adjusted cash flow 788 665
Profit to cash ratio 91% 91%

Note Except where disclosed, management views the acquisition of operating
property plant and equipment and intangibles as necessary ongoing
investment in the business

ITV remains highty cash generative reflecting our continued
focus on cash and costs In 2015 there was another working
capital gutflow as we continued 1o mvest In our creative pipeline

In the year we generated £788 million of operational cash
(2014 £665 mution) from £865 million of adjusted EBITA
(2014 £730 milbion), which equates to a strong profit to cash
ratio of 91% The ratio has remaned the same despite our
increased investment in scripted content and demonstrates
our discipbined approach to cash and costs
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Cash spent on the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets increased year-on-year
as we invest in Infrastructure to support the business

The difference between the reported and adjusted cash flow
in 2015 relates to the cash inflow from production tax credits
which [TV considers a working capital item

Free cash flow
018 014

Twelve months to 31 December £m £m

Adjusted cash flow 788 665

Net interest paid (9) (1)
Adjusted cash tax (127} (85)
Pension funding {90) {91
Free cash flow 562 478

Note- Adjusted cash taxis total cash tax pard excluding receipt of production tax
credits which are included within adjusted cashflow

After payments for interest, tax and pension funding, our free
cash flow also remaned strong in the peniod, up 18% to
£562 million (2014 £478 million)

Overall, after dwidends, acquisitions and debt repayments

we ended the year with net debt of £319 million, compared to
net debt of £540 million at 30 June 2015 and £41 million net
cash at 31December 2014 Our cash generation was weighted
towards the second half of 2015 due to the payment of the
special dividend and the significant acquisition of Talpa, atl

of which took place in the first half of 2015
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Funding and liquidity

Debt structure and liquidity

We have a £525 milion Revolving Credit Facitity in place

until 2019 provided by a number of core relationship banks
We also have a £175 million bilateral financing faciity and a
£75 million nvorce discounting facility, both of which are free
of financial covenants At 31December 2015 these facilities
were all undrawn

In 2015, to fund the acquisition of Talpa Media, we entered
Into a 12 month €500 million bridge loan faclity provided by
five of our relationship banks This was repaid and cancelled
In September 2015 when we 1ssued a 7 year €600 million
Eurobond at a fixed coupon of 2125% The bond will mature
on 215eptember 2022 The proceeds from the bond were
also used to fund the maturing £78 million Eurobond In
October 2015

As we enter the next phase of our strategy, our balance sheet
strength together with our continued strong free cash flow
will enable us to Invest in opporturities to grow the business
and enhance shareholder value To preserve our financial
flexubility, our policy 1s to maintam at least £250 million of
available lquidity at any point

Leverage

Our cbjective is to run an efficient balance sheet Our prionty is
to invest to drive organic growth and make acquisitions in line
with our strategic priorities We will balance this investment
for further growth with attractive returns to shareholders

Over time we will continue to look to increase our balance
sheet leverage and we believe maintaining leverage below 1 5x
reported net debt to adjusted EBITDA will optimise our cost of
capital, allow us to sustam a progressive dividend policy and
enable us to retain flexibthity to continue to invest for further
growth As at 31 December 2015, reported net debt to
adjusted EBITDA was 0 4x

We also took at an adjusted measure of net debt, taking

nto consideration all of our financial commitments which
reflects how credit rating agencies look at our balance sheet
At 31 December 2015, adjusted net debt was £1,144 million
(31 December 2014 £765 million) reflecting an increase in
expected contingent payments on acquisitions as a result

of the acquisitions we have made in the year, partly offset
by a reduction in the pension deficit under 1AS 19 and lower
undiscounted finance tease commitments which mainly
relate to broadcast transmisston contracts and property

As at 31 December 2015 adjusted net debt to adjusted EBITDA
was 1 3x




P Financial and Performance Review

2015 20%

Em £m

Net debt at 31December (319) 41
Expected contingent payments on acquisitions {303) (79)
Pension deficit (|AS 19R) (176)  (346)
Operating leases (346)  (387)
Adjusted net debt at 31 December (1.144)  (765)
Adjusted net debt to adjusted EBITDA 13x 10x

Financing

We are financed using debt instruments with a range of
matunties During the year we repaid the £78 million Eurobond
which matured in October 2015 Borrowings at 31 December
2015 were repayable as follows

Amount repayable £m Maturity
£161 millipn Eurobond 161 Jan 2017
€600 miihon Eurcbond 437 Sep 2022
Finance leases 10 Various
Other debt 5 Various
Total debt repayable on matunty 613

Ratings

We are rated investment grade by two ratings agencies
BBB- by Standard and Poor’s and Baa3 by Moody's Investor
Services The factors that are taken into account in assessing
our credit rating include our degree of operational gearing,
exposure to the economic cycle, as well as business and
geographical diversity

Foreign exchange

As ITV continues to grow internationally, we are increasingly
exposed to foreign exchange on our overseas operations Itis
our policy not to hedge our exposure to revenues and profits
generated overseas, as this is seen as an inherent risk We do
hedge our overseas net assets, where matenal, and so we have
hedged a sigmificant portion of the euro net assets ansing
from the Talpa acquisition

ITV s also exposed to foreign exchange risk on transactions
we undertake in a foreign currency Our policy 1s to hedge a
portion of any transaction that is either a firm commitment,
or hughly probable for up to two years forward The amount
hedged depends on the level of certainty we have on the final
size of the transaction

Finally, ITV s exposed to foreign exchange nisk on the re-
translation of foreign currency loans and deposits Cur policy
15 to hedge such exposures where there 1s an expectation that
any changes in the value of these items will result in a realised
cash movement over the short to mediurm term

Pensions

IAS 19

The aggregate IAS 19 defiait of the defined benefit scheme
at 31 Becember 2015 was £176 million (31 December 2014
£346 million) The reduction reflects lower pension labilities
as a result of rising bond yields over the year, deficit funding
contnbutions of £90 million and the difference between
the actual inflation experienced in the period compared to
the expected rate Pensions continue to be patd from the
Scheme based on actual requirements

Actuarial valuation

The last actuarial valuation was undertaken in 2074 On the
bases adopted by the Trustee, the combined deficits as at

1 January 2014 amounted to £540 million

Deficit funding contnbutions
The Group's deficit funding contributions i 2015 were
£90 million (2014 £91 million)

Following completion of the actuanial valuations, the Group
has agreed to make deficit funding contributions in order to
eliminate the deficits in each section From 1 January 2016
the contrbutions are paid on the following basis

Section A - £5 0 million per manth untit 31 May 2021
Section B — £015 milbon per month untit 28 February 2023
Section C - £0 3million per month until 31 Juty 2021

in addition to these contributions, payments are made into
Section A as a result of the SDN and LTC Pension Funding
Partnership structures and during 2015 these payments
amounted to £13 mitlon

The new funding structure above results ina £10 million reduction
in deficit funding contributions payable in 2016 compared to
2015, which will be paid more evenly throughout the year

lan Griffiths
Group Finance Director

ITV plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 45



Strategic Report » Performance and Financials

Risks and Uncertainties

ITV has a formal risk management process which
is embedded within the business to support the

identification and effective management of risks
across the business.

It 1s reqularly reviewed and adapted as the Company, industry and macro environment evolves

Risk management framework

Our approach, which is consistent with
previous years, covers risks at all levels
of the organisation and considers nsks

in three core groups

to materialise

Strategic risks — would impact the
successful execution of the strategy

Process level risks — embedded nto

High Impact, Low Likelihood (HILL) nsks -
of low inherent lkelihood but where there
would be major consequences were the risk

everyday activity within the organisation

High Impact, Low
Likelihood (HILL) risks

Strateglcrisks

Process level risks

The Board 1s responsible for establishing
risk appetite, a robust and appropriate
nsk management framework and for
monitoring the risk management

and internal control systerns During
the course of the year the Board,
Management Board and Divisional
Boards, routinely review ITV's principat
nsks and discuss the mitigations and
actions being taken with regards to
these risks The Audit Commuttee
supports the Board to keep the overall
effectiveness of these processes under
regular review

In 2015 the Board has continued

to enhance and develop ITV's risk
management framewaork, in particular
reviewing the level of risk appetite in the
business Further, the Board has carned
out a robust assessment of the principal
nisks facing ITV, including those that
would threaten its business modet,
future performance, solvency or iquidity
Discussion of the principal risks affecting
ITV and mitigating factors can be found
onpages 48 to 51

The Management Board has
responsibility for the development
and operation of the nsk management
framework and for the operation

of ITV's systems of internal control
This includes
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- Risk identification and assessment
identifying the risks facing the
business and for establishing controls
and procedures to monitor and
mitigate nisks

« Control environment financial
controls, policies and procedures are
considered as a part of the Group's
ongoing risk assessment process
These controls are reviewed to ensure
risks are identified and the processes
and procedures are in accordance
with and aligned to the strategy The
internal Audit team provides objective
assurance as to the effectiveness of
the Group's systems of internal control
and risk management, reporting to
both the Management Board and
the Audit Committee
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- Reviewing and monitoring the
effectiveness of internal controls
controls are monitored by senior
management, Internal Audit and the
Audit Committee Remedial plans
are put in place where controls are
weazk or there are opportunities
for mproverment Senous controt
weakness (if any) are reported to the
Board and action taken as appropriate

Risk management process

Risks are primarily controlled through
the nsk management process In
addition to the risk speafic mitigating
actions outlined on pages 48 to 51 risks
are considered through day-to-day
operations and are regularly discussed
by the Board and Management Board,
by the Audit Committee and as part

of the Board's strategy day

During 2015 all the HILL and Strategic
risks were reassessed, challenged and
further refined to improve our risk
management Mitigating actions have
been identified for all the HILL and
Strategic nsks Each Strategic nsk has
been mapped to at least one of the
three key strategic priorities and, where
possible, assigned key risk indicators
Where appropriate, the key nsk indicators
are aligned to our key performance
indicators (KPIs) on pages 32 to 35 or

a subset of these KPIs AlLHILL and
Strategic risks are owned by at least one
member of the Management Board

We have in place an Operational Risk
Steering Group to manage and consider
existing and emerging operational

r1sks and ensure they are addressed
appropriately

Internal audit ptan

Theinternal audit plan is driven from
ITV's nsk management framework
Internal Audit reviews the auditable
elements of the HILL, Strategic and
Process level risks and this informs
the areas and topics that Internal Audit
focus on

Risk culture

Throughout the year we have continued
to focus on and strengthen our nsk
culture Our Code of Conduct remains
unchanged and the Operational Risk
Steenng Group considers ethical
behaviours, governance and compliance
with our Code ITV also offers all
employees annual online training

on ethics and compliance

Viability Statement

Studios division

funding arrangements

mamntans its stated dnvidend policy

Inits assessment of viability the Board 1s of the view that a three year hornizon to 31 December 2018 1s appropnate,
given the visibility ITV has over its Broadcast advertising business and the narmal comrmissioning cycle which drives the

When considering the longer-term viabiity of ITV, the Board has reviewed each of ITV’s principal nsks and uncertainties
and, taking into account current operational and financial performance, has in particular analysed the impact of

+ The Broadcast division experiencing a significant and sharp downturn, similar to the 2008/09 financiat crisis, with
regards to advertising revenues, but in this case with no immediate recovery

+ Anumber of key programme brands within the Studios division not being recommisstoned

- Asignificant change in ITV's pension funding obligations, following the trienrial valuation in 2017 and subsequent

The review involved flexing the underlying strategic forecast for the above impacts, both individually and concurrently,
and no specific mitigations were assumed The underlying strateqic forecast assumed business as usual capital
spending, the ongoing availability of the financing faclites (as ITV remains within the covenants), and that ITV

Based on the results of this review, the Board has a reasonable expectation that ITV will be able to continue in operation
and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the three year perod ending 31 December 2018 The assessment has been
made with reference to ITV's strategy and current positicn and prospects
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Risks and Uncertainties continued

' High Impact, Low Likelihood Risks (HILL)

Potential Risk Mitigating Factors
. . ¥
Financial * ITV loses its credit status or « The business 1s cash generative and worlung capital management
lines of funding with existing remains a key focus

. lenders or there s a collapse
. of a major bank impacting

: financial arrangements/

, availability of credit

. There s a major collapse in

: investment values leadingto a
- material impact on the pension
‘ scheme deficit

-

ITV has a balance sheet policy to maintam adjusted net debt

below 1 5x adjusted EBITDA and have unused Liquidity headroom

of £250 million

ITV has a £525 milllon Revolving Credit Facility with a number of core
relationship banks and £250 million of financial covenant free facllities
The low gross debt levels that ITV currently has should enable the
Company to obtain debt from the marketplace if needed

We are rated investment grade by two ratings agencies

There 15 reqular communication between [TV and the pension trustees
The penston scheme's assets are invested m a diversified portfolio,
with a sigrificant amount of the fund held in bonds

ITV has warked with the pension trustees to lirmit the potential
deficit by a series of asset backed arrangements Further, it has
taken mortality sk out of the scheme with a longewvity swap and
hedged a portion of inflation and interest rate vaniability

!
Operational  Asignificanteventremovesa . Theresabusiness resiltence plan in place which includes successton
i number of the key management plans or nominated replacements for all key positions within
| team from the businesson a the Company
: long-term or permanent basis.
Reputation An event with public interest + « |ITV has a crisis management palicy in place and s increasing

* that causes significant

manne v

. There is a major health and
. safety incident that resultsin
. a significant loss of human life

v
H

* Amajor incident results in ITV
- being unable to continue with
" scheduled broadcasting for a
- sustaned period

. There s a sigmficant or
* unexpected change in
- regulation or legislation

reputational and brand damage. .

emphasis on its development and application

. » ITV has a central Health & Safety team, Operational Risk Steering

Group and Health & Safety policies and procedures are 0 place,
with appropriate training for employees where required As we
continue to expand internationally these will be reviewed

- Regular nspections are undertaken at all sites, which are run

alongside a programme of Health & Safety audits This is subject
to ongoing review

A rnisk register of broadcast operations, including key outsourced
functions, 1s in place and reviewed on a regular basis

Major iInadent scenano testing takes place bi-annually

An inadent management process has been agreed and full disaster
recovery plans are nplace

ITV regularly communicates with appropriate groups and its
legal panel and Ofcom to momitor potential policy, legat and
regulatory developments
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. Strategic priorities
Maxirmising
Growing

Building

Strategic risks

Potential Risk

Mitigating Factors

The Market

" There is a major decline in

* advertising revenues and ITV
* does not build sufficient non-NAR

revenue streams to offset the

. financial impact of this decline

. = Growing non-NAR In areas such as ITV Studios and Online,

Pay & Interactive, remains a key part of the strategy
+ ITV continues to focus on cash and costs, ensuring the

Company has an adequate financial iquidity and balance sheet

flexibility to continue to nvest

. The television market moves

; significantly towards pay

; television as a preferred model,
: negatively impacting ITV's

{ free-to-air revenue.

- ITV continues to support free platforms, including YouView,
to keep free-to-air strong

: « ITV locks at and evaluates the oppartunities for expanding

its existing pay services and other pay offerings
« ITV explores other platforms to understand viewing habits
and what people are prepared to pay for

A faster than expected shift to
Video on Demand or other new
technologies, such as internet
enabled TVs or online only
services, causes a sustained
loss of advertising revenue.

The business continues to develop the ITV Hub VOD services,
maximise the distribution of the ITV Hub and grow 1ts VOD
advertising business

ITV monitors the market for new technology and where
appropriate explores how ITV can partictpate
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Risks and Uncertainties continued

Strategic risks

Potential Risk

Mitigating Factors

Organisation,
Structure

.

: ITV fails to evolve its orgamisational |
structure and culture to ensure that -

and Processes '

it is capable of delivering continued
growth from the new businesses

* or revenue streams and fails to

* management talent with the skills
required for the ongoing business

[PPSR

attract, develop and retain key
creative, commercial and

[T

- ITV constantly reassesses the business to create a fit-for-
purpose organisation

+ Strategic focus on working across the business to embed

and strengthen the culture of ‘One ITV' way of working

ITV invests in training and devetopment for all key

colleagues in the business

Succession plans are in place for all key positions wrthin

the Company

There is significant loss of

. programme rights or ITV fails to

identify and obtamn the optimal
rights packages.

ITV fails to create and own

: asufficient number of hit

.

programmes/formats across
its international portfolio of
content companies.

ITV fails to properly resource,

© financially, creatively and
operationally, the new growth

PR —— vaur
.

businesses, in particular online
and international content

ITV remains heavily relant on
legacy systems, which could

potentially restrict the ability to
grow the business These systems

. and processes may not be
* appropriate for non-advertising

revenue or internattonal growth.

PRV

e

» [TV s focused on both protecting and exploiting existing
rights and ensuring that future nghts generated accrue
tolTV

- ITV has a detailed modet to evaluate the value of third-
party rights to ensure it only buys rights that make
economic sense

ITV maximises opportunities for ITV Stuedios to create
successful shows by investing in the creative pipeline and
focusing on programmes and genres that can return and
travel internationally, e drama, entertainment and factual
entertainment, as evidenced by our Increased investment
in scripted content

ITV s focused on hinng and retaining the right key

creative tatent

b4k B8 B BB 4 BE 8 B8 4 4 S esEr s S AEeEr s R AR 4 2 s B8 seRes s s er W e omE & 4 A -

Talent management plans have been developed and reviewed
to ensure adequate succession planning across ITV

ITV continues to embed and strengthen the culture of

‘One ITV' way of working

Lessons from recent investments are captured through
post-acquisition reviews

System requirements are kept under review with business
growth and system modernisation projects mplemented

as appropriate

A mederrisation planis in place for the legacy systems which
remains under constant review and development to ensure
technalogy systems meet the needs of the business

50
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Strategic priorities
Maxirmising
Growing

Building

Strategic risks

Potential Risk

Mitigating Factors

Technology . Thereis a sustained cyber/viral
. attack causing prolonged system
, demal or major reputational
¢ damage, for example the ability
* to broadcast our channels or the
- availability of ITV Hub or ITV loses
. asignificant volume of personal
or sensitive data

We continue to iImprove our ability to monitor, detect and
respond to cyber threats internally and through partnerships
with specialist secunty organisations

» Mandatory online training modules, awareness campaigns

and simplified nformation security policies have been
implemented for employees

There are disaster recovery and incident management ptans in
place for high-risk areas of the business to help deliver a rapid
and flexible response

An Operational Risk Steering Group 15 in place to ensure the
appropriate management of infarmation security

* A significant high-profile incident
- or series of events e g. a system

- failure, a technology 1ssue, or a

. major regulatory breach that

; causes significant reputational

i and/or commercial damage.

ITV has ongoing modernisation projects to ensure
transmission and distnbution technologies are fit-for-purpose
There are disaster recovery and incident management plans
n place in high rnisk areas of the business to help deliver arapid
and flexible response

ITV proactively manages its broadcast chain partners and
suppliers to ensure the risk of ncidents and regulatory breach
s minimised

{ ITV fails to ensure appropnate

! business continuity planning and
resilience within its core systems,
: processes, platforms and

. technology infrastructure

Disaster recovery plans are in place with tests conducted
annuatly on business critical systems

The Strategic Report was approved by
the Board and signed on its behalf by

Adam Crozier
Chief Executive
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Governance

Chairman’s Governance Statement

©
We recognise that the best
governance system in the world is
of limited value unless built on an
organisation that encourages

integrity and transparency.”

Archie Norman
Charman

In the Governance section

This section of the Annual Report contains a statement from your
Chairman and information about the Directors and Management
Board It explains our governance structure and corporate
governance compliance and includes reports from the Audit

and Remuneration Committees and the Directors’ Report.
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Dear shareholder,

The Board believes that a high standard
of corporate governance Is essential not
Just to protecting shareholders interests,
but to building and sustairing the long-
term success of the Company

Our beliefi1s that agood board s an
engaged board, working closely with

the executive team The success of the
Board process depends on a strong
chemistry around the board table where
robust discussions can be conductedin

a spint of openness and transparency
The Board's role 1s both to support and
chaltenge the executive team and to
promote the success of the business

When we started on the transformation
programme six years ago we downsized
the Board imitially to six members to
create a more cohesive and engaged
team Since that time, we have added
carefully to its membership to reflect
our behief that ITV works best with a
batanced combination of creative,
commercial and financial talent and
experience But we continue to believe
that arelatively small, but talented
board, close to the business 1s the nght
madel for ITV

With that we have reshaped the
governance process Strong governance
1s the platform that allows the Board

to engage in effective strategic and
commercial debate Today, we havea
robust framework of nsk management
and financial controls which we review
regularly and a very nigorous Audit
Committee process under its Chairman,
John Ormerod

We recognise that the best governance
system in the world is of imited value
unless built on an arganisation that
encourages integrity and transparency
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ITV1s a talent business and ensuring
that we employ great people and allow
them creatwe freedom in the context
of tight financial discipline is crucial to
our success So the foundation of our
governance 15 ensuring we have the
right peopte and attitudes For this
reason we have rigerous pulse surveys
of employee morale and attitudes
and the Board regularly engages n
discussion about people, organisation
and succession

The Board meets reqularly for scheduled
Board and Commuttee meetings and

has a number of Informal meetings to
consider specific Issues We interact
frequently with senior executives and
subject matter experts This ensures
that the Board has a full understanding
of the business During the year some of
our Non-executive Directors undertook
visits to our UK and international sites

We remain committed to mamntaming
regular open dialogue and effective
communication with our shareholders
We believe that continued engagement
1s highly beneficial te all parties as it
helps to build a greater understanding
of our Investors' views, opinons

and concerns

During the year animportant focus has
been on evolving our strategy for the
next stage of our development Each
year we hold a two day off-site strategy
meeting where we consider recent

and upcoming changes in our business
environment, the risks and impacts of
such changes on our business and how
we might meet these challenges Abrief
summary of the business undertaken by
the Board and our focus for 2016 1s set
out on page 59

We are delighted that Anna Manz
agreed tojon the Board in February
2016 Anna s currently Group Strategy
Director at Diageo plc where she has
an impressive track record She will
bring consumer, financial and strategic
experience to the Board

It s our policy to appoint Non-executive
Directors for a three year perod

from appointment and then consider
reappointment on an annual basis
following a robust performance
evaluation

In addition we carefully review other
commitments to ensure that Directors
have sufficient time to commut to the
business Detalls of appointment dates
and length of tenure for each director
can be found in the table on page 59
All Directors are required by the
Company’s Articles of Association to
be elected by shareholders at the first
AGM following therr appointment by
the Board Subsequently, all Directors
are subject to annual re-election by
shareholders as recommended by

the UK Corporate Governance Code
(the Code)

We are in the process of conducting
an externally facilitated board
effectiveness review and further
details of this can be found on page 60

As a iisted company, ITV 1s required

to report on how it has complied with
the principles of governance set out

in the Code The Board considers that
the Company has complied with the
provisions of the Code, exceptin
respect of provision C 31 Following the
departure of Lucy Neville-Rolfe in July

2014, the Audit Committee had only two

members However, we were delighted

that Mary Harns agreed to join the Audit

Committee and she was appomnted as
an additional member on 16 June 2015
From that date we were fully compliant

Further information on corporate
governance and a schedule setting cut
how we comply with the Code canbe
found on our website

@ www itvplc com/about/governance

A copy of the Code 1s available on the
FRC website

(& www frc org uk/Our-Work/Codes-
Standards/Corporate-governance
Archie Norman

Chatrman

2 March 2016
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Board of Directors

@

®

1ArchieNorman ®®

Chairman

Appointed January 2010

Key areas of prior expenence Business
turnaround, consumer marketing,
international business, corporate finance
and regulatory affairs

Current external appointments-
Chairrman of Lazard, London and
Hobbycraft Group Limited, Director of
Coles Group and Target Limited, Advisor
to Wesfarmers Limited, Governor of

the National Institute of Econormic and
Social Research

Previous experience Founder of Aurigo
Management Partners LLP, Chairman of
HSS Hire Services Group, Energis PLC and
Chartwell Land plc, Chief Executive and
Chairman of ASDA Group plc, Finance
Director of Kingfisher plc, Non-executive
Director of British Rail, Railtrack plc and
Geest ptc, Member of Parllament, Deputy
Chawman and Chief Executive of the
Conservative Party, Shadow Secretary
of State for the Department of
Environment, Transport and the Regions,
Partner at McKinsey & Company

2Adam Crozier ©

Chief Executive

Appointed- Aprit 2010

Key areas of prior experience: Business
turnaround and change management
Current external appointments:
Non-executive Director of G4S plc
Previous expenience Non-executive
Director of Debenhams plc and Camelot
Group plc, Chief Executive of the Royal
Mail Group, Chief Executive of the
Football Association, Joint Chief Executive
of Saatchu & Saatchi Advertising
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31an Griffiths ©

Group Finance Director

Appointed September 2008

Key areas of prior expenence
Corporate finance and financial
restructuring

Current external appointments:
Non-executive Director of DS Smith Plc
Previous experience Group Finance
Director and other serior finance roles
within Emap plc, Manager in audit and
corporate finance at Emst & Young
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* Committee membership
. @ General purpose

‘ @ Audit
" (W) Nomination
. (R) Remuneration

4Sir Peter Bazalgette ®®
Non-executive Director

Appointed: June 2013

Key areas of prior experience Media
consuttant, digital media investor and
former telewision producer

Current external appointments:
Charrman of the Arts Council of England,
Non-executive Director of Nutopa,
President of the Royal Television
Society, Member of an Adwvisory Board,
YouGov plc

Previous experience Non-executive
Director and Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and member
of the Audit Commuttee of YouGov plc,
Non-executive Director of Mirrad
Advertising Ltd, DCMS, Rightster, Critical
Information Group plc and Channel Four
Telewision Corp, Trustee of DebateMate,
Chawrman of the ENO and Endermnol UK,
Deputy Chairman and Director of the
National Film and Television School,
Adwviser to Sony Music’s television
dvision, Chairman of the UK production
busmness of Sony Pictures Television Inc,
Chief Creative Officer at Endemol Group
BV and Endemol Entertainment

UK Limited

S Roger Faxon ®

Non-executive Director

Appointed October 2012

Key areas of prior experience: Broad
commercial, digital and media nghts
experience, development of businass
strategy and finance

Current external appointments
Charman of Mirnad Advertising Ltd,
Non-executive Director of Pandora
Media Inc, Director of The John Hoplkins
University

Previous experience: Director of EMI
Group Global Limited and EMI Group plc,
Chief Executive Officer of EMI Group
umited, Chairman and CEQ of EMI Music
Publishing, Director of the Songwnters
Hall of Fame, other appaintments at
the American Society of Composers and
Authors and Lancit Media Entertainment
Ltd in the US, Chairman of VIVA Television
in Germany and Channel V Networks

N Asia

6 MaryHanris ®®

Non-executive Director

Appointed July 2014

Key areas of prior expenence: Business
management consulting, sales and
marketing, mergers and acquisitions,
meda, television and interactive media
investments and digital nghts
management

Current external appointments:
Non-executive Directar of Reckitt
Benckiser Group plc and J Sainsbury pic,
Member of the supervisory board of
TNT Express NV and Unibail Rodamco SE
Previous experience Member of
supervisory board of Scotch and Soda
NV, TNT NV and Irdeto BV Partner at
McKinsey & Company, Amsterdam,
Various positions worldwide wath
McKinsey & Company, Maxwell
Entertainment Group, Pepsi Cola
Beverages and Goldman Sachs & Co

7AndyHaste ®@®®

Senior Independent Director,
Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee

Appointed August 2008

Key areas of prior expenence.
Internationat and emerging markets,
change management, restructunng
and bustness turnaround

Current external appointments:
Chairman of Wonga Group Limited,
Senior Independent Deputy Chairman
of the Council of Lloyd's

Previous experience Group Chief
Executive of RSA Insurance Group ple,
Chief Executive of AXA Sun Life plc,
Director of AXA UK plc (ife and
pensions), President and Chief Executive
Officer of GE Capital Global Consumer
Finance UK, Western Europe and
Eastern Europe, President of the US
Consumer Credit Business and Senior
Vice President and Head of the US
Consumer Loan Products Division

of National Westrminster Bank

8AnnaManz ®
Non-executive director '
Appointed February 2016

Key areas of prior experience:
Strategy and finance and financial
planning

Current external appointments
Group Strategy Director at Diageo plc
Previous Experience

Various appointments at Diageo plc
including, Regional Finance Director,
Asia Paafic, Group Treasurer, Finance
Director, Global Marketing, Sales and \.
Innovation, other finance roles at

Quest International, Unilever and IC|

9 JohnOrmerod ®WE®
Non-executive Director,

Chairman of the Audit Committee
Appointed January 2008

Key areas of prior experience:
Financial experience, developing
strategy and growth

Current external appointments.
Chatrman of First Names Group Limited,
Non-executive Director of Constellium
NV, Non-executive Director and
Chatrman of the Audit Committee

of Gemalto NV

Previous experience: Charman of Tribal
Group plc, Merlin Clasms Service Holdings
Limited and Wallbrock Group, Semor
Independent Director of Misys plc,
Trustee of The Design Museum and

The Roundhouse Trust, Non-executive
Director and Chairman of Audit
Committee of Computacenter plg,
Negative Equity Protection Holdings
Limited, Millen Group Limited and BMS
Associated Limited, Member of Audit
and Retail Risk Control Committees

of HBOS plc, Chairman of the Audit
Committee for Transport for London,
Practice Senior Partner at Deloitte &
Touche, Regional Managing Partner

at Arthur Andersen

(@) Full biographies can be found on
our website www itvplc com/about/
management/board-of-directors
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Management Board
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1Julian Beltamy

Managing Director, ITV Studios
Appointment to the Board

February 2016

Previous expenence: Julanjoined ITV

In 2014 as Managing Director of the
studios business in the UK and was
recently promoted to Managing Director
of ITV Studios Julian's previous roles
included Creative Director and Head of
Commussioning at Discovery Networks
International, Head of Programming at
Channel 4 and prior to that he ran BBC3
and E4 He also spent time as Channel 4's
Head of Factual Entertainrnent and was
a commissioning editor of Channel 4
News and Current Affars

2 Mary Fagan

Group Communications and
Corporate Affairs Director
Appointment to the Board

January 20M

Previous experience Mary joined ITV
from the Royal Mail Graup, where

she was Corporate and Government
Affairs Director from December 2003
A servor city and business journakbist
with more than 20 years’ experience,
Mary's previous roles included Deputy
City Editor of the Sunday Telegraph,
Industrial Correspondent for the
Independent and City Reporter

at the Evening Standard
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3 Andrew Garard

Group Legal Director and Company
Secretary

Appointment to the Board:
November 2007

Previous experience- Andrew Joined
ITV as Group Legal Director in 2007 and
took on the additicnal role of Company
Secretary in 2009 He s alsc Chairrman
of ITN, and responsible for rights
management, the ITV archive and
Corporate Responsibibty Previously
Andrew was a Partner in the corporate
department of LeBoeuf Lamb’s London
office Prior to this, Andrew was Group
General Counsel and Company Secretary
at Cable & Wireless plc where he was

a member of the Group Executive
responsible far Global Legat Prior to
that he was Global Head of Legal and
Deputy General Counsel of Reuters
Group plcin the UK, and before that,
General Counsel Asia

& Kevin Lygo

Director of Television

Appomtment to the Board:

August 2010

Previous expenence-

Kevin joined ITV as Managing Director,
ITV Studios in 2010 and became Director
of Television in February 2016 Kevin's
previous roles included Oirector of
Telewision and Content at Channel 4,
Director of Programmes at Channel 5
and a number of pasitions at the BBC,
including Head of Independent
Comrrusstoning for Entertainment

5 David Osborn

Group Human Resources Director
Appomntment to the Board

October 2014

Previous experience David joined ITV
as the Human Resources Director for ITV
Studios n May 201, and was appointed
t0 the Management Board in October
2014 as Group Human Resources
Director, responsible for delivering the
Group’s People Strategy David gained
previous experience n both the UK

and internationally whilst working

in a vanety of businesses including

EMI Music, Vodafone, Visa Europe

and Marks & Spencer

6 Simon Pitts

Managing Director, Online, Pay TV,
Interactive and Technology
Appomtment to the Board:

January 20M

Previous experience Simon jomed!TV
in 2000 and has held a range of roles
across corporate strategy, general
management, digital media, policy and
regulation, and public affairs He took on
his most recent role m December 2014
with a remit to grow ITV's Online, Pay TV
and Interactive businesses alongside
continued leadership of the Technology
teamn He also has responsibility for SDN,
sits on the boards of TN and YouView
and 15 a Trustee of the Royal Television
Society Before ITV Simon worked in the
European Parlament in Brussels where
he specialised in media Issues

7 Kelly Williams

Managing Director, Commercial
Appointment to the Board

December 2014

Previous experience Kelly jomned TV
tn August 2011 as Group Commercial
Director and was promoted to the
Management Board as Managing
Director, Commercial in December 2014
He 15 also Chairman of Thinkbox, sits

on the BARB Strategy board and 1s Vice
Charrman of the Advertising Association
Before joining 1TV, Kelly was the Sales
Director at Channel 5 and prior to that
held various positions at UKTV, Sky and
Thames Television
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Corporate Governance

Our Governance structure

Board and Committees

N

Audit Committee

Three Non-executive Directors
See the Audit Cornmittee Report
onpage 62

Disclosure Committee

Executive Directors and other

Senior managers

Meets to ensure compliance with the
continuing obligations under the Disclosure
and Transparency Rules

Remuneration Committee
Chairman and two Non-executive
Directors

See the Annual Remuneration Report
on page 68

General Purpose Committee
Executive Directors

Meets as required to conduct business within
clearly defined ints set by the Board

Nomination Committee

Chairman and Non-executive Directors
Meets to review the structure, size, and
compoesition of the Board, including skills,
knowledge and experence |dentifies and
nominates for board approval candidates
to fill board vacancies, and considers
succession planning for Directors and other
Senor Executives Considers and reviews any
conflicts of interest that may be reported by
the Directors

Tax and Treasury Committee

Group Finance Director and

other senor managers

Meets to consider and approve taxand
treasury related matters in respect of
corporate transactions or other activities
Monitors compliance with tax and treasury
related policies and procedures

Matters reserved for the Board and Committee terms of reference are available on our website

(@) www rtvplc com/about/governance

Executive

N

Management Board

Members are set out on page 56

Meets to constder and approve strategy
and operational plans, morutors operating
and financial performance, and assesses
and manages risk

TV Studios Board

Executive Directors and Senmior
Executives of divisional business

Meets to consider and approve operational
matters, and assesses and manages rskin
relation to the Studios business

ITV Broadcast Board

Executive Directors and Senior
Executives of divisional business

Meets to consider and approve operational
matters, and assesses and manages nskin
relation to the Broadcast business

~

Operations

~

Operational Risk Steering Group
Manages and considers a number of
existing and emerging operational nsks
and ensures that the business addresses
them appropnately including in relation to
Health & Safety, Child Protection,

Business Resilience, Data Protection, Insider
Dealing, Whistleblowing, Anti-Bribery &
Corruption, Information Secunity, Fraud,
Technology and Cyber risk

Programme Compliance

Advisory Group

Manages and considers 1ssues and
risks in relation to the programme
compblance framework, the
interactive business and
regulation

. 7

Responsibility Governance Board
Manages the directron and delivery of
ITV's Responsibility Strategy including

n relation to

Diversity and inclusion, Community, Charity
and the Ervironment
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Beoard and Committee meetings

The number of meetings held during the year and attendance of Directors is set out in the tabte below The Board agrees an
annual schedule of matters it wishes to consider at each of its meetings and those of its committees The schedule ensures that
allrelevant matters are considered and receve appropriate attention Meetings are normally held at one of the London sites or
one of the regional or nternational offices Board meetings are structured around the following areas

= Operational and functional updates

« Financial updates

- Strategy

- Risk framework and appetite

- Praogress aganst strategic priorities

- Other reporting and items for approval

Senior Executives and other colleagues are reqularly invited to attend meetings for specific items In addition to formal board
and committee meetings, meetings take place between

» Board members and Management Board members
- Charrman and Non-executive Directors
+ Senior Independent Director and Non-executive Directors (without the Chairman present)

Our focus during 2015 and some of our plans for 2016 are set out below

20%5 2016
Broadcast strategy focusing on SOV Development of creative talent pipeline
International content strategy and market review Rewview of the North American market
Onlbine, Pay & Interactive strategy Viewing trends, including younger viewers
Retransmussion fees and the regulatory environment International content strategy

Viewing trends and global OTT market developments Online and Pay strategy

Board and Committee membership and attendance
Board and Committee membership and attendance at scheduled meetings in 2015 15 set out below

Nomination Rermuneration Audlt
Board Commitiee Committee Committee
Terwre at
Date of appointment 31December
Status Notes totheBoard  2015Y/M  Coniract renewal date 10 2 6 7
Peter Bazalgette  Independent 1lune 2013 2/7 1.June 2016 10 2 6 -
Adam Crozier Executive 1 26 April 2010 5/8 nfa 10 - - -
Roger Faxon Independent 2 310ctober 2012 3/2 31 0ctober 2016 g 2 - -
lan Griffiths Executive 1 9September 2008 714 nfa 10 - - -
Mary Harrns independent 3 28 July 2014 5 28 July 2017 9 1 - 3
Independent
Andy Haste SID 11 August 2008 7/ 11 August 2016 10 2 6 7
Independent
Archie Norman Chairman 4 1 January 2010 6/0 1 January 2017 10 2 4 -
John QOrmerod Independent 18 January 2008 7111 18 January 2017 10 2 6 7

1 Executive Directors have roling service contracts that provide for 12 months' notice on either side

2 Roger Faxon did not attend a scheduled Board meeting and the AGM on 14 May 2015 due to family commitments

3 Mary Harns was appointed to the Audit Committee on 16 June 2015 and three of the seven scheduled meetings were held pnor to her appointment.
Non-attendance at another scheduled meeting was due to other board comrmitments agreed before her appointrnent to ITV

4 Archwe Norman did not attend two scheduled Remuneration Committee meetings due to unavoidable overseas commitments

Terms of engagement for the Non-executive Directors are available on our website

(&) www 1tvplc com/about/governance
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Corporate Governance continued

During the year the appointments of
John Grmerod and Andy Haste were
extended for a further 12 months
Both have been Non-executive Directors
for over six years The Board continues
to believe that they bring a wealth of
knowtedge and experience to their
deliberations and both prowvide a
valuable contribution as Chairmen

of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees respectively

Anna Manz was appointed as a Non-
executrve Director with effect from

1 February 2016 Anna was selected
from a number of candidates following
arigorous search process

During 2015 the Nomination Committee
commenced the succession process for
the Chairman Following a robust review
they concluded that Sir Peter Bazalgette
was the best and most appropriate
candidate for the position With his
wealth of experience and unrivalled
reputation in the media sector, he 1swell
placed to take the Company forward to
Its next stage of development Sir Peter
has been on the Board since June 2013
and has a detailed understanding of

the business and its 1ssues together
with valuable insight on the strategic
challenges facing ITV and the

industry generally

Executive search firm Zygos were
engaged to assist with both search
processes Zygos have no other
connection with ITV

Board effectiveness

Experience and independence
Biographical details for the Directors are
set out on pages 54 and 55, with fuller
biographies available on our website

@ www.itvplc com/about/management/
board-of-directors

The Board i1s of the view that the
Non-executive Directors are independent
in both character and judgerment

They constructively challenge and

help develop proposals on strategy,
scrutinise the performance of

60

management in meeting agreed goals
and objectives, and monitor the
reporting of performance

The Board works well together,

bringing strong, independent, balanced
Judgement, knowledge and experience
toits deliberations Each Non-executive
Director has appropriate skills and
experience so that thew views carry
significant weight in the decision making

There are job descriptions in ptace

for each of the Chairman, the Chief
Executive, and the Senior independent
Director which have been agreed by
the Board These are available on

our website

@ www itvplc com/about/governance

Evaluation

Internal

The work of the Board Commutteesis
reviewed annually with the support of
Group Secretanat The evaluation takes
the form of face-to-face meetings with
Board and Commuttee members elicting
feedback on a wide range of topics

In addrtion input 15 sought from the
Executwve Directors, other relevant
senior executives and external advisers

Output i1s reported to the relevant

Chairman and a report of actions i
submitted to the Commuttees and
actioned as appropnate

External

In 2012/13 the Board undertook a

board effectiveness review facilitated
by YSC The review was developmentally
facused, bath with respect to the
functioning of the Board and for
Iindividuat board members This resulted
In suggestions for the Board to develop
its effectiveness which were discussed
with the Board as a whole and feedback
was provided to individual board
members together with additional
development sessions

At the end of 2015 the Board
commenced a further effectiveness
review, again using YSC, and recognising
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that the Board has a number of new
members Board members were
asked for-

» Views on board effectiveness

- Feedback onindividual board
members

« Suggestions for improvement

« Personal aspirations around
contribution to the Board

As part of the process YSC have
attended several board meetings

to observe and will produce a report
of findings and suggestions for
development of the Board as awhole
and on an indvidual basis The process
1s expected to take approximately

six months

Board tenure
The current board tenure 1s shown In the
diagram below

0-2 years

2-5years

5-8years

LR

Succession planning and diversity
Succession planning

The Board has agreed a succession
planning framework which it regularly
reviews to ensure that

« Board tenure 1s appropnate and
encourages fresh thinking and
new deas

- The Board 1s sufficiently diverse but
rmost impartantly has the appropriate
mix of generalist and specialist skills

» Non-executive Directors have the
appropriate level of independence,
from the executive and each other
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Both John Ormerod and Andy Haste are
approaching nine years tenure The
Board s mundful of this and succession
planming 15 under consideration

Diversity

Itis our policy to retam a strong but
relatively small board bringing a balance
of in-depth commercial and creative
experience It continues to be the Board's
ntention to mcrease the diverse
make-up and representation of its
members as opportunities anse, but
gwven the size of the Board specific
formulaic targets are not appropriate

Induction, traming and development
The Company has a policy and
programme for nduction and continuing
professional development of Directors
On appointment, each Director takes
partin a comprehensive induction
prograrmme

Duning therr period in office, the
Directors are continually updated on the
Group's businesses and the competitive
and regulatory environments in which
they operate This is done through

Updates and papers which cover
changes affecting the Group and
the market in which it operates
Meetings with senior executives
across the Group and key advisers
Regular updates on changes to the
legal and governance requirements
of the Group and inrelation to their
own position as Directors
Presentations given at board and
committee meetings onbusiness
matters and technical update
sessions from external advisers
where appropriate

This 1s supplemented by visits to UK and
nternational locations During 2015
Peter Bazalgette and Roger Faxon
visited the ITV Studios office in Los
Angeles, Mary Harnis visited Talpa in
The Netherlands and The Garden

with John Ormerod A number of the
Directors wvisited the new Coronation
Street site in Salford, Manchester

As part of their professional
development Executive Directors

may accept external appomtments

as Non-executive Directors of other
companies and retain any related fees
paid to them Details of positions held
and fees receved by Executive Directors
in 2015 can be found on page 79

Relations with shareholders

The Board attaches a tugh priority to
effective communication with
shareholders and has reqular and open
dialogue with investors The Board
believes that continued engagement
with sharehotders 1s beneficial to both
TV and 1ts stakeholders as it helps to
build a greater understanding of
Investors' views, opinions and concerns
Adam Crozier, lan Griffiths and the
Director of Investor Relations meet with
many institutional investors throughout
the year to keep them updated on the
Company’s performance against our
strategy These range from one-to-one
meetings to group presentations
including the Full Year and Interim
results and the AGM Specifically,
following the Full Year and Intenm
results one-to-one meetings are held
with our largest institutronal investors

The Chairman and Senior Independent
Director also respond to shareholder
quertes and hold meetings where
appropniate

The Company mamtains a programme
of engagement with the investment
community, ncluding results
presentations, briefings to brokers
and other sales forces and attendance
at anumber of nvestor conferences
Presentations given to the investment
community are available to download
from our website

(@ www itvplc com/investors

We regularly seek feedback on the
perception of the Company amongst
shareholders and the investor
community more broadly via our
corporate brokers Investor comments
are fed back to the Boardand its
committees requiarly

Private shareholders represent more
than 2% of our shareholders, holding
297% of our shares We encourage
shareholders to register therr emait
addresses to recewve information from
us In a timely manner

The AGM will be held on Thursday,
12 May 2016 (further details can be
found on page 1717)

In 2015 the meeting was attended by
129 shareholders Shareholders are
invited to meet the Directors prior to
and after the formal proceedings At

the meeting the Chairman and Chief
Executive will review the Group's current
trading which is followed by a question
and answer session Separate resolutions
are proposed on each substantially
separate 1ssue and all resolutions are
taken on a poll. Voting can be done
onbine or using a form of proxy which

1s sent to all shareholders The level of
votes lodged on each resolution is made
available on a Regulatory Information
Service and on the Company’s website
as soon as possible after the meeting
Detaits of voting at the 2015 meeting
are available on our website

@ www itvplc com/investors/
annual-general-meeting
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Audit Committee Report

O

John Ormerod
Charrman,
Audit Commuttee

ITV is a different business from that
of three or five years ago. We aim
to ensure that our controls
anticipate the changing

risks in our business and

that our reporting reflects

fairly our new activities.”

In this report

The purpose of this report is to highlight areas that the Committee
has reviewed during the year. We report back to shareholders the
significant financial reporting 1ssues and judgements made in connection
with the preparation of the Company'’s financial statements. Also highlighted
is how the Committee has assisted the Board in reviewing the Company’s
mternal control and risk environment. We explain what the Committee has
done to review the effectiveness of our internal and external auditors.

Dear shareholder,
On the following pages we set out the
Audit Committee’s Report for 2015

Our particular areas of focus dunng the
year include

Acquisitions we continued to invest

in our production business in particular
the acquisition of formats that travel
internationally The Committee engages
at an early stage with significant
potential acquisitions We review with
management the approach to due
diligence and review the resuits of that
work prior to 1ts submission to the Board
We consider carefully the appropriate
accounting for arrangements which are
designed both to incentivise creative
talent and manage financial nisk

Of particular focus this year was

the acquisition accounting for Talpa,
specifically the treatment of the
earnout arrangements Linked to
retaining key talent in the business

Technology technology is key to our
competitive success In areas such as
online but also to improving our
operational efficiency The Committee
has continued to review the plans and
controls over technology change and
for mantaining control in areas where
legacy systems continue to operate
Cyber security has remained a focus
for the Cormmittee, especially as media
companies have continued to face
increased frequency and sophistication
of cyber attacks
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Audit quality the Commuttee continued
to focus on audit quality Thes year

the Committee noted the Financial
Reporting Council's comments and used
therr Audit Quality Practice Aid to help
shape the Committee’s review of the
external audit

Risk management and intermal
controls the Committee assisted

the Board in ensuring compliance with
the UK Corporate Governance Code {the
Code) in relation to nsk management
and internal controls The Committee
reviewed the process of nisk
management and considered how to
embed more operational nsk appetite
measures into board discussions For
example in 2015, an Operational Risk
Steerning Group was established to
manage and consider a number of
existing and emerging operational

risks and ensure the business addresses
them appropnately |am invited to
attend meetings of the Operational
Risk Steering Group and of the Tax

and Treasury Committee

Audit Tendering during the year the
Commuttee has continued to monitor
changes in regulation for auditor
appontments Recently the Department
for Business, Innovation and Skills has
1ssued further guidance that has clanfied
ITV’s position with regards to its next
tender and mandatory auditor rotation

Viability Statement following changes
to the Code the Committee reviewed
the process by which the Company
assesses viability over the longer term
This was considered by the Board and
the statement Is set out on page 47

We continue to focus on financial
reporting jJudgements and disclosures
and challenging management to
develop controls to anticipate future
apportunities and nsk Management is
commutted to continuous improvement
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We are pleased that Mary Harris joined
the Committee during the year and she
brings a broad range of experience to
our deliberations

We seek to respond to shareholders’
expectation of audit committee
reporting and would welcome feedback

John Ormerod
Charrman, Audit Committee
2March 2016

What we focused on in 2015
In ptanning i1ts own agenda, and
reviewing the audit plans of the internal
and external auditor, the Committee
takes account of sigmificant 1ssues and
risks, both operational and financial,
Likely to impact on the Company's
financial statements The Committee
also addresses specific quenes referred
to it by the Board or Remuneration
Committee

During 2015 there were no topics where
there was significant disagreement
between management, our external
auditor and the Committee, or
unresolved 1ssues that needed to be
referred to the Board

During 2015 we complied with the
provistons of the Statutory Audit
Services for Large Comparies Market
Investigation (Mandatory Use of
Competitive Tender Processes and Audit
Commuttee Responsibilities) Order 2014

Below 15 a summary of some of the
mare significant nisks and financial
reporting 1ssues discussed in the year
by the Committee

[ Who is on the Committee

The Committee 1s composed entirely of Non-executive Directors The current
members are

« John Ormerod (Chairman)
+ Mary Harns @ppointed 16 June 2015)
« Andy Haste

The Committee members have between them a wide range of businessand
financial experience The Committee considers that John Ormerod has recent
and relevant financial experience for the purposes of the Code

Full details of attendance at Committee meetings can be found on the table
onpage 59

Ourrole
The main role of the Committeeisto

- monitar the integrity of the published financialinformation of the Company
and review and report to the Board on the significant financial reporting 1ssues
and judgements made in connection with the preparation of the published
financial Infermation of the Company,

« provide advice to the Board on whether the Annual Report and Accounts are
fair, balanced and understandable,

- review the effectiveness of the internal control and sk management
processes and give Input to the Board’s consideration of risk and risk appetite,

- monitar and review the effectiveness and independence of the internal
audit function,

- provide advice to the Remuneration Committee on financial reporting matters
and related judgements and risk management as they affect performance
objectives related to executive remuneration, and

« review the quality and effectiveness of the external audit and the procedures
and controls designed to ensure auditor mdependence

Following each meeting the Committee communicates its mamn discussion pomnts
and findings to the Board

Annual Review

Anannual review of the performance of the Committee was conducted for

the year In addition to feedback from members of the Commuittee, input was
sought from the Group Finance Director, external auditors, Internal Audit and
the Chairman of the Board Overall, the review concluded that the Committee s
responding appropriately toits terms of reference and will continue to develop
itsrole Priorities for this year will include strengtherning further the Committee
membership as part of our succession planming and deepening cur engagement
with the key risks facing the Company

Further information about the Committee and the Committee's terms of
reference can be accessed on our website

(8 www 1tvpic com/about/governance
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Audit Committee Report continued

Financial reporting
As part of the Committee’s review of the Intenim and Full Year financial statements, the following were discussed

Complex discrete transactions in the year
The Group completed certain transactions during the penad that were outside the normal course of business The Committee
carefully reviewed these one-off transactions to ensure that the jJudgements applied by management were reasonable and
any complex accounting guidance followed correctly The key topics discussed in the year covered acquisitions

Acquisition accounting for Talpa (see note 3 4 for detail on the acquisition)
Tatpa was the largest acquisition made by the Group in 2015 The Committee ensured consistency inapplication of principles to
previous deats and reviewed the treatment and presentation of performance-related commitments between ITV and the seller-

Consistent As part of the review of the acquisttion of Talpa, the Committee reviewed the areas of jJudgement applied
application of by management around the valuation of intangibles The Committee concluded that the assumptions
acquisition and judgements taken by management were on a basis consistent with previous acquisitions, market
accounting practice and IFRSs

Performance- The Talpa acquisition structure allows for further amounts payable after two, five and eight years
related based on the achievement of stretching performance targets for the business in the years following
consideration acquisition For these amounts to be paid the deal requires the seller to remain with the business

during these periods Further, If the seller leaves within two years a significant portion of the initial
consideration would be refunded to ITV Structuring the deal this way helped manage risks in terms

of initial capital outlay and created a joint incentive between ITV and the seller to grow the business
Management considered 1t appropriate for performance reporting to include these payments as the
cost of acquiring the business even though IFRS requires any payment that links a seller to remaining n
the business as an employment cost The Committee discussed management’s analysis for excluding
these payments from adjusted earnings, and concluded that management's analysis was fair and
cansistent with previous acquisitions where key talent 1s retained

Buy out of minority interest of Leftfield

The Committee also reviewed the acceleration of the buy out of the Leftfield minonty interest. The Committee discussed
management's judgements around the fair value of the consideration paid for the remaining minonity interest and concluded
| management’s analysis was fair and reasonable

Recurring transactions in the year

There are a number of areas where the Group transacts as part of its business as usual However, these areas may require the
application of judgement by management or have underlying complexity that should be considered on an ongoing basis by
the Committee

Consequently, the following key topics are reviewed by the Committee

Revenue Every year the Committee considers management’s assessment of the Group's internal controls
framework, which includes control over revenue At the end of 2014 the Committee requested an internal
audit exercise specifically to review the nisks and controls surrounding each of the Group’s main revenue
streams This review was finalised in early 2015 The Committee ensured the processes and controls
around existing revenue streams remained consistent and effective during the year The Committee s
involved in the preliminary discussions regarding tmplementation of the new revenue recognition
standard IFRS15 applicable from 2018

Deal debt This s where management reviews the over and under delivery of advertising value to agencies The
Committee reviews management’s approach and method of determining the prowvision required for
under delivery The Committee is satisfied that the prowision has been calculated on an appropnate basis

Royalty accruals  The Group 15 required to make royalty payments for content broadcast and distnbuted where we do not own
all the nghts Such payments are in accordance with individual contracts, and the large vaniety of terms
results in a complex and manual process After an annual review of processes and controls, the Committee
was satisfied with the improvements management continue to make in the controls over royalty

payments and as with previous years, the Committee considered the estimated accrual to be reasonable

\
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-
Pension
accounting

The Group's defined benefit pension scheme 1s a significant net lability on the Group's balance sheet

(see note 3 7) ang the value of the scheme's net babilities will fluctuate due to changes in underlying
assumptions (and the assets are held at market value) The main assumptions which drive the fluctuations
in labthities include the value of its bond yield rate and the forecast inflation rate The Commuttee
considered both the process management undertook to finalise the assumptions and how these
assumptions benchmark agamst the market The Committee concluded that the process was robust

and the resulting calcutation appropriately balanced

QOther topics reviewed durng the year included:

Defiat financing

As part of management’s strategy to expand its content portfolio, significant investment in high end
dramawas made during the year The Commuttee has reviewed and considered the accounting
implications, inctuding revenue recognition and recoverability of the amounts invested The Committee
concluded that the accounting treatment was appropriate

—

Tax The Commuttee received regular updates frorn management and the Tax and Treasury Committee
with regard to key areas of tax risk, tax compliance, tax matters i respect of corporate transactions,
and significant changes in tax legisiation The Committee cansidered the key risks which give rise to
uncertainties over corporate tax, payroll and VAT labilities and related provistons The Committee
discussed the activities which management undertakes to resolve the matters that give nse to such
provisions Where advice from our tax advisers is received, the results and views of their work are also

reviewed The Committee concluded that the provisions at the year end were appropriate (see note 2 3)

Risk Management and Internal
Controls

Risk management

The Committee continued to consider
the process for managing risk within
the business and assisted the Board

in relation to compliance with the Code
and development of the nisk appetite
framewaork Further information on our
HILL and strategic risks and uncertainties
and risk managermnent process 1S
included within the Strategic Report
onpages 46to 51

For the Group's HILL nsks the Committee
reviewed the Group's current level

of exposure and considered the
appropriateness of the mitigating
actions being taken by management

The Committee also considered
management’s response to strateqic risk,
including the level of assurance provided
around the risk and how the risk is tracked
using key risk indicators Withregard to
process nisks the Committee reviewed
how effective management was in
addressing the findings of internal and
external audit, as well as the method

by which management accepted
processnsks

The Committee has inplace arolling
programme to review key compliance
and other rnisk

Internal controls

The Board has overall responsibility

for the Group's systems of internal
control and for reqularly reviewing the
effectiveness of those systems The
Commuttee assists the Board mreviewing
the systems of mternal control The
primary responsibitity for the operation
of these systems i5s delegated to
management Such systems can only
prowide reasonable and not absolute
assurance aganst matenial misstatement
or loss Key control procedures are
designed to manage rather than
eliminate nisk

The Committee satisfies itself that
internal controls are operating
throughout the year prinapally based

on the programme of internal audit
reviews In addition to the internal

audit programme, there 1s a suite of
exception reports that cover transaction
processing For thase subsidianes not
covered by exception reparting software,
management recently implemented a
monthly self assessment which 1s subject
to independent internal review

Strategy and financialreporting

The strategy s reviewed and approved
by the Board The Group performsa
comprehensive annual strategy review
and a rolling five year financial planning
exercise The five year plan feeds nto
the annual budget cycle The Executive
Directors review formal forecasts,
detailed budgets, strategies and action
plans and the Board approves the overall
Group budget as part of its normal
responsibiities The results of operating
units are reported monthly, alongwith
an update of the Group's performance
against strategic KPIs and cash Actual
results are compared to budget and
forecasts, and key trends and variances
are explaned and analysed

Post-acquisition review- When
introducing the Group's procedures and
control environment to an acquisition,
management Is respansible for ensuning
that key areas of governance are
implemented and that operational and
financial processes are aligned to the
Group A full post-acquisition review 1s
presented to the Committee in the year
following a material acquisttion The
Committee reviewed Leftfield n 2015
and plans to review Talpa in 2016
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Data analytics the Group has a suite of
autornated analytics tests that enables
the Group to continuously ighlight
exceptions from the norm over its
transactional financial data The
analytics have been expanded and have
contributed to a stronger and more
efficient control environment

Whistleblowing

ITV has arrangements in place that
enable employees to raise concerns in
confidence about any possible risks to
employees, customers, viewers or the
Company The Committee constders
the process and pracedures each year
and 15 of the view that they are operating
appropriately and that colleagues are
aware of and trust the process Every
three years ITV asks the whistleblowing
chanty Public Concern at Work to carry
out an independent review of these
arrangements ITV 1s a signatory to The
Furst 100 campaign which seeks to
champion enlightened organisations
that are committed to ensurmg that
ther arrangements meet best practice

Our auditors

Internal auditor

The Group’'s Internal audit activity 1s
outsourced te Deloitte who report
directly to the Comrmuttee Duning the
year the Committee reviewed this
internal audit model. We concluded that
outsourcing offers access to the wide
range of skills and rescurces in the
various geographies required and
endorsed Its continuing use

The Committee keeps under review
the internal audit relationship with
Deloitte and the procedures to ensure
appropriate independence of the
internat audit functton 1is maintained (n
particular, the Committee has approved
guidelines in relation to cther advisory
and consultancy work that Deloitte
may undertake for the Company, which
adheres to the underlying principle that
they cannot iImplement controls that
they audit Other services provided by
Deloitte included tax and corporate
finance advice

The effectiveness of internal auditis
assessed over the year using a number
of measures that include {but are not
limited to)

Technology risk

As we continue to execute our strategy the technology infrastructure supporting
the business also has to evolve A number of legacy systems supporting the
existing busmess reman in place, while at the same time new revenue streams
require systems to support them It therefore remains iImportant to have an
effective technology governance framework that seeks to address the risks
anising from the above environment In 2015, the Committee continued to review
the Group's governance over its legacy systems, including ongoing projects to
migrate certainiegacy systems to newer technology while implementing new
systemns to support our new revenue streams

Media companies in particutar have continued to face increased frequency and
sophistication of cyber-attacks, with a number of well publicised cases in 2015
targeting services and customer data As part of ongoing governance the
Committee reviewed the steps that management are taking on cyber security

These included increasing awareness and education of staff with regards to types
of secunity threat, mproving the monitoring of internal network activity and the
implementation of enterprise security management tools The Group's response
to cyber security will require continuing effort, especially as the types of attacks
and thewr sophistication will continue to evolve, and the Committee will continue
to focus on this areain 2016

\,
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« anevaluation of each audit assignment
completed using feedback from the
part of the business that has been
audited, and

« a highlevel annual review that is
completed by obtaining feedback from
senior management in each division

At the start of the year the Cormmittee
considered and approved the internal
audn plan, that included audits across
the Group as well as assurance over live
projects During the year the Committee
reviewed findings from these internal
audit reports, the actions taken to
implement the recommendations made
in the reports and the status of progress
against previcusly agreed actions All
internal audit reports are available to
the Committee

The Committee reviewed and approved
the 2016 internal audst plan

External auditor

Engagement

The Committee 1s responsible for
agreeing the terms of the engagement
letter Throughout the year the
Committee received reports from the
auditor (KPMG) on their plans and the
progress and results of thewr work

The Committee considers carefully

the scope of planned work and the
assessment of risk and materiality on
whichitis based In particular through
the Chairman the Committee
participates in the negotiation of the
audit fee arrangements to ensure that
there i1s an appropriate balance between
the scope of work and the cost of
assurance The Commuttee’s amis to
support arobust and effective audit and
strong reporting Lines to the Committee

Audit tendering and rotation

During the year the Commuttee has
continued to monitor changes N
requlation for auditor appointments
The Department for Business (B!S) has
recently issued further guidance on their
consultation, setting out how EU audit
rules will be mplemented in the UK
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The BIS guidance specaifically hightights
that companies which tendered the
audit engagement before the
applrcation date for the EL! Regulation,
that resulted in the reappeintment of
the incumbent auditor, should benefit
from the transitional provisions where
the tender would meet the objectives
of the EU Regulation

Having recommended the reappointment
of KPMG in 2012 following a competitive
tender, and apply:ng the above BIS
guidance, the next mandatory tender
would be for the 2023 financiat year
However, the Committee will continue
to monitor audit quatity, to ensure the
Group continues to have arobust and
effective audit

Effectiveness and quality

Audit quality 1s reviewed throughout the
year and in 2015 the Committee used
the Financial Reporting Councit’s (FRC)
Audit Quabity Practice Aild to help
structure Its review of audit quality at
ITV Whenmaking its assessment of
audit quality, the factors the Committee
focused on mncluded

» External audit quality reports -
reviewing the FRC's Audit Quality
Review reportsand discussing with
the auditor specific topics that may
be apphcable to ITV, and how ther
audit strategy for the year addressed
thematic concerns that the FRC
had highlighted

« Auditor interaction with management
- reviewing the auditor's understanding
of business progress against the
strategy and emerging ndustry
themes, as well as the auditor's
discussions with management on
key corporate transactions

« Auditor's own view of effectiveness —
enquired with regards to their
audit methodology and its effective
application to ITV, therr robustness of
challenges and findings on areas which
require management judgement,
whether there had been an internal
peer review of the ITV audit and what
the findings were, and the experence
of the senior members of the
audit team

Further inits assessment of audit quality
the Committee took into account

- the detailed audit strategy for the
year, ncluding the coverage of
emerging risks,

- Group matenality and component
materiality,

« how the auditor communicated any
key accounting judgement and
conclusions, and

» feedback from management of the
performance of the external auditor

There were no significant findings

from the evaluation this year and the
Committee considers the external audit
to have been robust and effective

Independence, objectivity and fees
The Committee seeks to ensure the
objectivity and independence of our
auditor through

- focus on the assignment and rotation
of key personnel,

- the adequacy of audit resource, and

+ policies in relation to non-audit work

The serior audit partner serves no more
than five years continuously and the
independent review partner serves no
more than seven years continuously
Other key partners serve for no longer
than seven consecutive years The
Committee moritors the tenure of
partners and senior staff as well as
former employees working for the
Company Following completion of the
2015 audit, Mark Summerfield our Sernior
Statutory Auditor and KPMG partner will
rotate off our engagement and will be
replaced by Paul Sawdon During the
year the Chairman of the Committee
and management met partners from
KPMG who rmight serve as our serior
audit partner making a final proposal
which was approved by the Committee

The Comnuttee regularly monitors the
ather services being provided to the
Group by its external auditar,and has
developed a formal policy and sign off
process with management to ensure
this does not impair ther independence
or objectiity

The policy 15 reviewed annually and 1s
available in full on our website together
with further information on how the
Committee manages the external
audit relationship

(@) www rtvplc.com/about/governance

Other than in exceptional circumstances
management and the Committee do
not expect non-audit fees to be in excess
of fees for audit and audit-related
services The non-audit fees for 2015
were one third of the audit fees Areport
on the level of non-audit work provided
by the auditar s given ta the Committee
half yearly The sigruficant non-audit
engagements related to corporate tax
advice and other assurance Full details
are set out on page 110

The Committee has formally reviewed
the work undertaken by KPMG for the
Committee and elsewhere in the
Company and 1s satisfied that the advice
they have receved has been objective
and independent

Reappointment

During the year the Committee
considered the performance and audit
fees of the external auditor, and the level
of non-audit work undertaken, and
recommended to the Board that a
resolution for the reappointment of
KPMG for a further year as the
Company’s auditor be proposed to
shareholders at the AGM in May 2015
The resolutton was passed and KPMG
was reappointed for a further year

The Committee has recommended the
reappointment of KPMG at the AGM on
12 May 2016
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O,

Over the last six years

measures every year.”

Andy Haste
Chairman,
Remuneration Committee

ITV has delivered strong
revenue and double-digit
profit growth in key profit

In this report

The purpose of this report is to set out for shareholders the
pninciples and policy we apply to remuneration for our Executive
Directors and to update you on how we have applied these for the financial
year ended 31 December 2015 The report also aims to demonstrate how our
Remuneration Policy is aligned to our strategy, supports the retention of the
Executive Directors and rewards them for strong performance

Dear shareholder,

On the following pages we set out

« Qur Apnual Remuneration Report
{pages 70 to 80) which will be subject
to an adwvisary vote at our Annual
General Meeting (AGM) in May 2016,
and

« Our Remuneration Policy table (pages
81to 84) which was approved at the
AGM In May 2014 for a three year
period The full Rernuneration Policy
1s available on our website

@ www itvplc com/about/governance

We believe that our remuneration
framewaork remains aligned with the
strategy of the business and s inked
to our key KPIs, which are set out In
the Strategic Report Inaddition we
are satisfied that our remuneration
framework promotes long-term
alignment with shareholders and
does not encourage undue risk taking

During 2016 we willbe undertaking a
review of the remuneratron policy for
the Executwe Directors in preparation
for the AGM in 2017, when the existing
policy will reach its third anniversary and
require resubmission to sharehaolders

Our performance in 2015

As discussed in the Strategic Report, over
the last six years ITV has delivered strong
revenue and double-digit profit growth
in key profit measures every year In 2015
we delivered £865 million adjusted EBITA
{before exceptionals) (2014 £730
mullion) and adjusted EPS of 16 5 pence
{2014 13 8 pence) We remarn focused on
our oniginal vision and are confident that
our strategy, focused on three key
Strategic Priorities, remasns appropriate
for the long-term

Performance measures for our Annual
Bonus Awards and Long-Term Incentive
Plan (LTIP) are closely aligned to our KPIs
(set out on pages 32 to 35) Our KPIs have
been defined to align our performance
and accountability to our strategy
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The KPIs are the key measures of our
success and cover atl of our Strategic
Prionties

Performance against KPIs which are
aligned to our Bonus and LTIP 1s set
out below

2015 201
Adjusted EBITA £865m  £730m
Profit to cash conversion 91% 9%
Adjusted EPS 16 5p 138p
Family SOV M 2% 22%
Total non-NAR growth 5% 10%

I addition, over the past few years we
have ncluded a cost-saving target in
our Bonus Awards to ensure that
management continues to focus on
streambining the business

Remuneration gutcomes in 2015

As explained above, the performance
agamst financial targets other than
Share of Viewing (SOV) has been strang

The bonus payout levels for the Executive
Directors were 96% for Adam Crozier and
95% for lan Griffiths Further information
and details of the bonus targets are set
out on page 72 Previously we reported
that the Board believed that targets
remained commeraally sensitive for a
two year penod following the relevant
year end and we committed to including
the targets for 2013 in this year's repart
Duning the year, we reviewed emerging
best practice in this area and have
concluded that it is more appropriate to
disclose targets following the relevant
year end To this end, in addition to the
targets for the financial year ended

2013, we have also included details of the
targets for the financial years ended 2014
and 2015, which are set out on page 72

During the year, awards made under the
Performance Share Plan (PSP) in 2013
reached the end of thewr performance
period, and will become exercisable

i March 2016 Details are set out
onpage 73 Over the three year
performance period, the Company's
share price ncreased from 105 2 pence
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to 276 6 pence with a total return to
shareholders (TSR} of 202% This resulted
in the Company being the second best
performing company in the FTSE100
over the period The Committee
considers the total pay of the Executive
Directors to be a farr reflection of thewr
overall contnbution in this context

The Remuneration Commuttee has not
exercised any discretion during the year
or felt it appropriate to call on malus
and clawback provisions

Remuneration Policy
implementation 2016

Bonus targets and performance
conditions for LTIP awards to be made
in 2016 have been set in line with the
Remuneration Policy and have been
aligned closely with our strategy
Detalls are set cut on page 77

One specific change s being made to
the bonus framework for the Executive
Directors to Increase the proportion
aligned to financial targets from 60%
to 75% and reduce the proportion
aligned to personal targets from 40%
to 25% This follows a review durning
2015, based on feedback from some
institutional shareholders that the
weighting on personal measures

was above the market norm While
previously appropriate given the
turnaround phase, the Committee
conctuded that making such change
was now relevant to ensure focus on
the targets with the greatest impact
on cverall business performance We
believe this 1s a more usual approach
and in tine with shareholder
expectations There has not been

any change to the target or maximum
level of bonus

The Executive Directors each recewved
a 2 5% ncrease in ther salanes from

1 January 2016 whichis in line with
the increase for employees generally
No other material changes will apply
for 2016

Who is on the Committee
The Committee 1s composed entirely of Non-executive Directors The current
members are

= Archie Norman
+ John Ormerod

« Andy Haste (Chairman)
- Sir Peter Bazalgette

Full details of attendance at Committee meetings can be found in the table on
page 59

Ourrole

The role of the Committee 1s primarnly to

- review the ongoing appropriateness, relevance and effectiveness of the

Remuneration Policy including in relation to retention and development,

propose to shareholders changes to the Remuneration Policy and approve its

implementation for the Executive Directors, Management Board and other

Sentor Executives (together the Semor Executive Group) taking into account

arrangements for the wider employee group Details on employee

remuneration can be found on page 87,

approve the design of the Company's annual bonus arrangements and LTIPs,

including the performance targets that apply for the Senior Executive Group,

and

- determine the award levels for the Semior Executive Group based on
performance against annual bonus targets and long-term incentive conditions

Following each meeting the Committee communicates 1its maimn discussion points
and findings to the Board

Annual Review

An annual review of the performance of the Committee was conducted In
addition to feedback from members of the Committee input was also sought
from the Chief Executive, Group HR Director and FIT Remuneration Consultants,
the independent adviser to the Committee Overall the review concluded that
the Committee 1s responding appropriately to its terms of reference and will
continue to develop its role Prionities for this year will include consideration of
Committee membership and continued alignment to the corporate strategy

The Commuttee's termns of reference can be accessed on our website

@ www itvplc com/about/governance

\

Shareholder views
Details of voting on remuneration resolutions at the AGM in May 2015 are set out on
page 75 We were pleased to receve strong investor support

Woe seek to respond to shareholders’ expectations of remuneration reporting and

would welcome feedback

Andy Haste
Chawman, Remuneration Committee
2 March 2016
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What we didin 2015
During 2015 our work was broadly in four areas

Setting targets

- setting the business and personal performance targets for 2015 bonuses, aligned with the business plan for the year;
- satting the performance targets that would apply to awards made under the LTIP and PSP in 2015, and

- carrying out a pretiminary review of annual bonus targets for 2016

Reviewing outcomes
« reviewing the banus outcomes and award levels for 2014 and indicative 2015 cutcomes ahead of final approval in 2016, and
= appraving the performance cutcomes of the 2012 awards under the PSP

Reward framework

+ agreeng the base salaries for the Senior Executive Group using the same process as applied to the wider employee population,

- agreeing the remuneratton packages for new appointments to the Senior Executive Group and the arrangements for any
leavers from this group

Governance
« agreeing the Remuneration Report for 2014 prior to its appraval by the Board, and approval by shareholders at the AGM
in May 2015

Principles considered when setting remuneration

The Company operates in the particularly competitive media market We aim to balance the need to attract and retain high-
quality talent essential to the Company's success with the need to be cost-effective and to reward exceptionat performance
The Committee has developed a Remuneration Policy for the Company that balances these factors, while taking into account
the prevailing best practice and a fair outcome far investors

A significant proportion of the remuneration package 1s tied to the achievement of stretching performance conditions, that
align remuneration with our strategy to delver strong business performance and create shareholder value Individuals should
be rewarded for success and performance measured over clear timescales The remuneration package i1s focused on rewarding
sustained long-term performance and aligrnung executives with the shareholder expenence

Throughout this report we make reference to Strategic Prionties For reference these are as detailed in the tables below

For awards made in 2015 and 2016

Target
Maximuse audience and revenue from free-to-air and VOD business
Grow an international content business
Build a global pay and distribution business

Further information on each of the above 1s set out In the Strateqgic Report on pages 18 to 29

For awards made up to and including 2014

Target

() Create alean, creatively dynanic and fit-for-purpose organisation

@  Maximise audience and revenue share from our existing free-to-air Broadcast business

@ Drive new revenue streams by exploiting gur content across multiple platforms, free and pay

@& _ Build a strong international content business

Further information on each of the above 15 set out in the 2014 Strategic Report available on our website

| (@ www rtvplc com/investors
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Total remuneration for 2015
The sections of the Annual Remuneration Report that have been audited by KPMG are pages 71 to 74, and page 78 (from and
including Directors' Share Interests) to page 80

Executive Directors
The table below sets out in a single figure the total remuneration for both Executive Directors for the financial year

Bonus

Salary Taxablebenefits {cash and shares) Share awards Pension Total

2015 20 2015 2014 2015 207 20157 014! 2015 20 2015 0%

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 €000 £000 €000 £000  £000 E£000 £000

Adam Crozier 918 900 19 19 1,586 1,523 1,220 2175 229 225 3,972 4,842
lan Griffiths 561 550 15 14 879 864 669 1167 140 138 2,264 2,733
1,479 1,450 34 34 2,465 2387 1,889 3,342 369 363 6,236 7,575

-

Inthe 2014 Annual Report and Accounts part of the amount shown was the indicative vesting value of the 2012 PSP awards that were subject to performance
conditions measured to 31 December 2014 The figures shown in the table above represent the subsequent value recerved on the vesting date of 30 March 2015
using the share price on that day (254 855 pence), a total increase of 637,976

The amount shown Is the indicatrve value of the 2013 PSP awards that were subject to perforrmance conditions rmeasured to 31 December 2015 The value was
calculated using the average share pnce for the final quarter of 2015 (260 5 pence) The share price grew by 115 6% over the perforrmance pernod See page 73 for
further information

3 The aggregate emoluments for all directors as required under Schedule 5 {S1 2008/410) 15 the total remuneration shown in the table above less share awards
plus the total emolument flgures for Non-executive Directors shown on page 73

L")

Further information in relation to each of the elements of remuneration for 2015 set out in the table above 1s detaited below
An explanation for 201415 set out in detail in our 2014 Annual Report and Accounts, which can be found on our website

(@ www itvplc.com/investors

Salary
Salaries are pad in line with our Rermuneration Policy

Taxable benefits
The benefits provided to the Executive Directors include the cost of private medicat insurance and car-related benefits

Bonus (cash and shares)

Annual incentives are provided to Executive Directors through the bonus, with one-third of any award deferred into shares under
the Deferred Share Award Plan (DSA) The performance conditions that apply to the bonus are set on an indwidual basis and are
linked to the Company's corporate, financial and strategic prionties This enables the Commuittee to reward both annual financial
performance delivered for shareholders, and performance agamnst specific financial, operational or strategic objectives set far
each Executive Director, which are closely inked to the strategic pniorities of the business Payments and deferrals in respect of
the financial year are set out below

% of maximum  Value deferred

bonus nto shares Value pawd
opporiunity under the DSA ncash Total value
earned £000 £000 £000
Adam Crozier 96% 528,768 1,057536 1,586,304
lan Gnffiths 95% 293123 586,245 879,368

When cansidering performance outcomes, the Committee looks beyond formulaic results to ensure the outcomes align with
overall business performance

The majonty of the bonus (60%) was based upon the achievement of corporate and financial targets, with payout determined
in accordance with pre-set target ranges subject only to the usual adjustments to exclude the impact of tn-year acquisitions and
disposals, sigmficant unbudgeted initiatives and currency movements

The remainder of the bonus (40%) was based upon the Commuttee's assessment of the contribution the Executive Director has
made to the overall strategy through the delivery of specific targets Both Executive Directors had a number of comman objectives
aligned to our Strateqic Prionities The Strategic Report sets out more detait of the Company's achievernents in the year
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During the year particular achievements, in additron to the delivery of the stretching business plan, related to international
expansion and development of organic growth and new commissions This was achieved with the acquisition of Talpa,
Twofour Group and other production businesses and nvestments

Adam Crozier was also assessed agamnst the continuing international expansion of ITV Studios, as well as the growth of the UK
and international Pay and Online businesses

lan Griffiths was also assessed against effective M&A activity, and supporting ITV Studios and Broadcast to develop ther
international businesses and creative performance

With regard to disclosure of performance against the corporate and financial targets, previous reports stated that these targets
contained commercially sensitive information, which would remain so until two years after the end of the relevant financial year,
at which point they may be disclosed However, to reflect emerging best practice, the Committee has decided to provide
immediate disclosure of the corporate and financial targets used following the retevant year end, together with performance
against those targets and the resulting level of payout Consequently, the tables below provide this detail for the 2015 bonus
year, as well as for 2013 and 2014

2015

Performancerequred o rormance Payout Strategic
Performance measure Wenghtng Threshotld Target Max achweved AdamCrozier  lanGnffiths target
ITV plc EBITA (before exceptional items) 45% £760m £795m £825m £865m 100% 100%
Profit to cash conversion 10% 80% 85% 90% 9% 100% 100%
Cost savings 5% £8m £10m £12m £122m 100% 100%

Performance aganst the personal targets as noted above {40% weighting), resulted in payouts of 50% and 87 5% of the maximum against these targets for Adam
Crozier and lan Gnffiths respectively Up to 20% 1s payable for threshold and up to 60% for target performance

2014

Performance requred  poformance Payout Strategic
Performanice measure Weighting Threshold Target Max achieved AdamCrozier  lanGriffiths target
ITV plc EBITA (befare exceptional iters) 45%  £660m  £695m  €725m  £730m 100% 100% OOO®
Profit to cash conversion 10% 79% B4% B9% 91% 100% 100% OOO®
Cost savings 5% £10m £12m £l4am  £154m 100% 100% )

As explained in the 2014 Annual Repart and Accounts, performance against the personal targets (40% weighting), resulted in payouts of 85% and 88% of the
maximum against these targets for Adam Crozier and lan Gnffiths respectively

2013

Performance required erformance Payout Strategic
Performance measure Waighting Threshold Target Max achieved AdamCrozier  lanGnffiths target
ITV plc EBITA (before exceptional itemns) 40%  E561m  £594m  £624m  £620m  9387%  9387% Q@@
Profit to cash conversion 6 67% 85% 90% 95% 97% 100% 100% OQO®
Cost savings 667% 225m £25m £275m £279m 100% 100% [O)

In addition to the above each Executive Director had 6 67% of theirr 2013 bonus based on a range of rebalancing revenues and balance sheet performance targets,
which paid out in full

As explained i the 2013 Annual Report and Accounts, performance against the personal targets (40% weighting), resulted in payouts of 88% and 90 6% of the
maximumagamst these targets for Adam Crozier and lan Gnffiths respectively
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Share awards

We are required to show share awards in the remuneration tabte on page 71 according to the year inwhuch the performance
period for each performance condition came to an end 100% of the awards made in 2013 under the PSP were subject to
performance conditions measured to 31 December 2015

The indicative value of these awards Is set out below

Value at
Value at Number 31 December Change n
Nurmber of award date of shares 2015 share price since
shares awarded £ vesting £ award date
Adam Crozier 624,647 756,636 468,485 1,220,403 115 6%
lan Gniffiths 342,549 414,930 256,912 669,256 115 6%

The vesting figures shown in the table above reflect 75% of the total award that met performance condinons on 31 December 2015 and will become exercisable on
28 March 2016

The share price used to value the shares at 31December 2015 s the average share price for the final quarter of 2015 (260 5 pence)

When considering performance outcomes the Comimittee looks beyond formulaic results to ensure the gutcomes align with
overall business performance

Details of the performance achieved for the 2013 PSP awards are below A gateway condition of mmimum cumutative adjusted
EPS {30 4 pence) was met before any portion of the award could vest

Performance

Performance measure Strategic target Weighting Targets achieved Payout level
Cumulative adjusted EPS @ 50% 30 4p = 30% vesting

334p =100% vesting

Vesting on a straight-line basis between 41 5p 100%
Farmily SOV @ 25% Maintain at 23% = 50% vesting

+2% on 23% = 100% vesting

Vesting on a praportionate basts between 212% 0%
Total non-NAR growth [6]10) 25% 5% growth pa = 30% vesting

10% growth pa = 100% vesting

Vesting on a straight-line basis between 17.27% 100%
Pension

Pension contributions represent a cash allowance in lieu of pension with a value of 25% of base salary for both Executive
Directors The cash allowance does not form part of the base satary for the purpose of determining incentives

Non-executive Directors
The table below sets out in a single figure the total remuneration for Non-executive Directors for the financial year

Fees Taxable expenses? Total

2015 200 2015 2014 2015 2014

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Peter Bazalgette 69 65 2 2 n 67
Roger Faxon 63 62 5 6 68 68
Mary Harris 1 66 27 7 3 73 30
Andy Haste 114 12 2 1 116 13
Lucy Neville-Roife 3 - 37 - - - 37
Archie Norman 500 500 3 2 503 502
John Ormerod 89 87 2 1 91 88
901 890 21 15 922 905

1 Mary Hams was appointed to the Board on 28 July 2014, and the Audit Committes on 16 June 2015

2 The amounts disclosed in the table above relate to the reimbursement of relevant travel and accormmaodation expenses for attending Board meetings and
related business The value disclosed is inclusive of tax ansing on the expense, which is settted by the Company

3 Lucy Newville-Rolfe stepped down from the Board on 17 july 2014
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LTIP awards made in 2015

On 28 March 2015 awards were made under the LTIP to both Executive Directors in the form of nil-cost options, subject to
perforrmanice over the period ta 31 Decernber 2017 50% of any shares that vest will be subject to a one year holding period,

the remaining 50% will be subject to a two year holding period as follows

% Salary Number of Value at Performance
Award date awarded options award date period ends Vestingdate Release dates
Adam Crozier 28 March 2015 225 804,636 £2,065500 31December201?7 28March2018 50%-28March2019
50% - 28 March 2020
lan Griffiths 28 March 2015 225 491,722 £1,262,250 31December2017 28March2018 50% - 28 March 2019

50% - 28 March 2020

The nurmber of rui-cost options was calculated using the average share price over the three day period pniar to the award date (256 7 pence)

The LTIP was introduced in 2014 fotlowing the remuneration review at that time and subsequent approval by shareholders at the
2014 AGM The holding periods were phased in over the first two annual awards made in 2014 and 2015 For awards made in
2016, 100% of any shares that vest will be subject to a two year holding period

The Committee sets targets for the LTIP taking into account external forecasts, internal budgets, business priorities, and nisks
and uncertanties Targets are set to be appropnately stretching in this context, with maximum performance set at a level which

1s considered ta be the delivery of exceptional performance

The awards made in 2015 are subject to performance measures and targets as set out below Awards will be subject to an initial
cumulative adjusted EPS performance gateway equal to that required for threshold performance (45 7 pence) before any

portion of the award canvest

Performance measure Strategic target Welghtings Threshold Maxtmum
Cumulative adjusted EPS 50% 457p 522p
Family S0V 20% 220% 2244%
Total non-NAR growth 10% 5% growth pa 10% growthpa
International Production revenue 10% 5% growth pa 15% growth pa
Online, Pay & Interactive revenue 10% 5% growth pa 18% growth pa

Threshold vesting for all targets s 20% Vesting between threshold and maximum i1s an a straight-line basts

When assessing performance against the Farmuly SOV target, the Committee will also have regard to the health of the man

ITV channel

Payments to past Directors or for loss of office
No payments were made during the year

Consideration of Directors’ remuneration

The Directors who were members of the Committee when matters relating to the Executive Directors’ remuneration for the

year were considered, are set out on page 69

The Commuttee obtamns adwvice from vanous sources in order to ensure it makes informed decistons The Chuef Executive and
Group Finance Director are invited to attend Committee meetings as appropriate No individualis involved in decisions relating

to their own remuneration

The Group HR Director 1s the main internal adviser and provides updates on remuneration, employee relations and human

resource I1ssues
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FIT Remuneration Consultants acted as the independent adviser on remuneration policy and the external remuneration
environment during 2015 and provided advice on benchmarking, shareholder consuttation and long-term incentive
arrangements Total fees for the advice provided to the Committee during the year amounted to £69,799 which were
charged on their normal terms

The Commuttee has formally reviewed the work undertaken by FiT for the Committee and 1s satisfied that the advice they
have recewved has been abjective and independent FIT 1s a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and abides by its
Code of Conduct

Shareholder voting
At the AGM held on 14 May 2015, votes cast by proxy and at the meeting in respect of the Executive Directors’ remuneration
were as follows

Voting for Voting against
Number of Number of
Resclution shares % shares % Total votescast  Voteswithheld
Annual Remuneration Report 2,743,890,234 9323 199,153,902 677 2,943,044,136 7,329,799

The Remuneration Policy was approved at the AGM held on 14 May 2014 for a three year perod Votes cast by proxy and at the
meeting were as follows

Voting for Voting against
Number of Number of
Resolution shares % shares % Total votes cast Votes withheld
Remuneration Policy 2,272,594,109 9604 93,825,641 396 2,366,419,750 366,266,825

Historic performance
The graph below shows the TSR performance of the Company against the FTSE 100 index over the seven year period to
31December 2015
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Chjef Executive remuneration
The tabte below provides a summary of the total remuneration received by the Chief Executive over the tast seven years,
including details of the annual bonus payout and long-term incentive award vesting level in each year

Long-term

incentlve

Totat award

remuneration Bonus % of vesting % of

£000 maximum maximurm

2015 Adam Crozier 3972 96 75
2014 Adam Crozier 4,842 94 75
2013 Adam Crozier 8,399 a3 87
2012 Adam Crozier 2915 91 12
20m Adam Crozier 2158 88 -
2010 Adam Crozier (for the eight month period served) 1,350 95 -
2010 John Cresswell (for the four month penod served) 661 83 -
2008 Michael Grade 2,583 94 -

The long-term Incentive award vesting percentage relates to the proportion of the award that met performance conditions in the relevant financial year

The table below provides details of the percentage change in the base salary, benefits and bonus of the Chief Executive between
31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015 compared to the average percentage change for other employees

% change

% changein *% changein inbonus

Notes base salary benefits payrnent

Chief Executive 1 20 (108) 417
All employees 2.3 409 222 1202

1 Benefits include the cost of medical msurance and car-related benefits
2 As the majonty of employees are based in the UK, overseas employees have not been included
3 The percentage change in benefits s the average change for all employees (excluding the Chief Executive) with any of the same benefits as the Chief Executive

Spend on pay
The table below shows pay for all employees compared to ather key financial indicators
2015 2014

Notes £m £m % Change
Employee pay 1 400 356 124
Ordinary dividend 208 152 368
Special dividend 251 160 569
Employee headcount 2 5,558 4,559 177

1 Employee payis the total remuneration paid to all colieagues across ITV employed on a full-time equivatent basis This 15 shown on a different basis to Last year's
report where the figure consisted of total remuneration paid to all UK PAYE employees through the main UK payroll More detatlis set out on page 109

2 Employee headcount 1s the monthly average number of colleagues across ITV employed on a full-tme equivalent basis

3 Therewere no share buy-backs duning either year

Remuneration Policy in 2016
The following provides details of how the Remuneration Policy will be implemented in 2016

Executive Directors
Salary
Executive Directors’ base salaries were increased with effect from 1January 2016 as follows

1 Janyary 1lanuary

2016 2015
£00Q €000 % Change
Adam Crozier 941 918 25
lan Gnffiths 575 561 25
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Inline with the Remuneration Policy, salary increases for Executive Directors followed those of the wider employee population

Taxable benefits and pension
These will be provided in line with the Remuneration Palicy

Bonus (cash and shares)

Awards will continue to be made in ine with the Remuneratton Policy, with annual ncentives paid to Executive Directors through
the bonus with two-thirds in cash, and one-third deferred into shares under the DSA The proposed performance measures for
awards are detalled below and remain unchanged from 2015 The weightings for 2016 reflect the changes to the bonus
framework outlined in the Charman's letter on page 68 The Board considers the actual targets for 2016 to be commercially
sensitive at this time and we enwvisage including equivalent disclosures to those included in respect of the 2015 bonus in next
year's report

Performance measure Strategic target Weightings
ITV plc EBITA (before exceptional items) 60%
Profit to cash conversion 10%
Cost savings 5%
Individual targets 25%
Share awards

Awards will continue to be made under the LTIP in line with the Remuneration Policy The proposed performance measures and
targets for awards to be made in 2016 are detailed below

Under the LTIP rules, the maximum annual award that can be granted in any financial year 1s 350% of satary This is to allow the
Committee flexibiity when recruiting Executives and to ensure the longewity of the plan There 1s currently no mtention to grant
awards at this level Awards n 2076 will be made to the Executive Directors with a value of 225% of salary, at the same level as
awarded in 2015 and in line with the operaticnal maximum set out M the Remuneration Policy

In order to ensure that Executive Directors are only rewarded if value is delivered to shareholders, awards will be subject to an
ivitial cumulative adjusted EPS performance gateway equal to that required for threshold perforrmance (54 6 pence) If this
gateway 1s achieved, performance will then be assessed by reference to the conditions set out below

Performance measure Strategic target Welghtings Threshaold Maximum
Curnulative adjusted EPS 50% S46p 624p
Family SOV 20% 202% 216%
Total non-NAR 10% 5% growth pa 10% growthpa
international Production revenue 10% 5% growth pa 5% growth pa
Online, Pay & Interactive revenue 10% 5% growth pa 18% growth pa

Threshold vesting for all targets 1s 20% Vesting between threshold and maximum (100%) 1s on a straight-line basis except In
respect of the Farmily SOV measure This has a lower tevel of vesting that occurs at 21 2% (75% vesting) with straight-Line vesting
to that position from each threshold and maximum When assessing performance agamst this target, the Committee will also
have regard to the health of the main ITV channel

Shares that vest will be subject to a two year holding pertod

Malus and Clawback

Malus and clawback provisions may be operated at the discretion of the Committee in respect of any cash and deferred share
elements of the bonus and awards made under the LTIP following the introducticn/amendment of these clauses Under malus,
unvested share awards (including any LTIP shares subject to a post vesting holding period) can be reduced {down to zero if
considered appropriate) or be made subject to additional conditions Clawback allows for repayment of bonuses previously pad
and/or shares previously received fotlowing vesting Malus/clawback can be operated up to four years following the start of the
relevant bonus year for bonuses, and up to six years from the relevant date of grant for LTIP awards The circumstances in which
the operation of these provisions may be considered include matenial misstatement of results, gross misconduct or fraud
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Non-executive Directors
Non-executive Director fees were increased with effect from 1 January 2016 as set out below

1January 1 January
2016 2015
£000 E000 % Change
Charman {all-inclusive fee) 500,000 500,000 -
Board fee 65,054 63,468 25
Additional fees for
Senior Independent Director 25,000 25,000 -
Aucht Committee Chairman 20,000 20,000 -
Audit Committee member 5,371 5,240 25
Remuneration Committee Chairman 20,000 20,000 -
Remuneration Committee member 5,371 5,240 25

Details of Committee membership can be found in the Governance section on page 59
Sir Peter Bazalgette will become Chairman following the AGM to be held on 12 May 2016 His annual all-inclusive fee wilt be £450,000

Directors’ share interests

Shareholding quidelines

The Committee continues to recognise the importance of Executive Directars being shareholders so as to align their interests
with other shareholders Shareholding guidelines are in place, which encourage Executive Directars to build up 2 holding of TV
plc shares based on a percentage of base salary 50% of the requirement must be obtained within three years of appointment
and the remamder within five years

% of salary % of salary

requwedunder held at

shareholding 31 December

guidelines. 2015

Adam Crozier 400 764
lan Griffiths 200 938

The share price used to value the shares as at 31 December 2015 was 276 6 pence

Interests in shares
The figures set out below represent shareholdings in the ordinary share capital of ITV plc beneficially owned by Directors and
therr family interests at 31 December 2015

31 December 3J1December

2015 2014
Peter Bazalgette 13,685 8,657
Adam Crozier 2,261,233 1,699,910
Roger Faxon 15,835 11,145
lan Gnffiths 1,754,554 1,511,922
Mary Harris 6,138 1841
Andy Haste 109,222 99431
Archie Norman 1,350,474 1,297498
John Ormerod 153,898 145,471

There were no changes in Directors’ interests In shares between the end of the financial year and 2 March 2016
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Executive Directors’ non-executive directorships
With speafic approval of the Board, Executive Directors may accept externat appointments as non-executive directors of other
companies and retain any related fees paid to them

During the year the Executive Directors retained fees for the directorships set out below

2075

Company £000
Adam Crozier GA4S ple 61
lan Griffiths DS Smith ple 54

Service contracts and loss of office

Executive Directors

Executive Directors have rolling service contracts that provide for 12 months notice on either side There are no special provisions
that apply in the event of a change of control

Notice petiod from HNotice peried from Compensation provisions

Date of appointmant Nature of contract Company Director far early termsnation

Adam Crozier 26 Apnl 2010 Rolling 12 months 12 months None
lan Gniffiths 9 September 2008 Rolling 12 months 12 months None

A payment in lieu of notice, including base salary, contractual benefits and contractual provision for an income in retirement,
may be made if

- the Company terminates the employment of the Executive Director with immediate effect, or without due notice, or
» termination 1s agreed by mutual consent

The Company may also make a payment in respect of outplacernent costs, legal fees and the cost of any settlement agreement
where appropriate

With the exception of termination for cause or resignation, Executive Directors will be eliqible for a bonus award prorated to
reflect the proportion of the financial year for which they were employed and subject to performance achieved, provided they
have a mimimum of three months service in the bonus year

Non-executive Directors

Each Non-executive Director, ncluding the Chairman, has a contract of service with the Company Non-executive Directors will
serve for an initial term of three years, subject to election and annual re-election by shareholders, unless otherwise terminated
earlier by and at the discretion of erither party upon one month's written notice (12 months for the current Chairman) After the
initial three year term reappointment is on an annual basis

All Non-executive Directors are subject to election or re-election at the AGM in 2016 Detatls of unexpired terms are set out in the
table on page 59

The Directors' service contracts and letters of appaintment are available for inspection at the Company's registered office
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Outstanding interests under share schemes

The following tables provide details of Directors’ Interests in outstanding share awards

Share  Sharepnce
At At price used at date of Dateof
1January Awarded Vested Exerctsed Lapsedn 31December foraward vesting release/exercrse
Notes 2075 Inyear N year nyear nyear 2015 (pence) (pence} N year
Adam Crozier
DSA
27 March 2015 3,38 - 187,761 - - - 197,741 2567
28 March 2014 a 240,534 - - - - 240,534 194 5
28 March 2013 a 346,228 - - - - 346,228 1295
28 March 2012 a 477112 - 477112 477112 - - 886 25486 30 March 2015
28 March 2012 b 238,557 - 238,57 238,557 - - 886 25486 30 March 2015
LTiP
27 March 2015 8 - 804636 - - - 804,636 2567
30 May 2014 103,543 - - - - 1,103,543 1835
PSP
1 March 2013 .6 6246547 - - - - 624647 1211
1 March 2012 c,7 899,347 - 67451 674511 224836 - 818 25486 30 March 2015
28 March 2012 d7 238,557 - 178518 178918 59,639 - 886 25486 30 March 2015
lan Gniffiths
DSA
27 March 2015 3,38 - 112186 - - - 112,186 2567
28 March 2014 El 122,269 - - - - 122,269 194 5
28 March 2013 a 175,891 - - - - 175,891 1295
28 March 2012 a 234,406 = 234406 234,406 - - 886 254 86 30 March 2015
28 March 2012 b 117,204 - M7204 17204 - - 886 254 86 30 March 2015
LTIP
27 March 2015 8 - 491722 - - - 491,722 2567
30 May 2014 674,387 - - - - 674,387 1835
PSP
1 March 2013 [ 342,549 = - - — 342,549 1211
1March 2012 c7 493192 - 369,894 369,894 123,298 - 818 254 86 30 March 2015
28 March 2012 d? 117,204 - 87903 87903 29,3 - 886 25486 30 March 2015
1 a-Compulsory deferral, b - Voluntary deferral, c - Core Award, d - Matching Award
2 No awards are outstanding that have vested but not been exercised
3 There are no performance conditions attaching to the DSA
4 performance conditions that apply to the cutstanding awards under the PSP and LTIP are set out in the table below
5 DSA awards made in 2015 for 2014 performance are mcluded in the remuneration table on page 71
6 PSP performance conditions were met in 2015 (75%) and will become exercisable on 28 March 2016 The indicative value at 31 December 2015 1s included in the

remuneration table on page 71and s descnbed on page 73

m ~

and £287980 under the DSA

PSP performance conditions were met in 2014 (75%) and the value is included in the remuneration table on page 71
The face value of awards granted n the financial year at £2,065,500 and £1262 250 under the LTIP for Adam Crozier and lan Griffiths respectively and E507600

2013 PSP 20%4LTIP 2015LTiP
Threshold Threshold

Strategic target Weighting vesting Threshold Maxsmum | Welghtings  vesting Threshold  Maxsmum Threshold Maximum
Gateway @ 304p 371p 457p
Cumulatve adjusted EPS @ 50% 30% 304p  334p 50% 20% 37p 423p 457p 522p
Family SOV @ 25% 50% 23% +2% 20% 20% 2305% 2351% 22% 22 44%
Annual non-NAR growth O 25% 30% 5% 10% 10% 20% 5% 10% 5% 10%
International Production revenue growth @ 10% 20% 5% 15% 5% 15%
Online, Pay and Interactwe revenue grawth @) 10% 20% 5% 18% 5% 18%

Curmulative adjusted Cumutative adjusted Curmiiative adjusted

EPS years 2013 10 2015 EPS years 201 to 2016 EPS years 2015 to 2017

Vesting between threshold and maximum (100%) on a straight-line basis for all targets apart from SOV whichis measuredon a
proportionate basls for 2013 PSP awards
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Remuneration Policy

The Company's policy on remuneration for Executive and Non-executive Directors was approved by shareholders at the AGM
on 14 May 2014 for a three year penod The full policy can be found on our website

@ www rtvplc com/about/governance

The table below contains the principal elements of the remuneration packages for the Executive Directors

Fixed elements Purpose and Link to strategy Operation Maximum potential payment Performance metrics
Base Reflects the individual's  Reviewed annually and paid There 1sno maximum None, although
salary skills, responsibilities monthly in cash salary increase However,  overailindividual

and experience Consideration is typically given ordinarity salary increases  and business

will be inline with the performance 15
Supports the to arange of factors when

average mcrease awarded  considered when
recrutment and determining salary levels, 10 other emplovees in setting and
retention of Executive including proy g

Directors of the calibre
required to deliver

the business strategy
within the competitive
media market

» Personal and Company-wide
performance

- Typical pay levelsin relevant
markets for each Executive
whilst recognising the need

the Company reviewing salanes

Increases may be made
above this level to take
account of indwiduat
arcumstances, which

may include
for an appropnate prermum
to attract and retainsuperror - Increase In size ar
talent, balanced against scope of the role or
the need to provide a responsibility
cost-effective overall + increase toreflect the
remuneration package individual’s development
» The wider employee payreview  and performance inrole
Provision for Toprovide competitive  Executives canchoose to The maximum None
anincomein post-retrement benefits partiopate in the ITV defined contributions or cash
retirement  orcashallowance as contribution scheme, receive allowances for the
a framework to save a cash allowance or receive Executive Directors
for retrement payments mto a personal are 25% of base salary
Supports the pension or a combination
thereof
recruitment and
retention of Executive Contributions are setas a
Directorsof thecalibre  percentage of base salary
required to deliver
the business strategy Post-retirement benefits do
not form part of the base
within the competitive
salary for the purposes of
media market
determining incentives
Benefits Ensures the overall The Company provides a range Set at a level which the None

package 1s competitive
and provides financiat
protection for employees
and thew families

of market competitive benefits
including travel-related benefits,
private medical insurance and
other insurance benefits

Additional benefits may

also be prowvided incertain
circurmnstances, If required for
bustness need For example
(but not imuted to), relocation
expenses, housing allowance
and education support

Committee considers
to be appropriately
positioned taking mto
account typical market
levels for comparable
roles, indnidual
crcumstances and

the overall cost to

the business
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Variable elements  Purpose and link to strategy Operath Maximum potertal payment Performance metrics
Annual Bonus Incentivises Executives Measures and targets are set The maximum bonus Performance
Scheme and colleagues to annually based on business opportunity for any measures and targets
(Bonus)and  achieve key strategic plans at the start of the Executive Director will areset by the
Deferred outcomes onan financial year and pay-out not exceed 200% Committee each year
Share Award annualbasis levels are determined by the of salary based on corporate
Plan (DSA) Focus on key financial Committee following the The current bonus objectives closely

year-end based on performance linked to the
metrics and objectives against oblectives opportunities are 180% strateqic pronties
to deliver the business 9 ) of salary for Adam and :nglwglual
strategy Paid once the results have Crozier and 165% of

P fith contributions

The element been audited Annuat bonus salary for lan Griffiths

calculations that are based The majerity of the
compulsorly deferred Increases above the

on the financial results for the bonus opportunity
into shares rewards current opportunities, up

year are audited by Internal will be based on the
delivery of sustamned to the maximum Lirmut,

Audit and reviewed by the corporate and
long-term perfarmance, may be made to take

Audit Committee before financial measures
provides algnment consideration by the account of indmidual
with the sharehotder Committee v crcumstances, which The remainder of the
experience and may include banus will be based on
supports the retention The Committee has the performance against

» Increase in size or

of executives discretion to amend the bonus scope of the role individual objectives

pay-out should any formulaic or responsibility Up to 20% of

assessment of performance not _ Increase toreflect the maximum

reflect a batanced view of the ndvidual’ 1L

overall business performance € InCNIdUa s opportunity wi

for the vear development and berecewved for

¥ performance in threshold

Two-thirds of the bonus is their rote performance

delivered in cash and one-third

15 deferred into shares under the

DSA for a period of three years

During the deferral penod

share awards may be reduced

or cancelled incertain

crcumstances Further detail

15 provided on our website

www Itvplc com/governance

Dwvidends are paid to

participants on the deferred

shares during the deferral

period
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Variable elements  Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum potential payment Perfarmance metrics
New LTIP Incentivises Executives Awards are made annually Our current operational  Perfarmance 1s
to deliver performance  with vesting dependent on policy 1s to make measured against
which is aligned to business performance during awards of 225% of salary  corporate targets
the business strateqgy the performance period The each year closely inked to the
over the longer term performance period will be Under the new LTIP rules, Company's financial
and the creation of three years, other than in h | and strateqic priorities
shareholder value exceptional circurmstances the maximum annua
award that may be Performance metrics
Actsasaretentiontool  The Committeehasdiscretion  granted inanyfinancial  are
1o retain the Executives  to amend the final vesting year 1s 350% of salary
+ Adjusted EPS
required to deliver the tevel should any formulaic
The Committee would « Non-NAR and its
business strategy assessment of performance
consult with components
not reflect a balanced view
shareholders if it was « Viewing
of the business performance
d considering Increasing performance
uring the perfarmance period
awards above the
LTIP awards will vest
Awards will be required to be current operational
based on financial
held for an additional penaod of  policy erformance
two years after the end of the P
performance period Thisis A gateway condition
called the holding penod and must be achieved
will be phased in during 2014 before any portion
and 2015 of the award vests
Dwidends are earned on Each performance
deferred shares during the metric wilt operate
holding penod independently
During the holding penod The performance
awards may be reduced or range will be
cancelledin certain determimed for each
crcumstances Further detail metric The proportion
1s provided on our website of each element of the
www 1tvplc com/governance award that will vest for
threshold performance
against a metric will
be 20%
SAYE Provides all Executive Cirectors are entitled  Participation imits are None

employees, including
Executive Directors,
the opportunity to
voluntarily invest in
Company shares

to participate in the plan on the
same basis as other employees

as per the rules of the
plan and i accordance
with HMRC Limits
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The table below summarises the mam elements of remuneration for Non-executive Directors

Component

Approach of the Company

Chairman fees

The Committee determines the fees of the Chairman and sets the fees at a level that 1s considered
to be appropnate, taking into account the size and complexity of the business and the expected time
commitrment and contribution of the role

The fee 15 a fixed annual fee of which 25% (40% for the current Chawrman), after statutory deductions,
1s used to acquire shares in the Company The shares are purchased quarterly and held by a nominee
until retirernent from the Board

Non-executive fees

The Board determines the fees of the Non-executive Directors and sets the fees at a level that s
considered to be appropriate, taking into account the size and complexity of the business and the
expected time commitment and contnbution of the role

Fees are structured as a basic fee with additionat fees payable for membership and/or chairmanship
of a committee or other additional responsibilities

The Non-executive Directors are required to use 25% of thetr annual fees, after statutory deductions,
to acquire shares in the Company The shares are purchased quarterly and held by a nominee on ther
behalf until they retire from the Board

Benefits

Additional benefits may also be provided in certain aircumstances, If required for business purposes
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present therr Annual Report and the audited consolidated and parent company financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2015 The Directors' Report required under the Companies Act 2006 comprises this report, the entire
Governance section including the Annual Remuneration Report, and the Strateqgic Repart, all of which are ncorporated by
reference and deemed to form part of thisreport

Articles of Assaciation
Unless expressly specified to the contrary, the Articles of Assaciation may only be amended by special resolution of the
shareholders The Articles are available on our website

&) www itvple com/about/governance

Auditor

During the year the Audit Committee considered the performance and audit fees of the external auditor, and the level of
non-audit work undertaken They recommended to the Board that a resolution for the reappomtment of KPMGLLP for a
further year as the Company's auditor be proposed to shareholders at the AGM In May 2016

Change of control
No person holds securities in the Company carrying special nghts with regard to control of the Company

All of the Company’s share schemes contain provisions relating to a change of control Outstanding awards and options would
normally vest and become exercisable on a change of control, subject to the satisfaction of any performance conditions and
proration for time where appropriate

Certain of the Group’s bonds/borrowing faclities have change of control clauses whereby the issuer can require ITV to repay/
redeem bonds in the event of a change of control The Company is not aware of any other significant agreemenits to whichit
I1s party that take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the Company

Directors
Appointments, A table showing Directors who served in the year can be found on page 59 Biographies for Directors currently
in office can be found on pages 54 and 55

Directors are appointed for an initial three year period and annually thereafter During the year Roger Faxon, Andy Haste, Archie
Norman and John Ormerod were re-appointed for a further 12 month penod In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code, each Director witl retire and submit himself or herself for election or re-election at the AGM on 12 May 2016

Detaill on compensation for loss of office can be found in the Annual Remuneration Report on page 79

Conflicts of interest. The Board has delegated the authensation of conflicts to the Nomination Committee and has adopted
a Conflicts of Interest Policy The Beard has considered in detail the current external appamtments of the Directors which may
give rse to a situational conflict and has authonised potential conflicts where appropriate This authorisation can be reviewed
at any time but will always be subject to annual review The Board 15 confident that these procedures operate effectively

Contracts of significance: No Director had any interest in any contract with the Company or its subsidiary undertakings

Powers The powers of the Directors are set out in the Articles of Association The Articles and a schedule of Matters Reserved
for the Board can be found on our website

@ www itvplc com/about/governance
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Dividends
The Board has proposed a final dimdend and a special dwvidend for the year ended 31 December 2015 Details of these and other
dwvidends paid for the year are as follows

2015 20%
Intertm dividend 19p 14p
Final dwvidend 41 33p
Total ordinary dividend 60p 47p
Special dnvidend 10 0p 625p
Totat diwidend payment 16 Op 1095p

The finat dividend and special dividend for 2015 will be paid an 27 May 2016 to shareholders on the register on 29 April 2016
The ex dwvidend date s 28 April 2016

Employees
Disability: The Company gives full and fair consideration to the employment of people with disabilities
in accordance with the Equality Act 2010 This is reflected inan award from the Department for Work and
Pensions of a Two Ticks Disability Symbol. In the event of a colleague becoming disabled, it 1s the Company’s
poticy, wherever possible, to support the individual to continue their employment or be considered for other
open positions within the business

The Company's employment and recruitment policy 1s based on non-discrimination and equal opportunities We are committed
to ensuring that all training, career development and promotional opporturities are accessible and inclusive to all and indwiduals
with a disability are afforded the same career apportunities for growth and progression

The Company provides taillored measures to ensure employees are fully supported and that reasonable

adustments are made, training 1s provided and resource materials are accessible The Company continues
to review Its policies and practices to build confidence around the disability agenda, to attract, develop and retain those with a
disability, both onand off screen The Company is also able to draw on its in-house service SignPost for additional support and
guidance around access and inclusion for particular audiences

The Company's commitment around the disability agenda extends beyond our legal obligations and partners with a variety of
external specialists to drive best practice For a comprehensive outline of our activity visit our Corporate Responsibility website

(® www rtvresponsibility com

Diversity: Diversity within the organisation is integral to achieving our business aims Reflecting the demographics of our
customers and understanding therr needs ensures that our brand, programmes and services are accessible, inclusive and have
wide appeal Further information can be found on our Corporate Responsibility website

@ www itvresponsibility com

Engagement. Attracting and retaming talent 1s cntical to our success 1t1s therefore in our interest to ensure that we provide
the appropriate rewards and opportunities for development so that colleagues feel engaged with the Company

In 2015 the Company carried out an engagement campaign consisting of a senes of Management Board led roadshows across
the business This gave colleagues an opportunity to feed back their thoughts and concerns about the business Engagement
was reinforced through forums such as the intranet, regular soft and hard-copy newsletters and briefings between management
and their teams These channels enabled colleagues to understand the financial and economic factors affecting the Company’s
performance, how therr role contributed towards the execution of the strategy and how they could benefit from Company
success through involvernent in employee share schermes and information on their nghts and benefits
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To further promote colteague engagement, the Company has introduced a network of Ambassadors who have been nominated
and elected by therr colteagues to represent each part of the business These Ambassadors share the views of colleagues with
the business, enabling us to understand ways to make ITV a better place to work The Ambassadors also keep colleagues up to
date with what 1s going on across the business

We have continued to measure and listen to colleagues through employee surveys A short survey carried out at the end of 2015
revealed that 93% of colleagues were proud to work for ITV, with the total engagement score of 89 33% (90% in 2014), 6% higher
than the benchmark response

Remuneration: When the Company reviews pay it takes a number of factors into cansideration, including the need to stay
competitive Our focus on cash and costs remains incredibly important for the future health of cur business We need to balance
our business and financial commitments with our cantinuing INvestment in our programming and people

The Company continues to be committed to ensuring colleagues earn at least the Living Wage or greater Where appropriate
we have agreed additional increases On 1 January 2016, all eligible colleagues received a pay increase of 3 0% (2015 2 2%),
with all those on a full-time equivalent basic salary of £100,000 or above receiving 2 5%

In addition a bonus arrangement extends to all our colleagues, providing a comprehensive incentive framework which rewards
everybody when the Company 1s successful The all-colleague bonus award for 2015 was paid in full at £1,500 (2014 pard in full
at £1,200)

The Company also operates a successful and popular all-employee Save As You Earn scheme that encourages voluntary
investment in Company shares and a package of voluntary benefits, which provides valuable cost savings for both colleagues
and the Company

information about remuneration far the Directors 1s Included in the Annual Remuneration Report on pages 68 to 80
Successton planning: When planning succession within the Company consideration is given to emergency cover together with

medium and long-term succession and this is reviewed annually by the Nomination Commuttee There 1s particular emphasis on
growing the internal leadership pipeline through the launch of the following key programmes

Executive Development Programme - Next generation potential Board successors, giving them an oppartunity 1o develop
thewr management potental and gain a greater understanding of the business

Developing Future Leaders Programme - Belegates selected from across the business identified as a result of the
performance review process Content includes understanding what it means to be a leader at ITV, how to manage
performance effectively, coaching skills and change management

A comprehensive portfolio of development courses and workshops is in place for all colleagues which address common
development needs
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Greenhouse Gas emissions
The Company s required to report annually on the quantity of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions in tonnes emitted as aresult
of actvities for which it 1s responsible

All data for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 1s disclosed below for direct and indrrect {etectricity consumption)
emissions More information on our environmental impacts and how we aim to make a positive difference can be found on our
Corporate Responsibility website

(@ www rtvresponsibility com

indicator 2015 20n4
Total gross CO.e emissions 31,196 {tCO.e) 40,219 (tCO,e)
Scope 1 Direct emissions 8,294 ({t{0.e) 11,180 (tCO.e)
Scope 2 Indirect emissions 22,902 {tCO,e) 29,039 (tCO,e)
Total revenue £3,383m £2,956m
Emissions per unit/Em revenue 9 2 (tCOe) 13 6 (tCO;e)

Source- Utityx analysis of ITV data

The emissions data covers our global properties but not our US acquisitions The Latest conversion factors specified in Defra and DECC s 2015 guidance were used to
calculate emissions in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalents 35% of our data set 15 based an estimated data Estimates are calculated from previous consumption
trends and published benchmarks, The 2014 totalis 19 (t CO,e) whichis higher than reported last year due to additonal data recewved

Health and safety

The heaith and safety of our colteagues, contractors and visitors I1s always a high priority The significant loss of human Ufe as
the result of a major inoident has been identified as a specific risk to the organisation The Company's praofessional Health and
Safety team continue to use a management system that meets the specific risk prafile of the business which 1s communicated
across the business This i1s supported by a comprehensive training programme and direct support from the Health and

Safety team

Health and safety performance information 1s reported to the Board monthly and briefings were held in 2015 for the
Management and Studios Boards In 2015 a full health and safety compliance review was undertaken and work was done with
external production compantes to develop a madel for compliance with the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations
2015 appropriate for a television production business Wark at height continues to be an area of focus for us as our reporting
indicates this 1s an ongoing 1ssue for productions

Performance indicators - UK

2015 2014
Nan Nan
Staff Staff Total Stalf Staff Total
Lost time acadents reported under RIDDOR? 5 7 12 8 3 m
Specified injuries reported under RIDDOR? 1 7 8 4 2 5

1 Thisindicates acaidents that have led to people being unable to undertake their normal role for seven days or tonger

2 Specified mjunes in this context means injunies such as broken bones (not fingers or toes), amputation serous burns, loss of consciousness caused by a head
Inury or iInpatient hospitabisation These are reported if they were caused by our work activity

3 Reported data excludes Mammoth, Twofour and Tatpa as these were not integrated into the ITV Heatth and Safety Management System in the year ended
31December 2015

The majonty of these acadents occurred in the production business Given the risk profile of production content and the increase

in the number of productions last year, the increase in accidents does not indicate any change in overall safety performance
within the business
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Performance indicators - international

Australia Framce Germany USA Finland Norway Sweden Denmark

Serious injuries sustamed at work by staff or
people directly involved in our activities’ o 0 1 1 #] ¢] 0 0

1 We have used the UK definibon of a specific iIjury under RIDDOR to define a senous injury Due to differing local legislative reparting requirements figures for
lost ume acadents have not yet been integrated into the ITV Health and Safety Management Systemn

Insurance and indemnities
The Company mamtans bability insurance for its Directors and officers that 1s renewed on an annual basis The Company has also
entered into deeds of Indemnity with its Directors A copy of the iIndemnity can be found on our website

(& www itvplc.com/about/governance

The Company aperates a pension scheme that provides retirement and death benefits for colleagues Qualifying pension
scheme indemnity provisions, as defined in Section 235 of the Companies Act 2006, were in force for the financial year ended
31December 2015 and remain in force for the benefit of each of the directors of ITV Pension Scheme Limited These indemnity
prowvisions cover, to the extent perrmitted by law, certain losses or liabibities incurred as a director of ITV Pension Scheme Limited

For further iInformation about pensions is set out on page 45 and Innote 37 onpage 133

Listing rule 9.8.4 disclosures
There are no disclosures to be made other than that the trustee of the EBT waved ther nghts to recerve dwidends on shares
held by them which do not relate to restricted shares held under the ITV Deferred Share Award Plan

Political contributions

It 1s the Company's palicy not ta make cash contnbutions to any political party However, within the normal activities of the
Company's national and regional news-gathering operations there may be occasions when an activity might falt within the
broader definition of ‘political expenditure’ contained within the Companies Act 2006 Shareholder authority for such expenditure
was given at the 2015 AGM However, during 2015 the Group made no payments falling within this definition (2074 nil)

Repoart and Accounts disclosures

Financial nsk management The Directors have carried out a robust assessment of the principal nsks facing the Company,
including in relation to its business model, future perfarmance, solvency and iquidity Details of our nsks and associated
mitigations together with details of our approach to nisk management are set out on page 46 to 51

Note &4 3 to the accounts on page 144 gives details of the Group's financial risk management policies and related exposures
This note 1s incorporated by reference and deemed to form part of this report

Future developments Our strategy i1s set out in the Strategic Report

Golng concern The going concern statement 1s set out on page 103 This note s ncorporated by reference and deemed to form
part of thisreport

Post balance sheet events On 19 February 2016 Ministerial approval was recewved and all other conditions confirmed as
satisfied for the acquisition of 100% of UTV Limited Completion taok place on Monday 29 February 2016

Research and Development. Relevant information is set out in the Strategic Report
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Share capital
Issued- At the date of this report there were 4,025,409194 ordinary shares of 10 pence each inissue, all of which are fuily pard up
and quoted on the London Stock Exchange

Purchase of own shares The Directors have the authority to purchase up to 402 5 millon of the Company's ordinary shares
The authonty remains valid until the AGM 1in 2016 or 12 August 2016, If earlier

Restricttons There are no restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares in the capstal of the Company other than those which
may be imposed by law from time to time In accordance with the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTRs), certain employees
are required to seek approval to deal nITV shares The Company is not aware of any agreements between shareholders that
may result in restrictions on the transfer of secunties and/or voting nghts

Rights The nghts attaching to the Campany’s ordinary shares are set out in the Articles of Association A copy of the Articles can
be found on our website

(8 www rtvplc com/about/governance

Share Schemes Details of employee share schemes are set out in note 4 7 The Cormpany has a discretionary employees’
benefit trust (EBT) funded by loans to acquire shares for the potential benefit of employees Details of shares held by the EBT
at 31 December 2015 are set out on page 154 During the year shares have beenreleased from the EBT inrespect of share
schemes for employees The trustee of the EBT has the power to exercise all voting rights in relation to any investment
(including ordinary shares) held within the EBT

Substantial shareholders
Information regarding interests in voting rights provided to the Company pursuant to the DTRs 1s published on a Regutatory
Information Service and on the Company's website

As at 2 March 2016, the information in the table below had been received, in accordance with DTRS5, from hotders of notifiable
nterests (voting rights) in the Company's 1Issued share capital. It should be noted that these holdings are likely to have changed
since notified to the Company However, notification of any change i1s not required until the next applicable threshold 1s crossed

Nature of

Shares % holding

Liberty Global Incorporated Limited 398,515,510 990 Dwect
FMRLLC 309,919,900 769 Indirect
Blackrock Inc 195,504,921 6 24 Indirect

The Campany received separate notifications from The Goldman Sachs Group Inc (Goldman Sachs) on various dates dunng the course of 2015 and, most recently,
on 2 February 2016 nrespect of aninterestin 20 01% of the Company s issued share capital Of this 0 05% retated to voting nghts over the Company's shares
which are held indirec tly wath a further 0 01% held by way of a physicat stock loan and 19 96% beeng represented by certain financial instruments with similar
economic effect to the Company s ordinary shares The Company understands that Goldman Sachs initially subrmitted a notificationin respect of its interest as a
result of changes to the DTRs, specifically 51and 5 3 which took effect on 26 Novernber 2015 rather than as aresult of any change in the interests of Goldman
Sachs in the Company s issued share capital,

The number of shares 1s based on announcements made by each relevant shareholder using the Company's ssued share capital
at that date
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Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors consider that the Annual
Report and Accounts, taken as a whole,
Is fatr, balanced and understandable
and provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the
Company’s and the Group's position
and performance, business model

and strategy

Each of the Directors, whose names and
functions are sted on pages 54 and 55,
confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge

the Group accounts, which have been
prepared in accordance with [FRSs as
adopted by the EL}, give a true and far
view of the assets, Liabilities, financial
position and profit of the Group, and
- the Directars’ Report includes a far
review of the development and
performance of the business and the
positton of the Group, together with
a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that it faces

In accordance with Section 418 of the
Compantes Act 2006, the Directors
confirm that, so far as they are each
aware, there s no relevant audit
information of which the Company's
auditor 1s unaware, and each Director
has taken all steps that they ought to
have taken as a Director inorder to
make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish
that the Company's auditor 1s aware
of that information

The Beard has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s systems
of internal controls for the year ended
310ecember 2015 In the opinion of

the Board, the Company has complied
with the internal control requirements
of the UK Corporate Governance Code
throughout the year, maintaining

an ongoing process for identifying,
evaluating, and mirumising risk

[ The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group
and parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and requlations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent company
financial statements for each financiat year Under that law they are required
to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with [FRSs as adopted
by the EU and applicabte law and have elected to prepare the parent company
financial staterments in accordance with UK Accounting Standards

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financsal statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and parent company and of their profit or loss for that period

In prepanng each of the Group and parent company financial statements,

the Directors are required

+ toselect suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

« tomake judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

- for the Group financial statements, to state whether they have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

« for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK
Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the parent company financial statements, and

« toprepare the financial statements on the going concern basis untess it is
inapprapriate to presume that the Group and the parent company will
continue In business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explain the parent company's transactions and disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent
company and enabte them to ensure that its financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006 They have generalresponsibility for taking such steps
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other rrregulanties

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible
for preparing a Strateqic Report, Directors’ Report, Annual Remuneration
Report and Corporate Governance Statement that comply with that law
and those requlations

The Directors are responsible for the mamntenance and integnty of the corporate
and financial nformation included on the Company's website Legislationin the
UK governing the preparation and dissermination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions

By order of the Board

Andrew Garard

Company Secretary

2 March 2016

ITV plc

Registered number 4967001

ITV plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 91




Financial Statements

Financial Statements

In this section The financial statements have been presented in a style that attempts to make them less
complex and more relevant to shareholders. We have grouped the note disclosures into five
sections: 'Basis of Preparation’, ‘Results for the Year','Operating Assets and Liabilities’, ‘Capital
Structure and Financing Costs' and ‘Other Notes’ Each section sets out the accounting policies
applied in producing the relevant notes, along with details of any key judgements and estimates
used. The purpose of this format is to provide readers with a clearer understanding of what drives
financial performance of the Group The aim of the text in boxes is to provide commentary on
each section, or note, in plain English

Keepingit Notes to the financial statements provide information required by statute, accounting standards
simple or Listing Rules to explain a particular feature of the financial statements The notes which follow
will also provide explanations and additional disclosure te assist readers’ understanding and
interpretation of the Annual Report and the financial staterments

Contents

independent Audltor’s Report to the Members of ITV plc Only 93
Primary Statements 97
Consolidated Income Statement 97
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 98
Consolidated Statement of Financial Pasition 99
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 100
Consolldated Statement of Cash Flows 102
Sectlon 1 Basns of Preparation 103
Section 2 Results for the Year 106
21 Profit before tax 106
2 2 Exceptional items m
23 Taxation T2
2 4 Earnmgs per share 15
Sectnon 3 Operating Assets and Llabllntles 17
31 Working capital 17
3 2 Property, plant and eguipment 121
3 3 Intangible assets 123
34 Acquisitions 128
35 Investments 131
36 Provisions 131
37 Pensmns 133
Section 4 Capital Structure and Financing Costs 140
41 Net cash/{debt) 140
42 Borrowings and finance leases 142
4 3 Managing market risks derivative financial instrurments 144
4 4 Net financing costs 148
45 Fair value bierarchy 149
46 Equity 151
47 Share- based compensatlon 152
Section 5 Other Notes 154
51 Related party transactions 154
52 Contingent lrabdities 155
5 3 Subsequent events 155
54 Subsidiaries except from audit 156
ITV plc Company Flnanclal Statements 157
Notes to the ITV plc Company Fmanclal Statements 159
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P Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of ITV plc Only

Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of ITV plc Only

Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit

1. Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of [TV plc for the year ended 31 December 2015 set out on pages 97 to 170
In our opinion

- The financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent company's affairs as at
31Decermnber 2015 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended,

» The Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union,

- The parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Accounting Standards, including
FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework, and

« The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, and, as regards
the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

2. Our assessment of risks of material misstatement
In arnving at our audit opinion above on the financial statements the risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect
on our audht, were as follows

The Audit Committee's consideration of these significant risks 1s set out in the Audit Commmittee Repart on pages 62 to 67

The risk Our response

Revenue recognition and contractual arrangements (see note 2 1)
The Group’s revenue cansists primanty of advertising, programme production and programme rights

Net Advertising Revenue (*NAR') £1,719 msllion Our procedures included
(2074 £1,629 million)

The majority of ITV's advertising revenue (NAR) 1s subject to
regulation under Ofcomy's Contract Rights Renewal system
('CRR"} CRRworks by ensuring that the annual share of TV
advertising that will be placed with ITV by each advertising
agency can change in relation to the viewing figures for
commercial television that it delivers The CRR system, the
pricing of the annual contractual arrangements with advertising
agencies and the details of each advertising campaign, together
with the related processes and controls, are complex and
involve estimation

« Testing of controls, assisted by our own IT specialists, including
those over input of individual campaigns’ terms and pricing,
comparison of those terms and pricing data against the related
contracts with advertising agencies, bnkage to transmission/viewer
data, and segregation of duties

Testing management's review controls over contract approval,
periodic deal reconcibiations and the related deal debt adjustment
Analysing revenue based on our industry knowledge and external
market data, following up variances and

Chaltenging the year-end deal debt position based on comparison
with customers’ correspondence and agreed terms of business

In particular, the pricing mechanism means 1t 15 possible for a
difference to anse between the price paid for an advertising
campaign and the value it delivered, mainly as a result of the
actual viewing figures being different from the agreed level
Where the Group has over-delivered viewers this 1s referred to
as a'deal credit’, or a ‘deal debt’ where delivery has fallen short
Rather than the price paid for that campaign being adjusted,
these differences are noted for each agency and then taken
account of when agreeing either future campaigns or the
annual contract A net deal debt position with an agency s
recorded InITV's accounts, as a babibity Net deal credit positions
are not recognised

Woe also assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosures inrespect
of the accounting policies on revenue recognition set out in note 21

NAR 15 therefore considered a significant risk due to

« The number and complexity of contractual agreements with
advertising agencies

+ The complexity of the systems and processes of control used
to record revenue and

« The level of estimation involved in determining the deal debt
Liabibity at the period end
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the
Members of ITV plc Only continued

The risk

Our response

Other revenue streams ("Non-NAR revenue’) £1,253 million
(2014 £361million)

Non-NAR revenue includes revenue from, programme
production, the sale of programme rights, transmission supply
arrangements and the Online, Pay & Interactive division within
the Broadcast segment

Recognition of non-NAR revenue I1s driven by the specific terms
of the related contracts It s considered to be ansk as the terms
of the contracts are vared and can be complex, with the result
that accounting for the revenue generated in any given period
can require individual consideration

Qur procedures included

« Testing of controls over the timing of revenue recognition

We considered the Group's revenue recognmition policies against
the relevant accounting standards and

For a sample of contracts entered into during the year, we tested
whether revenue had been recognised in accordance with the
contractual terms in the correct accounting peniod, given the
requirements of the relevant accounting standard

Acquisition accounting Talpa Media BV (initial consideration £2

38 million and goodwill anising £41 million {see notes 3 3 and

34) (2014 Leftfield Entertainment imtial consideration £209 million and goadwill arising €139 mitbion)

[TV acquired 100% of Talpa Media on 30 April 2015 The
acquisition agreement requires the seller to provide services
to ITV for a period of seven years, n order to quabfy for
performance-based payments after two, five and seven years
Further, a portion of the initial consideration is repayable if the
seller ceases to provide services for a two year period after
acquisition Accounting for the Talpa acquisitions considered
asignificant risk as a result of the following factors

- The Groupis required to make a number of jJudgements,
which focus on, but are not imited to assessment of whether
the performance-related consideration arrangements are
acguisition consideration or post-acquisition remuneration,
identification of intangible assets acquired and assessment
of fair value of the acquired assets and babibities and
In determining the fair value of the acquired intangible assets
and the contingent consideration and remuneration payable,
medium term cashflow forecasts have been prepared by ITV
The inherent uncertanty involved in forecasting future cash
flows and the judgement involved in the selection of the
appropnate discount rate makes this a key area of focus

Qur procedures included

- Inspecting the terms of the acquisition contracts to determine
whether the accounting treatment of performance-related
consideration arrangements applied s appropriate based on the
criteria of the relevant accounting standards

- Using cur own valuation specialists to assist usin assessing both
the appropriateness of the identified intangibles, against the
cnitena of the relevant accounting standards, and the
appropriateness of the discount rates

- Comparing the Group's forecast revenue growth and margins
assumptions to our own assessments, based on our industry
knowtedge, inrelation to key inputs such as the useful bves of,
and likelihood of revenue from, existing forrmats and

« Understanding of the principies applred by the Group in
determining the acquisition date fair values for the remaining
assets and Labilities and agreeing significant adjustments to
supporting docurnentation, such as underlying contracts and
vendor due diligence reports

We also considered the adequacy of the Group's disclosures in
respect of the acquisition and the related judgments innote 3 4

Defined benefit pension schemes £176 milhon (2014 £346 mitlion) (see note 3 7)

Significant estimates are made in valuing the Group’s post-
retirement defined benefit schemes

The key valuation assumptions are set gut innote 3 7 n the
‘Assumptions’ section When making these assumptions the
Group takesindependent actuarial advice relating to their
appropriateness

The valuation is considered to be a significant risk as, given
the quantum of the pension deficit, smatl changes in the
assumptions can have a matenal financialimpact on the Group

In this area our procedures included challenging the key assumptions
applied in determining the Group’s net defrait, being the discount
rate, iInflation rate and mortality/life expectancy, with the support
of our own actuanal specialists This included a comparison of these
key assumptions against externally derived data

We also considered the adequacy of the group's disctosures in respect
of the sensitivity of the deficits to these assumptions in note 37
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The resk Cur response

Royaity accruals £69 million {2014 £70 million} (see note 31 5}

The Group pays royalties directly to artists or producers for Among other procedures, we tested manual controls over the
content used The contractual terms of these agreements are recording of royalty costs and the approval of royalty payments

varied and complex Were-performed a sample of the Group’s annual royalty calcutations,

The related IT systems can only address part of the processing, agreeing key inputs to contracts and the underlying system data
necessitating a significant manual element in calculating

royalty accruals recorded by the Group In addition, for a sample of programs, we performed analytical

precedures, comparing the royalty costs recorded in the finanaial
Overall the process 1s complex and the volume and varnety of statements to our expectation using parttcipation percentages from
contracts being interpreted and accounted for combined with the underlying contracts, ang following up variances

the manual nature of the process increases the nsk of error

3. Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit
The materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was set at £29 million (2014 £25 million), determined with
reference to a benchmark of Group profit before tax, of which it represents 4 6% (2014 41%)

We reported to the Audit Committee any corrected or unicorrected identified misstaternents exceeding £1 5 million
(2014 £1 rullion), in addition to other identified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds

The Group's principat operations are in the United Kingdom and only the core UK operations (comprising Broadcast and Online,
the UK Studios, Global Entertamment and the central functions) are scoped in for Group audit purposes The Group audit team
performed the audit of the core UK operations as if they were a single aggregated set of financial information using materiality
of £25 million (2014 £23 millior) The Group audit team performed all of the audit procedures over the nisks related to the
acquisition of Talpa Media

Although not in-scope for Group reporting purposes, In agreement with the Audit Committee, speaified audit procedures were
also performed on two entities i the US and one entity in the Netherlands by component auditors simultaneously with the audit
of the Group and UK operations The Group audit team set the materiality for specified audit procedures at £5 million for all
components Together the above audit and these specified audit procedures covered 92% (2014 96%) of total Group revenue,
94% (2014 99%) of Group profit before taxation,and 88% (2014 99%) of total Group assets

4. Qur opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 is unmodified
In our opirion

- The part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited has been property prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006 and

- The information given n the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared s consistent with the financial statements
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Members of ITV plc Only continued

5. We have nothing to report on the disclosures of principal risks
Based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit, we have nothing material to add or draw attention ton relation to

- The Directors’ statement of long term viability on page 47, concerning the pnncipal risks, their management, and, based on that,
the Directors' assessment and expectations of the Group’s continuing in eperation aver the three years to 31 December 2018 or
» The disclosures in note 1 of the financal statements concerning the use of the going concern basis of accounting

6. We have nothing to report in respect of the matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under ISAs (UK and Ireland) we are required to report to you If, based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit, we have
identified other information in the Annual Report that contains a materal inconsistency with either that knowledge or the
financial statements, a matenal misstatement of fact, or that 1s otherwise misleading

In particular, we are required to report to youf

» We have identified materiat iInconsistencies between the knowledge we acquired during our audit and the Directors' statement
that they consider that the Annual Report and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance, business model and
strategy or

» The Audit Conmittee Report does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the Audit Comrmittee

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opirion

- Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
recewved from branches not visited by us or

+ The parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns or

+ Certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made or

» We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

- The Directors’ statements, set out on pages 91and 47, in relation to going concern and longer-term wviability and
« The part of the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 58 to 61relating to the Company's compliance with the eleven
provisions of the 2014 UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review

We have nothing to report nrespect of the above responsibilities

Scope and responsibilities

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 91, the Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair iew A description of the scope of

an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financiat Reporting Counci's website at www frc org.uk/auditscopeukprivate
This report 1s made solely to the Company's members as a body and is subject to important explanations and disclaimers
regarding our responsibilities, published on our website at www kpmg.com/uk/auditscopeukco2014a, which are incorporated
into this report as if set out in full and should be read to provide an understanding of the purpose of this report, the work we

have undertaken and the basis of our opinions

Mark Summerfield (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London

E14 5GL

2 March 2016
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Consolidated Income Statement

2015 200
For the year ended 31 December Note Em £m
Revenue 21 2,972 2,590
Operating costs (2,306) (1,939)
Operating profit 666 651
Presented as
Earnings before interest, tax, amortisation (EBITA) before exceptional items 21 842 730
Operating exceptional items 22 {109) (12
Amortisation of intangible assets 33 {67) {67)
Operating profit 666 657
Fiancing income a4 6 22
Financing costs 44 (37) {73)
Net financing costs 44 (31 (51)
Gan on sale of non-current assets {exceptional items) 22 5 4
Gatn on sale of subsidiaries and investments {exceptional items) 22 1 L
Profit before tax 641 605
Taxation 23 {139) (132)
Profit for the year 502 473
Profit attnbutable to-
Owners of the Company 495 466
Non-controlling interests 466 7 7
Profit for the year 502 473
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share 24 12 4p 116p
Diluted earnings per share 24 12 3p 1 5p
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

2015 201
For the year ended 31 Decemnber Note Em £m
Profit for the year 502 473
Other comprehensive income
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Revaluation of available for sale financial assets 464 {1) 3
Net loss on cash flow hedges 431463 - {4
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations {net of hedging) 463 10 22
Items that will never be reclass:fied to profit or loss
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit pension schemes 37 9 24
Income tax charge onitems that will never be reclassified 23 {19) (3)
Other comprehensive income/{cost) for the year, net of Income tax B1 42
Total comprehensive income for the year 583 515
Total comprehensive income attributable to
Owners of the Company 576 508
Non-controlling interests 466 7 7
Total comprehensive income for the year 583 515
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2015 207
As at 31 December Note £Em Em
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 32 239 248
Intangible assets 33 1,500 1129
Investments in joint ventures, associates and equity investments 35 30 14
Dernvatwe financial instruments 43 8 16
Distribution rights 311 29 13
Deferred tax asset 23 - 43
1,806 1,463
Current assets
Programme rights and other inventory 312 373 367
Trade and other receivables due within one year 314 531 385
Trade and other recevables due after more than one year 314 33 24
Trade and other recevables 564 409
Current tax receivable 13 -
Dernvative financial instruments 43 1 Tt
Cash and cash equivalents 41 294 297
1,245 1,084
Current hiabilities
Borrowings 42 {11) (85)
Dervative financial instruments 43 (5) (12)
Trade and other payables due within one year 315 {786) (699)
Trade payables due after more than one year 316 (48) (27}
Trade and other payables (834) (726)
Current tax hiabilities (69) (72)
Provisions 36 {28) (7
(947) (912)
Net current assets 298 172
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 42 (602} (171)
Dervative financial instruments 43 6) (12)
Defined benefit pension defiat 37 (176) {346)
Deferred tax habilties 23 79 —
Other payables (89) {38)
Provisions 36 (5) (4)
{957) {577)
Net assets 1147 1,064
Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company
Share capital 461 403 403
Share premium 461 174 174
Merger and other reserves 462 221 228
Translation reserve 35 25
Available for sale reserve 6 7
Retained earnings 275 177
Total equity attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1,114 1,014
Non-controlling interests 33 50
Total equity 1,147 1,064
The accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 2 March 2016 and were signed on its behalf by
lan Griffiths
Group Finance Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Attributable 10 equity shareholders of the parent company

Merger Avallabie
Share Share  andother Translation for sale Retaned Total
capital  premuum reserves reserve reserve earmnings equity
Note fm £m Em £Em £&m £€m Em
Balance at 1 January 2015 403 174 228 25 7 177 1,064
Total comprehensive income for
the year
Profit — - - - - 495 502
Other comprehensive income/{cost)
Revaluation of available for sale
financial assets - - - - (1) - {1)
Exchange differences on translatien
of foreign operations (net of hedging) - - - 10 - - 10
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit
penston schemes 37 - - - - - 9 N
Reclassification of revaluation reserve
on disposal of property, plant and
equipment - - {4) - - 4 -
Income tax charge on other
comprehensive Income 23 - - - - - (19) (19)
Total other comprehensive income = - (4) 10 (W] 76 81
Total comprehensive income for
the year - - (4) 10 (W] 571 583
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity
Contributions by and distrnibutions
to owners
Equity dwvidends - - - - - (459) (464)
Movements due to share-based
compensation 47 - - - - - 14 14
Tax onitems taken directly to eguity 23 - - - - - 5 5
Purchase of own shares via employees’
benefit trust 47 - - - - - (33) (33)
Total contnbutions by and distnbutions
to owners - - - — - {473) (478)
Total transactions with owners - - — - - (473) (478)
Changes in non-contrelling interests®! 34 — - (3) - - - {22)
Balance at 31 December 2015 46 403 174 221 35 6 275 1147

(8) Movements reported in merger and other reserves inclide a put option for the acquisition of non-controllng interests
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity continued

Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company

Merger Available Non-
Share Share  andother Transiation for sale Retained controllng Total
capital  premium reserves reserve reserve €2Mings Total interests equity
Note £m £m £€m £m £m £m £m m £m
Balance at 1 January 2014 403 174 248 7 4 22 858 31 889
Total comprehensve income for
the year
Profit ~ - - - - 466 466 7 473
Other comprehensive iIncome/(cost)
Revaluation of availlable for sale
financial assets - - - - 3 - 3 - 3
Net loss on cash flow hedges - - - ()] - - (4) - (4)
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations {(net of hedging} - - - 22 - - 22 - 22
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit
pension schemes 37 - - - - - 24 24 - 24
Income tax charge on other
comprehensive income 23 - - - - — (3) (3) - {3)
Total other comprehensive income ~ - - 18 3 21 42 - 42
Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - 18 3 487 508 7 515
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity
Contnbutions by and distributions
to owners
Equity dividends - - - - - (313) (313) {8) (321)
Movements due to share-based
compensation 47 - - - - - 14 14 - 14
Purchase of own shares via employees’
benefit trust 47 - - - - - {33) (33) - 33
Total contributions by and distributions
to owners - - - - - {332) (332) {8) (340)
Total transactions with owners - - - - - (332) (332) (8) (340)
Changes in non-contrelling interests® 34 - - (20) - - - (20) 20 -
Balance at 31 December 2014 46 403 174 228 25 7 177 1,014 50 1,064
(a) Movements reported in merger and other reserves include a put option for the acquisition of non-controlling INterests
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2015 2014

For the year ended 31December Note £m £m £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations before exceptional items 21 827 702
Cash flow relating to operating exceptional items

Operating exceptional items 22 {109) {10)

Prepaid employment linked consideration 34 (109} -

Increase in exceptional payables 60 3

Decrease In exceptional prepayments and other receivables 36 -
Cash outflow from exceptional items (122) {7)
Cash generated from operations 705 695
Defined benefit pension deficit funding (90) L))
Interest received 25 41
Interest paid on bank and other loans (34) (51)
Interest pard on finance leases - {1}
Net taxation paid {117) {85)

(216) {187)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 489 508
Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary undertaking, net of cash acquired 34 (406) {214)

Prepaid employment linked consideration 34 109 -
Net consideration paid (297) {214)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 28 15
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (33 {(27)
Acquisition of intangible assets {16) (10)
Acquisition of investments (14) )
Loans granted to associates and joint ventures (2) (3)
Proceeds from sale of subsidianes, joint ventures and available
for sale investments 1 1
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities (333) {245)
Cash flows from financing activities
Bank and other loans — amounts repaid {447} (110)
Bank and other loans - amounts raised 797 -
Capital element of finance lease payments N (27)
Issue of share capital - =
Equity dividends paid {459) (313)
Dividend paid to minonty interest (5) 8)
Purchase of own shares via employees’ benefit trust {33) (33)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (154) (485)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2 (222)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 41 297 518
Effects of exchange rate changes and fair value movements (5) 1
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 41 284 297
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Section 1: Basis of Preparation

In this section This section sets out the Group's accounting polictes that relate to the financial
statements as a whole Where an accounting policy is specific to one note, the
policy i1s described in the note to which it relates This section also shows new
EU endorsed accounting standards, amendments and interpretations, and
whether they are effective in 2015 or later years We explain how these changes
are expected to impact the financial position and performance of the Group

The financial statements consolidate those of ITV plc (‘the Company®) and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the 'Group’) and the Group’s interests in associates and jointly controlled entities The
Company s domiciled in the United Kingdom

As required by Eurcpean Unton law (|AS Regulation EC 1606/2002) the Group's financiat statements have
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (IFRS),
and approved by the Directors

The financial statements are principally prepared on the basis of historical cost Where other bases are
applied these are identified In the relevant accounting policy

The parent company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS101)

Going concern

At 31 December 20115 the Group was in a net debt position The Group’s strong balance sheet and
continued generation of significant free cash flows has enabled further acquisitions as well as the payment
of a special dvidend The Group has also sought to gan further efficiencies in the balance sheet and
maintain the flexibility to invest in the business by 1ssuing a new Eurobond (see section 4 for details

on capital structure and financing)

The Group continues to review forecasts of the television advertising market to determine the impact
onITV’s liquidity position The Group's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible
changes in trading performance, show that the Group will be abte to operate within the level of its
current funding

The Group also continues to facus on development of the non-advertising business, and evaluates the
impact of further Investment in acquisitions agamst the strategy and cash headroom of the business

After making enquirnies, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to cantinue in gperation for at least twelve months from the date of this report Accordingly,
the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its consolidated financial statements

Subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and available for sale investments

Subsidiartes are entities that are directly or indirectly controlled by the Group Control exists where the
Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity in order to obtamn benefits
fromits activities In assessing control, potential voting nights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are taken into account

A joint venture is a jont arrangement in which the Group hotds an interest under a contractual
arrangement where the Group and one or more other parties undertake an economic activity thatis
subject to joint control The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures using the equity method
Under the equity method the investment in the entity 1s stated as one line item at cost plus the investor's
share of retained post-acquisition profits and other changes in net assets

An associate 1s an entity, other than a subsidiary or joint venture, over which the Group has sigmificant
nfluence Significant Influence i1s the power to participate in, but not control or jointly contraol, the financial
and operating decisions of an entity These investments are also accounted for using the equity method

Investments where the Group concludes it does not have significant influence are deermed ‘available for
sale’ These investments are held at fair value unless the investment s a start-up business, in which case
it s valued at cost and assessed for impairment
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Section 1: Basis of Preparation continued
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Current/non-current distinction

Current assets include assets held primarily for trading purposes, cash and cash equivatents, and assets
expected to be realised in, or intended for sale or use in, the course of the Group's operating cycle All other
assets are classified as non-current assets

Current liabilities include tiabiities held pnmarily for trading purposes, labilities expected to be settled in
the course of the Group’s operating cycle and those Liabilities due within one year from the reporting date
All other Liabibities are classified as non-current liabilities

Classification of financial instruments
The financiat assets and liabilities of the Group are classified into the following financial statement captions
in the statement of financial position in accordance with 1AS 39 Financial Instruments

« Loans and recewvables - separately disclosed as cash and cash equivalents (excluding gilts over which
unfunded pension commitments have a charge) and trade and other receivables

» Available for sale financial assets — measured at fair value through other comprehensive iIncome Includes
gilts over which unfunded pension commitments have a charge

- Financal assets/Labilities at fair value through profit or loss - separately disclosed as derivative financial
instruments in assets/labibities and included in non-current other payables (contingent consideration) and

= Financal labilities measured at amortised cost - separately disclosed as borrowings and trade and
other payables

Judgement is required when determining the appropriate classification of the Group’s financial instruments
Details on the accounting policies for measurement of the above instruments are set out in the relevant note

Recognition and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

The Group recognises a financial asset or liability when it becomes a party to the contract Financial
instruments are no longer recognised i the statement of financial position when the contractual cash flows
expire or when the Group no longer retains control of substantially all the risks and rewards under the
instrument

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits with a matunty of less than or equal to
three months from the date of acquisition, cash held to meet certain finance lease commitments and gilts
inrespect of which a charging deed was executed on the unfunded pension commitments of four former
Granada executives The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents is considered to approximate fair value

Foreign currencies
The primary economic environment in which the Group operates s the UK and therefare the consolidated
financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (€')

Where Group companies based in the UK transact in foreign currencies, these transactions are translated
Into pounds sterling at the exchange rate on the transaction date Foreign currency monetary assets and
lrabilities are translated into pounds sterling at the year end exchange rate Where there 1s a mavement in
the exchange rate between the date of the transaction and the year end, a fareign exchange gam ar loss
15 recogrised in the income statement

Hedge accounting 1s implemented on certain foreign currency firm commitments, which allows for the
effective portion of any foreign exchange gamns or losses to be recognised in other comprehensive ncome
{note 4 3)

Where a forward currency contract s used to manage foreign exchange risk and hedge accounting 1s not
applied, any moverment in currency 1s taken to the income statement

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historicat cost are translated into pounds sterling at the
exchange rate on the date of the transaction

The assets and Liabilities of Group companies autside of the UK are translated into pounds sterling at the
year end exchange rate The revenue and expenses of these companies are translated into pounds sterling
at the average monthly exchange rate during the year Where differences arise between these rates, they
are recognised in the transiation reserve within ather comprehensive income
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Exchange differences anising cn the transtation of the Group’s interests in joint ventures and associates
are recogmised in the translation reserve within other comprehensive ncome

On disposal of a subsidiary outside the UK or an interest in a Joint venture or an associate, the related
translationreserve is released to the income statement as part of the gan or toss on disposal

Accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires managerment to exercise judgement in apptying the
Group's accounting policies It also requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, Income and expenses Actual results may differ from these estimates

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongomng basis, with revisions recognised in the
perniod in which the estimates are revised and 1n any future penods affected

The areas involving a higher degree of Judgement ar complexity are set out below and in more detal in the
related notes

+ Revenue recognition (hote 27)
= Business combinations (note 3 3and note 3 4)
+ Allocation of goodwill and assets to CGUs and impairment of assets (note 3 3)

In addition to the above, the areas invalving the most sensitive estimates and assumptions that are
significant to the financial statements are set out below and in more detail in the related notes

- Defined benefit pension schemes, including the related longewity swap (note 37)
- Taxation (note 2 3)

New or amended EU endorsed accounting standards
The table below represents new or amended EU endorsed accounting standards relevant to the Group's
results that are effective in 2015

AccountingStandard  Requirement Impact onfinancial statements
IAS 19 Employee The amendment was to simplify the accounting for The amendment has not had
Benefits contributions that are iIndependent of the number of years any impact on the Group
of employee service
Annual Various amendments to simplify various standards including  The amendments do not

Improvements IFRS 2 Share-based payment, IFRS 3 Business Combinations,  change our accounting and
to IFRS 2010 -  IFRS 8 Operating Segments, IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurerment,  therefore have noimpact on

2012 cycle IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, [AS 24 Related Party the Group's financial position
Disclosures and IAS 38 Intangible Assets or performance
Annual Vanous amendments to simplify vartous standards including  The amendments do not
Improvements [FRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial change our accounting and
to IFRS 2011 - Reporting Standards, IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IFRS 13 therefore have noimpact on
2013 cycle Fair Value Measurement, IAS 40 Investment Property the Group's financial position
ar performance

The Directors also considered the impact on the Group of other new and revised accounting standards,
interpretations or amendments that are currently endorsed but not yet effective There are none that are
effective for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 that are expected to have a significant impact
on the Group's results

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1s effective 1 January 2018 but has not yet been endorsed by the EU
The Directors are currently assessing the impact this standard would have on its financial position
and performance

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Custormers is also effective 1 January 2018 and has also not been
endorsed by the EU The Directors have performed an inittal assessment and do not expect a material
impact on our Broadcast business The assessment on our Studios business is ongoing

IFRS 16 Leases 1s effective 1 January 20719 and has not been endorsed by the EU The Directors are currently
assessing the impact this standard would have on its financial position and performance
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Section 2: Results for the Year

In this section
eeetsssrestmesteeereet e 0+ ,
2.1 Profit Keepingit
before tax simple
Accounting policies

106

This section focuses on the results and performance of the Group On the
following pages you will find disclosures explaining the Group's results for
the year, segmental information, exceptional items, taxation and earnings
pershare.

This section analyses the Group's profit before tax by reference to the activities
performed by the Group and an analysis of key operating costs

Earnings before interest, tax, amortisation (EBITA) and before exceptional items
remans the Group's key profit indicator This reflects the way the business is
managed and how the Directors assess the performance of the Group This section
therefore also shows each division's contribution to total revenue and EBITA

Revenue recognition

Revenue 15 stated exclusive of VAT and comprises the sale of products and services to third parties
Judgement is required when determining the appropnate timing and amount of revenue that can be
recognised, specifically around whether there s a firm contract and that the service has been provided,
and if so, whether there is a fixed or reasonably determinable price that is reasonably certain will be

callected

Revenue from the sale of products i1s recognised when the Group has transferred both the sigrificant risks
and rewards of ownership and control of the products sold, and the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably Revenue recognition criteria for the Group's key classes of revenue are recognised on the

following bases

Applicable segment

Class of revenue Recognition critena

Broadcast & Online

Advertising (NAR), Video onDemand  on transmission, as audience targets are met
(voD)

Broadcast & Online Sponsorship across period of transrmssion of the sponsored
programme or Series
Broadcast & Online Pay over the term of the contract or accrued inthe

month for the expected revenue per subscriber
or download and trued up on receipt of third-
party reports showing revenue share calculation
(showing subscribers or number of downloads)

Broadcast & Online Participation {Interactive & Brand as the service 15 provided or event occurs
Extensions)

Studios Programme production on delivery of episode and acceptance by the
customer

Studios Programme distributron rights when the contract is signed and content 1s avaitable
for exploitation

Studios Format and licences at the point in time when the license is transferred
and the customer 15 able to use and benefit from
the licence

Studios Digital Archive ondelvery of content (one-off) or over the

contract period in a manner that reflects the flow
of content delivered (top-up)
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The results for the year aggregate these classes of revenue into four significant categories

2015

2014

€m £€m

Broadcast & Online

NAR 1,719 1,629

Non-NAR 427 394
ITV Studios

Productions 1,045 789

Dustribution 192 144
Total revenue 3,383 2,956
Segmental information

Operating segments, which have not been aggregated, are determined in a manner that 1s consistent with
how the business 1s managed and reported 10 the Board of Directors The Board s regarded as the chief

operating decision maker

The Board considers the business primarily from an operating activity perspective The reportable
segments for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 are therefore Broadcast & Online
and ITV Studios, the results of which are outlined in the followsng tables

Broadcast
& Online ITV Studlos*  Consolidated
2015 2015 2015
£m £m £m
Total segment revenue 2,146 1,237 3,383
Intersegment revenue - (4at11) (417
Revenue from external customers 2146 826 2,972
EBITA before exceptionaliterns 659 183 842
Share of losses of joint ventures and associated undertakings - — -
Broadcast
& Onlme TV Studios* Consolidated
2014 2004 2014
£m £m Em
Total segment revenue 2,023 933 2,956
Intersegment revenue - (366) (366)
Revenue from external customers 2,023 567 2,590
EBITA before exceptionalitemns 568 162 730

Share of losses of joint ventures and associated undertakings

* Revenye of £389 mulbon (2014 £255 mulbon) was generated in the US dunng the year, and represented £314 milion (2014 £297 mulbon)

of non-current assets at year end

Intersegment revenue, which 1s carried out on arm's length terms, 1s generated from the supply of ITV
Studios programmes to Broadcast & Online for transmussion primarnly on ITV This revenue streamis a
measure which forms part of the Group’s strategic prionty of bulding a strong internationat content
business, as by producing and retaining nights to the broadcast shows the Group benefits further from

subsequent internationat content and format sales

In preparing the segment information, centrally managed costs have been allocated between reportable
segments an a methodology driven principally by revenue, headcount and building occupancy of each
segment Thisis consistent with the basis of reporting to the Board of Directors

ITV ple Annual Report and Accounts 2015

107




Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
Section 2: Results for the Year continued

108

Broadcast & Online

The Group operates the largest commercial family of channels in the UK and delivers content through
traditional television broadcasting In addition to Linear broadcast, the Group delivers its content on
muttiple platforms including the ITV Hub, pay platforms, or through direct content deals Content, thatis
commissioned and scheduled by this segment, 1s funded primarily by tetevision advertising, where revenue
is generated from the sale of audiences for advertising artime and sponsorship

Other sources of revenue are from online advertising, HD digital channels on pay platforms (e g Sky and
Virgin), SDN revenwue (which generates Licence sales for DTT Multiplex A), and participation revenue (which
includes interactive sales from competitions) and ITV Chaice in other countries

ITV Studios
ITV Studios Is the Group’s International content business, creating and producing programmes and formats
that return and travel, namely drama, entertainment and factual entertainment

ITV Studios UK 1s the largest commercial producer in the UK and produces programrming for the Group's
own channels, accounting for 60% of ITV main channel spend on commissioned programming
Programming s also sold to other UK broadcasters such as the BBC, Channel 4 and Sky

ITV Amenica 1s the largest unscripted independent producer of content in the US and 1s growing 1ts scripted
presence by increasing nvestment in high profile dramas straight to series

ITV Studios also operates In five other international locations being Australia, Germany, France,
Netherlands (primarily Talpa) and the Nordics, where content is produced for local broadcasters This
content s either lacally created IP or formats that have been created elsewhere by ITV, primarity in the UK

Global Entertainment and Talpa Global, ITV's distribution businesses, bicense ITV's finished programmes
and formats and third-party content internationally Within this business we also finance productions both
on and of f ITV 1o acquire globat distribution nghts

EBITA before exceptional items

The Directors assess the performance of the reportable segments based on a measure of EBITA before
exceptional items The Directors use this measurement basis as it excludes the effect of non-recurring
mncome and expenditure Amortisation and share of profit/(losses) of joint ventures and associates are also
excluded to reflect more accurately how the business 1s managed and measured on a day-to-day basis
Net financing costs and tax are not allocated to segments as the funding, cash and tax management

of the Group are activities carried out by the central treasury and tax functions

A reconcibiation from EBITA before exceptional items to profit before tax 15 provided as follows

1015 2074

£m Em

EBITA before exceptional items 842 730

Operating exceptionatitemns {109) (12)

Amortisation of intangible assets {67) (67)

Net financing costs (31 ED)]

Share of losses of joint ventures and associated undertakings - -
Gain on sale of non-current assets (exceptional items)

Gain on sale of subsidianes and investments (exceptional iterns) 1 1

Profit before tax 641 605

The Group's principal operations are in the United Kingdom Revenue from external customers in the
United Kingdom is £2,275 million (2014 £2123 million), and total revenue from external customers in other
countries 1s £697 million (2014 £467 million)

There are two media buying agencies (2014 two} acting on behalf of a number of customers that
represent the Group’s major customers These agencies are the only customers which individually
represent over 10% of the Group's revenue Revenue of approximately £576 rmillion {2014 £571million)
and £339 milbon (2014 £312 million) was derived from these customers This revenue is attributable to
the Broadcast & Online segment
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Cash generated from operations

A reconciliation from profit befare tax to cash generated from operations before exceptional items is

as follows
2015 2014
£m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 641 605
Gain on sale of subsidiaries and investments (exceptional iterns) )] ()]
Gain on sale of non-current assets (exceptional items) (5) (4)
Net financing costs 3 51
Operating exceptional items 109 12
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 27 27
Amortisatton of intangible assets 67 67
Share-based compensation and pension service costs 17 14
Decrease/{increase) in programme rights and other inventary, and distribution nights 4 (39
(Increase)/decrease in recevables {21} 18
Decrease in payables (42) (48)
Movement in warking capital (59) {69)
Cash generated from operations before exceptional items 827 702
Operating costs
Staff costs
Staff costs before exceptionaliterns can be analysed as follows
2015 2004
£m £€m
Wages and salaries 318 277
Soctal secunty and other costs 43 44
Share-based compensation (see note 4 7} 14 14
Pensian costs 25 21
Total staff costs 400 356
Less staff costs allocated to productions (137) {118)
FTEE staff costs (non-production) 263 238

* The proryear classification of ‘staff costs allocated to productions’ has been revised to present a consistent and comparable
methadology to the 2015 allocation There s no change in the total FTEE staff costs and no mmpact on the Income Statement.

The number of full-time equivalent emptoyees (FTEE') (excluding short-term contractors and freelancers
who are predominantly allocated to the cost of productions), calculated on a weighted average basis,
during the year was

2015 20%

Broadcast & Online 2,109 2,042
1TV Studios 3,449 2,517
5,558 4,559

The increase in full-time equivalent employees in ITV Studios 1s prmanly driven by the acquisitions
completed in 2015

Details of Directors’ emoluments, share options, pension entitlements and long-term incentive scheme
interests are set out in the Remuneration Report Listed Directors’ gains on share options for 2015 are set
out in the ITV plec entity financial staterments

Depreciation
Depreciation in the year was £27 million (2014 £27 million), of which £14 milbion (2074 £15 muliron) relates
to Broadcast & Online and £13 million (2014 £12 miltion) to ITV Studtos
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Operating leases
The total undiscounted future minimum (ease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are due
for payment as follows
2015 Transponders Property Total
Within one year 34 17 51
Later than one year and not later than five years m 48 159
Later than five years 115 N 136
260 86 346
0% Transponders Property Totat
Within one year 38 13 51
Later than one year and not later than five years 123 33 156
Later than five years 158 16 174
319 62 381

The Group's operating leases relate to transponder assets, offices and studio properties The Group halds
transmussion supply agreements that require the use of specific transponder assets for a period of up to
ten years with payments increasing over time, limited by specaific RPI caps These supply agreements are
classified as operating leases, in accordance with the Group’s policy on leases detailled innote 3 2

Property leases run for terms ranging from five to twenty years, depending an the expected operational
use of the site Leases may include break clauses or options to renew (options to renew are not included

in the commitments table) Lease payrments are generally subject to market review every five years to
reflect market rentals, but because of the uncertainty over the amount of any future changes, such changes
have not been reflected in the table above None of the lease agreements include contingent rentals

The total future rmurimum sublease payments expected to be receved under non-cancellable subleases
at the year end are £1 million (2014 £2 million)

The total operating lease expenditure recognised during the year was £51 million (2014 £49 million) and
total sublease payments received were £2 milion (2014 £1milbion)

Audit fees
The Group engages KPMG LLP (‘KPMG') on assignments addittonal to their statutory audit duties where
their expertise and experience with the Group are important

Fees paid to KPMG and 1ts associates during the year are set out below

2015 2014

Em Em

For the audit of the Group's annual accounts 06 06
For the audit of subsidiaries of the Group 04 02
Audit-related assurance services 02 02
Total audit and audit-related assurance services 12 10
Taxation compliance services - 02
Taxation agvisory services 01 02
Other assurance services 03 02
Total non-audit Services 04 06
Total fees paid to KPMG 16 16

There were no fees payable in 2015 or 2014 to KPMG and associates for the auditing of accounts of any
associate of the Group, nternal audit services, services relating to corporate finance transactions entered
Into or proposed to be entered into, by or on behalf of the Group or any of its associates

Fees paid to KPMG for audit and other services to the Company are not disclosed in its individual accounts
as the Group accounts are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis
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2.2
Exceptional
items

Keeping it Exceptional items are excluded from management's assessment of profit
simple because by ther size or nature they could distort the Group's underlying quabty
of earnings They are typically gains or losses arising from events that are not
considered part of the core operations of the business {e g costs relatingto
capital transactions, such as professional fees on acquisitions) These items are
excluded to reflect performance i a consistent manner and are in Line with how
the business is managed and measured on a day-to-day basis

—

Accounting policies
Exceptional items as described above are disclosed on the face of the income statement

Subsequent revisions of estimates for items inibially recognised as exceptional are recorded as exceptional
items in the year that the revision 1s made Gains or losses on disposal of non-core assets are also
considered exceptional due to their nature and impact on the Group’s underlying quality of earnings

Exceptional items
Operating and non-operating exceptional items are analysed as follows

2015 201
{Charge)/credit Ref £m Em
Operating exceptional items

Acguisition-related expenses A (88) (B)

Reagrganisation and restructuring costs 2] {13} (6)

Legal related costs E {8} -
Total net operating exceptional items (109} (12)
Noh-gperating exceptional items

Gain on sale of non-current assets C ] 4

Gain on sale and impairment of subsidiaries and iInvestments D 1 1
Total hon-operating exceptional items 6 5
Total exceptional items before tax {103) (7)

Tax on exceptional items 8 2
Total exceptional items net of tax (95) {5)

A - Acquisition-related expenses

Acquisition-related expenses of £88 million includes £78 mitlion (2014 £3 milion) relating to performance-
based, employment linked costs to former owners mainly in relation to Talpa Media, and professional fees
{manly financial and legal due diigence) incurred on the acquisitions completed during the year of

£10 mullion (2014 £3 mitbon) See note 3 4 for further details on acquisitions

B - Reorganisation and restructuring costs

In 2015 £13 million (204 £6 million) of costs were incurred as a result of a Group-wide initiative to
significantly reduce the ongoing cost base, pnmanly comprised of restructuring of the US business,
redundancy and excess space provisions

C - Gain on sale of non-current assets

In 2015 a £5 milion gain on sale of non-current assets arose primarily as a resutt of the sale of 3 freehold
property and related assets in Manchester The 2014 gain of £4 rmullion arose as a result of the sale of a
freehold property in Cardiff

D - Gain on sale and imparrment of subsidiaries and investments
The gan of £1 millon (2014 £1 mitkon) retates to a histoncal disposal.

E - Legal related costs
£8 rmilbon (2014 £nil) provision for anticipated costs of settling a legal dispute
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2.3
Taxation

Keepingit This section sets out the Group's tax accounting policies, the current and deferred
simple tax charges or credits in the year (which together make up the total tax charge or
credit in the Income statement), a reconciliation of profit before tax to the tax
charge for the period and the movements in deferred tax assets and Liabilities

Accounting policies

The tax charge for the period 1s recognised in the Income statement, the statement of comprehensive
income and directly in equity, according to the accounting treatment of the related transaction The tax
charge compnises both current and deferred tax The calculation of the Group’s tax charge involves a
degree of estimation and judgement in respect of certain items whose tax treatment cannot be fully
determined until a resolution has been reached by the relevant tax authority

Current tax
Current tax s the expected tax payable or recervable on the taxabte income or loss for the year and any
adjustment inrespect of previgus years

The Group recognises labilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of the additional taxes

that are likely to become due, which require judgement Amounts are accrued based onmanagement’s
interpretation of specific tax taw and the likelihood of settlement Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current
tax and deferred tax provisians in the period n which such determination 1s made

Deferred tax
Deferred tax arises due to certain temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
Labilsties for financial reporting purposes and those for taxation purposes

The following temporary differences are not provided for

- thenitial recogrition of goodwaill

« the imitial recognition of assets or labilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than
in a business combination and

- differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the
foreseeable future

The amount of deferred tax provided 1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of assets and labilities Deferred tax s calculated using tax rates that are enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date

A deferred tax asset Is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit wilt
be available to utilise the temporary difference Recognition of deferred tax assets, therefore, involves
judgement regarding the timing and level of future taxable ncome

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are disclosed net to the extent that they relate to taxes levied by the
same authonty and the Group has the night of set-off
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Taxation - Income statement
The total taxation charge in the income statement is analysed as follows

2018 2004

£m £m
Current tax
Current tax charge before exceptional items {125) (118}
Current tax credit/{charge) on exceptional items 6 (2)
{119) (120)
Adjustments to prior periods 9 (&)
{110) {126)
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of tempaorary differences (20) (9)
Deferred tax credit on exceptional items 2 -
Impact of change in the statutory tax rate (2) -
(20) 9
Adjustments to prior periods (9) 3
(29) _{6)
Total taxation charge in the Income statement (139) (132)

In order to understand how, in the income statement, a tax charge of £139 million {2014 £132 million)
arises on a profit before tax of £641 million (2014 £605 rmillion), the taxation charge that would anse at the
standard rate of UK corporation tax is reconciled to the actual tax charge as follows

2015 2014
£m £m
Profit before tax 641 605
Nottonal taxation charge at UK corporation tax rate of 20 25% (2014 21 5%) on profit
befare tax {130) (130}
Non-taxable income/non-deductble expenses (23) 2
Adjustments to pnor periods - (3)
Impact of overseas tax rates (7) (1)
impact of changes in tax rates (2) -
Production tax credits 23 -
Total taxatton charge in the Income statement {139) {132}

Non-deductible expenses are expenses that are not expected to be allowable for tax purposes Similarly
non-taxable income 15 mcome that will not be taxed

Adjustments to prior periods primarily arise where an outcome is abtained on certain tax matters

which differs from expectations held when the related provision was made Where the outcome I1s more
favourable than the provision made, the difference is released, lowering the current year tax charge

Where the outcome 1s less favourable than our provision, an additional charge to current year tax will occur

The impact of overseas tax rates reflects the fact that some of our profits are earned in territories other
than the UK, and taxed at rates different to the UK corporation tax rate

On 26 October 2015, the UK corporation tax rate was substantively enacted to fall to 19% from 1 April 2017
and 18% from 1Apnl 2020 The carrying value of UK temporary differences at the balance sheet date has
been adjusted accordingly This has given rise to a charge of £1 milbion (2014 £nil milbion) of which £2 million
1s recognised as a charge in the iIncome staterment and £7m as a credit in other comprehensive income

Production tax credits are incentives provided to creative industries such as UK Migh-End Television (HETV)
tax relief The ability to access these tax credits 1s fundamental when assessing the viabitity of mvestment
decisions in the production of ligh-end drama Under IFRS certain production tax credits are reported
within the total taxation charge in the income statement, however ITV considers them to be working capital
in nature, and excludes them from its adjusted tax charge, including them instead within Adjusted EBITA
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The effective tax rate 1s the tax charge on the face of the income statement expressed as a percentage of
the profit before tax tn the years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, the effective tax rate
1s comparable to the standard rate of UK corporation tax As explained in the Financial and Performance
Review, the Group uses an adjusted tax rate to show how tax impacts total adjusted earnings in a way that
1s more aligned with the Group’s cash tax position

Taxation ~ Other comprehensive income and equity

As analysed in the table below, a deferred tax charge of £13 millen on actuanal movements on pensions
has been recogrised in ather comprehensive ncome A deferred tax charge of £2 million has been
recagrised in equity in respect of share based payments

A current tax credit of £7 million has also been recognised in equity in relation to share based payments

Taxation - Statement of financial position
The table below outlines the deferred tax assets/(labilities) that are recognised in the staterment of
financial position, together with their movements in the year

At Recognised m At
1lanuary the income Recognised m Business 310ecember
2015 statement 0C and equity acquisitions 2015
Em £tm £m £m £m
Property, ptant and equipment U] 1 - - —
Intangible assets {15) {10) - (76) {(107)
Programme nights 1 - - - 1
Pension scheme deficits 36 (16) (19) - 1
Tax losses 7 (3) - - 4
Share-based compensation 14 )] (2) - "
Other temporary differences 1 - — 4 5
43 (29) {21) (72) {79)
At Recognised m At
7January the income Recognised in Business 31 Decetnber
200~ staterment® 00 and equity acquisitions 20048
£m £m £m £m £€m
Property, plant and equipment (6) 5 - - (1)
Intangible assets {13) (2) - - (15)
Programme nghts 1 - - — 1
Pension scheme deficits 56 _{16) (4} - 36
Tax losses 2 5 - - 7
Share-based compensation 13 - 1 - 14
Other temporary differences (N 2 - - 1
52 (6} (3) - 43

* The pnior year movements on deferred tax relating to overseas businesses have been reallocated to the relevant temporary
difference categories

At 31 December 2015, total deferred tax assets are £22 million (2014 €55 million) and total deferred tax
tiabitities are £101 milbion (2014 £12 million) After netting off balances within countnies, there 1s a net
deferred tax lability of £79m (2014 net deferred tax asset of £43 million) recognised n the Consotidated
Statement of Financial Position

The deferred tax balance relates to

- property, plant and equipment temporary differences ansing on assets qualifying for tax depreciation

- temporary differences on intangible assets ansing on business combinations

- programme rights - temporary differences on intercompany profits on stock

- pension scheme deficit temporary differences on the 1AS 19 pension deficit and additional contributions
resulting from funding through the SON and LTVC pension partnerships {(not recogrised as contributions
under IAS 19)

temporary differences ansing from the timing of the use of tax losses

share-based compensation temparary differences on share schemes and

other temporary differences on provisions and other items
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2.4
Earnings
per share

The deferred tax balance associated with the pension deficit has been adjusted to reflect the current tax
benefit obtamed in the current year following the employer contributions of £102 million to the Group's
defined benefit pension scheme The adjustment i other comprehensive ncome to the deferred tax
balance pnmarily retates to the actuarnal gains recogrnised in the periad

A deferred tax asset of £399 million (2014 £444 million) Inrespect of capital losses of £2,215 million

(2074 £2,221 million) has not been recognised due to uncertainties as to whether a capital gain will arse

in the appropriate form and relevant territory against which such losses could be utilised For the same
reasons, deferred tax assets inrespect of overseas losses of £15 mithon (2014 £14 mitlion) that time expire
between 2017 and 2026 have not been recognised

Keepingit Earnings per share (‘EPS} Is the amount of post-tax profit attnbutable to each share

simple Basic EPS is calculated on the Group profit for the year attributable to equity

shareholders of £495 mitlion (2014 £466 million) divided by 4,006 milbon (2014
4,002 million) being the weighted average number of shares inissue during the year

Diluted EPS reflects any commitments made by the Group to 1ssue shares in the
future and so it includes the impact of share options

Adjusted EPS 1s presented in order to show the business performance of the Group
In a consistent manner and reflect how the business 1Is managed and measuredon a
day-to-day basis Adjusted EPS reflects the impact of operating and non-cperating
exceptional items on Basic EP5S Qther items excluded from Adjusted EPS include
amartisation and impairment of intangible assets acquired through business
combinations, net financing cost adjustments and the tax adjustments relating to
these items Each of these adjustments are explained in detait in the section below

The calculation of Basic EPS and Adjusted EPS, together with the diluted mpact an each, 1s set out below

Earnings per share 2015
Basle Diluted
Ref £m £Em
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of ITV plc 495 495
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue - million 4,006 4,006
Dilution due to share options - 29
Total weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue — nillion 4,006 4,035
Earrings per ordinary share 12 4p 12 3p

Adjusted profit for the year removes the effect of exceptional items, as described in the ‘Keeping it stmple’
box above Further detail on the composition of each adjustment is cross-referenced in the following notes
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Adjusted earnings per share 2015

Adjusted Diuted
Ref £m £m
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of ITV plc 495 495
Exceptional items (net of tax) A 95 a5
Profit for the year before exceptional items 590 580
Amortisation and impairment of acquired intangible assets B 54 54
Adjustments to net financing costs C 15 15
Adjusted profit 659 659
Total weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue - million 4,006 4,035
Adjusted earnings per ordinary share 16 5p 16 3p
Earnings per share 2014
Basic Diluted
Ref £&m £m
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of ITV plc 466 466
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in i1ssue - milion 4,002 4,002
Dilution due to share options - 38
Totalweighted average number of ordinary shares inissue — million 4,002 4,040
Earmings per ordinary share 1 6p 1150
Adjusted earnings per share 2014
Adpsted Diluted
Ref £m Em
Profit for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders of ITV plc 466 466
Exceptional items A 5 5
Profit for the year before exceptional items 471 471
Amortisation and impairment of acquired intangible assets B 44 44
Adpustments to net financing costs C 34 34
Other tax adjustments B S 5
Adjusted profit 554 554
Total wetghted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue - million 4,002 4,040
Adjusted earnings per ordinary share 13 8p 13 7p

Detatls of the adjustments 1o earnings are as follows

A Refer to Note 2 2 for the detalled composition of after tax impact of exceptional items (both operating
and non operating) of £95 million (2074 €5 million)

B Amortisation and mparrment of acquired intangible assets of £58 milion (2014 £44 million) is excluded
from adjusted profit It 1s calculated as total amortisation and imparment of £67 million (2014 £67 mitlion),
less amortisation of software licences and development of £9 million (2014 €11 miltion) A related tax
credit of £93 million {2014 £12 million) 1s also excluded in arriving at the net amount, which is further
adjusted to recognise the £9 million cash tax benefit arising from goodwill on US acquisitions, which for

tax purposes is amortised over 3 15 year period (2014 £5 milion shown witiun other tax adjustments)

€ Gross adjustments of £18 million (2014 £44 million) have been made to net financing costs and relate to
mark-to-market movements on derivative instruments, tosses on buybacks and imputed pension interest
charges (see nate 4 4 for details) This 1s reduced by a tax credht of £3 million (2014 £10 million) to give anet
adjustment of £15 mullion (2014 £34 million)
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Working
capital

|

In this section This section shows the assets used to generate the Group’s trading
performance and the liabilities incusred as a result. On the following pages
there are notes coverning working capital, non-current assets and Liabilities,
acquisitions and disposals, provisions and pensions

Liabilities relating to the Group's financing activitres are addressed in
Section 4. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown in note 2.3

Keepingit Working capital represents the assets and liabilities the Group generates through
simple its trading activity The Group therefore defines working capital as distribution
nghts, prcgramme nghts and production costs, trade and other recevables and
trade and other payables

Careful management of working capital ensures that the Group can meet its
trading and financing obligations within its ordinary operating cycle

Working capital 15 a driver of the profit to cash conversion, a key performance
indicator for the Group The Group's target profit to cash ratio on a rolling three
year basis 15 at least 90% For those subsidianies acquired during the year, working
capital at the date of acquisition is excluded from the profit to cash calculation so
that only subsequent working capital movements in the period owned by [TV are
reflected in this metric

In the following section you will find further information regarding working
capital management and analysis of the elernents of working capital

3.1.1Distribution rights

Accounting policies

Distribution rights are programme rights the Group buys from producers to derve future revenue,
prinaipally through licensing to broadcasters These are classified as non-current assets as these nights
are used to derive long-term economic benefit for the Group

Distnibution rights are recognised initiatly at cost and charged through gperating costs in the income
statement over a maximum five year period that 1s dependent on either cumulative sales and programme
genre, or based on forecast future sales Advances paid for the acquisition of distribution nghts are
disclosed as distribution rights as soon as they are contracted These advances are not expensed until

the programme 1s available for distribution Up to that point they are assessed annualty for imparrment
through the reassessment of the future sales expected to be earned from that title

The net book value of distribution rights at the year end are as follows

015 2004
£m £m

Distribution rights 29 13

The movement during the year comprises additions of £43 rmillion (2014 £21 mullion) and amounts charged
to the income statement of £27 mitlion (2014 £18 million)
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3.1.2 Programme rights and other inventory

Accounting policies

Rights are recognised when the Group cantrals the respective nights and the nsks and rewards associated
with them

Programme rights and production costs not yet wrnitten off are included in the statement of financial
position at the lower of cost and net realisable value

Broadcast programme nights

Acquired programme rights {which include films), and sports rights, are purchased for the primary purpose
of broadcasting on the [TV network These are recognised within current assets as payments are made

or when the nights are ready for broadcast The Group generally expenses these nghts through operating
costs over a number of transmissions reflecting the pattern and value in which the right is consumed

Commssions, which primarily comprise programmes purchased based on editorial specification and
over which the Group has some control, are recogrused in current assets as payments are made and
are generally expensed to operating costs in full on first transmission Where a commission s repeated,
incremental costs associated with the broadcast are included in operating costs

tn assessing net realisable value for acquired and commuissioned nights, the net realisable value assessment
is based on estimated arrtime value, with consideration given to whether the number of transmissions
purchased can be efficiently played out over the licence periad

Studios production costs

Production inventory cornprises the costs ncurred by ITV Studios in producing a programme, where the
programme is part way through the production process and not yet available for delivery to a broadcaster
They are recogrised within current assets at the production cost incurred, and are expensed in operating
casts on delivery of episodes

Also included here are dramas that have been commissioned straight to series Although more expensive
than producing a pilot, this method attracts high profile talent to the production and raises the profite of
the senes to support its distribution The production cost is partly funded by the commusstoning network
licence fee, the rematning production deficit is recovered by future distribution sales, and once the
progduction s complete any remaining defiait 1s classified as a Distribution Right

In assessing net realisable value for programmes in production, judgement 1s required when considering
the contracted sales price and estimated costs to complete

The Group's programme nights and other inventory at the year end are shown in the table below

2015 201
£m Em
Broadcast

Acquired programme rights m 101
Commisstons 61 57
Sports nghts 30 40

ITV Studios
Production costs 71 169
373 367
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3.1.3Programme commitments

These are operating commitrments in respect of programming entered into in the ordinary course of
business with programme suppliers, sports organisations and film distnbutors in respect of rights to
broadcast an the ITV network Commitments inrespect of these purchases, which are not reflected in
the staterment of financial position, are due for payment as follows

015 2004

£m £m

Within one year 451 464
Later than one year and not more than five years 633 462
More than five years 141 58
1,225 984

3.1.4 Trade and other receivables

Accounting policies

Trade recevables are recognised initially at the value of the invoice sent to the customer and subsequently
at the amounts considered recoverable (amortised cost) Where payments are not due for more than one
year, they are shown in the financial statements at their net present value to reflect the economuc cost of
delayed payment The Group provides goods and services to substantially atlits customers on credit terms

Estimates are used in determining the level of recevables that will not, in the opinion of the Directors,
be collected These estimates include such factors as tustoncal expenence, the current state of the UK
and overseas economies and industry specific factars A proviston for impairment of trade recevables 1s
established when there s sufficient evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due

The carrying value of trade recewvables is considered to approximate fair value

Trade and other recevables can be analysed as follows

2015 201
£m £m
Due within one year:

Trade receivables 328 271
Other recevables 37 27
Prepaid employment bnked consideration {see note 3 4) 55 -
Prepayments and accrued income i) 87
531 385

Due after more than one year
Trade receivables 8 7
Prepaid employment linked consideration (see note 3 4) 18 -
Qther recevables 7 17
Total trade and other recevables 564 409

Prepaid emplayment linked consideration totalling £73 million relates to the acquisition of Tatpa Media
(see note 3 4 for details) This represents the portion of the initial consideration that is recoverable from
the seller in the event he leaves within the initial twa years following acquisition and 1s amaortised over
that pericd

£336 million (2014 £278 million) of total trade receivables that are not impaired are aged as follows

2015 200

£m £Em

Current 308 263
Up to 30 days overdue 17 7
Between 30 and 90 days overdue 8 4
Over 90 days overdue 3 4
336 278
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The balance above s stated net of a prowision of £5 mitlion (2014 £7 million) for impairment of trade

receivables Of the provision total, £4 million relates to balances overdue by more than 90 days
(2014 £3 milbion) and £1million relates to current balances (2014 £4 mullion)

Movements in the Group’s provision for impairment of trade receivables can be shown as follows

2015

£m £m
At 1January 7 7
Charged during the year 3 2
Recewvables written off duning the year as uncollectable utiisation of provision) - -
Unused amounts reversed (5) (2)
At 31December 5 7

3.1.5 Trade and other payables due within one year
Accounting policies

Trade payables are recogrised at the value of the invoice received from a supplier The carrying value of
current and non-current trade payables s considered to approximate fair value Trade and other payables

due within one year can be analysed as foltows

205 2014
£m £m
Trade payables 65 49
VAT and social security 7 68
Other payables 177 159
Accruals 289 250
Deferred income 184 173
786 699
3.1.6 Trade payables due after more than one year

Trade payables due after maore than one year can be analysed as follows
2015 2014
£Em £m
Trade payables 48 27

This primarily relates to fitm creditors for which payment 1s due after more than one year

3.1.7 Working capital management

Cash and working capital management continues ta be a key focus During the year the cash outflow from

working capital was £59 million (2014 outflow of £69 million) derived as follows

2015 014
£Em £m
Decrease/(in¢rease) in programme nghts and other inventory and distnbution nights 4 (39}
(Increase)/decrease in recewvables 20 18
Decrease In payables (42) {48)
Working capital outflow (59) 69)

The working capital outflow for the year excludes the impact of balances acquired on the acquisition of

subsidianes during the year (see note 3 4)
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Property,
plant and
equipment

Keeping it The following section shows the physical assets used by the Group to operate the
simpte business, generating revenues and profits These assets include office buildings
and studios, as well as equipment used in broadcast transmission, programme
production and support activities

The cost of these assets s the amount initially paid for them A depreciation
expense 1s charged to the income statement 1o reflect annual wear and tear and
the reduced value of the asset over time Depreciation is calculated by estimating
the number of years the Group expects the asset to be used {(useful economic
life) If there has been a technelogical change or decline in business performance
the Directors review the value of the assets to ensure they have not fallen below
therr depreciated value If an asset's value falls betow its depreciated value an
additional one-off impairment charge 1s made against prafit

This section also explains the accounting policies followed by ITV and the specific
estimates made In arriving at the net book value of these assets

Accounting policies

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated deprecation and impairment losses
Certain itemns of property, plant and equipment that were revalued to fair value prior to 1 January 2004
(the date of transition to IFRS) are measured on the basis of deemed cost, being the revalued amount less
depreciation up to the date of transition

Leases

Finance leases are those which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee
Certain service contracts nvolve the use of specific assets (e g transmisston equipment) and therefore
contamn an embedded lease

Determining whether a lease 15 a finance lease requires judgement as to whether substantially all of the
risks and benefits of ownership have been transferred to the Group Estimates used by management in
making this assessment include the useful economic Life of assets, the far value of the asset and the
discount rate applied to the total payments required under the lease Assets held under such leases

are included within property, plant and equipment and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful ives

Outstanding finance lease obligations, which comprise the prinaipal ptus accrued interest, are included
within borrowings The finance element of the agreements I1s charged to the income statement over the
term of the lease on an effective interest basis

All other leases are operating leases, the rentals on which are charged to the income statement ona
straight-line basis over the lease term (see note 21 for further details of operating lease commitments)

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less estimated residual
value, on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful ives The annual depreciation charge 15 sensitive
10 the estimated useful lfe of each asset and the expected residuat value at the end of its life The major
categories of property, ptant and equipment are depreciated as follows

Asset dass Depreciation policy

Freehold land not depreciated

Freehold buildings up to 60 years

Leasehold improvements shaorter of restdual lease term or estimated useful life
Vehicles, equipment and fittings 3to 20 years

* Equipment includes studio production and technology assets
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Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment that 1s subject to depreciation is reviewed for impamrment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable Indicators of
impairment may include changes in technology and business performance

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment can be analysed as follows

Freeholdland  Improvements toleasehold Vehicles, equipment
and bulldings land and bulldings and fittings Total
Finance
Long Short Owned leases
£m £m £m £m £€m £m
Caost
At 1January 2014 137 69 17 21 16 460
Additions - - - 26 - 26
Reclassification of property fittings - (2 - 2 - -
Disposals and retirements (17) - — (12) - {29)
At 31 December 2014 120 67 17 237 16 457
Additions - - 1 37 - 38
Disposals and retirements (31) U] - (10} - {42)
At 31 December 2015 89 66 18 264 16 453
Depreciation
At January 2014 23 11 15 138 14 201
Charge for the year 1 2 - 24 - 27
Disposals and retirements {7) - - {12) - {19)
At 31 December 2014 17 13 15 150 14 209
Charge for the year 1 2 - 24 - 27
Disposals and retirements (12) (1) — (9) - (22)
At 31 December 2015 6 14 15 165 14 214
Net book value
At 31 December 2015 83 52 3 99 2 239
At 31December 2014 103 54 2 87 2 248

Additions in the year includes £6 mitlion (2014 £5 million) relating to assets owned by subsidianies acquired
during the year

Included within property, plant and equipment are assets in the course of construction of £16 million
(2014 £10 million)

During the year, the Group disposed of the Quay Street site and related assets in Manchester far £23 million,
representing a gam on sale of £5 million 1n 2014, the Group sold a freehold property in Cardiff for proceeds
of £15 millon, representing a gain on sale of £5 milion In 2013 the Group acquired the freehold for the
London Television Centre for £58 million, although the Directors’ view 15 that fair value of the property
would be significantly higher

Capital commitments
There are £2 milkion of capital commitrments at 31 December 2015 (2014 £2 million)
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Intangible
assets

Keepingit The following section shows the non-physical assets used by the Group to
simple generate revenue and profits

These assets include formats and brands, customer contracts and relationships,
contractual arrangements, licences, software development, film Ubranes and
goodwill The cost of these assets is the amount that the Group has paid ar, where
there has been a busmness combination, the fair value of the specific intangible
assets that coutd be sold separately or which anse from legal nghts In the case of
goodwill, 1ts cost 1s the amount the Group has paid in acquiring a business over
and above the fair value of the indiwidual assets and babilities acquired The value
of goodwill 15 Intangible’ value that comes from, for example, a uniquely strong
market position and the autstanding productmty of 1its employees

The value of ntangible assets, with the exception of goodwill, reduces over the
number of years the Group expects to use the asset, the useful economic iife, via
an annual amortisation charge to the income statement Where there has been
atechnological change or decline in business performance the Directors review
the value of assets, Including goodwill, to ensure they have not fallen below their
amortised value Should an asset’s value fall below its amortised value an
additional one-off impairment charge 1s made against profit

This section explains the accounting policies applied and the specific judgements
and estimates made by the Directors in arriving at the net book value of
these assets

Accounting policies

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits that anse from assets that are not capable of being
indwvidually identified and separately recogrised The goodwill recogrised by the Group has all arisen
as a result of business combinations Goodwill 1s stated at its recoverable amaount being cost less any
accumulated impatrment losses and s atlocated to the business to which it relates

Due to changes in accounting standards goodwill has been calculated using three different methods
depending on the date the relevant business was purchased

Method 1: All business combinations that have occurred since 1January 2009 were accounted for using
the acquisition method Under this method, goodwill 1s measured as the far value of the consideration
transferred (including the recognition of any part of the business not yet owned (non-controtling interests)),
less the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and babihities assumed, all measured at the acquisition
date Any contingent consideration expected to be transferred in the future will be recogrised at farr value
at the acquisition date and recogrised within other payables Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or Liabibity that is a financial nstrument 1s measured at far value with changes i farr value recogrused in the
income statement The determination of fair value 1s based on discounted cash flows The key assumptions
take into consideration the probability of meeting each performance target and the discount rate

Where less than 100% of a subsidiary is acquired, and call and put options are granted over the remaining
interest, a non-controlling interest 1s mtially recognised in equity at fair value, which 1s establshed based
on the value of the put option A call optionis recogrnised as a dervative financial instrument, carnied at far
value The put option is recognised as a liability within other payables, carried at the present value of the
put option exercise price, and a corresponding chargeis included in merger and other reserves Any
subsequent rerneasurernent of the put option liability 1s recognised within finance income or cost

Subsequent adjustrments to the fair value of net assets acquired can only be made within 12 months of
the acquisition date, and only if far values were determined provisionally at an earbier reporting date
These adjustments are accounted for from the date of acquisition
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Acquisttions of non-contralling nterests are accounted for as transactions with owners and therefore no
goodwill 1s recognised as a result of such transactions Transaction costs incurred in connection with those
business combinations, such as legal fees, due diligence fees and other professional fees, are expensed

as incurred

Method 2: All business combinations that occurred between 1 January 2004 and 31 December 2008

were accounted for using the purchase method in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations (2004)
Goodwill on those combinations represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the far
value of the identifiable net assets acquired and did not include the value of the non-controlling interest
Transaction costs incurred in connection with those business combinations, such as legal fees, due
diligence fees and other professional fees, were included in the cost of acquisition

Method 3: For business combimnations prior to 1 January 2004, goodwillis included at its deemed cost,
which represents the amount recorded under UK GAAP at that time less accumulated amortisationup to
31December 2003 The classification and accounting treatment of business combinations occurring prior
to 1 January 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, has not been reconsidered as permitted under IFRS 1

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets other than goodwill are those that are distinct and can be sold separately or which anse

from legal nghts

Within ITV there are two types of other ntangible assets those assets directly purchased by the Group
for day-to-day operational purposes (such as software licences and development) and iIntangible assets
identified as part of an acquisition of a business

Intangible assets acquired directly by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation Those
separately identified intangble assets acquired as part of an acquisition or business combination are
shown at farr value at the date of acquisition less accumulated amortisation

The main ntangible assets the Group has valued are formats, brands, icences, contractual arrangements,
customer contracts and relationships and lbraries

Each ctass of intangible asset's valuation method an imtial recognition, amortisation methed and
estimated useful Life 1s set out in the table below

Class of mtangibte asset

Vatuation method

Amortisation method

Estrmnated useful life

Formats and
brands

Applying a royalty rate to the expected future
revenue over the hife of the brand

Straight-line

B81tolayears

Customer
contracts and
relatienships

Expected future cash flows from those contracts
and relationships existing at the date of acquisition
are estimated If applicable, a contributory charge
1s deducted for the use of other assets needed to
explait the cash flow The net cash flow s then
discounted back to present value

Straight-line or
reducing balance
as appropriate

up to 6 years for
customer contracts

51010 years
for customer
relationships

Contractual Expected future cash flows from those contracts Straight-line up to 10 years
arrangerments existing at the date of acquisition are estimated depending on the
If applicable, a contnbutory charge i1s deducted for contract terms
the use of other assets needed to exploit the cash
flow The net cash flow s then discounted back to
present value
Licences Start-up basis of expected future cash flows existing  Straight-line T to17 years

at the date of acquisition If applicable, a contributory
charge 1s deducted for the use of other assets
needed to exploit the cash flow The net cash flow

1s then discounted back to present value

depending on term
of icence

Libraries and
other

Imtially at cost and subseguently at cost less
accumulated amortisation

Sum of digits or
straight line as
appropriate

up to 20 years

Software licences
and development

Initially at cost and subsequently at cost less
accumulated amortisation

Straight-line

1to Syears
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Determining the farr value of Intangible assets arising on acquisition requires judgement The Directors
make estimates regarding the tirming and amount of future cash flows derived from exploiting the assets
being acquired The Directors then estimate an appropriate discount rate to apply to the forecast cash
flows Such estimates are based on current budgets and forecasts, extrapolated for an appropriate period
taking into account growth rates, operating costs and the expected useful lives of assets Judgements

are also made regarding whether, and for how long, licences will be renewed, this drives our amortisation
policy for those assets

The Directors estimate the appropriate discount rate using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the nisks specific to the assets or businesses being acquired

Amortisation

Amortisation s charged to the income statement over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets
unless such lives are judged to be indefinite Indefirute lfe assets, such as goodwill, are not amortised but
are tested for simpairment at each year end

Impairment
Goodwill s not subject to amortisation and 15 tested annually for impairment and when arcumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired

Other Intangible assets are subject to amortisation and are reviewed for imparrment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the amount carnied in the statement of financial position is less
thanits recoverable amount

Deterrmining whether the carrying amount of ntangible assets has any indication of impairment requires
judgement Any impairment is recognised in the income statement

Anmpairment test i1s performed by assessing the recoverable amount of each asset, or for goodwill,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) retated to the goodwill Total assets (which
includes goodwill) are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(‘cash-generating unit’ or 'CGU")

The recoverable amount I1s the higher of an asset's fair value tess costs to sell and value in use Thevalue
inuse s based on the present value of the future cash flows expected to anse from the asset

The Group applies cautious assumptions for mparrment testing Estimates are used indenving these cash
flows and the discount rate Such estimates reflect current market assessments of the risks specificto
the asset and the time value of money The estimation process 1s complex due to the inherent nisks and
uncertainties associated with long-term forecasting If different estimates of the projected future cash
flows or a different selection of an appropriate discount rate or tong-term growth rate were made, these
changes coutd matenally alter the projected value of the cash flows of the asset, and as a consequence
materially different amounts would be reported in the financial statements

imparment losses inrespect of goodwill are not reversed In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impatrment [0ss 1s reversed If there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount Animpairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of deprec:ation or amortisation,

if no impairment loss had been recognised
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Intangible assets
Intangible assets can be analysed as follows

Formats cmfr"aitg:& Contractual Lbrares Software
Goodwill andbrands relabonships amrangements Licences andother  licences and Total
Em £m £m m £m £m development £m

Cost
At 1 January 2014 3,467 179 352 10 2 81 78 4,288
Additions 146 21 30 - - 16 n 224
Fareign exchange 14 1 3 - - - - 18
At 31 December 2014 3,627 201 385 10 121 97 89 4,530
Additions 102 273 23 - - 1 15 414
Foregn exchange 15 7 3 - - 1 - 26
At 31 December 2015 3,744 481 41 10 11 99 104 4,970
Amortisation
and impairment
At January 2014 2,654 158 326 2 83 50 60 3,334
Charge for the year - 18 21 3 7 7 n 67
At 31 December 2014 2,654 177 347 5 50 57 71 3,401
Charge for the year - 27 17 2 4 8 9 67
Foreign exchange - 1 1 - - — - 2
At 31 December 2015 2,654 2058 365 7 94 65 80 3,470
Net book value
At 31 December 2015 1,090 176 46 3 27 34 24 1,500
At 31 December 2014 973 24 38 S £l 40 18 1129

All ntangible asset additions i the year, excluding software, are due to the acquisition of four production
companies, as detalled in note 3 4 (2014 three production companies acquired)

Goodwill impairment tests

The carrying amount of Goodwill for each CGU is represented as follows
2015 2014
£m £€m
Broadcast & Online 342 342
SDN 76 76
ITV Studios 672 555
1,090 973

There has been no impairment charge for any CGU during the year (2014 £rul)

When assessing impairment, the recoverable amount of each CGU 1s based on value in use calculations
These calculations require the use of estimates, specifically pre-tax cash flow prajections, long-term
growth rates, and a pre-tax market discount rate

Cash flow projections are based on the Group's current five year plan Beyond the five year plan these
projections are extrapolated using an estimated long-term growth rate of 2% (2014 2%) The growthrate
used Is consistent with the tang-term average growth rates for both the industry and the country in which
they are located and is appropriate because these are long-term businesses

The discount rate has been revised for each CGU to reflect the Llatest market assumptions for the nsk-free
rate, the equity nsk premium and the net cost of debt There is currently no reasonably possible change in
discount rate that would reduce the headroom in any CGU to zero
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Broadcast & Online

The goodwill in this CGU arose as a result of the acquisition of broadcasting businesses since 1999, the
largest of which was the merger of Carlton and Granada n 2004 to form ITV ple, which was treated as
an acquisition of Carlton for accounting purposes

The main assurnptions on which the forecast cash flow projections for this CGU are based include the
share of the telewision advertising market, share of commercial mpacts, programme and other costs,
and the pre-tax market discountrate

The key assumption m assessing the recoverable amount of Broadcast & Online goodwill 1s the size of

the television advertising market In forming its assumptions about the television advertising market,

the Group has used a combination of long-term trends, industry forecasts and in-house estimates, which
place greater emphasis on recent experience No imparrment was identified Also as part of the
impairment review, a sensitivity of up to -15% was applied to 2016, again with no imparrment identified
The Directors believe that currently no reasonably possible change in these assumptions would reduce the
headroom n this CGU to zero

A pre-tax market discount rate of 9 7% (2014 10 6%) has been used in discounting the projected cash flows

SDN

Goodwill was recognised when the Group acquired SON {the hicence operator for DTT Multiplex A)in 2005
It represented the wider strategic benefits of the acquisition specific to the Group, principally the enhanced
abiity to promote Freeview as a platform, business relationships with the channels which are on Multiplex
A and additional capacity available from 2010

The main assumptions on which the forecast cash flows are based are income to be earned from
medium-term contracts, the market price of available multiplex video streams in the period up to

and beyond digital swrtchover; and the pre-tax market discount rate These assumptions have been
determined by using a combination of current contract terms, recent market transactions and in-house
estimates of video stream availabiity and pricing No impairment was identified

As part of the impairment review sensitivity was applied to the main assumptions with no impairment
identified (2016 -5% growth, 2017 -10% growth) The Directors believe that currently no reasonably
possible change in the iIncome and availability assumptions would reduce the headroom in this CGU to zero

A pre-tax market discount rate of 11 5% (2014 12 6%) has been used In discounting the projected cash flows

ITV Studios

The goadwill for ITV Studtos has arisen as a result of the acquisition of production businesses since 1999
Significant balances were created from the acquisition by Granada of United News and Media's production
businesses in 2000 and the merger of Granada and Carlton in 2004 to form [TV plc ITV Studios goodwill
also includes all of the goodwill anising from recent acquisitions in 2012 to 2015, wath the largest acquisition
addition to goodwill being Leftfield in 2014, followed by Talpa and Twofour in 2015

The key assumptions on which the forecast cash flows were based include revenue (including international
revenue and the TV Studios share of ITV output, growth in commussions and hours produced), margin
growth and the pre-tax market discount rate These assumptions have been determined by using a
combination of extrapolation of historicat trends within the business, mdustry estimates and in-house
estimates of growth ratesin all markets Noimparment was identified

As part of the impairment review sensitivity was applied to the man assumptions with no impairment
identified (2016 -5% growth, 2017 -10% growth) The Directors believe that currently no reasonably
possible change in the ncome and availability assumptions would reduce the headroom in thuis CGU to zero

A pre-tax market discount rate of 101% (2014 117%) has been used in discounting the projected cash flows

Following the acquisitions made by ITV Studios in 2015, the Directors considered how assets and resources
are shared across the Studios division and the level of integration within the management structure for
the purposes of reporting and strategic decision-making They concluded that a single ITV Studios CGU
continues to remain appropriate
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Acquisitions

Keepingit The following section outlines what the Group has acquired in the year

simple All of the deals are structured so that a large part of the payment made to the

sellers 1s determined based on future performance {‘consideration’) This1s done
so that the Group can both align incentives for growth, while reducing risk so that
total consideration reflects actual performance, not expected

IFRS accounting standards require some of this consideratton to be included in

the purchase price used in determining goodwill (‘contingent consideration’)
Examples of contingent consideration include top-up payments and recoupable
performance adjustments Any remaining consideration is required to be recognised
as a lability or expense outside of acquisition accounting (put option liabiities and
employment-linked contingent payments known as ‘earnout’ payments)

The Group considers the income statement impact of all consideration to be
capital in nature and are therefore excluded from adjusted profit Therefore, for
each acquisition below, the distinction between the types of consideration has
been explained in detail

Acquisitions

During the period, the Group completed four acquisitions, all of which have been indluded in the results

of the {TV Studios operating segment Each of the businesses fit with the strategy of growing the Group's
content business and to work with other parts of the ITV Studios segment to explait that content globally
The following section provides a summary of the matenat acquisitions

Talpa MediaB.V.

On 30 Apnl 2015 the Group acquired 100% controlling interests in Talpa Media BV and its subsidiaries
Talpa Media 15 the entertanment show praducer behind The Voice, The Voice Kids, | Love My Country,
Dating In The Dark and Dance Dance Dance The Group consolidates 100% of the earnings of the business

Key terms

Cash consideration of £362 million (€500 million) was paid at acquisition and the maximum total
consideration for 100% of the business, iIncluding the init:al payment, 1s £796 mitlion (€1,500 milkion,
undiscounted)

The deal structure allows for a further £434 nullion (€600 miltion) payable after two, five and eight years,
on the achievement of stretching performance targets for the business in the years following acquisition
For these amounts to be payable in the future, the deal requires the seller to remain with the business
during the earnaut period Further, if the selier leaves within the first two years following acquisition,

a significant portion of the initial consideration would be refunded to ITV

Structuring the deal in this way helped manage risks in terms of imtial capital outtay and created a joint
mcentive between ITV and the seller to grow the business, however IFRS requires any payment thatlinks a
seller to remaining in the business as an employment cost The Group considers these payments as capital
in nature, and therefore expenses in relation to these payments are excluded from adjusted profits as an
exceptional iterm

Acguisitron accounting

Intangibles, being the value placed on formats, brands, customer contracts, non-compete arrangements
and libraries, of £276 miltion (€382 million) were identified and goodwill was valued at £41 mullion

(€57 million) Goodwill represents the value placed on the opportunity to diversify and grow the content
and formats produced by the Group The goodwill arising on acquisition 1s not expected to be deductible
for tax purposes Other fair value adjustments have been made to the opening balance sheet, though
none of them are ndvidualty sigrificant
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Twofour Group

On 24 June 2015 the Group acquired Boom Supervisory Limited, the holding company of Twofour Group
Twofour Group owns 51% of Mainstreet Pictures Twofour Group 1s an independent production business
with a range of scripted and unscripted proagrammes including The Jump, Educating Series (Educating
Essex, Educating Yorkshire), Hotel Inspector, Taking New York and Ibiza Weekender

Key terms:

The Group purchased the Twofour Group for a cash consideration of £55 million, subsequently the sellers
subscribed to 25% of the share capital of the acquinng company A put and call option has been granted
over this 25% in Twofour Group, these options both being exercisable over the next three to five years
The transaction has been accounted for on an anticipated acquisition basis and a non-controlling interest
has not been recogrnised The maximum total consideration for 100% of the business, Induding the mitial
payment, 1s £280 million (undiscounted) These payments are dependent on future performance of the
business and linked to ongomng employment The Group constders these payments as capital innature,
and therefore expenses in relation to these payments are excluded from adjusted profits as an
exceptional itern

Prawvisional acquisition accounting

Intangibles, being the value placed on farmats, brands, customer contracts, non-compete arrangements
and librartes, of £18 million were identified and goodwill was valued at £50 milion Goodwill represents
the value placed on the opportunity to diversify and grow the content and formats The Group 15 currently
in the process of completing the valuations for the net assets acquired with the businesses The Group
expects to finalise the valuations of acquired assets and Liabilities in the first half of 2016

Goodwill represents the value placed on the opportunity to diversify and grow the content and formats
produced by the Group The goodwill arising on acquisition is not expected to be deductible for tax
purposes Other far value adjustments have been made to the opening balance sheet, though none

of them are indvidually sigruficant

Other 2015 acquisitions

The Group made an intiat payment of £15 mitlion for two smaller acquisitions, Cats on the Roof Media Ltd
and Mammoth Screen Ltd, with a view that these acquisitions will strengthen and complement ITV's
existing position as a producer for major television networks in the UK The maxamurn additional
consideration that the Group could pay 1s £66 million {undiscounted)

Goodwill, which represents the value placed on the opportunity to grow the content produced by the
Group, has been provisionally valued at £11million The goodwill ansing on these acquisitions are not
expected to be deductibte for tax purposes

Acquisitionsin 2014

Leftfield Entertainment was acquired for an initiat consideration {net of cash acquired) of £214 mitlion
{$360 miilion) for 80% of the membership interests in May 2014 The remaining 20% equity interest
was acquired in December 2015 In consideration for the acquisition of the minanty interest the Group
assumed certan obligations of the seller, most notably earnout arrangements for its subsidianes

No additional cash consideration was payable to the seller as a result of the purchase of the remaining
minority interest

The total maximum additional consideration payable by ITV for the acquisition of 100% of the membership
interest of Leftfield Entertanment, including the additional assumed earnout obligations, 1s £65 million
{$100 mutlion) and 1s dependent on future performance and is inked to ongoing employment

Intangible assets of £65 milbion ($109 million) were identified in 2014, being the value placed on brands,
customer contracts, non-compete arrangements and libraries

The Group also acquired 51% of the mermbership interest in DiGa Vision, a US-based producer and 100% of
the controlling interest i Urited Productions, a company based in Denmark The total intial consideration
(net of cash acquired) was £5 million and the maximum additional amount payable is £32 mithion

(undiscounted) The final payout 1s dependent on future performance and is linked to ongoing employment
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Intang bles of £2 million were identified, largely reflecting the value placed on brands, customer contracts
and contractual arrangements

Effect of acquisition
The acquisitions noted above had the following impact on the Group assets and liabilities

Recognised values anacquisition

£Em Talpa Media Twofour Other 2015 Total 2014 Totat
Consideration transferred.

Inibial consideration {net of cash acquired) {(Note A) 347 49 10 406 214
Less consideration classified as prepaid

employment Linked consideration (Note B) {109) - - (109) (29)
Total consideration 238 49 10 297 185
Fair value of net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment 2 4 - 6 5
Intangible assets 276 18 3 297 67
Deferred tax habtlities (66) (5) - (71) -
Trade and other recevables 78 15 8 101 32
Trade and other payables (93) (33) {12) {138) {45)
Fair value of net assets 157 (W] (U] 195 59
Non-controlling interest measured

at fair value (Note C) - - - - 20
Goodwill 41 50 1 102 146
Other information.

Present value of the lability on options - - - - 20
Present value at acquisition of the earncut

payment (Note D) 186 10 27 223 4

Contributions to the Group’s performance:
From date of acquisition

Revenue 2 42 22 185 62
EBITA before exceptionals (Note E) 25 2 2 29 14
Proforma - January to December

Revenue 193 80 33 306 88
EBITA befare exceptionals (Note F) 45 3 1 49 20

Note A Cansideration for all acquisitions is net of cash acquired and estrmated debt and working capital settlements Cash acquired
during the year comprises Talpa £22 mition, Twofour £6 million and Other £5 million

Note B Total consideration is net of employment inked consideration of £109 milion IFRS 3 (R) requires the employment linked
consideration to be treated as remuneration This amaunt is repayable to the Group should the seller terminate the service agreement
within the first two years following completion The remaining batance 15 shown within trade and other recevables and 1s expensed over
two years

Note C Non-controlling interest anses where the Group acquires less than 100% of the equity interest in a business, but obtains control
Note D This represents the presentvalue of earnouts as at acquisitron

Note E Adjusting for exceptional costs relating to employment linked consideration reduces the contribution to the Graup's profit
after tax for the period from the date of acquisitton to a loss of £35 nutlion for Talpa, a profit of £1 rrullion for Twofour and Entlan

other acquisitions

Note F Adjusting for exceptionat costs relating to employment inked constderation reduces the contnbution to the Group's profit
after tax on a full year proforma basis to a loss of £38 milbon for Talpa, a profit of £1mitlion for Twofour and a loss of £1 million on
other acquisitions
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Investments

36
Provisions

Keepingit The Group holds non-controlling interests in a number of different entities
simple Accounting for these investments, and the Group's share of any profits and losses,
depends on the level of control or influence the Group 15 granted via its interest
The three principal types of non-consolidated investments are joint arrangements
(joint ventures or joint operations), associates and available for sale investments

A joint venture 1s an investment where the Group has joint control, with one or
more third parties An associate 1s an entity over which the Group has significant
influence (1e power to participate in the investee’s financial and operating
decisions) Any other nvestrment s an available for sale mvestment

Accounting policies

For joint ventures and associates the Group applies equity accounting Under this method, it recagnises the
investment in the entity at cost and subsequently adjusts this for 1ts share of profits or losses, which are
recogrised in the income statement within non-operating items and included in adjusted profit Avaitable
for sale investments are held at fair value unless the mvestment s a start-up business, inwhich caseit s
valued at cost and assessed for impairment

The carrying vatue of all investments are shown as nan-current assets on the Statement of Financial
Position The £16 mulion increase in the year comprises £14 million in relation to the acquisition of
assocates and available for sale investments and £2 million of funding to existing joint ventures

Please refer to page 170 for the Ust of principal Investments held at 31December 2015

Keeping it A prowviston 1s recognised by the Group where an obligation exists relating to
simple eventsin the past and it 1s probable that cash will be paid to settle it

A provision 1s made where the Group 1s not certain how much cash will be
reguired to settle a bability, so an estimate 1s required The main estimates relate
to the cost of holding properties that are no longer in use by the Group, the
Ukelihood of settling legal claims and contracts the Group has entered into that
are now unprofitable

Accounting policies

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising from past events, it is probable cash will be paid to settle it and the amount
can be estimated reliably Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows by a
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liabiity The unwinding of the discount is recogrsed as a financing cost in the Income statement The value
of the provision 1s determined based on assumptions and esttmates in relation to the amount and timing
of actual cash flows which are dependent on future events
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Provisions
The movements in provisions during the year are as follows

Centract Property Legaland Other

provisions Pravisions provisions Totat

£m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2015 3 3 15 ryl
Additions 5 - 10 15
Utilised (2) - - (2)
Released - (1) - (1)
At 31 December 2015 6 2 25 33

Provisions of £28 million are classified as current Liabilities (2014 £17 mulbion) Unwind of the discount 1s £nil
i 2015 and 2014

’
Contract provisions cormprise onerous commitments on transrmission infrastructure that are expected to
be utilised over the remaining contract penod and oneraus technotogy services contracts which will not
be utiised

Legat and Other provisions totalling £25 rillion (2014 £15 million) primarily relate to potential Liabilities
that may arise as a result of Boxclever having been placed into adminstrative receivership, most of which
relate to pension arrangements In 2011 the Determinations Panel of the Pensions Regulator determined
that Financial Support Directions (FSDs) should be ssued aganst certain Group companies, which would
require the Group to put in place financiat support for the Boxclever Scheme The Group is challenging this
in the Upper Tribunal The reference process is ongoing and aside from procedural issues there were no
substantive case developments in the perniod The Directors have obtained leading counsel's opirion and
extensive legal advice in connection with the proceedings and continue to believe that the provision held
Is apprapriate The increase In provisions during the year was pnmarily due to anticipated costs of settiing
other legal matters
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37 Keepingit In this note we explain the accounting polictes goverrung the Group's pension
Pensions simple scheme, followed by analysis of the components of the net defined benefit
pension defiait, ncluding assumptions made, and where the related movements
have been recogrised in the financial statements In addition, we have placed text
boxes to explain some of the technical terms used in the disclosure

What are the Group's pension schemes?

There are two types of pension schemes A ‘Defined Contribution’ scheme that
15 open to [TV employees, and a number of ‘Defined Benefit' schemes that have
been closed to new members since 2006

What is a Defined Contribution scheme?

The ‘Defined Contribution' scheme 1s where the Group makes fixed payments into
a separate fund on behalf of those employees that have elected to particpate

in saving for therr retirement ITV has no further obligation to the partictpating
employee and the risks and rewards associated with this type of scheme are
assumed by the members rather than the Group Itis the members’ responsibility
to make investment decisions relating to their retirement benefits

What is a Defined Benefit scheme?

In a 'Defined Benefit’ scheme, members receive cash payments during retirement,
the value of which 1s dependent on factors such as salary and length of service
The Group manages the necessary investment, mortality and inflation risks in
order to meet these obligations In the event of poor returns the Group needs

to address this through a combiation of increased levels of contribution or by
making adjustments to the scheme Schemes can be funded, where regular

cash contributions are made by the emptoyer into a fund which s invested, or
unfunded, where no reqular money or assets are required to be put aside to cover
future payments

The Group makes contributions to the scheme, a separate trustee-administered
fund that 1s not consolidated in these financial statements, but 1s reflected on the
defined benefit pension deficit ine on the consolidated statement of financial
position 1t 1s the responsibility of the Trustee to manage and invest the assets

of the Scheme and its funding position The Trustee, apponted according to the
terms of the Scheme’s documentation, 1s required to act in the best interest of
the members and s responsible for managing and investing the assets of the
scheme and its funding position

Accounting policies

Defined contribution scheme

Obligations under the Group's defined contribution schemes are recogrised as an operating cost in the
Income statement as incurred For 2015, total contnbutions expensed were £16 million (2074 £14 million)

Defined benefit scheme

The Group's obligation in respect of the Defined Benefit Scheme (the ‘Scheme’) 15 calculated by estimating
the amount of future retirement benefit that eligible employees (‘members’y have earned in return for
their services That benefit payable in the future 1s discounted to today's value and then the farr value of
scheme assets contributed by the Group 1s deducted to measure the net pension deficit

The liabilities of the Scheme are measured by discounting the best estimate of future cash flows to be
paid using the ‘projected unit’ method This method is an accrued benefits valuation method that makes
allowance for projected earnings of members in the future up taretirement,
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These calculations are complex and are performed by a qualified actuary There are many judgements and
estimates necessary to calculate the Group's estimated liabilities, the main assumptions are set out later in
this section Movements in assumptions during the year are called ‘actuanal gains and losses’ and these are
recogrised in the periad in which they arise through the statement of comprehensive Income

The latest trienmial valuation of the Scheme was undertaken as at 1 January 2014 by anindependent
actuary appointed by the Trustee of the Scheme and agreed inearly 2016 The next trienrial vatuation will
be as at 1 January 2017 and 1s expected to be agreed in 2018 This will drive subsequent contribution rates

An unfunded scheme in relation to previous Directors is accounted for under 1IAS 19 and the Group 1s
responsible for meeting the pension obligations as they fall due It 1s securitised by assets hetd outside of
the ITV Pens:on Scheme in the form of gilts and included within cash and cash equivalents (see note 47)

The defined benefit pension deficit
The net pension deficit at 31 December 2015 was £176 million (2014 £346 million)

The net assets and Labilities of the Scheme are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and shown within non-current iabiities The totals recognised in the current and previous
yearsare

2015 2004

£m Em
Total defined benefit scheme obligations {3,445) {3,687)
Total defined benefit scheme assets 3,270 3,341
Net pension deficit (176) (346)

The remaining sections provide further detail of the value of the Scheme's assets and Labilities, how these
are accounted for and the impact on the iIncome statement

Defined benefit scheme obligations

Keeping it What cause movements in the defined benefit pension obligations?
simpte The areas that impact the defined benefit obligation (the pension scheme
liabilities) position at the year end are as follows

« Current service cost - the cost to the Group of the future benefits earned
by members that relates to the members' service in the current year Thisis
charged to operating costs i the iIncome statement
Interest cost — the pension obligations payable in the future are discounted
to the present value at year end A discount factor is used to determine the
current value today of the future cost The interest cost 1s the unwinding of
one year's movement in the present value of the abligation It is broadly
determined by multiplying the discount rate at the beginrung of the period by
the updated present value of the obligation during the period The discount
rate is a key assumption explained Later in this section This interest cost 1s
recognised through net financing costs in the income statement (see note 4 4)
Actuanal gains or losses - there are broadly two causes of actuarial
movements ‘Experience’ adjustments, which arise when comparing
assumptions made when estimating the iabibities and what has actually
occurred, and adjustments resulting from changes in actuanal assumptions
eg movementsin corporate bond yields Key assumptions are explained in
detail later in this section Actuarial gans or losses are recognised through
other comprehensive income
+ Benefits paid - any cash benefits paid out by the Scheme will reduce

the obligation
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The movement in the present value of the Group’s defined benefit abligation i1s anatysed below

2015 2014
£m £m

Defined benefit obligation at 1 January 3,687 3,315
Current service cost 8 7
Interest cost 126 144
Actuarial {gain) / toss (217) 366
Benefits paid {158) (145)
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 3,446 3,687

Of the above total defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2015, £46 million relates to unfunded
schemes (2014 £48 million) See note 41 for details

Assumptions used to estimate the Scheme obligations

Keeping it What are the main assumptions used to estimate the Scheme obligations?
simple The main assumptions are

+ future salary levels

+ future pensionable salary levels

- an estimate of Increases in pension payments

- the life expectancy of members

- the effect of inflation on all these factors

« the discount rate used to estimate the present day fair value of these obligations

How do we determine the appropriate assumptions?
The Group takes independent actuarial advice relating to the appropriateness
of the assumptions used

IFRS requires that we estimate a discount rate by reference to hugh quality
fixed ncome investments in the UK that match the estimated term of the
pension obhigations

The inflation assumption has been set by looking at the difference between the
yields on fixed and index-linked Government bonds The inflatton assumption is
used as a basis far the remaining financial assumptions, except where caps have
been implemented

The discount rate has therefore been obtained using the yields avaitable on AA
rated corporate bonds which match projected cash flows The Group's estimate
of the weighted average term of the liabilities is 15 years (2014 15 years)

The principal assumptians used in the Scheme’s valuations at the year end were

2015 2014
Discount rate for
Past service lrabilities 380% 350%
Future service liabilities 4 00% 370%
inflation assumption for
Past service Labilities 300% 300%
Future service habilities 310% 305%
Rate of pensionable satary increases 090% 090%
Rate of increase in pension payment (LPI 5% pension Increases) 290% 290%
Rate of increase to deferred pensions (CP) 200% 200%

1 Limited Price Index
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The tabte below reflects pubtished mortality rvestigation data in conjunction with the results of
mvestigations nto the mortality experience of Scheme members The assumed bfe expectationson

retirement are
2015 205 2014 20

Retiring today at age 60 65 60 65
Males 280 232 279 231
Females 306 257 305 256
Retinngin 20 years at age 60 65 60 65
Males 300 250 299 249
Females 326 276 325 275

Keeping it Which assumptions have the biggest impact on estimating the Scheme

simple Uabilities?

It s important to note that comparatively small changes in the assumptions
used may have a significant effect on the consolidated income statement and
statement of financial position This ‘sensitivity’ to change 1s analysed below to
demanstrate how small changes in assumptions can have a large impact on the
estirnation of the Scheme’s liabilities

The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the defined benefit obligation are

set out below

Assurnption Change i assumption Impact on defined benefit abligation

Discount rate Increase/decrease by 01% Decrease/increase by £50 million / £55 million
Rate of inflaticn Increasel/decrease by 01% Increase/decrease by £15 million / £15 milbon
(Retail Price Index)

Rate of inflation Increase/decrease by 01% Increase/decrease by £10 mellton / £10 million
(Consumer Price Index)

Life expectations Increase by one year tncrease by £90 million

The analysis above considers the impact of the single change in the assumption while keeping the other
assumptions unchanged, except for inflation The nflation sensitivities allow for consequential changes
to all pension increases linked to the relevant ndex The sensitiity analyses have been determined
by extrapolating the impact on the defined benefit obligation at the year end with changes nkey
assumptions that nught reasonably occur

tn practice, changes in one assumption may be accompanied by offsetting changes in another assumption
(although thus is not always the case) Changes in the assumptions may occur at the same time as changes
i the market value of Scheme assets, which may or may not offset the changes in assumptions

The sensitivity analysis for the impact of Ufe expectations on the defined benefit liability does not include
the potential offsetting benefit of the longewity swap classified as a Scherne asset Itis estimated thata
£75 million benefit would anise on the value of the longevity swap from a one year ncrease in the market-
based assumption of mortality (Please refer to the ‘Keeping it simple’ box in the following section for
further information on the longevity swap)
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Total defined benefit scheme assets

Keeping it
simple

The Scheme holds assets across a number of different classes which are
managed by the Trustee, who consults with the Group on changes toits
investment policy

What are the pension Scheme assets?

At 31 December 2015 the Scheme's assets were invested in a diversified portfolio
that consisted primarily of equity and debt secunties The tables below set out
the major categones of assets

Financial nstruments are i place in order to provide protection aganst changes
in market factors (Interest rates and inflation} which could act to increase the net
pension deficit These financial nstruments are classified as Scheme assets

Cne such instrument s the longevity swap which the Schemne transacted in 2011
to obtan pratection against the effect of increases in the bife expectation of the
majority of pensioner members at that date Under the swap, the Trustee agreed
to make pre-determined payments in return for payments to meet the specified
pension obhigations as they fall due, rrespective of how long the members and
therr dependants live The difference in the present values of these two streams
of payments sreftected in the Scheme assets The swap had a nil valuation at
inception and, using market-based assumptions, is subsequently adjusted for
changes in the market Ufe expectancy and market discount rates

How do we measure the pension Scheme assets?
Defined benefit scheme assets are measured at their fair value and can change
due to the following

» Interest income on scheme assets — this 1s determined by multiplying the fair
value of the Scheme assets by the discount rate, both taken as of the beginning
of the year This 1s recognised through net financing costs in the income
statement

+ Return on assets arise from differences between the actual return and interest
income on Scheme assets and are recognised through other comprehensive
Income

- Employer's contributions are paid inte the Scheme to be managed and invested

+ Benefits and administrative expenses paid out by the Schemes witl lower the
fair value of the Scheme's assets

The movement in the fair value of the defined benefit scheme’s assets s analysed below

2015 20%

£m £m

Fair value of Scheme assets at 1 January 3,341 2,870
Interest income on Scheme assets 116 128
{Loss) / return an assets, excluding interest income {126) 390
Employer contributions 102 103
Benefits paid (158) (145)
Admunistrative expenses pard (5) (5)
Fair value of Scheme assets at 31 December 3,270 3,341

The actual return on the Scheme's assets, being the sum of the interest income on Scheme assets and
return on Scheme assets, for the year ended 31 December 2015 was a decrease of £10 million
(20174 increase of £518 mullion)
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How are the Scheme's assets invested?

At 31 December 2015 the Scheme's assets were invested in a diversified portfolio that consisted pnmarnily
of equity and debt secunities The fair value of the Scheme’s assets are shown in the following table by
rmajor category
Market value Market value
2015 2014
Em £m
Quoted equities 651 654
Quoted bonds* 2,219 2,329
Total quoted assets 2,870 2,983
Property 55 51
Infrastructure 68 77
Hedge funds/alternatives 196 183
Insurance polictes 40 42
Cash and cash equivalents 86 50
Other 20 22
Longewity swap fair value {65) (67)
Total unquoted assets 400 353
Total Scheme assets 3,270 3,341

* Quoted bonds mclude interest rate and inflation swaps

Included in the above
of £564 million (2014

are overseas assets of £1,198 million (2014 £1,218 million), comprised of equities
£569 milbon) and bonds of £634 million (2014 £649 million)

When selecting the mix of assets to hold, and considering ther related risks and returns, the Trustee will
weigh up the variability of returns against the target long-term rate of return on the overall portfolio

Keeping it
simple

What was the impact of movements on the Scheme's assets and liabilities?
The sections above describe how the Scheme obligations and assets are
comprised and measured The following section sets out the impact of various
movements and expenses on the Scheme on the Group’s financial statement

Amounts recognised through the iIncome statement
Amounts recognised through the Income statement are as follows

2015 2014
£Em £m
Amount charged to operating costs

Current service cost (8) )
Scheme admuristration expenses {5) {5)
(13) (12)

Amount charged to net financing costs
Net interest an defined benefit obligation (10) (16)
Total charged in the consolidated income statement (23) (28)
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Amounts recognised through the consclidated statement of comprehensive income
The amounts recogrised through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income/(cost) are

2015 0
£m Em
Remeasurement gains and {losses)

(Loss) / Return on scheme assets excluding interest income (126} 390

Actuarial gains / {losses) on babibities ansing from change in
— nflation expenence 48 -
- financial assumptions 169 (402)
- updated valuation data - 36
217 (366)
Total recognised in the consobidated statement of comprehensive iIncome 91 24

The £217 million actuanal gam on the Scheme’s liabilities was prinaipally due to an increase in bond yields
over the year, which has resulted in a decrease in the labilities The £126 million loss on the Scheme’s
assets primarily results from decreases in the market values of gilts and swaps, whuch has led to assets
underperforming expectations

Addressing the net pension deficit

Keeping it The Group works closely with the Trustee to agree appropnate levels of funding
simple for the Scheme This Involves agreeing a Schedute of Contributions at each
tnennial valuatien, which specifies the cantributionrates for the employer and
scheme members and the date these contributions are due A recovery plan
setting out the steps that will be taken to address a funding shortfall is also agreed

In the event that the Group's defined benefit scheme 15 In a net liability position,
the Directors must take steps to manage the size of the deficit Apart from the
funding agreements mentioned above, this could involve pledging additional
assets to the Scheme, as was the case in the SDN and London Television Centre
(LTVC) pension funding partnerships (explained below)

The levels of ongoing contributions to the Scheme are based on the current service costs (as assessed by
the Scheme Trustee) and the expected future cash flows of the Scheme Normal employer contributions
in 2016 for current service are expected to be in the region of £12 mitlion (2015 £11 mdlion) and defiat
funding contnibutions in 2016 are expected to be £66 million (2015 £76 million), assuming cutrent
contrbution rates continue as agreed with the Trustee

Under the SDN pension partnership, set up in 2010, the Group has agreed to make payments af £11 million
for 12 years from 201 The LTVC partnership, established in March 2014, commits the Group to an annual
payment of £2 rmullion in 2016, increasing by 5% per annum until 2038

IFRIC 14 clanfres how the asset celling shoutd be applied, In particular, how local mimimum funding rutes
work The Group has determined that it has an unconditional nght to a refund of surplus assets If the
Schemes are run off until the tast member dies, on which basis IFRIC 14 does not cause any change in the
balance sheet disclosures before tax
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In this section

This section outhines how the Group manages its capital structure and
related financing costs, inctuding its balance sheet iquidity and access to
capital markets

The Directors determine the appropnate capital structure of ITV, specifically,
how much is raised from shareholders (equity) and how much is borrowed
from financial institutions (debt) in order to finance the Group's activities
both now and in the future. Maintaining capital discipline and balance sheet
efficiency remains important to the Group, as seen through the issuance of

a new Eurobond dunng the year Any potential courses of action will take
into account the Group's liquidity needs, flexibility to invest in the business,
pension deficit inrtiatives and impact on credit ratings

The Directors consider the Group’s capital structure and dividend policy at
least twice a year ahead of announcing results and do so in the context of its
ability to continue as a going concern, to execute the strategy and to invest
in opportunities to grow the business and enhance shareholder value.

A Tax and Treasury committee acting under delegated authority from the
Board, approves certain financial transactions and monitors compliance with
the Group's tax and treasury policies.

41 Keeping it
Net cash/ simple
(debt)

Net cash / (debt) 1s the Group's key measure used to evaluate total cash resources
net of the current outstanding debt

Adjusted net debt 1s also monitored by the Group and more closely reflects how
credit agencies see the Group's geaning To arrive at the adjusted net debt amount,
we add our total undiscounted expected contingent payments on acguisiions,
our AS 19 pension deficit and our undiscounted operating lease commitments

A full analysis and discussion of adjusted net debt is included i the Financial and
Performance Review

The tables below analyse movemenits in the components of net cash during the year

Net cash flow Currency and
1 January and non cash 31December
2015 acqursitions mavements 2015
£m £m £m £m

Cash

234 3 1 238

Cash equivalents

63 (6) ) 56

Total cash and cash equivalents 297 (3) - 294

Loans and facilities due within one year (78) 73

(5)

Finance leases due within one year (7) 7 (6) {6}

Loans and facilities due after one year (167) {433) (4) {598)

Finance leases due after one year (10) — 6 {4)

Total debt

(256) (353) {4) (613)

Net cash / (debt)

41 (356) {4) (319)
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Net cash flow Currency and

1lanuary and non-cash 310ecember

201 acquisitions movements 200

£m £m £m £m

Cash 438 (199) (5) 234
Cash equivalents 80 {17) ~ 63
Total cash and cash equivalents 518 (216) (5) 297
Loans and facilities due within one year (&7 41 {78) (78)
Finance leases due within ane year (21) 2 {7) (7}
Loans and facilities due after one year (307) 62 78 (1617)
Finance leases due after one year (17) - 7 (10)
Totai debt {380) 124 - {256)

Currency component of swaps held against euro

dencminated bonds 26 (26) - =

Net cash 164 (118) {5) 41

Cash and cash equivalents

included within cash equivalents 1s £10 million (2074 £16 million), the use of which s restricted to

meeting finance {ease commitments under programme sale and leasebacks (see note 4 2),and gilts of
£38 million (2014 £39 million) in respect of which a charging deed was executed on the unfunded pension
commitments of four former Granada executives Legal action has commenced to try and remove

the charge

Loans and facilities due within one year

In October 2015 the unsecured £78 milllon Eurobond matured, resulting in a net payment by the Group
of £76 million, after settlement of the Group’s related outstanding interest rate swaps

At vanous penods durning the year the Group drew down on the Revolving Credit Faciity (RCF’) to meet
short-term funding requirements All short-term drawings were repaid by the end of the year The
maximum draw down of the RCF dunng the year was €500 mitlion (£362 mitlion) in April to fund the
acquisition of Talpa Media The maximurm draw down on the RCF during 2014 was £321 million to fund

the 2014 acquisitions

Loans and loan notes due after one year

In September 2015 the Group 1ssued a seven year €600 million Eurcbond at a fixed coupon of 2125% which
will mature inSeptember 2022 The bond refinanced the 12 month bridge loan facility of €500 million that

was used to repay the RCF, which imtially funded the purchase of Talpa Media in April

The Group also has an unsecured £161 million Eurobond which matures in January 2017 and has a coupon

of 6125%
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4.2
Borrowings
and finance
leases

Keeping it The Group borrows money from financial nstitutions in the form of bonds, bank
simple faclities and other financiat instruments The nterest payable on these
instruments 1s shown in the net financing costs note innote 4 4

There are Board-approved policies in place to manage the Group's financial nsks
Macroeconomic market risks, which impact currency transactions and interest
rates, are discussed in note 4 3 Credit and liquidity nisks are discussed betow

- Credit nsk the nsk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty
fails to meet its contractual obligations and

« Liquidity risk the rnisk that the Group will not be able to meet its financiat
obligations as they fall due

The Group 15 required to disclose the fair value of its debt instruments The fair
value is the amount the Group would pay a third party to transfer the liability It1s
calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows,
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date This calculation
of far value i1s consistent with instruments valued under tevel 2 Innote 4 5

Accounting policies

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised imtially at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs, with subsequent
measurement at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method Under the amortised cost
rmethod the difference between the amount initially recogrised and the redemption vatue is recorded in
the income statement over the period of the borrowing on an effective Interest basis

Finance leases

Historically, ITV has entered into sale and leaseback agreements in relation to certain programme titles
Related outstanding sale and leaseback obligations, which compnise the principal and accrued interest,
are included within borrowings The finance related element of the agreement 1s charged to the income
statement over the term of the tease on an effective interest basis Sale and leaseback obligations are
secured against an equivalent cash balance beld within cash and cash equivalents

Managing credit and liquidity risk

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit nisk is represented by the carrying amount of derwative financial
assets {see note 4 3), trade recevables (see note 314), and cash and cash equivalents (note 4 1)

Trade and other receivables

The Graup's exposure to credit nisk 1s influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer
The majonty of trade recevables relate to arrtime sales contracts with advertising agencies and advertisers
Credit insurance has been taken out against these comparies to minimise the impact an the Group inthe
event of a possible default

Cash

The Group operates investment guidelines with respect to surplus cash that emphasise preservation of
capital The guidelines set out procedures and Limits on counterparty risk and maturity profile of cash
placed Counterparty Limits for cash deposits are largely based upon long-term ratings published by the
major credit rating agencies and perceived state support Deposits longer than 12 months require the
approval of the Board
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Borrowings
ITV s rated as investment grade by Moody's and S&P ITV's credit ratings, the cost of credit default swap
hedging and the absolute level of interest rates are key determinants in the cost of new borrowings for ITV

Liquidity risk

The Group’s financing policy 1s to fund itself for the medium to long-term by using debt instruments with
a range of maturities and to ensure access to appropriate short-term bank faclities with a minimum of
£250 milbion of undrawn faclities available at all times

Long-term funding comes from the UK and European Capital markets, while any short to medium-term
debt requirements are provided through bank credit facilities totalling £775 milbion (see below)
Management monitors rotling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserve (comprising undrawn bank faclities
and cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows This monitoring includes financial
ratros to assess possible future credit ratings and headroom and takes inte account the accessibility of cash
and cash equivalents

The Group has available funds through a Revolving Credit Facility ('RCF’) with a group of relationship banks
This £525 million faclity 1s committed with leverage and interest cover financial covenants and matures

in 2019 In addition, the Group has £250 million of financial covenant free financing which runs for three

to seven years All of these facilities were undrawn at 31 December 2015 (20% no drawings)

Fair value versus book value
The tables below provide farr value infarmation for the Group's borrowings

Book value Far vatue
2015 0% 2015 2014
Maturity £m £m £m £m

Loans due within one year
Other short-term loans Various 5 - 5 -
Loans due 1n more than one year
£161 million Eurobond Jan 2007 161 161 168 173
€600 mithon Eurobond Sept 2022 437 - 445 -
Loans settled or matured in the penod
£78 rmutlion Eurobond 0Oct 2015 - 78 - 81

603 239 618 254
Finance leases

The following table analyses when finance lease liabilities are due for payment

Minimum Minimem
lease 2015 lease 2014
payments Interest Principat payments Interest Principal
£m £Em £m £m £m €m
in one year or less 6 - 6 8 1 7

In more than one year but not

more than five years 4 - 4 10 - 10
10 - 10 18 1 17

Finance teases principally comprise programmes under sale and leaseback arrangements The net book
value of tangible assets held under finance leases at 31 December 2015 was £1 rmullion (2014 £1mitlion}
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4.3
Managing

market risks:

derivative
financial
instruments

Keepingit
simple

What is a derivative?

A dervative 15 a type of financial instrurment typically used to manage risk

A derivative's value changes over tme in response to underlying variables such
as exchange rates or interest rates and is entered nto for a fixed penod A hedge
1s where a dervative Is used to manage exposure in an underlying variable

The Group 15 exposed to certain market risks tn accordance with Board approved
policies, which are set out in this note, the Group manages these risks by using
dervative financial mstruments to hedge the underlying exposures

Why do we need them?
The key market risks facing the Group are

« Currency nsk arising from
I translation risk, that is, the risk in the penod of adverse currency fluctuations
in the translation of foreign currency profits, assets and Liabilities (‘balance
sheet nsk’) and non-functional currency monetary assets and habihities
(incorme statement risk’) and
1 transaction risk, that is, the risk that currency fluctuations will have a negative
effect on the value of the Group's non-functional currency trading cash flows
Anon-functional currency transaction 1s a transaction in any currency other
than the reporting currency of the subsidiary
- Interest rate nsk to the Group arises from significant changes in interest rates
on borrowings issued at or swapped to floating rates

How do we use them?
The Group mainly employs three types of derivative financial nstruments when
managing its currency and interest rate risk

- Foreign exchange swap contracts are derwvative instruments used to hedge
income statement translation risk ansing from short term intercompany loans
denominated in a foreign currency

- Forward foreign exchange contracts are derivative nstruments used to hedge
transaction risk so they enable the sate or purchase of foreign currency at a
known fixed rate on an agreed future date and

« Interest rate swaps are derivative Instruments that exchange a fixed rate of
interest for a floating rate, ar vice versa, or one type of floating rate for another,
and are used to manage interest rate nisk

Analysis of the derivatives used by the Group to hedge 1ts exposure and the various
methods used to calcutate ther respective fair values are detailed in this section

Accounting policies

Derwative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently remeasured

at fair value with the movement recorded in the income statement, except where denvatives qualify for
cash flow hedge accounting In this case, the effective portion of a cash flow hedge 1s recognised in other
comprehensive ncome and presented i the hedgingreserve within equity The cumulative gainor loss
15 later reclassified to the income statement in the same period as the relevant hedged transaction 1s
realised Derivatives with positive far vatues are recorded as assets and negatswve fair values as liabilities
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Determining Fair Value

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts 1s determined by using the difference between the
contract exchange rate and the quoted forward exchange rate at the reporting date The fair value of
interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Group would recerve or pay to terminate the swap
at the reporting date, taking into account current interest rates and our current creditworthiness, as well
as that of our swap counterparties

Third-party valuations are used to fair value the Group’s interest rate denvatives The valuation techniques
use inputs such as interest rate yield curves and currency prices/yields, volatilities of underlying
instruments and correlations between inputs

How do we manage our currency and interest rate risk?

Currency risk

As the Group expands Its international operations, the performance of the business becomes increasingly
sensitive to movements in foreign exchange rates, primanly with respect to the US dollar and the euro

The Group's foreign exchange policy 1s to use forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge material
non-functionat currency denominated costs or revenue at the time of commitment for up to five years
forward The Group also hedges a proportion of highly probable non-functional currency denominated
costs or revenue on a roiling 18 month basis (see ‘Keeping it simple box’ for explanation of non-functional
currency transactions)

The Group ensures that its net exposure to foreign currency denominated cash balances iskept to a
munirmal level by using forergn currency swaps to exchange balances back into stering or by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary

The Group also utilises foreign exchange swaps both to manage foreign currency cash flow tming
differences and to hedge foreign currency denominated monetary items

The Group’s net investments i overseas subsidiaries may be hedged where the currency exposure Is
considered to be material. In 2015 the Group designated a portion of 1ts euro borrowings nto anet
investment hedge against its euro denominated assets following the acquisition of Talpa Media

The following table highlights the Group’s sensitivity to translation risk resulting from a 10%
strengthening/weakening in sterling aganst the US dollar and euro, assuming all other vaniables are
held constant

2015 - post- 2014 - post-

tax profit 2015 - equity 1ax profit 2074 - equity
1S doltar £10 milion £63 million £8 milbon  £34 million
Euro £8 millon £47million £8 mitbon  £29 milion

Interest rate nsk
The Group's Interest rate policy is to allow fixed rate gross debt to vary between 20% and 100% of total
gross debt to accommaodate floating rate borrowings under the revolving credit faclity

At 31 December 2015 the Group's fixed rate debt represented 99% of total gross debt (2014 100%)
Consequently a 1% movement in nterest rates on negligible floating variable rate debt would not impact
the post-tax profit for the year

For financial assets and llabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss, the movements in the year
relating to changes in fair value and interest are not separated
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What is the value of our derivative financial instruments?
The following table shows the fair value of derivative financiat instruments analysed by type of contract
Interest rate swap fair values exclude accrued interest

Assets Liabilities
At 31 December 2015 £€m £m
Current
Cash flow hedges - {4)
Foreign exchange forward contracts and swaps - fair value through profit or loss 1 {1)
Interest rate swaps - fair value through profit or loss - -
Non-current
Interest rate swaps - fair value through profit or loss 8 (6)
9 (11)
Assets Liabilities
At 31 December 2014 £m £m
Current
Cash flow hedges — {3)
Interest rate swaps - fair value through profit or loss 1 (9)
Non-current
Cash flow hedges - {1}
Interest rate swaps - fair value through profit or loss 16 (1)
27 (24)
interest rate swaps

Onissuing the 2017 Eurobond, the Group entered into a portfolio of fixed to floating interest rate swaps
and then subsequently overlaid a portfolio of floating to fixed interest rate swaps with the result that
interest was 100% fixed on these borrowings The timing of entening into these swaps locked in aninterest
benefit for the Group, resulting in a net mark-to-market gamn on the portfolio

Cash flow hedges

The Group applies hedge accounting for certain foreign currency firm commitments and highly probably
cash flows where the underlying cash flows are payable within the next two years In order to fix the
sterling cash outflows associated with the commitments - which are mainly dencminated in AUD or euros
- the Group has taken out forward foreign exchange contracts for the same foreign currency amount and
maturity date as the expected foreign currency outflow The amount recognised in other comprehensive
income during the period all relates to the effective portion of the revaluation loss associated with these
contracts There was less than £1million (2014 £nil) neffectiveness taken to the income statement and
£6 million cumulative loss (2014 £nil) recycled to the income statement in the year

Net investment hedges

The Group uses euro denominated debt to partially hedge against the change in the sterling value of its
euro denominated net assets due to movements in foreign exchange rates The fair value of debt na net
investment hedge was £341million (2014 £nil) A foreign exchange loss of £2 million (2014 £nil) relating
to the net investment hedges has been netted off within exchange differences on transtation of foreign
operations as presented on the consolidated statement of cormprehensive income
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Undiscounted financial Liabilities

Keeping it The Group 1s required to disclose the expected timings of cash outflows for each
simple of ts financial babilittes (including dervatives) The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractuat undiscounted cash flows (including interest), so will not always
reconcile with the amounts disclosed on the statement of financial position

conu-a::ut:: Less than Between Between Over
Carrying value cash flows 1year land2years 2andSyears Syears
At 31 December 2015 £m £m £m €m £m Em
Non-derivative financial labilities
Borrowings (613) (703) {(30) {184) (28) )
Trade and other payables (834) (834) (786) (34) (14) -
Other payables - non-current (53] (@) - m 2 )
Other payables - commitments on
acquisitions (B5) (303) (12} {108) (183) -
Derivative financial instruments
Cash flow hedges
Inflow 66 66 49 17 - -
Qutflow (70) {70) {53) (17} - -
Foreign exchange forward contracts
and swaps
Inflow 147 147 144 3 - -
Qutflow (147) (147} (144) (3) - -
Interest rate swaps
Inflow 8 22 9 13 - -
Qutflow (6) {12) (6) {6} - -
(1,538) {1,838) (829) (320) (227) (462)
Total
contractual Less thah Between Between Over
Carryingvalus  cash flows year landlyears 2andSyears Syears
At 31Decermnber 2014 £m £m £m £m £m £Em
Non-derivative financial iabilities
Borrowings {256) (357) {100y (16) (175) (66)
Trade and other payables (726) (726) (699) (23) (4) -
Other payables — non-current {4) (4) - (3 (1) -
Other payables - commitments on
acquisttions (34) {96) - (9) (87) (6)
Denvative financial instruments
Cash flow hedges
Inflow 88 88 52 36 - -
Qutflow (92) (92) (54) (38) - -
Foreign exchange forward contracts
and swaps
Inflow 19 19 17 2 - -
Outflow {19) {19) (17) (2) - -
Interest rate swaps
Inflow 26 47 26 8 13 -
Outflow (19) (27) {16) (5) (6) -
{1,017) (1167) (791) (50) (254) (72)
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4.4
Net financing
costs

Keepingit This section details the interest income generated on the Group's cash and other
simple financial assets and the interest expense incurred on borrowings and other
finanaal labiities

in reporting ‘adjusted profit’, the Group adjusts net financing costs to exclude
unrealised mark-to-market movements on interest rate and foreign exchange
derivatives, gains/losses on bond buybacks, net pension interest, interest and fair
value movements i acquisition-related Liabilittes and other financing costs

Our rationale for adjustments made to financing costs 1s set out in the Financal
and Performance Review

Accounting policies

Net financing costs comprise interest income on funds invested, gains/losses on the disposal of financial
instruments, changes in the fair value of financial instruments, interest expense an borrowings and finance
leases, unwinding of the discount on provistons, unwinding of the discount on Liabilities to non-controlling
interest, foreign exchange gains/losses, and imputed interest on pension assets and labilities Interest
ncorme and expense 15 recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective mterest method

Net financing costs
Net financing costs can be analysed as follows

2015 20
£m £m
Financing income
Interest income 3 4
Change in fair value of instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss 3 -
Foreign exchange gain -
Other finance income - 17
6 22
Financing costs
Interest expense on financial habibities measured at amortised cost (17) (19)
Net pension interest {see note 37} {10) (17}
Losses on early settlernent - (30)
Foreign exchange loss {2) -
Other finance expense (8) (7)
37) 3
Net financing costs (31) (57)

Interest on financial babilities relates to the interest incurred on the Group's borrowings in the year

The losses on earty setttement in the prior year of £30 million were incurred as a result of the repurchase
of the remaining £62 mutlion 2019 bilateral loan

Other finance income N the prior year primarly relates to acquisition-related contingent babilities Thisis
where estimates of the future performance against stretch targets is reassessed, resulting in adjustments
to the related put option babilities Other finance expense includes the amortisation of facility
commitment and upfront fees
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45 Keepingit The financial instruments included on the ITV statement of financial position are
Fair value simple measured at erther far value or amortised cost The measurement of this fair
hi erarchy value can in some cases be subjective, and can depend on the inputs used in the

catculations [TV generally uses external valuations using market inputs or market
values (e g external share prices) The different valuation methods are called
‘hierarchues’ and are described below

Level1

Farr values are measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2
Far values are measured using inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level, that are observable for the asset or lability either directly ar indirectly

Interest rate swaps and options are accounted for at their far value based upon
terrmination prices Farward foreign exchange contracts are accounted for at the
difference between the contract exchange rate and the quoted forward exchange
rate at the reporting date

Level 3
Farr values are measured using inputs for the asset or babitity that are not based
an observable market data

The tables below set out the financial instruments inctuded on the ITV statement of financial position
at ‘fair value’

Fair value Levelt Level2 Level 3
31December 31December I December 31 December
2015 2015 2015 2015
£m £m Em £m
Assets measured at fair value
Available for sale finanaal instruments
Available for sale gilts (see note 4 1) 38 38 - -
Available for sale investrments (see note 3 5) M — — L
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Foreign exchange forward contracts and swaps 1 - 1 -
Interest rate swaps 8 - 8 -
58 38 9 L
Falr value Level1 Level2 Level 3
31 December 31 0ecember 31Decemnber 31December
2015 205 018 2015
£m £m £m Em
Liabilities measured at fair value
Financial babilities at fair value through profit or loss
Contingent consideration {3) - - (3)
Fareign exchange forward contracts and swaps (] - (M -
Interest rate swaps (6) - (6) -
Financial Labilittes at fair value through reserves
Cash flow hedges {4) — {4) -
(14) - an {3)
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Fair value Level Level 2 Level 3
31December 31December 31December 31December
2014 2014 2014 2014
£&m £m £m £m
Assets measured at far value
Available for sale financial instruments
Available for sale gilts (see note 4 1) 39 39 - -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Contingent consideration 32 - - 32
Interest rate swaps 27 - 27 -
98 39 27 32
Fair value Level1 Levet 2 Level 3
3tDecember 31December 310ecember 31Decemnber
014 2014 2014 2014
£m £m Em Em
Liabibties measured at fair value
Financial Llabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Contingent consideration (3) - - (3}
Interest rate swaps (20) - (20) -
Financia! Llabilities at fair value through reserves
Cash flow hedges {4) - (4) -
27) - (24) B)

Refer to note 4 3 for how we value interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency contracts

Contingent consideration is the Group’s only financial mstrument classified as Level 3 in the far value

hierarchy As noted in the accounting policy section of note 3 3, the key assumptions taken into

consideration when measurnng this acquisition-related tability are the performance expectations of the
acquisition and a discount rate that reflects the size and nature of the new business There 15 no reasonable
change in discount rate or performance targets that would give nse to a material change in the liability at

year end

The table below summanses the key movement in the contingent consideration during the year

Asset Liability Assel Liability

2015 2015 20% 204

£m £m £€m £m

At 1January 32 (3) - (7
Acquisitions (see note 3 4) - - 30 ()
Changes in non-controlling interests (32) - - -
Changes in estimates (Income statement) - - - 5
Currency translation - - 2 —
At 31 December - {3) 32 (3)
Current - (2) - -
Non-current - (1) 32 (3)
At 31 December - {3) 32 (3)

Changes in estimates, iIncluding the unwind of interest and fair value movements, are recognised In net

financing costs
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4.6
Equity

Keeping it This section explains matenal movements recorded in shareholders' equity that
simple are not explained elsewhere in the financial statements The movements in equity
and the balance at 31 December 2015 are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes tn equity

\,

Accounting policies

Available for sale reserve

Avallable for sale assets are stated at fair value, with any gain or loss recognised directly in the available
for sale reserve in equity, unless the loss is a permanent impairment, when it 15 then recorded in the
income statement

Dividends

Dwvidends are recognised through equity on the earlier of their approval by the Company's shareholders
or their payment

4.6.1 Share capital and share premium

The Group’s share capital at 31 December 2015 of £403 million (2014 £403 million) and share premium
of £174 million (2014 £174 millon)is the same as that of ITV ptc Details of this are given in the ITV plc
Company financial staterments section of this Annual Report

4.6.2 Merger and other reserves
Merger and other reserves at 31 December 2015 include the following reserves

ms w014
£m £m
Merger reserves 98 119
Capital reserves 12 112
Capital redemption reserves 36 36
Revaluation reserves 2 6
Put option labilities anising on acquisition of new subsidiaries (27) (45)
Total N 228

The movement in the merger reserve and put option Is Inrelation to the acquisition of the remaining
non-controlling interest of Leftfield Entertainment

4 6 3 Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises

- all forergn exchange differences arising on the transiation of the accounts of, and investments n, foreign
operations and
« the gans orlosses on the portion of cash flow hedges that have been deemed effective (see note 4 3)

4 6 4 Available for sale reserve
The avatable for sale reserve comprnses all movements ansing on the revaluation of gilts accounted for
as avallable for sale

4 6 5 Retained earnings

The retained earnings reserve comprises profit for the year attnbutable to owners of the Company of
£495 million (2014 £466 rmillion) and other items recognised directly through equity as presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity Other items nclude the credit for the Group's share-based
compensation schemes and the charge for the purchase of TV shares via the [TV Employees’ Benefit Trust,
which are described innote 4 7

The Directors of ITV plc propose a final dwidend of 41p per share and a special dvidend of 10 Op per share
See details on page 163
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4.7
Share-based
compensation

4 6 6 Non-controlling interests
The movermnent for the year comprises

« the farr value of the non-controlling interest acquired in the year of £19 million relates to the acquisition
of the remaining 20% in Leftfield Entertamment (2014 £20 miilion),

- the share of profits attributable to non-controlling mterests of €7 milion (2014 £7muliton), and

» the distnbutions made to non-controlling nterests of €5 million (2074 £8 million)

Keeping it The Group utilises share award schemes as part of its employee remuneration
simple packages, and therefore operates a number of share-based compensation
schemes, namely the Deferred Share Award (D5A), Performance Share Plan (PSP),
Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and Save As You Earn (SAYE) schemes

A transaction will be classed as share-based compensation where the Group
recewves services from employees and pays for these inshares or similar equity
instruments If the Group incurs a lability based on the price or value of the Group’s
shares then this will atso fall under a share-based transaction

Adescnption of each type of share-based payment arrangement that existed at
any time during the period are set outin the Annual Remuneration Report

Accounting policies

For each of the Group’s share-based compensation schemes, the fair value of the equity nstrument
granted s measured at grant date and spread over the vesting period via a charge to the income
statement with a corresponding increase in equity

The farr value of the share options and awards 1s measured using either market price at grant date or, for
the Save As You Earn scheme {SAYE), a Black-Scholes model, taking sinto account the terms and conditions
of the individual scheme

Vesting conditions are imited to service conditions and performance conditions For performance-based
schemes, the relevant Group performance measures are projected to the end of the performance period
in order to determine the number of options expected to vest The estimate s then used to determine the
option fair value, discounted to present vatue The Group revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest, Including an estimate of forfeitures at each reporting date The impact of the
revision to original estimates, If any, are recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity

Exercises of share options granted to employees can be satisfied by market purchase or 1ssue of new
shares No new shares may be 1ssued to satisfy exercises under the terms of the DSA During the year
all exercises were satisfied by using shares purchased in the market and held in the iTV Employees’
Benefit Trust

Share-based compensation charges totalted £14 million n 2015 {2014 £14 mithion)
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Share aptions outstanding

The table below summarises the movements in the number of share options outstanding for the Group

and their werghted average exercise price

2015

2014

Weighted Weighted

Mumber average Number average

ofoptions  exercise price of options exercise prce

{0au) {pence) {000) (pence}

QOutstanding at 1 January 51,933 3297 67,676 14 52
Granted during the year — nil priced 6,744 - B,594 -
Granted during the year - other 4,615 198 94 5,999 162 86
Forfeited during the year (30) 143 65 {1387) 28 67
Exercised dunng the year {19,477) 16 65 (27,860) 902
Expired during the year (3,618) 18 77 {1,095) 1294
Outstanding at 31 December 40,167 5563 51933 3297
Exercisable at 31 December 610 5317 1129 14 47

The average share price during 2015 was 254 24 pence (2014 198 (01 pence)

Of the options still outstanding, the range of exercise prices and weighted average remaining contractuat
Ufe of these options can be analysed as follows

2015 2014

Weighted Weighted

Weighted average Weighted average

average Numb Ining average Nurnber remaining

exerclse price of options contractualiife exercise pnce ofoptions  contractual life

Range of exerclse prices (pence) (pence) oo (years) (pence) ('000} (years)
Nit - 25,910 179 - 36,522 175
2000 -4999 - - - 3561 1,120 053
5000-6999 67 24 991 098 6737 5123 111
7000-9999 7358 30 092 7358 303 190
10000 - 10999 102 59 1,672 114 102 59 1,733 216
11000 -11999 - - - = - -
12000 -14999 131.44 1,975 152 13144 1,251 252
150 00 - 19999 172 58 8,089 222 — - -
20000 - 24599 206 83 2,054 252 16372 5,881 280

Assumptions

DSA, LTIP and PSP options are valued directly by reference to the share price at date of grant The options
for the SAYE scheme, an HMRC approved SAYE scheme, are valued using the Black-5choles modet, using

the assumptions below

Share price Expected Gross dvidend Risk-free
atgrant  Exercise price volankity  Expectedlife yield rate Fairvalue
Scheme name Date of grant. {pence) {pence) % {years) % % {pence)
3 Year 3 April 2014 195 50 159 68 3200 325 215 127 5378
5Year 3 April 2014 195 50 15968 3800 525 215 194 7047
3 Year 10 Sept 2014 21240 165 33 2500 325 198 130 6114
5 Year 10 Sept 2014 21240 165 33 3400 525 198 181 7429
3 Year 2 Apnl 2015 25100 19252 2600 325 227 074 65 85
5 Year 2 April 2015 25100 19252 3200 525 227 114 80 81
3 Year 165ept 2015 249 60 20683 2500 325 228 097 5571
5 Year 16 Sept 2015 24960 20683 3000 525 228 138 7202
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51

Related
party

transactions

154

Employees’ Benefit Trust

The Group has investments in 1ts own shares as a result of shares purchased by the ITV Employees' Benefit
Trust (EBT) Transactions with the Group-sponsored EBT are included in these financial statements and
primanty consist of the EBT's purchases of shares in ITV plc, which are accounted for as a reduction to
retained earnings

The table below shows the number of ITV plc shares held in the EBT at 31 December 2015 and the
purchases/{releases) from the EBT made in the year to satisfy awards under the Group's share schemes

Nurmber of shares Norminal value
Scheme Shares held at {released)/purchased £
1 January 2015 22,482,747 2,248,275
DSA releases (2,589,150)
PSP releases (5,580,025}
SAYE releases (5,313,414)
Shares purchased 7945,653
31 December 2015 16,949,851 1,694,985

The total number of shares held by the EBT at 31 December 2015 represents 0 42% (2014 0 56%) of
ITV's 1ssued share capital The market value of own shares held at 31 December 2015 i1s £47 million (2014
£48 million)

The shares will be held in the EBT until such time as they may be transferred to participants of the vanious
Group share schemes Rights to dvidends have been waived by the EBT in respect of shares held which do
not relate to restricted shares under the DSA In accordance with the Trust Deed, the Trustees of the EBT
have the power to exercise all voting nghts in relation to any investment (including shares) held within
that trust

Keepingit The related parties identified by the Directors include joint ventures, assocated
simple undertakings, fixed asset investments and key management personnel

To enable users of our financial statements to form a view about the effects of
related party relattonships on the Group, we disclose the Group’'s transactions with
those related parties during the year and any associated year end trading balances

Transactions with joint ventures and associated undertakings
Transactions with joint ventures and assccated undertakings during the year were

015 2014

£m £m

Sales to joint ventures 9 7
Sales to assooated undertakings 13 10
Purchases from joint veniures 24 26
Purchases from associated undertakings 65 59

The transactions with joint ventures primarily relate to sales and purchases of digital multiplex services
with Digital 3&4 Limited

Purchases from associated undertakings primarily relate to the purchase of news services from ITN

All transactions with associated undertakings and joint ventures arise in the normal course of business
on anarm’s length basis Nene of the balances are secured
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5.2
Contingent
liabilities

5.3
Subsequent
events

The amounts owed by and to these related parties at the year end were

2015 2014

£m £m

Amounts owed by joint ventures 3 -

Amounts owed by associated undertakings 66 48

Amounts owed to joint ventures 2 -
Amounts owed to associated undertakings 5

Amounts owed by pension scheme - 1

Balances owed by associated undertakings largely relate to production funding advanced to Tomorrow
ITV Studios

Amounts paid to the Group's retirement benefit plans are set out nnote 37

Transactions with key management personnel
Key management consists of ITV plc Executive and Non-executiwe Directors and the ITV Management
Board Key management personnel compensation is as follows

2015 2004
£m £fm
Short-term employee benefits 9 9
Share-based compensation 6
15 14
Keepingit A contingent bability 15 a liability that i1s not sufficently certan to qualify far
simple recogmition as a provision where uncertainty may exist regarding the outcome

of future events

erremre?

There are contingent Labilities in respect of certain btigation and guarantees, broadcasting issues, and in
respect of warranties given in connection with certain disposals of businesses None of these items are
expected to have a material effect on the Grougp’s results or financial position

Keeping it Where the Group receves information in the period between 31 December 2015
simple and the date of this report about conditions related to certain events that existed
at 31 December 2015, we update our disclosures that relate to those conditions

in light of the new information Such events can be categorised as adjusting ar
non-adjusting depending on whether the condition existed at 31December 2015
If nen-adjusting events are matenal, non-disclosure could influence the economic
decisions that users make on the basis of the financial statements Accordingly,
for each matenal category of non-adjusting event after the reporting penod we
disclose in this section the nature of the event and an estimate of its financial
effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made

On 19 October 2015 the Group announced that it had agreed to acquired 100% of the share capital

of UTV Lirmited for a total cash consideration of £100 million, subject toregulatary and UTV Meda ple
shareholder approval Final approvals were obtamed by 18 February 2016 and the acquisition completed
on 29 February 2016 The transaction was financed through existing cash and debt facilities
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5.4 Keeping it Certamn subsidiaries of the Group can take an exemnption from having an audit
Subsidiaries simple Strict criteria must be met for this exemption to be taken, and it must be agreed
exempt to by the Directors of that subsidiary entity

from audit

Listed below are subsidiaries controlled and consolidated by the Group, where the Directors have taken
the exemption from having an audit of 1ts financial statements for the year ended 31December 2015
This exemption s taken in accordance with Companies Act s479A

Company Number Company Name

01891539 Broad Street Films Limited
02285229 Campania Limited

5078683 Carbon Media Lirmited

4159249 Cariton Content Holdings Limited
1692483 Carlton Finance Limited

03984490 Carlton Food Network Limited
3053908 Carlton Programmes Development Limited
3210452 Carlton Screen Advertising (Holdings) Limited
3307730 Carltonco 103

2625225 Carltonco Forty Investments
3210363 Carltonco Ninety-5ix

2852812 Cosgrove Hall Films Limited
3209058 DTV Limited

00290076 Granada Group Limited

3962410 Granada Limited

03106798 Granada Media Limited

05344772 Granada Screen (2005} Limited
00733063 Granada Television Overseas Limited
01127149 ITV Breathless Limited

04209918 ITV Clla Limited

06914987 ITV (HC} Limited

08534385 ITV Lucan Lirmted

03916436 ITV News Channel Limited
09499040 ITV Tenmson Limited

05518785 Juice Music UK Limited

04201477 Morning TV Linated
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Company Balance Sheet

Restated* Restated*
2015 2015 204 2014
Asat 31December Note £m £m £im £m
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiary undertakings "l 1,861 1,705
Dervative financial instruments 9 17
Deferred tax asset 2 2
1,872 1724
Current assets
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 3,864 1441
Denvative financial instruments 6 14
Other recelvables 16 20
Cash and cash eqtivalents 126 145
4,012 1,620
Current babilities
Borrowings v - (78)
Amaounts owed to subsidiary undertakings {3,760) (1,795)
Accruals and deferred income {21) {19)
Denvative financial nstruments (6) {12)
(3,787) (1,904}
Net current assets/{habilities) 225 (284)
Total assets less current liabilities 2,097 1,440
Non-current habiities
Borrowings v (598) {167}
Denvative financiat instruments (6) {12)
{604) {173)
Net assets 1,493 1,267
Capital and reserves
Share capital Vi 403 403
Share premium Vil 174 174
Other reserves Vi 36 36
Retained earnings vl 880 654
Total equrty 1,493 1,267

* 2074 has been restated as part of the transition to FRS 101 See note xi

The accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 2 March 2016 and were signed on its behalf by

lan Griffiths
Director
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Share Share Other Retaned
Capital Premum Reserves Earnings Total

Note Em Em £m £m Em
Balance at 1 January 2015 403 174 36 654 1,267
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit - - - 671 671
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 671 671
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distnbutions to owners
Equity dividends - - - (459) (459)
Movements due to share based compensation - —~ - 14 14
Total contributions by and distributions to owners - - - {445) (445)
Total transactions with owners - - - {445) {445)
Balance at 31 December 2015 v/ vin 403 174 36 880 1,493

Share Share Other Retainad
Capital Premuim Reserves Earnings Total

Note £m fm £m £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2014 403 174 36 9585 1,608
Effect of changes to FRS 101 - - - 2 2
Restated balance at 1January 2014 403 174 36 997 1,610
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit - - - {44) {44)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - {44) (44)
Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Equity dividends - - - (313} (313)
Movements due to share based compensatton — - - 14 14
Total contnbutions by and distributions to owners - - - (299) (299)
Total transactions with owners - - - {299) (29%)
Balance at 31 December 2014 v/ vin 403 174 36 654 1,267
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Notes to the ITV plc Company Financial Statements

Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The Company transitioned from otd UK GAAP to Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework (FRS107) for all periods presented The Company's transition date 1s 1 January 2014 This 1s the
first year adoption of FRS101 There were no material amendments on the adoption of FRS101 See note x)
for further inforrmation

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 107 Reduced
Disclosure Framework The Company 1s a qualifying entity as it 1s a member of the ITV plc Group where ITV
plc, the ultimate parent prepares publicly available consolidated financial statements

Exemptions Applied
The Company 1s taking advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS$101

= Presentation of a Statement of Cash Flows

- Disclosure of key management personnel compensation

« Disclosure of related party transactions between wholly-owned subsidiartes and parents within a group

» Disclosures required under IFRS 2 Share Based Payments inrespect of group settled share based
payments

- Disclosures required by IFRS 7 Financial Instrument Disclosure

- Certain disclosures required under IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

- Disclosure of infarmation in relation to new standards not yet applied

As permitted by section 408 (3) of the Companies Act 2006, a separate income statement dealing with
the results of the parent company has not been presented

Subsidiaries

Subsicharies are entities that are directly or indirectly controlled by the Company Control exists where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity so as to obtan
benefits from its activities The investment in the Company’s subsidiaries 1s recorded at cost Annual
share-based payment compensattion costs are recharged to the subsidiaries through the profit and
loss account

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of
the transaction Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date are translated
into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at that date Foreign exchange differences arising on translation
are recognised in the profit and loss account Non-monetary assets and liabilittes measured at historical
cost are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange on the date of the transaction

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised imitially at fair vatue including directly attributable transaction costs, with
subsequent measurement at amortised cost using the effective nterest rate method The difference
between initial far value and the redemption value s recorded in the profit and loss account over the
period of the Liability on an effective interest basis

Derivatives and other financial instruments

The Company uses a Limited number of denvative financial instruments to hedge Its exposure to
fluctuations in interest and other foreign exchange rates The Company does not hold or Issue dervative
instruments for speculative purposes

Derwvative financial instruments are inrtially recognised at fair value and are subsequently remeasured at
far value with the movement recorded in the profit and loss account within net financing costs, except
where derwatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting Inthis case, the effective portion of cash flow
hedge 15 recognised In retained profits within equity The cumulative gain or loss s later reclassified to the
profit and loss account in the same period as the relevant hedged transaction s realised Dervatives with
posttive fair values are recorded as assets and negative fair values as babiities

The fair value of foreign currency forward contracts is determined by using the difference between the
contract exchange rate and the quoted forward exchange rate at the balance sheet date
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The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Company would receive or pay to
terminate the swap at the balance sheet date, taking into account current interest rates and the current
creditworthiness of swap counterparties

Third-party valuations are used to far value the Company’s derivatives The valuation technigues use
inputs such as interest rate yield curves and currency prices/yields, volatidities of underlying instruments
and correlations between inputs For financial assets and liabilities classified at fair value through profit
or loss the farr value change and interest ncome/expense are not separated

Deferred tax
The tax charge for the period is recognised in the income staterment or directly In equity according te the
accounting treatrment of the related transaction

Deferred tax arises due to certain temparary differences between the carrying amount of assets and
Liabiities for financial reporting purposes and those far taxation purposes The amount of deferred tax
provided i1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carryingamount of assets
and Labilities A deferred tax asset 1s recognised only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to utiise the temporary difference Recognition of deferred tax assets,
therefore involves judgement regarding timing and level of future taxable income

Share-based compensation

The Company utilises share award schemes as part of its employee remuneration packages, and therefore
operates a number of share-based compensation schemes, namely the Deferred Share Award (DSA),
Performance Share Plan (PSP), Long Term Incentive Plan {LTIP) and Save As You Earn (SAYE) schemes

A transaction will be classed as share-based compensation where the Company receives services from
employees and pays for these in shares or similar equity instruments (f the Company incurs a lability
based on the price or value of the shares then this will also fall under a share-based transaction

The fair value of the equity instrument granted s measured at grant date and spread over the vesting
period via a charge to the income statement with a corresponding increase in equity The fair value of
the share options and awards is measured using erther market price at grant date or, for the Save As
You Earnscheme {SAYE), a Black-Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions of the
individual scheme

Vesting conditions are imited to service conditions and performance conditions For performance-based
schemes, the relevant performance measures are projected to the end of the performance period in order
to determine the number of options expected to vest The estimate 1s then used to determine the option
fair value, discounted to present value The Company revises Its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest, including an estimate of forfeitures at each reporting date The impact of the revision
to onginal estimates, If any, are recogrised in the iIncome statement, wrth a corresponding adjustment

to equity

Exercises of share options granted to employees can be satisfied by market purchase or 1ssue of new
shares No new shares may be 1ssued to satisfy exercises under the terms of the DSA During the year
all exercises were satisfied by using shares purchased in the market and held in the [TV Employees’
Benefit Trust

The weighted average share price of share options exercised during the year was 16 65p (2014 902p)
The options outstanding at the year end have an exercise price in the range of nil to 206 83p and a
weighted average contractual life of 1year (2014 1year)

Dividends
Dividends are recogrised through equity on the earlier of their approval by the Company’s shareholders

or therr payment

Employees
Two (2014 two) Directors of [TV plc were employees of the Company during the year, both of whom
remain at the year end The costs relating to these Directors are disclosed in the Remuneration Report
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Investments in subsidiary undertakings
The principal subsidiary undertakings are isted on page 166 The balance at 31 December 2015 was
£1,861 million (2014 £1,705 mitlion)

During the year, the Company set up a subsidiary investment, ITV {(Europe) Holdings BV for £146 million

in exchange for 10 £1ordinary shares The Company also increased its mvestment In ITV Investments
Limited by £5 million in exchange for 1£1 ordinary share The Company increased its investment in Carlton
Communications Lirmited by £5 million in exchange for 1 £1ordinary share

Amounts owed (to)/from subsidiary undertakings

The Company operates an intra-group cash pool policy with certain 100% owned UK subsidiaries The pool
applies to bank accounts where there 15 an unconditional night of set off and Involves the daily closing cash
position for participating subsidianies whether positive or negative, being cleared to £nil via daily bank
transfers to/from ITV plc These daily transactions create a corresponding intercompany creditor or debtor
which can result in significant movements in amounts owed to and from subsidiary undertakings in the
Company balance sheet

Borrowings

Loans repayable in less than one year

In October 2015 the unsecured £78 milllon Eurobond matured, resulting in a net payment by the company
of £76 million, after settlement of the related outstanding interest rate swaps

Loans repayable after more than one year
The unsecured £161 milion Eurobond matures in January 2017 and has a coupon of 6 125%

At vanous penods during the year the Company drew down on the Revolving Credit Facility (RCF') to
meet short-term funding requirements All short-term drawings were repaid by the end of the year

The maximum draw down of the RCF duning the year was €500 mullion (€362 million) n April to fund the
acquisition of Talpa Media The maximum draw down on the RCF duning 2014 was £321 mullion to fund
the 2014 acgquisitions

Loans repayable after more than one year

In September 2015 the Company issued a seven year €600 million Eurcbond at a fixed coupon of
2125% which will mature in September 2022 The bond refinanced the 12 month bndge loan faclity of
€500 million that was used to repay the RCF, which imitially funded the purchase of Talpa Media in April

Managing market risks: derivative financial instruments
What is the value of our derivative financial instruments?

Assets Liabilitles
205 2015
Current
Cash Flow Hedges 3 (4)
Foreign exchange forward contracts and swaps — fair value through profit or loss 3 {2)
Interest Rate Swaps - farr value through profit or loss - -
Non-current
interest Rate Swaps - fair value through profit or loss 9 (6)
15 (12)
Assets Liabilities
2014 2014
Current
Cash Flow Hedges 2 (2)
Foreign exchange forward contracts and swaps — fair value through profit or loss 1 (1}
interest Rate Swaps — fair value through profit or loss 1 S)
Non-current
Cash Flow Hedges 1 U]
Interest Rate Swaps - fair value through profit or loss 16 (")
el (24)
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The Company mainty employs three types of derivative financial instruments when managing Its currency
and interest rate risk

- Foreign exchange swap contracts are derivative instruments used to hedge income statement
translation nisk anising from short term intercompany loans denominated in a foreign currency

«» Forward foreign exchange contracts are dervative Instruments used to hedge transaction nsk so
they enabte the sale or purchase of foreign currency at a known fixed rate on an agreed future date

- Interest rate swaps are dervative instrurnents that exchange a fixed rate of interest for a floating rate
or vice-versa or one type of floating interest rate far another and are used to manage interest rate risk

Interest rate swaps

Onssuing the 2017 Eurobond, the Company entered into a portfolio of fixed to floating interest rate
swaps and then subsequently overlaid a portfolio of floating to fixed interest rate swaps with the result
that interest was 100% fixed on these borrowings The timing of entering into these swaps locked in an
interest benefit for the Company, resulting in a net mark-to-market gain on the portfolio

Cash flow hedges

The Company applies hedge accounting for certain foreign currency firm commitments and highly
prabably cash flows where the relevant cash flows are payable within the next two years Inorder to fix
the sterting cash outflows associated with the commitments — which are mainly denominated in AUD or
euros - the Company has taken cut forward foreign exchange contracts for the same foreign currency
amount and maturity date as the expected foreign currency outflow The amount recognsed in ather
comprehensive Income during the period all relates ta the effective portion of the revaluation loss
associated with these contracts There was less than £1milion (2014 £nil) ineffectiveness taken to the
income statement and £6 million cumulative loss (2014 €nil) recycled to the iIncome statement in the year

tUndiscounted financial liabilities

The Company I1s required to disclose the expected timungs of cash outflows for each of its dervative
financial labilities The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including iInterest), so will not always reconcile with the amounts disclosed on the statement of

financial posttion
Total
Carrying Contractual Less than Between Between
value cash flows year land2years 2and5years Owver Syears
At 31 December 2015 £m £m £m £m £em £m
Non-current and current
Cash flow hedges
Inflow 3 136 102 34 - -
Outflow (4} (136) (102) {34) - -
Foreign exchange forward contracts and
swaps ~ far value through profit or loss
Inflow 3 253 248 5 - -
Qutflow {2 {252) (247) (5) — —
Interest Rate Swaps - fair value through
profit or loss
Inflow 9 22 9 13 - -
Outflow (6) (2) {6) {6) - i
3 " 4 7 - -
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Total

Carrying Contractual Less than Between Between
value cash flows 1year 1and2years 2andSyears OverSyears
At 31 December 2014 £m £m £m £m £m £Em
Non-current and current
Cash Flow Hedges
Inflow 3 174 100 74 - -
Outflow (3) (174) {100) (74) — -
Foreign exchange forward contracts and
swaps — fair value through profit or loss
Inflow 1 209 205 4 - -
Qutflow (1) (209) {205) (%) - -
interest Rate Swaps - fair value through
profit or loss
Inflow 27 47 26 8 13 -
Qutflow {20) (27} (16) (5) (6) -
7 20 10 3 7 —
Share capital
Allotted, issued
Authorised and fulty paid
201582014 2015 & 20
£m £m
Authorised ordinary shares of 10 pence each 8,000,000,000 800
Allotted, ssued and fully paid ordinary shares of 10 pence each £4,025,409194 403
Total 800 403

The Company's ordinary shares give shareholders equal nghts to vote, receve dividends and to the
repayment of capital.

Equity

The retained earnings reserve includes profit after tax for the year of £671 million (2074 £44 millionloss)
which includes dividends of £700 mullion from subsidiaries in 2015 (2014 £nil) The retained earnings
reserves of £880 million are all distributable

The Directors of the Company propose a final dividend of 4 1p per share and a special dwvidend of 10 0p
pershare

Other reserves of £36 milbon (2014 £36 million) relate to share-buy backs i prior periods

Contingent liabilities

Under a Group registration, the Company 1s jointly and severally Liable for VAT at 31 December 2015 of
£59 million (31 December 2014 £58 mitlion) The Company has guaranteed certain finance and aperating
lease obligations of subsidiary undertakings

There are contingent liabilities in respect of certamn litgation and guarantees, broadcasting issues, and in
respect of warranties given in connection with certain disposals of businesses None of these items are
expected to have a material effect on the Company’s results or financial position

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other
companies within its Group, the Company considers these to be insurance arrangements, and accounts for
thern as such In this respect, the Company treats the guarantee contract as a contingent lability until such
time as it becomes probable that the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee

Capital and other commitments
There are no capital commitments at 31 December 2015 (2014 none)
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Related party transactions
Transactions with key management personnel
Key management consists of ITV pic Executive Directors

Key management personnel compensation, on an accounting basis, 15 as follows

2015 2014

£m £m

Short-term employee benefits 3 3
Share-based compensation 3 2
6 5

Total emoluments and gains on share options received by key management personnel n the year were

2015 2014

£m £m

Emoluments 3 3
Gains on exeraise of share options 3 2
Gains on release of restricted share awards 3 3
9 8

Transition to FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework

For all periods up to and including 31December 2014, the Cornpany prepared its financial statements in
accordance with previgusly extant United Kingdom generally accepted acceunting practice (UK GAAP)
These financial statements for the year ended 31 December 20115, are the first the Company has prepared
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (FR5107) Accordingly
the Company has prepared these financial statements ta comply with FRS101 for periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2014 and the significant accounting policies meeting those requirements are described in
the relevant notes

In prepanng these financial statements, the Company has started from an opening balance sheet as at

1 January 2014, the Company's date of transition to FRS101 and made those changes in accounting policies
and other restatements required for the first-time adoption of FRS101 As such this note explains the
principal adjustments made by the Company in restatingits balance sheet as at 1 January 2014 prepared
under previously extant UK GAAP andits previously published UK GAAP financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2014

On transition to FRS 107, the Company has applied the requirements of IFRS 4 first time adoption of
Internaticnal Financtal Reporting Standards

Under FRS 101 deferred tax s recognised on temporary differences between the estimated future
tax deductions for share-based compensation and the related cumulative share-based compensation
expense To the extent that the estimated future tax deductions exceed the cumulative expense,

the excess deferred tax I1s recagrised directly in equity
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Company Balance Sheet

As originally As originally
reported under reported under
UK GAAP at Restated at UK GAAP at Restated at
1lanuary 2014 FRS101  1fanuary 2004 31December 2074 FR5101 31 December 20114
£m £€m £Em £em fm £m
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 1,648 - 1,648 1,705 - 1,705
Derwative financial instruments 41 - 41 17 - 7
Deferred tax asset - 2 2 - 2 2
1,689 2 1,681 1,722 2 1,724
Current assets
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 1,280 - 1,280 1,441 - 1,441
Derwvative financal instruments 32 - 32 14 - 14
Other receivables 26 - 26 20 — 20
Cash at bank and cash equwvalents 319 - 319 145 — 145
1657 - 1,657 1,620 - 1,620
Current habilities
Borrowings {4) - {4a1) (78) - (78)
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings (1,342 - (1,342) (1,795) - (1,795)
Accruals and deferred income {22 - {22) (19) - {19)
Dervative financial instruments (5) - {5) (12) - {12)
{1,410} - {1,410) (1,904) - (1,904)
Net current assets/(Labilities) 247 - 247 (284) - {284)
Total assets less current Liabilities 1936 2 1,938 1,438 2 1,440
Non-current Wabilities
Borrowings (307) - {301) {161) - (161)
Derwvative financial instruments (27) - (27) {(12) - (12)
{328) - (328) (173) - {(173)
Net assets 1608 2 1,610 1,265 2 1,267
Capital and reserves
Share capital 403 - 403 403 - 403
Share premum 174 - 174 174 - 174
Other reserves 36 - 36 36 — 36
Retained earnings 995 2 997 652 2 654
Total equity 1,608 2 1,610 1,265 2 1,267
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Subsidiary undertakings and investments
Principal subsidiary undertakings
The principat subsichary undertakings of the Company at 31 December 2015, all of which are wholly owned (directly or indirectly)

and incorporated and registered where stated, are

Name Country of incorporation  Princrpal Activities Interest %
or establishment Holding
Caritan Commurications Limited™ United Kingdom Holding Company Ordinary, Redegmabie Preference 100
ITV 8roadcasting Lmited United Kingdom Broadcast of television programmes Qrdinary 100
PV Consumer Limited Umited Kingdom Development of platforms broadband, transactional Ordinary 160
and mobile services
ITV Digital Channets Limited United Kingdom Operation of digital television channels Ordinary 100
ITV Global Entertainment Limited United Kingdom Rights ownership and distnbution of telewision Qrdnary 00
programmes and films
ITV Natwark birnuted Uruted Kingdam Schedulag and camrmssiorung of telewsion programmmes Guarantee 100
[TV Rights Limited United Kingdom Rights ownership Ordinary 100
ITV Services Limited United Kingdom Provision of services for other companies wethenthe Group  Ordinary Cumulative Preference 100
ITV Studios Lirmited United Kingdom Production of television programmes Ordinary 100
ITV2 Limited United Kingdom Operation of digital television channels Qrdinary 100
SDN Lirmited United Kingdom Operation of Freeview Multiplex A Ordmnary 100
Talpa Media BV Netherlands Production of television programmes Ordinary 100
ITV Studios Inc Ursted States Production of television programmes Common 100
Leftfield Entertamment LLC United States Production of television programmes membership 100
Subsidiary undertakings
Name Country of Interest % Name Countryof Interest %
Incorporationar Holding mcorporation ar Haolding
establishrment establishment

12 Yard {North) Productions United Kingdorn  Ordinary 100 Cariton Programmes United Kingdom  Ordinary 100
Lurmited Development Limuted
12 Yard Limited Umited Kingdom _ Ordinary 160 Carlton Screen Adveruising United Kingdom Ordinary 100
12 YardProductions ffrvestments)  United Ksngdom  Ordinary 100 {Holdings} Lirmited
Linited Carltonco 103 United Kingdem  Ordinary 100
12 Yard Productions Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Carltonco 99 Limated United Kingdom  Qrdinary 100
A C.E.(1988) Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Caritonco Eighty-One Limited united Kingdom  Ordinary Deferred 100
Action Time Holdings United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Carltonco Fifty Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary Preference 100
Anglia Television (Music) Limited  United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Carltonco Forty Investments UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100
Angla Televsion Entertainment  United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Carltonco Forty Five Limited United Kingdorn  Ordinary 100
Angla Television Group United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Caritonco NineTy-5ix United Kingdom  Ordinary Cumulative 100
Angla Televsion Holdings United Kimgdem  QOrdinary 100 gfgfzig’;zle
Anglia Television Limited UnitedKingdom  Qrdmary 100 Carttonco SeventeenLimited UnitedKingdom _ Ordmary w00
Big Talk Investments Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 ——

C i Properties Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100
Big Talk JL Limuted United Kingdom _ Ordinary 100 Cat's on the Roof Media Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100
::g E:: zg:::::::tﬁ:lted 3::::3 ::gz: g:g:nr:: :gg Central Productions Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

Central Teteviston birmuted United Kingdom  Ordinary 100
Broad Street Films Limuted United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Channel Television Holdngs UnitedKingdom  Ordmary 00
Campania Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary, Cumulatve 100 Limited

Redeemable
Preference Cosgrove Hall Films Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

Carbon Media Linited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 CTViwmited Umted Kingdom _ Ordnary 06
Carlton Active Limited UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary 100 Electranic Rentals Group United Kingdom  Ordinary 100
Cariton Broadcasting Holdings Urited Kingdom  Ordinary 100 EQPictures Limited UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary 100
Cariton Broadcasting Limited United Kingdorm  Ordinary 100 Film Lab Ngrth Limited UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary og
Cariton Cinema Limited United Kngdom  Ordinary 00 First independent Films UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary 100
Carlton Content Haldings UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Genesls Film Productions Limited  UnitedKingdom _ Ordimary 100
Limeted GILLimited United Kingdem  Qrdimary 100
Carlton Entertainment United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Granada AV Solutions Limuted United Kingdom  Ordinary 100
Carlton Film Distnbutors imited  Urited Kingdam  Ordinary el Granada Film UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100
Carlton Films Limited Urited Kingdom  Ordinary 00 Granada Fitm Productions Levited  United Kingdom  Ordinary 100
Carlton Finance Limited United Xingdem  Ordinary 100 Granada Group Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary Convertible 100
Cariton Food Network Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Preference
Carlton Productions Lirmited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Granada Limited United Kingdom __ Ordinary 160

Granada Media Group Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100
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Name Countryof interest % Name Country of interast %
Incorparation or Holding mcarporation or Halding
establishment establishment

Granada Media Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary Part 100 {TV Supplementary Pension UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100

Preference Scheme Limited

Granada Ngrwnees Lirmited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 ITV Tennison Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

Granada Productians Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 ITV Text Santa Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

Granada Properties United ¥ongdom  Ordinary 100 ITV TFG Holdings Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

Granada Screen (2005) United sngdom  Ordinary 100 ITV Thunderbirds Lmited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

umited ITV Tut Limited United Kingdom ~ Ordinary 100

Granada Television International  United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 TV Veniures Linuted United Kingdom _ Ordinary 100

Granada Television Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 ITV Wales & West GroupLimited  United Kingdom Ordinary 100

ﬁﬁﬁ? Television Overseas United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 ITV Wales & West Limvted United Kingdom_ Ordinary 100

Granada Television ProducTions United Kmgdom  Ordtnary 6o [TV Worldwide Limited UntedKingdom Ordinary 1o0

Limited V3 Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

Granada LIK Rental and Retail UnitedKingdom  Orchinary, Cumulative 100 mv4 Limited United Kingdom _ Ordinary 100

Limited Preference Juice Music UK Liruted UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100

Interactve Telephony Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Leftfield (UK) Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

International Television UnitedKingdom  Ordinary Redeemable 100 Link Electronics Limited UntedXingdom  Ordinary 100

Enterpnses Landon Limited Preference London News Network United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

ITC Distribution UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary 100 London Weekend Television United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

ITC Entertainment Group Limited  UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Limited

ITCEntertanment Holdings Limited United Kingdom _ Ordinary 100 LWT (Haldings) Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordmary Special 100

ITV (HC) Limited UnitedKingdomn  Qrdinary 100 Deferred

ITV (Scottand} Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 LWT Productons Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

ITV Beowulf Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Mammoth Screen (AR) Limited United Kingdom ~ Ordinary 100

1TV Border Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Mammoth Screen (ATTWN) UnitedKingdom  Ordnary 100

ITV Breakfast Broadcasting United Kingdom  Ordmary 100 Lrmited

Lirruted Mammoth Screen (BOTD)Limited  United Kingdom  Ordmary 00

ITv Breakfast Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Mammeoth Screen (Bouquet) United Kingdom  Ordmary 100

ITV Breathless Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Limited

IT¥ Central Lirted UnitedKingdom  Ordmary 00 Mammoth Screen (BW) Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

[TV Channels Lmited UnitedKimgdom _ Ordinary 00 Mammoth Screen(End)Umited  Umited Kingdom  Ordinary 100

1TV Cilla Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordimary 100 Mammoth Screen(End3) Limited _ United Kingdom _ Qrdinary 100

[TV Cradls Limited UnitedKingdom _ Ordwary 100 m:_lrlrttg;oth Screen (Falcom) United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

TV Digital Holdings Limuted Unsted Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Mammoth Screen (Monroe) United Kingdem  Ordinary 100

ITV Global Content Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Limited

ITV Holdings Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Mammoth Screen (NE) Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

ITY Home Fires Liruted Umited Kingdom  Qrclinary 100 Mammioth Screen{N Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

Tvinternational Channels (Asw)  UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Mammoth Screen (PE) Limited United Kingdom  Ordwnary 00

Limited Mammoth Screen{Pol?) Limited  United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

ITV Investments Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Mammoth Screen (Poldark) UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary 100

MV J&H Linuted United Ktngdorm  Qrdinary 100 Limited

TV Jerichg Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Mammaoth Screen (QV) Limited United Kingdom  Qrdiinary 100

ITV JR Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 00 Mammoth Screen (RM) Limited Unitedingdam  Ordinary 100

FTV Lewts Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Mammoth Screen (WH) birmited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

ITVLTVC (Scotland) Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Mammoth Screenttd United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

TV Lucan Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Mendian Music Services Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

ITV Mendian imited unitedKingdom  Ordinary 00 Mitlbank Studios UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100

ITV Mogrside Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Modern Love Films Limited UmtedKingdom  Ordinary 100

ITV Mr Selfndge Limited tnited Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Morning TV Limited Unted Kingdom  Ordinary 100

ITV Newco 1 Limited ™ UnitedKingdom  Qrdinary 100 Moving Picture Company Films UnitedKingdam  Ordinary 100

1TV News Channel Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary, Preference 100 Lirruted

ITV NP Limited United Kingdomn  Ordinary 100 Music Serveces UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary e

1TV Pension Scherne Limited Urited Kingdom  Ordinary Deferred 100 [«I;:\iltl;rjuwdence Productions UnizedKingdamn - Ordinary 100

1TV Play Limited Urited Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Partridge FAms UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 200

TV Productions Limited United Kingdem  Ordinary 100 Parmdge Holdings UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary 200

Er\‘l_.i;c:’pertles(Developments} United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Partridge Productions United Kingdom _ Ordmary 00

[TV Shetland Lmited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Pickwick Packaging Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

ITV Spant Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Planet 24 UnitedKingdom _ Ordmary 100

ITV Sport Channet Limited UmtedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Planet 24 Productions Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100

[TV Studios (israel) Limited UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary 100 Planet WidProductions Limited  UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary o
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Notes to the ITV plc Company Financial Statements

continued

Name Country of Interest % Name Country of Interest %
INcorporation or Holding incerporation or Holding
establishment establishment

Pro VisionFacitities Limited United Kingdem  Ordinary 100 New Waves Entertainment GmbH  Germany Ordinary 100

Rainbow Music Publishinglsmited  United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Talpa Germary GmbH & Co KG Germany Ordinary 100

So Telewision Developments Umited Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Talpa Germarny Verwaltungs. Germany Ordinary 00

Limited GmbH

So Telewision Lumited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Elecrent Insurance Limited Guernsey Ordinary 100

SelecTV Cable United Kingdom  Qrdinary 100 1TV Global Entertainment Hong Kong Ordinary 100

Sightseers Film Lirmited United Kingdam  Qrdinary 100 (Hong Kong) Limited

Signpost Limited United Kingdorn  Qrdinary 100 Talpa China Limited Hong Kong Ordmary 60

SOM (ITV) Lirmited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 ﬁ:&ﬁ’:g;';?: dEmertalnment Ireland Ordinary 100

Sunvival Angia UnitedKingdam _ Ordwary 100 Channel Television Lmited Jersey Ordinary 100

::::ﬁ::l::::::r:i:d tj::: znggom Ordnary 160 Creative Channel Limited Jersey Ordinary 100

ngdom _ Ordnary 100 ITV London Properties Lumited Jersey Ordinary 00

The Garden Productions Umuted  United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 [TV Properties {Jersey) Lirated Jersey Ordinary 00

The London Studios Limited Urated Kingdom  Ordinary 100 TV (Edrope) Holdings BV 7 Natherands Ordinary 00

VOD Member (ITV A) Limited Untted Kingdom  Ordinary 100 TV Enterprises BY Netherands Ordinary W00

vOD Member (ITV B) Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 [TV Finance (Europe) BV Netherlands Ordinary 100

Tyne Tees Telewision Holdings Urited Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Global Music & Talent Agency BV Netherlands Ordinary g

Tyne Tees Television Limited United Kingdom ggg:nn.:x Deferred 100 Masmeda BV Netheriands Ordinary 00

United Broadcasting & UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 100 Talpa Content BY Netheriands Ordinary 10

Entertainment Lirrted Talpa Fictie Limited Netherlands QOrdinary 100

United Broadcasting United Kingdom  Qrdinary Specal 00 Talpa Germany Holding 8V Netheriands Ordinary 100

United Broadcasting Holdings United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Talpa Global BV Netherlands Ordinary 100

United Broadcasting South Umnited Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Talpa Non Spot BV Netherlands Ordinary 100

Westcountry Television Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Talpa ProductiesBY Netherlands Ordinary 100

Wildlife Film Produc trons United Kingdem  Ordinary 100 Utopa BV Netherlands Ordinary 100

Yorkshire Telewston Limited United Kingdem  Ordinary Deferred 100 Wardour Street Films BV Netherlands Ordinary 100

Ordinary ITV Studios Nardic AB Sweden Ordinary 100

Z'or:;l:tsehére-Tvne TeesProducticns  United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 ITV Studhos Norway AS Norway Ordinary 100

Yorkshire-Tyne Tees Television United Kingdom  Ordinary w00 12 Yard Holdings tnc United States Common 100

Enterprses Limited Angla Televis.on Inc United States Commen 100

Yorkshie-Tyne Tees Television United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Astrum Productions Inc. United States Common 100

Hotdings Cardinal Productions of Ohio Inc. United States Common 100

Z Music Publishing Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 100 Carlton Media Company Inc. United States Common 100

Zebedee Productions Limited United Kingdom _ Ordinary 100 Electnc Farm Entertainment Unuted States Common 100

Artist Services Cable Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 Holdings Inc.

Artist Services Investments Australia Ordinary 100 Granada Amenca Inc. United States Cammon 100

Pty Limited Granada Cracker USProductions  United States Cammon 100

:;‘tﬁ_ttgemces Productions Australia Ordlinary 100 Granada Telewision international.  United States Common 100

inc.

Granada Media International Australa Ordinary 100 Hamdon Entertainment Inc United States Common 100

(Australa) Pty Ltd ITC Distribution LLC United States Common 100

gr:sr;argisﬂf\]dggfiiltr;veslments Austratia Ordinary 00 ITC Entertainment Group, Inc, United States Common 100

Granada Productions Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 ITCFilms LLC Uruted States Common 100

ITV Studios Austraba Factual Austrabia Qrdinary 100 ITC Productians LLC Unrted States Comman 100

Pty Urmited ITV Believe Holding Inc United States Commaon 100

ITV Studios Australia Pty Limited  Australia Qrdinary 100 ITV Diga Holding Inc Uruted States Comman 100

Leftfield Australia Pty Ltd Australia Qrdinary 100 ITV Glabat Entertainment Inc Uruted States Common 100

Totally Full Frontal Productions Australia Ordinary 100 1TV Gurney Holding Inc United States Comman 100

Pty Limited ITV HN Halding Inc Uruted States Common 100

Granada December Eight Limited  Caymanislands  Ordinary 100 ITV Internationak Carporation United States Common 100

Granada December Nine Lumited  Caymanislands  Ordinary Preference 100 MV Leftfield Holding Inc Uruted States Cormmon 100

[TV Holdings {Cayman) Limited Caymanislands  Ordinary 100 TV Popco Holding Inc. United States Common 100

United Production ApS Denmark Ordinary 100 ITV Thinkfactory Holding Inc. United States Common 100

ITV Studios Finland Oy Finland Qrdinary 00 1TV Tomorrow Holding Inc. United States Common 100

ITV Studias France SAS France Ordinary oo ITV LS Holdings Inc United States Common 100

ITV Studros Germany GmbH Germany Ordinary 100 1TV L$ Productions ing United States Common 100

ITV Studwas Germany Holdings Germany Ordinary 100 JB Entertainment Holding United States Common 100

GmbH Company tac.

Newtopia GmbH Germany Ordinary w00
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Name Country of Interest % Name Country Interest %
mcorparatian or Holding Ty ofourGroup HoldingsLimited  United Kingdom Ordinary A Ordinary B 75
establishment Ordinary C Ordinary O
Kirkstall Road Enterpnses Inc United States Comman 100 Preferred A, Preferred 8
LWT Enterpnses Inc United States Comman 100 PreferredC
Dver the Pong Productions Inc, United States Common 100 Butb Films Limited United Kingdom _ Ordinary L]
Quay Street Enterprises, Inc United States Common 100 Calon/Boomerang JV Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 375
Red Orange Productions LLC United States Comman 100 g\r’ggxg::?“: gszl Fresco Urited Kingdom  Ordinary s
3o Television US Inc United States Ordinary 100 Cynhyrchiadau BoomerangCyf  United Kingdom  Ordinary 75
TalpaMedia USA Inc UnitedStates  Comman 100 Dauble Double Lirmited United Kingdom _ Ordinary 75
Upper Ground Enterprises, Inc United States Ordinary 100 Fhitmiau Apollo Cyf UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary T
Zinna Productions United States Common 100 oyt UnitedKingdom _ Ordimary 75
Key Gorilla TV Group Limited UnitedKingdom  Qrdinary 75
{1 Subsidiary dwectly owned by ITV ple Gorlla TV Limited United Kingdom  Qrdinary 75
Indus Fitms Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 73
Joint Ventures and Investments Teledu Apollo Cyf United Kingdom  Ordinary 75
Name Country Interest % Twofour Broadcast Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 75
Absolutely Rights Limited United Kingdom  Cumulative Redeemable 20 Twofour Group Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 75
Preference Second Act Productions Limited  United Koingdorn Ordinary A 7407
Eg::p!\::;?f;ﬁ:g Webh UnitedKingdorn  Ordinary C 0 3sixtymedia Limited UmitedKingdom  Ordinary A Ordinary8 B0
OTV Services Limited United Kngdom  Ordinary 20 G Films Pty Limited Australia Qrdinary “
Monumental TelewisionLimited  UnitedKingdom  Ordinary A 2492 E:::’k ‘Eﬂ?jrv Productians Canada Comman 65
Channet Mum Limited UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary A 25 ITV Holdings (Cayman) Limited Caymanislands  Ordinary 6667
Clearcast Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 25 Talpa Nordic ApS Denmark Ordinary 51
ISAN UK Uimited United Kingdom  Ordinary 25 Imago TV Fitm und Germany Ordinary1A 2A 2C 3A 80
Thinkbax TV Limsted United Kingdom  Ordinary 2858 Fernsehproduktion GrmbH
Cirkus Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary D 294 TheLabTelevision 2013 Leimited Israel Ordinary 50
Malacara Limited United Kinggom  Ordinary 3675 Partnershup
Harlequin Agency Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 75 Talpa ltalia Srl Izaty Crdinary 50
Media4Creative Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 3532 Rangers Productions SRL Mexico Common 65
MedwtEnterpnses Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 3532 identity Mansion BV Netherlands Qrdinary 25
Pink Rose Bud Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary A 375 Talpa ArabiaHolding Ltd (VAE) ~ UAE Ordinary 90
g,‘ao',',‘f,'c'f,:,: :S:.:ﬁte? UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary 38 25 :dza'ﬂ?m gedla Production UAE Ordinary a0
Mainstreet Pictures Limited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary A 3825 TalpaMiddle EastFS-LLC{VAE) UAE Ordinary 90
Bait Studic Lmited UnitedKingdom  Ordinary 4125 Eight Bells Productions, LLC United States Common 60
ClathCat Antmation Lirrited United Kingdom  Qrdinary FS What's the Business LLC Unsited States Common 50
Thud Media United Kingdom  Ordinary 4125 FT Productitons LLC United States Common 615
Bone Kickers Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary S0 Shinna LLC United States Common 6325
Box Clever Technology Limited  UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary 50 Crew Ready Everywhere LLC UnitedStates _ Comman 65
British Film-Makers Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary B 50 ;'::g'sgl::‘: ﬁ_‘ccu" United States Common 65
Columbla Tnstar Lartton United Kingdom  Ordinary B S0 Highball Mussc Group LLC UnitedStates  Commaon &5
Gameface ProductionsLimited  Umited Kingdom  Ordinary A 50 LG Fitms LLC United States Comman 85
Noho Film and Television Limvited  United Kingdom  Ordinary & 50 2“;:'3.9&300‘ Camp Reality United States Comman 65
Standard Music Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary 50 MDQuartet LLC United States Cormmmon o5
TalpaMedia UKLt United Kingdom _ Ordinary A 30 Signat Post Facilities, LLC United States Commaon 65
Telewsion Media Marketing Unked Kingdom  Ordinary A e SoundandStage Studios LIC___ UnitedStates __ Common 65
Possessed Limited United Kingdom  Ordinary B 51 Texas Rangers LLC Urnted States Common 65
OSF (Wales) Limited UnitedKingdom _ Ordinary 6 27 Thinkfactory Media LLC United States Common 65
Oxford Scientsfic Films Limsted ~ United Kingdom  Ordinary Ordinary 8 46 27 Web Legal, LLC Uruted States Common 65
Adnoddau Zoom Cyf United Kingdom  Ordinary 75 xei:;'dl:‘?”“ P‘;‘fc"e"s' Lc E"':e: ::a:es EO'"""”" g:
m mru TV L ™ Ki m rdi 7 Ll [ {L40als] rute ates ommon
zzzm ;v":tu:es Llr::ted Em:: Klz:zm gr;:x 7: Next Step Productions LLC Uruted States Common 75
Outpost Entertainment, LLC Uruted States Common 80
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Notes to the ITV plc Company Financial Statements
continued

Memberships and Companies Limited by Guarantee

Membership and Guarantee Country Interest % Membership and Guarantee Country nterest %
ITV Netherlands Cooperatief Netherlands Membership 100 Sirens Project 1326 LLC Uruted States Membership 100
WA Sirens Project 1408, LLC United States Membership 100
:Lyr:'r-:-:rcsriznmsh Limited United Kingdom  Partmership o0 Swrens Progect 1410, LLC United States Membership 100
TV Scattsh Limited Partnership Umited Kingdom  Partnership 100 ?;;3:?01;::::3& United States Membership 100
DTT Multiplex Operators Lumited  United Kingdom  Guarantee 25 Sunshine Productions United States Membership 00
Digital Production Partnership United Kingdom  Guarantee 50 Holdings, LLC
Limited Sunshne Productions, LLC UnitedStates  Membership 00
Er;il;ijers Rights Agency Uited Kingdom  Guarantee 50 Sunshine Productions United States Membership 100
Haoldings LLC
Appalachian Rentals, LLEC United States Membership 100 Sunshine Productions LLC United States Membership 100
Bluegrass Productions, LLC Urited States Membership 100 Work Shap of NY LLC Urited States Membership 100
Chad Alan Preductions LLE United States Membership 100 Jaffe/Braunsten United States Membership 51
Doubie Down Films LLC United States Membership 100 Entertamnment, LLC
Double Down Films Holdings 1LC  United States Membership 100 High Noon East LLC Urited States Membership 60
Francoma Productrons LLC Urited States Membership 100 High Noon Group LLC Uruted States Membership 60
Gator Praductions LLC United States Membership 100 High Noon Productions LLC United States Membership 60
Leftfield Entertainment CA,LLC  Urited States Membership 100 High Noon West LLC United States Membership 60
Leftfield LA LLC United States Membership 100 Feeding Time Productions LLC Uruted States Membership 615
Leftfield Pictures of NY United States Membership 100 Gurney Productions LLC United States Membership 615
Holdings LLC Hotlywood Cameras and UnitedStates  Membership 615
Leftfieid Pictures of NY LLC United States Membership 00 Lighting LLC
Leftfield Ventures, LLC United States Membership 100 RICMA LLC Uruted States Membership 615
Moving Pictures Services Inc United Stataes Membership 100 Brat Bngade LLC United States Membership 6325
Qaklawn Pacfic Properties LLC  United States Membership 100 Deep Gotham Post LLC United States Membership 6325
Out of Play Productions LLC United States Membershup 100 Diga Holdings LLC United States Membership 6325
QzarkPictures LLC United States Membership 100 Diga Production Studios LLC United States Membership 6325
Swens Media LLC Urited States Membership 100 Diga, LLC United States Membership 6325
Swens Project 1203 LLC United States Membership 100 Film Productrons Rentals LLC United States Membership 65
Sirens Project 1213 LLC United States Membership 100 Thinkfactory Group tLC United States Membership €5
Sirens Project 1216 LLC United States Membership 100 1016 Productions LLC United States Membership 75
Sirens Project 1217 LLC United States Membership 100 6565 Productions Stuchos 2 LLC  United States Membership 75
Sirens Progect 1218 LLC United States Membership 100 6565 Productions Studios 3 LLC  United States Membership 75
Sirens Project 1219 LLC United States Membership 100 6565 Productions Studios 4, 1L United States Membership 75
Sirens Project 1223 LLC United States Membership 100 6565 Productions Studios, LLC United States Membership 75
Sirens Propect 1224, LLC Uruted States Membership 100 Allin Post LLC Urited States Membership 75
Sirens Propect 1226, LLC united States Membership 100 Cheese String Studios LLC United States Membership 75
Sirens Project 1227 LLC United States Membership 100 In Reality Productions LLC United States Membership 75
Sirens Project 13017 LLC United States Membership 100 East Olve Productions LLC Uruted States Membership 75
Sirens Project 1303 LLC United States Membership 100 Twofour Amenca LLC United States Membership 75
Sirens Project 1309 LLC United States Membership 100 Twofour Broadcast Media LLC United States Membership 75
Sirens Project 1316, LLC United States Membership 100

Principal joint ventures, associated undertakings and investments
The Company indirectly held at 31 December 2015 the following interests in significant joint ventures, associates and investments

Interestinordinary  Interestmordmary
share capital 2015 share capital 2074
% %

Name Frningpal actwity

Joint Ventures

Freesat (UK} Lirmited 500 500 Prowision of a standard and high defimtion enabled digital satellite proposition
Digtal 3 & 4 Limited 500 500 Qperates the Channel 3 & 4 digital terrestrial multiplex

Associates

Independent Tetevision News Linuted (ITN} 400 400 Supply of news services to breadcasters in the UK and etsewhere

Available for sale investments

Tomaorrow ITV Studios LLC (1) - - Production of scnpted content

Key

(1) 25% preferred interest
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P shareholder Information

Shareholder Information

Shareholder profile

Holders Shares held
Information as at 3% Decernber 2015 Number Y% Millions %
Type of holder
Insurance companies 5 001 0 000
Banks and nominee companies 3,097 552 3,891 96 65
Individuals 51,644 9203 120 297
Others 1,373 244 14 038
Totals 56,119 100 4,025 100

Holders

Nurmber % Shares held %
Size of holding:
1-100 9,381 1672 328102 001
101 - 200 7,500 13 36 1,126,231 003
201-500 14,067 2507 4,567,672 on
501-1,000 8,967 1598 6,564,924 016
1,001-2,000 6,916 1232 10,016,277 025
2,001-5,000 5,061 s 15,778,685 039
5,001-10,000 1815 323 12,823,179 032
10,001 -50,000 1,356 242 27153,400 067
50,001-100,000 220 0 39 15,364,910 038
100,001 -500,000 370 066 94,301,108 234
500,001-1,000,000 138 025 100,420,701 249
1,000,001 - 5,000,000 210 036 506,744,652 1260
5,000,001 -10,000,000 53 010 377538681 938
10,000,001-50,000,000 49 010 1,077,825,229 2678
50,000,001 and above 16 003 1,774,855,443 4409
Totals 56,119 100  4,025,409,194 100
Company website Registrars and transfer office

Investor and shareholder-related information, including the
current price of ITV plc shares, can be found on the Comparny
website at

& www itvplc com

Financial calendar

Ex-dwvidend date for the Final and

Speaal dvidend 28 April 2016
Record date for the Final and Specialdvidend 29 Apnil 2016
Annual General Meeting 12 May 2016
interim Management Statement 12 May 2016

Payment date for the Final and Special Dividend 27 May 2016

Half year results announcement 27 July 2016

Registered office

The London Television Centre
Upper Ground

London

SE19LT

(© 0207157 3000
Company registration number 4967001

All administrative enguines relating to shareholdings and
requests to recerve corporate documents should be directed
to Capita Asset Serwvices, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road,
Beckenham, BR3 4TU They can be contacted by telephone on

@ 0371664 0300 from the UK (calls cost 12 pence per minute plus
network charges) and

@ +44 20 8639 3399 from outside the UK (calls UK will be charged
at the applicable international rate)

Lines are open Monday to Friday900am to530pm

Alternatively you could email them at

(@) shareholderenquines@capita co uk

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be hetd on Thursday, 12 May
2016 at 1100 a m at the Queen Elizabeth Il Conference Centre,
Broad Sanctuary, Westminster, Landon SW1P 3EE The Notice
of the AGM contains an explanation of special business to be
considered at the meeting and a copy of this s available on the
Company website

@ www itvplc com/investors/annual-general-meeting
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Additional Information

Glossary

Broadcasters' Audience Research
Board {BARB) - crganisation owned by
broadcasters and advertisers providing
data on linear and online television
viewing statistics by UK households

Catch up viewing - non-live viewing
of recently broadcast television
programmes, either via a recording
device {often called a PVR or DTR) such
as Sky+ or through a Viceo on Demandg
service such as the ITV Hub, BBC iPlayer,
All 4 or Demand 5

Channel 3 licences - the 15 reqional
licences and one national icence
awarded to transmit Channel 3 across
the UK All are owned by ITV with the
exception of three of the regional
licences, two of which are owned by STV
and ane by UTV (ITV completed the
acquisition of UTV on 29th February 2016)

Contract Rights Renewal (CRR) - the
remedy agreed by Carlton and Granada
in 2003 as a pre-condition of the merger,
which governs the way in which ITV
artime 1s sold by ITV to 1ts advertising
customers

Digital switchover - termination

in 2012 of the analogue terrestrial
television signal BBC1,BBC2,1TV,
Channel 4 and Channel 5 were broadcast
In analogue

Free-to-Aw (FTA) television - viewing
of television through devices not
requiring a subscription such as the
Freeview or Freesat services

High Definition (HD) — channels or
services broadcast in substantially
higher resolution than standard,
providing improved picture quality

Impact or Commercial Impact - one
Commercial Impact is defined as one
viewer watching one 30-second
television commercial

ITV Family - the ITV family of channels
which includes ITV,ITVZ, ITV3, ITV4,
ITVBe, TV Encore, CITV, [TV Breakfast,
CITV Breakfast and all associated 1
and HD equivatents Viewing figures
Include the whole of the ITV network
Revenue figures include only ITV plc
cperated regions

Linear television - television service
where the viewer has to watch a
scheduled TV program at the particular
time it’s offered, and on the particular
channelit's presented on

Long form video requests - video
requests are a measure of the total
number of videos viewed across all
platforms (such as v com, Virgin and
mobile devices) Along formwvideo s a
programme that has been broadcast on
television and is available to watch
ontine and on demand inits entirety

Media sales commisston - commission
earned by ITV plc on sales of arrtime on
behalf of the non-consolidated Licensees

Net Advertising Revenue (NAR) -the
amount of money received by a
broadcaster as payment for television
spot advertising net of any commission
paid to agencies

Total Schedule Costs/Total Netwark
Programme Budget {(NPB) - the budget
spent on programming broadcast on
the ITV Famuly of channels, including
spendon regional programming and

ITV Breakfast

Non-consolidated Licensees - the
three regional channel 3 licences which
ITV does not own These licences are
owned by 5TV and UTV and revenues
received from these licences for ITV
programming content are referred to as
minority revenues (ITV completed the
acquisition of UTV on 29th February 2016)

Non-NAR revenue - non-NAR revenue
ncludes all ITV revenue, both internal
and external, except net advertising
revenue (NAR) This includes inter-
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segment revenue from the sale of TV
Studios shows to the ITV Network

Ofcom - independent regulator and
competition authority for the UK
communications

Over-the-top content (OTT) - delivery
of audio, video, and other media over
the Internet, this includes content
from prowviders such as Netflix, Amazon
and Hulu and atso our own on demand
service, the ITV Hub

SDN - multiplex operator owned by ITV
which operates one of the eight national
multiplex licences in the UK on Freeview

Share of Broadcast (SOB) - ITV's share
of UK television advertising revenue
(NAR), a measure of market share

Share of Commerciat Impacts (SOCI) -
the term used to define the share of
total UK television commercial impacts
which s delivered by one channel

or group of channels This measure
excludes viewing of BBC channels

as they do not generate cormmercial
impacts Unless stated otherwise, SOCI
figures cited throughout this report
are based on BARB data and are based
on the universe of Adults (16+)

Share of Viewing (SOV) - the share

of the total viewing audience during a
defined period gained by a programme
or channel This measure includes
viewing of BBC channels Unless stated
otherwise, SOV figures aited throughout
thisreport are based on BARB data and
are based on the universe of ndividuals

Video on Demand (VQD) - the ability
to deliver video content to a customer’s
telewision set, computer or device when
the customer requests it

YouView - a joint venture (with the BBC,
Channel 4, Channel 5, BT, TalkTalk, and
Arqiva) to operate and promote a

hybrd television platform combining
Freeview channels with catch up and
ondemand services
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